THE ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

Implications for Managing Teams and Work Groups in Complex Organizations

Seleshi Sisaye





The Ecology of Management Accounting and Control Systems This page intentionally left blank

THE ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

Implications for Managing Teams and Work Groups in Complex Organizations

SELESHI SISAYE



Westport, Connecticut London

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Seleshi Sisaye, 1951-

The ecology of management accounting and control systems : implications for managing teams and work groups in complex organizations / Seleshi Sisaye.

p. cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 1-56720-521-6 (alk. paper)

Managerial accounting.
 Teams in the workplace.
 Organizational change.
 Organizational behavior.
 Title.
 HF5657.4.S417 2006

658.15'11—dc22 2005019182

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data is available.

Copyright © 2006 by Seleshi Sisaye

All rights reserved. No portion of this book may be reproduced, by any process or technique, without the express written consent of the publisher.

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 2005019182 ISBN: 1-56720-521-6

First published in 2006

Praeger Publishers, 88 Post Road West, Westport, CT 06881 An imprint of Greenwood Publishing Group, Inc. www.praeger.com

Printed in the United States of America



The paper used in this book complies with the Permanent Paper Standard issued by the National Information Standards Organization (Z39.48-1984).

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Contents

.....

	Acknowledgments	ix
	Introduction	xi
1	Ecological Approaches of Organizations	1
	Community Ecology	2 3
	Evolutionary Economics	3
	Geographical Ecology	4
	Political Ecology	5
	Ecological Anthropology	7
	Industrial Ecology	8
	Human Ecology	10
	Population Ecology of Organizations	11
	Organizational Ecology	13
2	Environmental Influences on Organizational Selection	
	and Adaptation Change Strategies	21
	Effects of Economic Growth and Political Issues on	
	Environmental Resources	22
	Organizational Environmental Attributes and	
	Characteristics	22
	Environmental Issues and Organizational	
	Change Strategies	25
	Organizational Adaptation and Structural Changes	27

3	Selection and Organizational Change	43
	Natural Selection Processes of Organizations	43
	Selection and Organizational Inertia	47
	Liability of Newness: Age Dependence and	
	Organizational Mortality	50
	Environmental Imprinting and Organizational Founding	52
	Organizational Niche, Density, and Competition	56
	Organizational Density: Legitimation and Competition	64
	Organizational Density Effects on Founding and	
	Mortality Rates	68
	Organizational Inertia, Adaptation, and Environmental	
	Changes	71
	5	
4	Adaptation and Organizational Change	81
	The Role of External Factors in Organizational	
	Adaptation Processes	82
	Natural Selection Process, Inertia, and Change Orientations	83
	Inertia and Decline Effects on Organizational Change	85
	Organizational Age and Size Influences on	
	Growth and Decline	86
	Organizational Adaptation	90
	Adaptive Change Strategies	93
	Organizational Learning	93
	The Organizational Ecology Inertial View of Strategy	97
	Strategic Adaptation to Change	98
	Organizational Growth Strategies of Public Accounting Firms	107
5	Adaptation Strategies in Management Control Systems	115
	Power, Management Control, and Compliance Systems	116
	Systems Approach to Organizational Change and Development	120
	Systems Intervention Strategies: Process vs.	
	Structural Intervention	125
	A Process View of Culture and Organizational Power Control	130
	A Cultural Systems View of Management Control	
	Innovation: The Shift from Individual to Team-Based	
	Management Control Systems	134
r		
6	Management Control Systems and the Functional Adaptation	142
	Performance of Work Teams	143
	The Adaptation Framework of Management Accounting	140
	and Control Systems	143
	Work Teams: Definitions	144
	Teams and Management Control Systems	145
	Process, Structural, and Technological Factors: Their Effect	.
	on Making Management Control Systems of Teams Adaptive	154

vi

7

Teams, Management Control, and Process Innovations Teams, Cultural Systems Change, Organizational Development, and Management Control Systems Ecological Adaptation and Management Control of Teams	160 165 167
Conclusion: An Overview of the Implications of the Ecology	107
of Management Accounting and Control Systems	175
The Selection Approach to Management Accounting	
and Control Systems	175
The Adaptation Approach to Management Accounting	
and Control Systems	177
Concluding Remarks	178
Concreting remarks	110
References	181
Author Index	201
Subject Index	211

This page intentionally left blank

Acknowledgments

I started this book in 2001. At that time, Mrs. Hilary Claggett of Quorum publications was instrumental in getting it started. When Mr. Nicholas Philipson came on board in 2003, he extended his generous support and gave me additional time to finish the book. Without his continued support, this book could not have been completed.

I would like to express my appreciation to Ms. Clare Cox, Rights and Permissions, and the publishing staff of Praeger Publishers for allowing me to use a chapter that I wrote on "Organizational Adaptation Approaches on the Development and Effectiveness of Environmental Management Accounting and Reporting Systems" in a book titled Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance, edited by K.E. Karim and R.W. Rutledge (Praeger, 2004). I am grateful to Professor Marie McHugh, Editor, The Leadership & Organization Development Journal; Mr. John Eggleton, Business Development Executive, Reprints and Permissions Service; and the editorial staff of Emerald Group Publishing Limited for giving me copyright permission for my two articles, titled "Management Control Systems and Organizational Development: New Directions for Managing Work Teams" and "Teams and Management Control Systems: A Synthesis of Three Organizational Development Approaches," published in Leadership & Organization Development Journal, Vol. 26, No. 1, 2005, and Vol. 26, No. 3, 2005, respectively, to use in this book. I would like to acknowledge the unconditional support and cooperation that I received from the copyright permissions and editorial staff of both Praeger and Emerald throughout the copyright approval processes.

Duquesne University has supported my research over the years. I am particularly indebted to the administration of the A.J. Palumbo School of Business

Administration, Division of Accounting, and the John F. Donahue Graduate School of Business for their continued support of my research. I am indebted to my graduate assistant, Nurretin Ekizoglu. Nurretin assisted in the early phase of library research by compiling references and copying articles, as well as preparing content analysis on selected references. Sandy Grau, the accounting division administrative assistant, has generously provided secretarial assistance. She typed the first three draft chapters and the references. She also prepared the table of contents and generously provided editorial assistance. My graduate assistant, Mayur Pangrekar, has been extremely helpful in using the University of Chicago Manual Style to prepare the final version of the references and in assisting in the preparation of the author and subject indexes. Without the support of Mayur, Nurretin, and Sandy, this book could not have been completed on a timely basis.

I have benefited from my professional and personal association with Eileen Stommes for the last twenty-five years. The book has benefited from her extensive comments and interpretive remarks. Her suggestions have improved the theoretical issues and arguments presented in the book. I would like to express my gratitude to my wife, Eileen, for her unreserved support of my research.

I owe special thanks to my family, and notably to my two daughters: Sarah and Anne. They have shared with grace the separation that the book project entailed. I am proud that both of them have shown interest in my research. Anne, my youngest daughter, has been particularly helpful by typing the introduction and the last four chapters. She deserves special recognition for her diligent assistance and interest in my research.

I would like to recognize my mother, Zewditu Aligaz, and my brother, Ambatchew Derbew, who gave me the strength, love, and support during my earlier years of education. My mother and my brother gave me wholehearted support during my early education, giving me the opportunity to pursue higher education when it was exceedingly difficult to do so. For everything they have done for me, I am thankful. I am pleased to dedicate this book in loving memory of my mother, Zewditu Aligaz, in recognition of her and my brother's contribution to my education and academic career.

Seleshi Sisaye

Introduction

The Ecology of Management Accounting and Control Systems: Implications for Managing Teams and Work Groups in Complex Organizations applies organizational sociological approaches to describing recent developments in management accounting and control systems. The book specifically applies organizational ecology to study the effectiveness of teams and work group performance in complex organizations. In behavioral accounting research, there is growing interest in the application of sociological approaches to management control research. This book continues the current trend on emerging research by blending organizational sociological approaches into behavioral managerial accounting research. Although ecological issues related to environmental disclosures and social issues have recently appeared in a few accounting studies, the ecological framework has not been applied to sustainability and environmental reporting and the management of teams and work groups. Behavioral accounting research has not yet incorporated the theoretical and methodological issues of organizational ecology in management accounting and control research.

This book is the first attempt to bring the theory of organizational ecology to the forefront in behavioral accounting research. In sociology, organizational ecology has generated an abundant literature of theory and applied research. In the past, I have applied the ecological framework to study agricultural systems and the effects of commercial agriculture on natural ecosystems. I have now extended my work on ecology to behavioral accounting research.

The ecological approach has been widely used in various social science disciplines: sociology, economics, anthropology, political science, and geography. Within sociology, there are several ecological approaches ranging from community ecology to human ecology. Of the various sociological approaches, I have applied organizational ecology and limited the scope to selection and adaptation strategies. The selection and adaptation organizational ecological approaches are used because the accounting issues discussed in the book—ecological and sustainability reporting, and the emergence of teams in managing work and performance in industrial and manufacturing organizations—are best suited for the application of the ecological framework.

At present in management accounting, there is an increased emphasis on the use of activity-based costing (ABC) to monitor the performance of teams and work groups and to allocate incentives based on performance. This book contributes to the literature of management accounting because it is the first application of the adaptation ecological approach to study the development and management of teams and work groups. The adaptation framework has been applied to incorporate environmental and technological issues, as well as organizational structural and contextual factors, to examine recent developments in management control systems, particularly the use of ABC in managing the performance of teams.

The book has been divided into seven chapters to discuss the ecology of management accounting and control systems. Chapter 1 discusses the various disciplinary approaches of the ecological framework. These include community ecology, geographical ecology, ecological economics, political ecology, and ecological anthropology. The sociological-ecological approaches include human ecology, population ecology, and organizational ecology. Chapter 2 addresses the influence of environmental factors covered in Sisave, Praeger, 2004, cited in full below, to substantiate the organizational ecological approaches of selection and adaptation. Chapters 3 and 4 subsequently detail the selection and adaptation approaches to organizational change. Whereas Chapter 3 describes the underlying framework of the ecological approach of management accounting and control systems, Chapter 4 specifically discusses the adaptation framework and its recent use in incorporating environmental and ecological issues into management accounting reports. Chapter 4 highlights the recent recognition and importance given to sustainability reporting and the priority organizations have attached to ecological and environmental resources conservation. I have incorporated the chapter that I titled "Organizational Adaptation Approaches on the Development and Effectiveness of Environmental Management Accounting and Reporting Systems," published in a book titled Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance, edited by K.E. Karim and R.W. Rutledge, Praeger, 2004. Chapters 5 and 6 apply the adaptation approach to studying the operation of teams and work groups. I have integrated two articles, titled "Management Control Systems and Organizational Development: New Directions for Managing Work Teams," and "Teams and Management Control Systems: A Synthesis of Three Organizational Development Approaches," which are published in Leadership & Organization Development Journal (Vol. 26, No. 1, and Vol. 26, No. 3, 2005) in Chapters 5 and 6, respectively. Chapter 5 applies the cultural systems approach to describe the three types of power and compliance systems---normative, instrumental, and coercive—that affect the formation and composition of team members and their subsequent performance. Chapter 6 focuses on the utility of ABC as a management control mechanism for these three team types. They can best be described as concertive control for normative power-based teams, remunerative for instrumental, and bureaucratic and electronic surveillance control for coercive power-based teams. Chapter 7 concludes by suggesting future theoretical and practical management control research and practice using the selection and adaptation strategies of organizational change.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 1

Ecological Approaches of Organizations

This chapter presents several disciplinary ecological approaches to organizations. These approaches pertain to research on organizational evolutionary changes and management control systems. The disciplinary approaches discussed in chapter 1 include community ecology, evolutionary economics, geographical ecology, political ecology, ecological anthropology, industrial ecology, human ecology, population ecology, and organizational ecology.

In general, the ecological approach has been broadly applied to address people, history, geographical locations, geology, climate, agricultural practices, technology, environment, level of development, vegetation, social change, culture, and ethnic/local population characteristics, as well as organizational change and management. Although the ecological approach has its theoretical and methodological foundations in the biological sciences, it has attracted social science research in the late seventeen and early eighteen centuries. Thomas Malthus in the 1790s applied an ecological evolutionary analysis of population growth to describe famine, poverty, food shortages, and resource scarcity. Darwin extended Malthus's essay on population to develop the evolution of population growth by natural selection.¹ Darwin's theory of evolution and natural selection has been further applied by social and behavioral scientists-sociologists, anthropologists, economists, geographers, political scientists, among others---to explain societal growth and development, organizational change, political systems, cultural change, and structures, as well as management control systems. Chapter 1 presents an overview of the ecological approach and its applications in the social sciences, particularly sociology, anthropology, economics, and geography, as they pertain to the study of the ecology of management accounting and control systems.

The ecological approach focuses on populations of organizations and examines the effects the environment, market forces, technology, natural resources, and geographical locations have on organizational change and development process. It puts relative weight on internal and external environmental conditions as the determining factors for organizational forms and structures, as well as on both growth and maturity, and mortality rates. Although the subject of the study and research problems may vary among the social science disciplines, they all focus on populations or groups instead of units or individuals as their unit of analysis to study social, economic, cultural, and political systems, as well as human organizations. In essence, organizations are viewed as communities in which interdependency relationships among multiple and diverse populations affect the rise and fall of organizations and shape the conditions that develop homogeneity, diversity, stability, change, and growth among them.²

COMMUNITY ECOLOGY

The community ecology approach studies populations of organizations as communities. Although the community ecology perspective examines diverse multiple populations of organizational communities, it focuses on those distinctive characteristics that isolate an organizational species, for example, technology, from its members of the population. According to Astley, community ecology uses "variation as an important evolutionary force" that explains organizational dynamics of change.³ Although community ecology recognizes that technology creates new organizational forms, organizational population survival depends on how well the members function and interact with one another. Survival and growth thus become a function of interdependency and mutual collaboration as well as of competitions among members within the organizational community.

Romanelli defined organizational communities "as a set of inter-related organizational populations" that are established in a given environment.⁴ They exhibit characteristics of commensalism because of their functional interdependency and symbiotic relations involving mutual benefits from exchange transactions.⁵ Nevertheless, there is still the question of dominance and influence that may contribute to imbalances in exchange relations. Although these organizations may become stable over time, because of their expertise in certain technology, they also develop new technologies to exploit the resources available to them. As technologies progress and new innovations develop, new sectors of industry of organization populations emerge. Accordingly, because of community evolution, new population of industry of organizations are formed and developed over time.

Hunt and Aldrich described community evolution as having three main components of organizational change. They are "(1) the importance of technological innovation, (2) the central role of entrepreneurial activities, and (3) the dependence of community development on the establishment of legitimacy."⁶

ECOLOGICAL APPROACHES OF ORGANIZATIONS

They suggested that community evolution does not follow a linear or "a structural functional pattern of change." Instead, the process is "a dynamic and fluid nature of community evolution through the process of co-evolution, in which changes in any given aspect of the community can influence changes in other aspects."⁷ That is, changes in organizational evolution involve the replacement of old organizations by new organizational populations. This change is a continuous process and involves a transformational rather than a gradual change.

The ecological approach puts emphasis on environmental characteristics and conditions as the determining factors for organizational evolution and for changes in organizational structures. Burrell and Morgan referred to the ecological approach under the functionalist paradigm because the assumptions that structures evolve over time, and that these changes fit environmental selection, follow the functionalist determinative approach.⁸ Child elaborated that the ecological approach gives little attention to management choice and decisions as factors influencing organizational evolution. Because the ecological approach "considers that units which do not have organizational forms characteristic of their sector or 'niche' have a poorer chance of survival," it underscores the role of decision makers in the organizational adaptation process. Because organizations as social systems benefit from learning what results in knowledge creation, they are capable of environmental adaptation.⁹ In other words, adaptation involves both learning and technological change, where technology becomes the primary social agent in societal transformation processes.

Technological development plays an important role in the development of new organizational forms.¹⁰ When technological development reaches to a maximum capacity, beyond which it cannot support the social environment of organizational communities, incremental technological improvements become costly because of market saturation. This results in newer forms of technological change that support the birth of new organizational forms and entry into new markets and territories. Technological changes affect the structure of political institutions and cultural and social systems, as well as economic organizations.

EVOLUTIONARY ECONOMICS

Evolutionary economics is a resource-based view of the firm that focuses on "resources, competencies and trajectories" of organizations.¹¹ It focuses on the internal pressures of environmental selection when examining forms of organizational behaviors and routines and their responses to environmental changes.

Evolutionary economics thus provides a coherent and integrated framework to explain the social and economic development processes and sequences of organizational adaptation and change in the environment. It has a microfocus on individual organizations and attempts to explain the behavior of organizations and their decisions in relation to environmental changes and requirements. The behavior of organizations is governed by the economic selection mechanism, in which individual decisions are made according to profitability rules of exogenous factors involving shifts in consumers' demand and suppliers' input prices that can influence investment decisions.¹² Although there are variations among organizations in their behaviors and decisions about environmental changes, those organizations that survive and grow continue to develop new technologies and inventions in their industrial sectors.

Evolutionary economics examines an organization's response to environmental changes. The underlying premise is that when the environment changes, organizations rely on research and development or the trial-and-error process of organizational learning to solve their problems. Nelson, Winter, and Schuette indicated that the process of change is governed by "an economic selection mechanism" that organizations employ selectively including expansion when there is profitability, and contraction when there is loss.¹³ The evolutionary dynamics of organizational populations including birth, growth, maturity, and death are affected by economic resources, and geographical location and spatial characteristics limit resource domain and availability.

GEOGRAPHICAL ECOLOGY

Geographical ecology refers to spatial arrangements; land use; natural resources; physical habitat including mountains, valleys, and lowland, and highland areas; climate; and location, among others. Lomi has identified three geographical characteristics that affect the evolutionary dynamics of organizational populations. First, geographical conditions may contribute to isolation or separation of organizational populations. That is, spatial arrangements create physical barriers that create separation among organizations. Second, local resource conditions contribute to differences in organizational adaptation. Third, the process of legitimating and competition may vary because of "geographical boundaries used to define organizational populations."¹⁴ Accordingly, there is a tendency for some organizations, particularly highly specialized organizations (e.g., wineries and auto industry or technology software firms) to concentrate in certain geographical regions or territories. For these industries, location is important, as it provides the necessary economic resources and the evolutionary advantage for the birth and growth of these specialist organizational populations.

Geographical location becomes a factor for certain organizational populations where the local condition—rural or urban—determines the concentration and organizational density. Accordingly, geographical ecological factors constitute the main forces for the study of organizational change and development processes.

Ecologists have used geographical information systems to prioritize and conserve natural resources, manage patterns of land use, and promote the preservation of biological diversity among plants and animal species. They have noted that the biodiversity of plants and animals and their spatial distributions are influenced by "topography, soil texture, plant cover, and microclimate."¹⁵ Environmental ecosystem changes caused by pollution, land use, and habitat modifications, as well as industrialization, have affected the natural assemblage

and distribution of animal and plant species as well as populations. Geographical information system guidelines have been developed to monitor population distribution, natural habitat, and environmental quality. These guidelines have been used for the conservation of the environment, protection of certain endangered species, and preservation of natural resources, including both nonrenewable resources and responsible use of agricultural land. Accordingly, geographical ecosystems play important roles in government policies for the management and control of population movement and migration policies. Hence, migration patterns, nature of competition, and survival rates are thus influenced by the geographic and spatial distribution of economic resources. The resulting activities in the form of competition, cooperation, or conflict among individuals and groups of these plant and animal species are compounded by their geographical environment.¹⁶

Ecological geography is based on the assumption that there is instability and disequilibrium in the biophysical and spatial environment resulting from irregularities in environmental variations; natural disasters such as fire, drought, landslides, and volcano eruptions; and epidemics as well as human interventions that cause environmental degradation. Science and technology justifies human-induced activities including environmental degradation to manage environmental conflict and hostility and to move society to equilibrium state. In the process, environmental management through conservation and development attempts to balance the need for growth with human ecological goals.

According to Zimmer, ecological approaches in human geography address "two types of relations between organisms and the environment. The first relation addresses human relations to biophysical environment; the second, the nature of these biophysical environments."¹⁷ Although human environmental relations deal with adaptations and human adjustments to the environment in physical form, the process of adaptation is influenced by social, political, economic, and power distributions. Accordingly, ecological geography examines change as a dynamic and continuous process that creates environmental instability and eventually transforms society into an equilibrium state through human adaptation and adjustment to the natural, social, biological, and physical environment.

For the human population, geographical location has become one of the main factors that creates economic separation. These separations are reflected in neighborhoods, schools, and social gatherings including churches and playgrounds.¹⁸ Although income and class may reduce separations along racial and ethnic lines, ecological factors continue to play roles in the geographical separation of human populations. Geographical location thus contributes to unequal access to resources, resulting in the control of the political system by the economic elite.

POLITICAL ECOLOGY

Political ecology indicates that differences in social and cultural dimensions, culture, history, and socioeconomic development are accounted by political

systems.¹⁹ The approach examines power distribution, societal conflict, ethnic and racial groups' relations, and their effect on resource allocation and redistribution. Political systems have implications for the foundation, operation, growth, and decline of organizations.

Freeman related political ecology and economy studies of organizations to the natural selection framework. He provided three reasons for the relationship between political ecology and selection. First, the underlying focus of a political economy approach is on organizational conflict, not cooperation, which is analogous to the selection approach. The selection approach studies organizations' relations to their environment and their responses to environmental conditions. Second, organizations as political systems have limited/scarce resources, and the potential for conflict among members is high. Third, organization decisions and choices do not reflect economic choices but are based primarily on political reasons.²⁰ Accordingly, ecological studies examine organizations' relations with the environment and the process in which they survive, grow, or fail as they interface with the hostile environment. In other words, organizations as political systems follow the principles of selection when they adapt to the environment.

The selection process could provide political opportunities that would shape the organizational dynamics of founding, growth, and decline. For example, Mc-Laughlin and Khawaja reported that in the United States, political parties contributed to the growth and density of environmental organizations. They argued that the political environment under the democrats and the economic prosperity resulted in the founding and growth of environmental organizations and groups who advocated for environmental and natural resources conservation.²¹

Politics become important when there is an increase in organizational density. Density intensifies competition, rivalry, and conflict among organizations, particularly in organizations that have competing ideologies and represent groups with diverse political views, as in the case of political parties, labor organizations, or cooperatives. Ingram and Simons in their study of the ecology of Israel workers' cooperatives reported that competition or cooperation in organizational populations with rival or shared ideologies could result in an increase or a decrease in organizational failure.²² In other words, when organizations that have shared ideologies cooperate to promote their interests, resulting in a decline in organizational failure.

Depending on the ideologies of these organizations and their relationship to political parties and power holders, the state can provide institutional control that facilitates their failure or reduces their decline. Ingram and Simons have presented several cases in which the state (i.e., the Israeli government) selectively assisted some organizations by providing funds to take risks in research and development and contributes to the failures of others by confiscating their property. The state, in essence, endorsed legitimacy to certain institutions by granting copyrights, patents, and regulations, and by creating offices through special legislation to handle their issues.²³ The state regulated political behavior and

legitimacy of institutions through regulations, order and policing, and sanctioning their activities.

Ecological anthropologists have long recognized the role of politics among tribal and ethnic groups to explain agricultural land use, farming practices, pastoral herding activities, and population migration movements. Politics governed human land relations and interactions with the natural and social environment. In these ecological relations, class and economic structures regulate social and political order and environmental resources management. The process of natural selection influences the social behavior and interactions among groups, physical adaptations, and the social structure of organizations.²⁴ The process of natural selection and sequential adaptation to the environment involves physical and psychological adaptation. Although political ecology involves the process of environmental and structural changes, social change and adaptation focuses on ecological anthropology involving culture, people, and in general, sociocultural systems.

ECOLOGICAL ANTHROPOLOGY

Ecological anthropology examines human adaptation, cultural change, and diffusion in relation to environmental and technological changes. In doing so, it recognizes the role of culture as providing distinctive set of values and norms among groups. Culture, in essence, has become the main force behind humans' adaptation to the environment. In other words, cultural practices contribute to differences in local and regional systems. However, information technology and communication have spread across cultural and social boundaries and have minimized cultural barriers among groups of populations.²⁵

Technological development has eroded cultural differences as well as altered the quality of life and way of living among cultural and population groups. Deforestation, irrigation, commercial farming, business development, and population growth have changed the local living conditions, and in some cases have lead to environmental degradation. The focus on ecological anthropology is not only on conservation policy but also on social soundness approach to development programs that pays attention to the needs of the people. Kottack has related the social soundness analysis (SSA) approach to "sustainable development aims at culturally appropriate, ecologically sensitive, self-regenerating change."²⁶ Social soundness analysis has implications in the development and preparation of management accounting sustainability reports that promote environmental resources conservation.²⁷

Sustainability has economic and technological, as well as market development, dimensions and social components to safeguard and protect the environment and natural resources. Therefore, sustainability implies responsibility by those who are in power to protect the environment and to use that power in a manner that is morally and equitably sharing the ecological resources for the survival of humans and other species today and in the future. There is a consciously intended social aim to use resources morally and to responsibly manage long-lived living systems. Environmental management enhances sustainability by linking environmental resources management "to quality, production, service and managerial systems."²⁸ It promotes organizational learning, where employees are trained and made aware of the importance of environmental issues and natural resources conservation. Accordingly, sustainable development and sound environmental management make up the primary components for establishing environmental and industrial ecology relationships.

INDUSTRIAL ECOLOGY

Ehrenfeld laid the basic foundation and underlying principles of ecology, industrial ecology, and sustainable development connections as follows: "Ecology is fundamentally a science of living systems. Ecology focuses on the interconnections and community character of a system and seeks to identify and characterize the web of energy and natural flow that maintain its health." Industrial ecology attempts "to understand the intricate web of energy and material flows and discover the rules that govern robustness and resiliency in such systems" of industrial societies. This knowledge has become instrumental "for designing more effective technologies and institutional structures."²⁹

Industrial ecology has normative assumptions about human behavior that involve cooperation, competition, conflict, and interdependence in managing sustainable development. Interdependence involves exchange that is relational and dependent on human and community interdependency relationships. It involves adaptation and sustainability on a continuous process indefinitely.

Industrial ecology deals with organizational and human connection in business and organizational development, commerce, and industry in a sustainable manner, in which energy materials and natural resources flow between businesses and their communities. Industrial ecology as a humanistic and social interventionist approach promotes the integration of a balanced management between resources exploration and their better use to protect the environment. According to Cohen-Rosenthal, "industrial ecology is an intervention at the organizational and social level."³⁰ This includes human intervention with natural ecology to ensure that technological innovations are used to explore new connections, create new possibilities, and enable managers to make choices in responsible and sustainable ways. In industrial ecology, the notion of exchange and interconnections of economic benefits between industrial development and environmental management are important. Because of synergies, organizations can improve resources utilization and conservation, which would encourage competition and social responsibility.³¹

As a result of organizational learning, employees learn new roles and behaviors, working relationships, cooperation, and new approaches to solving problems. Through adaptive behavior and continuous learning, management and employees can share new information, develop networks, form teams, and

ECOLOGICAL APPROACHES OF ORGANIZATIONS

improve communication among them. Industrial ecology becomes central in developing human resources skills, knowledge, and training, and learning new behaviors and roles that increase employees' awareness, their environmental responsibility, and their relationships to business performance and profitability objectives. It is this social dimension of industrial ecology that becomes central in organizational and environmental relationships.

Cohen-Rosenthal described the relationship as follows: "Social aspects of industrial ecology stretch beyond the inter-organizational relationships within a symbiotic connection or eco-industrial cluster. The environment in which industrial ecology operates includes the larger community and social context. These factors can be enabling or inhibiting to achieving broad goals for industrial ecology."³² It can be inferred that strategies that enhance industrial performance/ profitability can be linked to global welfare in broader terms. Accordingly, "profitmaximizing strategies are linked to strategies that improve public welfare. The use of social processes," whereby the broader communities are involved, can become "essential for effective strategy development and implementation."³³

The interrelationships among environmental management, industrial growth, community development, and societal changes have been described by Bailey as an open and interactive system whereby:

society inevitably transforms its environment while adapting to it, just as the environment transforms the society. Thus, each stage in the cycle of societal-environmental relations sees successive transformation of both the society and environment. The society, as it grows, transforms the environment (positively as well as negatively) and in turn the transformed environment has further impact on society—in reality a changed society.³⁴

In an open system, the boundary of a society is defined by a political border that defines the internal resources, including land, water, and all available natural resources. When communities interact outside the political border, they exchange and trade their internal resources to obtain external resources that are not available within their political boundaries. Communities can sustain economic development and minimize dependency of external resources through technological innovation and industrial growth.

Industrial ecology's goals of community growth, social welfare, and environmental management are linked to sustainable development and cultural change. Both industrial ecology and ecological anthropology assume that sustainable development is an evolutionary process that transforms culture and society over time. Accordingly, both industrial ecology and ecological anthropology incorporate the study of culture and business growth to the social systems' adaptation process. These social systems include population and their surrounding natural environmental resources. Culture, language, beliefs, and religion become part of the social and political systems, technology, organization systems, and accounting information that constitute human ecology.

HUMAN ECOLOGY

Human ecology studies "the manner in which humans adapt to their environment, both living and non-living."³⁵ It addresses the interrelationships among humans, communities, and spatial arrangements including land use, processes, regional and urban growth, and humans' use of natural resources, sustainable development, and environmental management. In human ecology, the community and humans' adaptation to the environment becomes the central focus in examining the linkages of the community to the society at large.³⁶ This linkage involves the exchange of information, economic transactions, and political relations in which dominance and influence affect the social exchange outcomes.

In human ecology, the process of human adaptation to the environmental surroundings encompasses broader societal issues that extend human ecology to social ecology. Bailey elaborated that although both human and social ecology study adaptive processes and behavior, social ecology examines broader societal issues involving the interrelationships and the simultaneous effect that environment has on society, and society's adaptive behaviors to environmental changes.³⁷

Human ecology focuses on social evolution, which is based on Darwin's principle of natural selection, where competition or struggle among biological atoms can be related to humans. Darwin's approach to the human level is based on the group rather than the individual and takes an institutional theory to explain human and social evolutions. This is because, "institutions by definition are wholes encompassing relations among individuals. The study of human beings separate from the institutional setting, or the single organism existing apart from its ecological niche, is fallacious because it abstracts the individual or the organism from those relationships that define it."38 Social evolution involves both competition and cooperation as cultural and legitimized processes in human adaptation. Whereas competition arises because of limited resources among humans or food among animals, the struggle for survival among selfinterested groups becomes the source for cooperation and progress. Competition and cooperation form the basis of relationships for organizational communities and become institutionalized in the social and human ecological analysis of organizations and society.

Within the human ecology framework, in the organization–environment relationships, organizations are viewed as having characteristics similar to that of a community having collective processes of adaptation to environmental changes. The ecological analysis, which is done at the community level, looks for communal characteristics among organizations, although there are unique individual characteristics that affect organizations relations with the environment. A search for relative homogeneity characteristics and collective adaptation among organizational communities constitutes the main study of human ecology of organization–environmental relationships.

Social, industrial, and community ecologies all address humans' adaptation processes through technological and organizational changes. The ecological

models of organizations advanced by Hannan and Freeman,³⁹ which focuses on organizational populations instead of single organization and their relationships to the environment, incorporated the work of Hawley's human ecology.⁴⁰ The ecological model thus examined organizational populations' relationships to the environment and the nature of human social organization. Accordingly, Hannan and Freeman expanded human ecology by incorporating two explicit models of ecology: competition and niche theory. They used "explicit competition models to specify the process producing isomorphism between organizational structure and environmental demands, and by using niche theory to extend the problem to dynamic environments."⁴¹

Organizational growth and change tend to be limited by external environmental factors as well as internal organizational characteristics. The evolutionary dynamic change processes of organizational populations are thus affected by geographical boundaries, physical barriers, and localized environmental resources. Although these external environmental resources could serve as sources of organizational inertia or of change, the critical unit of evolutionary analysis for the ecological model is organizational population.

POPULATION ECOLOGY OF ORGANIZATIONS

Beard and Dess denoted that the term "organizational population designates all members of an organizational species or industrial classification during a specified time interval, and the term organizational form designates the typical organization in terms of a specified set of defining characteristics."⁴² For a population of organization to occur, some variations in organizational forms must be established among a few organizations for a population ecology analysis to be adopted for examining organizations environmental vulnerability. The issues address changes in organizations structures and systems that sustain stability within a given population. The process of homogenization and stability through the sharing of technical know-how and inbreeding minimizes differences caused by environmental variation. Accordingly, population ecology focuses on homogeneity rather than diversity of organizations. It examines the process of selection and gradual transformation of organizations within the same population lineage or family. Although the approach describes the sources of variation among organizational forms, it concentrates on homogeneitysimilarity in organizations and their dependence on their immediate environment. In doing so, the population ecology follows the Darwinian theory of change and selection where "the fitness of adaptation critically depends on the environment selecting organizational forms"43:

The systems' approach becomes central in studying organizational populations, because systems relevant to the study of organization–environment relation are usually defined by geography, by political boundaries, by market or product considerations, etc. Given a systems definition, a population of organizations consists

of all the organizations within a particular boundary that have a common form. That is, the population is the form as it exists or is realized within a specified system.⁴⁴

The population ecology approach has focused on organization systems across geographical boundaries to examine how environmental conditions limit organizational structures and evolutions. As a systems approach, population ecology studies the process of biological evolution, functionalism, and the gradual adaptation processes of organizations to environmental changes. According to Young, population ecology models "apply concepts, theories, methods, and models derived from the biological study of the fluctuations of plant and animal populations to 'populations' of organizations."⁴⁵ It takes the population instead of an organization as the unit of analysis. The implications from the population homogenization focus are that the individual organization in an established population is not studied as a source where variation or change occurs. It incorporates competition and niche theories to examine the evolving relationships between organizations and the environment. External environment acts as the source of inertia by limiting organizations' ability to change and deviate from their current internal processes and operating activities. The rule of selection primarily favors those organizations whose structures have high inertia within a given population.⁴⁶

Within the same population, competition and niche theories account for the differential successes and failures of constituent members. As some organizations fail, and others survive, new members are also created and join the population. Selections occur through organizational birth, death, and retention processes and transforms organizations over time. Accordingly, population ecology examines only organizational forms and diversity, if any, within existing populations. As Astley noted,

Population ecology emphasizes forces that make organizations more uniform rather than more diverse. The theory of natural selection does not explain how new populations multiply to increase organizational variety; instead, it begins with existing populations and explains how differential survival progressively refines and homogenizes organizational forms as it perfects their adaptation to environments. By filtering out unfit members of the population and favoring only that subset of organizations optimally adapted to a given configuration of nice constraints, natural selection reduces rather than increases organizational diversity.⁴⁷

Selection underscores the effect environmental changes and instability has on either the increase or the decrease of the variation characteristics in organizational populations.

On the basis of the selection theory, it can be inferred that organizational populations have a tendency to persist instead of tracking changes in their environment. Usually, well-established populations survive over time without significant evolutionary changes. Accordingly, environmental selection promotes homogeneity rather than diversity and change. When there is homogenization and uniformity, selection governs the rules for competition and niche. When there is resource scarcity and when those resources are fully utilized, as in the case of mature industries or in the later mature growth stage of product life cycle, price, cost reduction, incremental product changes, advertising, and consumer incentives become the sources of competition.⁴⁸ However, the long-term survivability of an organization cannot continue unless that organization is able to offer new products and services. Technological innovations contribute to these changes in organizations' operating functions. In other words, organizations that are able to develop new niches and are innovative prosper until a period where a dominant population with new lineages emerges among them.

Selection in effect becomes the underlying factor that governs the rules of competition in situations of limited and scarce resources. When the supply of environmental resources is limited or less than the joint demand of those resources, there is environmental optimization in which "only a limited range of the most fit organizations are selected." "Population ecology's focus on selection through competition, therefore, points to factors that reduces rather than increase organizational variety and that effectively slow down the rate of evolutionary change."⁴⁹

However, it needs to be noted that when there is organizational diversity, conflict accounts the processes for organizational form, evolutionary change, and development. Because diversity assumes that there is less homogeneity, it recognizes that demographic characteristics have important implications for the classification of organizations.⁵⁰ Demographic analysis shifts the focus of research and analysis "from individual to compositional and relational elements" by concentrating on those properties of social units that are measurable and quantifiable.⁵¹ Organizational demographics have become sources of analysis to study organizational founding, mortality, and selection process; liability of the newness model's effect on organizations' survival rates and the chances for success at early age of an organization's life cycle; and longitudinal analysis of the vital rates of entry and exit.⁵² Accordingly, demography and diversity constitute the underlying framework for the study of organizational stability and change.

ORGANIZATIONAL ECOLOGY

Organizational ecology is a sociological study of quantitative analysis of organizations that examines organizational demography and diversity in relation to the environment. Singh and Lunsden have provided the basic underlying framework of organizational ecology as follows:

Organizational ecology focuses on the study of organizational diversity. Its key concerns are to investigate how social conditions influence (a) the rates of creation of new organizational forms and new organizations, (b) the rates of demise of organizational forms and organizations, and (c) the rates of change in organizational forms. The emphasis is on evolutionary dynamics of processes influencing organizational diversity.

And, in contrast to the predominance of adaptation in the study of organizations, organization ecology investigates the role of selection process.⁵³

14

That is, organizational ecology uses an evolutionary perspective to explain the demographic process that contributes to organizational vitality including founding or birth, growth, and death (mortality) over the internal adaptation process of change. In an evolutionary process, the number of trials for organizational forms to find a better fit will continue at a constant rate until it reaches a point at which organizational learning contributes to an increase in population fitness to the environment without selection.⁵⁴ Organizational ecology combines organizational inertia with environmental selection to provide a comparative analysis of the evolution of organizational forms and diversity. Whereas the inertia forces focus on survival issues, the environmental selection mechanisms that govern competition and legitimation in a density-dependent population are likely to vary in industry life cycles: founding, growth, and mortality rates.⁵⁵ It is the organization–environment linkage that selects organizational niches and forms that will either survive or die.

Accordingly, the evolution of organizational forms and inertial pressures influence the demographic processes of the vital rates of population life cycles, including founding, growth, and mortality. Three levels of analysis: organization, population, and community are applied to analyze variation, retention, and the selection approach of inertia and organizational adaptation. Selection becomes a multidimensional force in which selection pressures of mortality vary by age, where young organizations face higher mortality than established organizations because of external pressure forces, size, limited access to resources, lack of legitimacy, and political forces. It is the age liability of newness and size—the liability of smallness—arguments that influence the survival and retention rates of young organizations.⁵⁶ Because organizational ecology addresses both selection and adaptation, although the focus on adaptation is overshadowed by inertia, the evolutionary change process involves a macroanalysis of coadaptation between organizational populations including biological organisms and the environment, both social and geographical surroundings.

Although organizational ecology recognizes that there is relative inertia in organizational change, it assumes that there is similarity between the process of organizational and biological evolutions. It applies the social Darwinian theory of survival of the fittest to explain organizational change and survival rates.⁵⁷

As an evolutionary model, organizational ecology does not adhere to the theory of the adaptation model of organizational change. Whereas the adaptation of change may be inherently operating in organizations, it is not considered critical in the ecology perspective. The ecology model examines organizational change as a process that occurs through selection and replacement rather than through internal transformation and adaptation.⁵⁸ Accordingly, efficiency and effectiveness of performance account for the process of one population replacement by another. Organizational ecology assumes that the selection processes are

influenced by political, social, cultural, and institutional factors, as well as environmental conditions. These external environmental factors shape the founding, growth, mortality, and entry and exit processes of organizations.

As Haveman noted, environmental changes can have either a considerable or a peripheral effect on organizational core activities. When the changes are considered significant, it can have a negative effect on organizations' core activities of accountability, reproducibility, and performance, which could increase mortality rates. However, if the changes are minimal and peripheral, it is likely to have a positive effect on improved performance by enabling organizations to enter into new markets or develop related products.⁵⁹ It is this surviving tendency of organizations that causes inertia to persist over time as organizations interface with their surrounding environment.

However, it needs to be noted that an evolutionary model recognizes that although there is inertia, organizations have to compete to secure scarce resources needed for their survival and growth. This evolutionary process implies that in competition, there is selection and learning. Competition enhances organizational learning and innovation to improve current performance. If the number of competitive organizations within a population increases, it creates resource constraints and increases the potential for acquisition. Through mergers and acquisitions, the weakest and underperforming organizations are selected out for death, and only the better-performing organizations survive. The learning, selection, competition, and performance processes continue to operate because of the evolutionary processes of the ecology of organizations. Barnett, Greve, and Park noted that when there are environmental changes, organizations respond as part of the learning process. Otherwise, they die. The weakest, which are not able to learn and survive, will be eliminated by the natural selection process.⁶⁰ Large organizations, even if they are weak, are more likely to survive, because of their size, structure, and market position, than are small organizations. Large organizations have the potential to reduce competitive forces/pressures through organizational strategic change.

Although it is true that organizations learn and the learning process facilitates adaptation and change, organizational ecology assumes that because organizations are inert, they are unable to reorganize their goals, strategy, authority, technology, markets, systems, and structures. This inertia process results on the replacement of one form of organization by another, or the eventual death over time.⁶¹ However, the evolutionary processes of ecology recognize that although there is inertia, there is the process of organizational change and development through adaptation, organizational learning, and innovation. This evolutionary process may involve both gradual and organizational transformation changes.

The ecological evolution change processes thus establish the link and the potential reciprocal exchange between the environment and organizational population relationships. These relationships, although governed by the forces of selection, may also involve adaptation, communication, and organizational learning.⁶² The organization–environment relationship is an evolutionary process that

involves cooperation, competition, and conflict as sources of progress and change. Chapter 2 examines those environmental conditions, both internal and external, that contribute to the selection and adaptations of organizational populations.

NOTES

1. A.H. Hawley, Human Ecology: A Theory of Community Structure (New York: Ronald Press Company, 1950), and Human Ecology: A Theoretical Essay (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1986).

2. W.G. Astley, "The two ecologies: Population and community perspectives on organizational evolution," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 30 (1985), 224–41.

3. Ibid., 239. See also D.W. Beard and G.G. Dess, "Modeling organizational species' interdependence in an ecological community: An input-output approach," *Academy of Management Review* 13 (1988), 363–65.

4. E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms," Annual Review of Sociology 17 (1991), 94.

5. C.H. Hunt and H.E. Aldrich, "The second ecology: Creation and evolution of organizational communities," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 20 (1998), 272.

6. lbid., 277. For details, see S. Doledec, D. Chessel, and C. Gimaret-Carpentier, "Niche separation in community analysis: A new method," *Ecology* 81 (2000), 2914–27; O.D. Duncan, "From social system to ecosystem," *Sociological Quarterly* 21 (1961), 140–49; P.D. Jennings and P.A. Zandbergen, "Ecologically sustainable organizations: An institutional approach," *Academy of Management Review* 20 (1995), 1015–52; and A. King, "Avoiding ecological surprise: Lessons from long-standing communities," *Academy of Management Review* 20 (1995), 961–85.

7. Ibid., 294.

8. G. Burell and G. Morgan, Sociological Paradigms: Organizational Analysis (Portsmouth, N.H.: Heinemann, 1979). See also, K.D. Bailey, "Post-functional social systems analysis," The Sociological Quarterly 23 (1982), 509–26.

9. J. Child, "Strategic choice in the analysis of action, structure, organizations and environment: Retrospect and prospect," *Organization Studies* 18 (1997), 45, 65–66. See also W.P. Barnett and M.T. Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution. *Strategic Management Journal* 17 (1996), 139–57; and R.H. Chenhall, and D. Morris, "The impact of structure, environment, and interdependence on the perceived usefulness of management accounting systems," *The Accounting Review* 61 (1986), 16–35.

10. M. Ruef, "The emergence of organizational forms: A community ecology approach," American Journal of Sociology 106 (2000), 673.

11. R. Durand, "Firm selection: An integrative perspective," Organization Studies 22 (2001), 398. For details of the subject, refer to R. Agarwal and M. Gort, "The evolution of markets and entry, exit and survival of firms," Review of Economics and Statistics 78 (1996), 489–98; P. Deutz and D. Gibbs, "Eco-industrial development and economic development: Industrial ecology or place promotion?" Business Strategy and the Environment 13 (2004), 347–62; A. Farina, "The cultural landscape as a model for the integration of ecology and economics," Bioscience 50 (2000), 313–20; S.L. Hart, "A natural-resource-based view of the firm," Academy of Management Review 20 (1995), 986–1014; K. Iwai,

"Schumpeterian dynamics: An evolutionary model of innovation and imitation," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organizations* 5 (1984), 159–90; Z. Naveh, "The total human ecosystem: Integrating ecology and economics," *Bioscience* 50 (2000), 357–61; and R.R. Nelson and S.G. Winter, "Firm and industry response to changed market conditions: An evolutionary approach," *Economic Inquiry* 18 (1980), 179–202.

12. R.R. Nelson and S.G. Winter, "Neoclassical vs. evolutionary theories of economic growth: Critique and prospects," *The Economic Journal* 84 (1974), 891–93. See also H. Peukert, "On the origins of modern evolutionary economics: The Veblen legend after 100 years," *Journal of Economic Issues* 35 (2001), 543–55.

13. R.R. Nelson, S.G. Winter and H.L. Schuette, "Technical change in an evolutionary model," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 90 (1976), 91-92.

14. A. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding: Location, dependence and unobserved heterogeneity," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 40 (1995), 111.

15. P.B. Hook and I.C. Burke, "Biogeochemistry in a short grass landscape: Control by topography, soil texture, and microclimate," *Ecology* 81 (2000), 2687. See also A.T. Peterson, "Predicting species' geographic distributions based on ecological niche modeling," *The Condor* 103 (2001), 599–600.

16. See C. Kerman, "Assessing the indicator properties of species assemblages for natural areas monitoring," *Ecological Applications* 2 (1992), 203–17; and A. Lipietz, "Cultural geography, political economy and ecology," *European Planning Studies* 7 (1999), 41–50.

17. K.S. Zimmer, "Human geography and the 'New Ecology': The prospect and promise of integration," Annals of the Association of American Geographers 84 (1994), 111.

18. See P.A. Jargowsky, "Take the money and run: Economic segregation in U. S. metropolitan areas," *American Sociological Review* 61 (1996), 984–98; and D.S. Massey and N.A. Denton, "Spatial assimilation as a socioeconomic outcome," *American Sociological Review* 50 (1985), 94–106.

19. A. Escobar, "After nature: Steps to an antiessentialist political ecology," Current Anthropology 40 (1999), 1–30.

20. J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 4 (1982), 26.

21. P. McLaughlin and M. Khawaja, "The organizational dynamics of the U. S. environmental movement: Legitimation, resource mobilization, and political opportunity," *Rural Sociology* 65 (2000), 422–39.

22. P. Ingram and T. Simons, "State formation, ideological competition, and the ecology of Israeli workers' cooperatives, 1920–1992," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45 (2000), 25–26.

23. Ibid., 27-28.

24. Refer to S.J. Gray, "A memory loss: Ecological politics, local history, and the evolution of Karimojong violence," *Human Organization* 59 (2000), 401–18; and B.D. Pierce and R. White, "The evolution of social structure: Why evolution matters," *Academy of Management Review* 24 (1999), 843–53.

25. C.P. Kottack, "The new ecological anthropology," *American Anthropologist* 101 (1999), 23–24. See also A. Biersack, "Introduction: From the 'new ecology' to the new ecologies," *American Anthropologist* 101 (1999), 5–18; T. Dietz and T.R. Burns, "Human agency and the evolutionary dynamics of culture," *Acta Sociologica* 35 (1992), 187–200; S. Feldman, "Management in context: An essay on the relevance of culture to the understanding of

organizational change," Journal of Management Studies 23 (1986), 587–607, and "How organizational culture can affect innovation," Organizational Dynamics 17 (1988), 57–68; and N. Haenn, "Review article: Renovating ecology," American Anthropologist 27 (2000), 736–45.

26. Kottack, "The new ecological anthropology," 26.

27. S. Sisaye, G.H. Bodnar, and P. Christofi, "Total quality management and sustainability reporting: Lessons from social soundness analysis," *Internal Auditing* 19 (2004), 32–39.

28. E. Cohen-Rosenthal, "A walk on the human side of industrial ecology," American Behavioral Scientist 44 (2000), 255. See also J.R. Ehrenfeld, "Industrial ecology: Paradigm shift or normal science," American Behavioral Scientist 44 (2000), 233.

29. Ehrenfeld, "Industrial ecology," 239. For further discussion on the subject of industrial ecology, refer to P. Desrochers, "Industrial ecology and the rediscovery of interfirm recycling linkages: Historical evidence and policy implications," *Industrial and Corporate Change* 11 (2002), 1031–57; R. Isenmann, "Industrial ecology: Shedding more light on its perspective of understanding nature as model," *Sustainable Development* 11 (2003), 143–58; J. Korhonen, F. Malmborg, P.A. Strachan, and J.R. Ehrenfeld, "Management and policy aspects of industrial ecology: An emerging research agenda," *Business Strategy and the Environment* 13 (2004), 289–305; S. Seuring, "Industrial ecology, life cycles, supply chains: Differences and interrelation," *Business Strategy and the Environment* 13 (2004): 306–19; and J.P.A. Snakin and J. Korhonen, "Industrial ecology in the North Karelia Region in Finland—Scenarios for heating energy supply," *International Journal of Sustainable Development and World Ecology* 9 (2002), 9–21.

30. Cohen-Rosenthal, "A walk on the human side of industrial ecology," 250.

31. Several studies have examined the issues between industrial growth and ecological management. For discussions of these issues, refer to M.J. Lenox and J. Nash, "Industry self-regulation and adverse selection: A comparison across four trade association programs," *Business Strategy and the Environment* 12 (2003), 343–56; J.D. Linton, J.S. Yeomans, and R. Yoogalingam, "Supply planning for industrial ecology and remanufacturing under uncertainty: A numerical study of leaded-waste recovery from television disposal," *Journal of Operational Research Society* 53 (2002), 1185–96; and S. Seuring, "Industrial ecology, life cycles, supply chains: differences and interrelations," *Business Strategy and the Environment* 13 (2004), 306–19.

32. Ibid., 251.

33. Ibid., 252.

34. K.D. Bailey, "Social ecology and living systems theory," Systems Research and Behavioral Science 15 (1998), 423.

35. Ibid., 421.

36. F.D. Wilson, "Urban ecology: Urbanization and systems of cities," Annual Review of Sociology 10 (1984), 283-84.

37. Bailey, "Social ecology."

38. J.P. Watkins, "Towards a reconsideration of social evolution: Symbiosis and its implications for economics," *Journal of Economic Issues* 32 (1998), 89.

39. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," American Journal of Sociology 82 (1977): 929–64. See also M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, Organizational Ecology (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989).

40. Hawley, Human Ecology.

41. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," 933.

ECOLOGICAL APPROACHES OF ORGANIZATIONS

42. Beard and Dess, "Modeling organizational species," 363.

43. R. Durand, "Firm selection," 400. See also Astley, "The two ecologies," 227. For details on the subject matter, refer to D. Barron, "The structuring of organizational populations," *American Sociological Review* 64 (1999), 421–45; E.M. Crenshaw, M. Christenson, and D.R. Oakey, "Demographic transition in ecological focus," *American Sociological Review* 65 (2000), 371–91; and M.T. Hannan and G.R. Carroll, *Dynamics of Organizational Populations: Density, Legitimation, and Competition* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1992).

44. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," 935-36.

45. R.C. Young, "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations?" American Journal of Sociology 94 (1988), 1.

46. For details, see H. Aldrich, Organizations and Environments (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1979); Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations"; A.L. Molinsky, "Sanding down the edge: Paradoxical impediments to organizational change," The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 35 (1999), 8–24; J. Pfeffer and G.R. Salancik, The External Control of Organizations (New York: Harper & Row, 1978); E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms," 1991; and Young, "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations," 1–24.

47. Astley, "The two ecologies," 227.

48. Ibid., 229; Aldrich, Organizations and Environment, 1979; and E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms," 1991.

49. Astley, "The two ecologies," 229.

50. P. Chattopadhyay, "Beyond direct and symmetrical effects: The influence of demographic dissimilarity on organizational citizenship behavior," Academy of Management Journal 42 (1999), 273–87; and D.C. Lau and J.K. Murnighan, "Demographic diversity and fault lines: The compositional dynamics of organizational groups," Academy of Management Review 23 (1998), 325–40.

51. J. Pfeffer, "Organizational demography: Implications for management," *California Management Review* 28 (1985), 79.

52. For details, see T.L. Amburgey and H. Rao, "Organizational ecology: Past, present, and future directions," Academy of Management Journal 39 (1996), 1265–86; G.R. Carroll (Ed.), *Ecological Models of Organizations* (Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger, 1988); G.R. Carroll and W.P. Barnett, "Organizational ecology: An Introduction," Industrial and Corporate Change 13 (2004), 1; A. Drory and T. Romm, "Politics in organization and its perception within the organizational boundary spanning in institutionalized environments," Academy of Management Journal 30 (1987), 456–76; A. Santos and V. Ma, "The phenomenon of organizational evolution: A model for analysis," The Leadership and Organization Development Journal 23 (2002), 215–27; A.L. Stinchcombe, "Social structure and organization," in J. G. March (Ed.). Handbook of organizations (Chicago: Rand McNally, 1965), 142–93; and S. Zyglidopoulos, "Initial environmental conditions and technological change," Journal of Management Studies 36 (1999), 241–62.

53. J.V. Singh and C.J Lumsden, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," Annual Review of Sociology 16 (1990), 162.

54. O. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry: The American automobile industry," *Social Science Research* 29 (2000), 315, 323. See also Aldrich, *Organizations and Environments*; T.L. Amburgey and H. Rao, "Organizational

ecology: Past, present, and future directions," *Academy of Management Journal* 39 (1996), 1265–86; A.A. Amenakis and A.G. Bedeian, "Organizational change: A review of theory and research in the 1990s," *Journal of Management* 25 (1999), 293–315; P.D. Jennings and P.A. Zandbergen, "Ecologically sustainable organizations: An institutional approach," *Academy of Management Review* 20 (1995), 1015–52; B.W. Keats and M.A. Hitt, "A casual model of linkages among environmental dimensions, macro organizational characteristics, and performance," *Academy of Management Journal* 31 (1988), 570–98; M.C. White, D.B. Martin, D.V. Brazeal, and W.H. Friedman, "The evolution of organizations: Suggestions from complexity theory about the interplay between natural selection and adaptation," *Human Relations* 50 (1997), 1383–401; G. Whiteman and W.R. Cooper, "Ecological embeddedness," *Academy of Management Journal* 43 (2000), 1265–82; and D.R. Wholey and J.W. Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications," *Academy of Management Review* 11 (1986), 513–33.

55. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "Structural inertia and organizational change," American Sociological Review 49 (1984), 149–64, and Organizational Ecology.

56. Singh and Lumsden "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 185. See also Young, "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations?"

57. A.V. Witteloostuijn, "Editorial: Organizational ecology has a bright future," Organization Studies 21 (2000), v-xiii.

58. Amburgey and Rao, "Organizational ecology," 1996; and Carroll, Ecological Models of Organizations, 1988.

59. H.A. Haveman, "Between a rock and a hard place: Organizational change and performance under conditions of fundamental environmental transformation," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37 (1992), 48–75. See also Witteloostuijn, "Editorial: Organizational ecology has a bright future," 2000.

60. W.P. Barnett, H.R. Greve., and D.Y. Park, "An evolutionary model of organizational performance," *Strategic Management Journal* 15 (1994), 11–28.

61. Amburgey and Rao, "Organizational ecology"; and Hannan and Freeman, "Structural inertia."

62. Barnett and Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," 139–57; and J.L. Everett, "The ecological paradigm in public relations theory and practice," *Public Relations Review* 19 (1993), 177–85.

20

CHAPTER 2

Environmental Influences on Organizational Selection and Adaptation Change Strategies

Chapter 2 discusses environmental influences on organizational selection and adaptation strategies. Broadly speaking, environmental issues are related to conservation, pollution, uncontrollable or limited growth, and sustainability development. These issues gained national and international attention in the 1960s and 1970s. Industrial growth during these periods contributed to environmental changes that included climatic changes, loss of agricultural land as a result of urban growth, and depletion of natural resources including water, forestry, and nonrenewable resources such as oil and natural resources. In response to these changes, the environmental movement gave rise to a number of disciplinary fields in environmental sociology and environmental economics to study environmental issues. Political economic studies that considered conservation, development strategies, and environmental sciences emerged to understand environment–organization conflictual relationships.

The issue of limits to growth versus sustainable development has become the primary focus of political ecological analysis. There are several factors: economic and organizational structures, control of government institutions, cultural systems, social and class structures, ownership and control of production systems that affect production, and consumption of environmental resources. The availability of resources to meet production and consumption requirements is bound to be affected by society's perceptions of natural resources scarcity, which are entwined within the social, political, economic, and cultural systems and structures.¹ Without selection and adaptation strategies of sustainable development, economic growth development strategies and political struggle by interested groups could result in environmental destruction and damage.

EFFECTS OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND POLITICAL ISSUES ON ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES

Chapter 2 describes those organizational factors—environment, organizational attributes, technology, competition, and resource dependence—that affect selection and adaptation strategies of organizational change. Davidson suggests that a political ecology approach can be a useful framework in minimizing economic growth that is environmentally destructive. Economic growth policies are subject to change and can be modified by political, economic, and cultural decisions. Interested groups can lobby for legislation to halt the growth of certain manufacturing industries that are environmentally destructive. The clean water and air legislation acts have made businesses socially responsible and take measures to reduce air and water pollution. In essence, a political ecology framework has broadened the concern for environmental issues to a broader political struggle, where conservation, regional/geographical growth, and sustainable development issues can be related to social and economic justice.²

Freeman has incorporated the political economy and ecology approaches within the natural selection framework of organizations. He argued that political economy's concern about scarce resources and its potential to create environmental conflict among organizational members, the tendency for managers to base their choices on political instead of rational economic decisions, and the continuous environmental changes and hostility organizations face in their operating activities are central to selection studies of organizations.³ It can be inferred that environmental conflict as a selection process has the potential to bring together diverse sets of groups of players who have interest in cooperating in organizational community-based conservation programs. Accordingly, conservation and environmental issues have become not only economic and political issues but also social issues embedded in anthropological and sociological ecological studies of selection and adaptive change strategies.

Ecological approaches of selection and adaptation to environmental changes are thus embedded in the disciplines of economics, geography, political science, anthropology, and sociology.⁴ Social organization theories that recognize organizations as fundamentally more complex have noted that in evolutionary processes, organizational changes are shaped by natural selection and adaptation strategies, which recognizes the ability of management to consciously make strategic choice to purposefully change the organization.⁵ However, management behaviors or responses are dictated by environmental threats and opportunities as well as resource constraints. In sociology, environmental selection and adaptation became instrumental for the analysis of birth, growth, stability, and change in organizational forms.

ORGANIZATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL ATTRIBUTES AND CHARACTERISTICS

Broadly speaking, the environment refers to a structured pattern of relationships among participants, including the relevant stakeholders: customers,

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

stockholders, employees, government regulatory agencies, and other entities/ groups that have interest in the control and distribution of resources and power within the organization, where control over resources depends on resource availability—abundance or scarcity.

Organizational environments may create geographical barriers that create conditions for organizations to have their own evolutionary paths. Localized resource conditions could create potential problems of adaptation for some organizations. Geographical boundaries may create differences in organizational density and competition, as well as legitimation. Spatial aggregation defines not only population boundaries but also resource conditions and availability, as well as heterogeneity and concentration among organizations. Geographical location thus becomes an important environmental factor that shapes the evolution and concentration of organizational for the shapes the evolution and concentration of organizational populations.⁶

Environmental resources present threats and opportunities for organizations, as well as create constraints on organizational growth and survival. Population ecologists have viewed the environment as creating constraints that affect organizational forms, structures, and decisions.⁷ These ecologists have noted that the degree of environmental variation—small or large, defined by the niche width of organizations—has an effect on the survival rates of organizations. Freeman and Hannan have discussed the effect of these environmental changes on specialist versus generalist organizations. They suggested that when environmental variations are fine, generalist organizations have higher death rates, but when the environmental variations are large and coarse, generalist organizations. ⁸

In contrast, the adaptation change framework primarily emphasizes the organizations' ability to expand their resource bases through innovation or substitution. That is, economic and technological changes shape the external environment. These changes may include gradual evolutionary changes that affect routine work tasks and contextual behavioral changes and transformations that focus on contextual human and organizational technological behavioral changes. The adaptation change approach places an emphasis on the ability of organizations to intentionally change their environments and resources bases. Managers are assumed to be able to select the environment in which they operate, although environmental constraints may influence entry and exit patterns.⁹

Accordingly, environmental variability, heterogeneity, and resource availability or scarcity are related to local/regional differences in terms of population size, density of population, and racial and ethnic compositions, as well as the number and size of governmental agencies. These differences have accounted for environmental conflict among racial and cultural groups, political organizations, and geographical regions. Environmental conflict that has emerged as a result of historical conditions and economic, cultural, social, and political relationships has led to war, invasions, and annexations. Others have focused on developing alternative resources to minimize the economic and social effects of environmental conflict and scarcity of resources. For example, Baldridge and Burnham suggested that when environmental heterogeneity factors—resources scarcity and availability—are combined with organizational characteristics—differentiation, structured complexity, hierarchy, and size—a large, complex organization with a heterogeneous environment is more likely to adopt innovations than a small simple organization with a relatively stable, homogeneous environment. This is because "a heterogeneous environment surrounding an organization makes numerous demands for responsive behavior."¹⁰

Romanelli and Tushman expanded the organization and heterogeneous environment linkage and their relationships to innovative activities. They developed an organization–environmental typology that is based on staged growth of organization. These include "general states of emergence, rapid growth, transition to maturity, maturity, and decline."¹¹ They suggested that although "changes in environmental conditions that are relevant to the competitive survival of firms can be inferred," which of these environmental dimensions are critical for innovating and organizational change and learning depends on the type of organizational services and products.¹²

Freeman and Hannan elaborated that life-hosting strategies that are based on staged growth of development provide another dimension of strategies used by organizations. Accordingly, it is possible for some organizations to develop structural "forms [that] specialize in the ability to respond to new opportunities and to the appearance of ephemeral resources. Other forms depend on competitive ability, the ability to enter densely occupied markets and compete well."¹³ Although environmental heterogeneity and variability factors and organizational structural characteristics are important variables that influence organizational innovation and change, it is important to note that personality attributes of leaders/managers, policy makers, and experts/specialists also account for the successful adoption and implementation of innovations in organizations.

Baldridge and Burnham noted that environmental changes not only create problems for organizations that adopt innovations but also vary by individuals and groups in the organizations. They argue that the payoff and the length of time the change will last influence the adoption of innovations by individuals or groups. They examined the relationship between adoption of innovations and organizational positions that involve leadership and administrative roles. In organizations that adopt innovations, organizational size and administrative complexity, defined by having more administrators, increased hierarchy of management positions, specialization and differentiation of roles, complexity of goals, integrative and coordinative mechanisms of resources to handle competitive goals and conflictual objectives, and centralization of decision making, were found to be factors to influence innovative behaviors. Their study revealed that the larger the size of the organization, the greater the chances are for adoption of innovation by managers. They found that larger organizations have the resources, structural mechanisms for handling conflict management among divisions and managers, and specialized staffs that support innovation.¹⁴ Both the Baldridge

and Burnham and Freeman and Hannan studies indicate that organizational structural attributes and management characteristics affect the adoption of innovations and organizational change strategies.¹⁵ That is, technological change has an organization-specific element that is multidimensional and that is incorporated into the organization physical and human capital as well as into the social aspects of the organization.¹⁶ Because technology includes individual as well as group skills/knowledge that can affect organizational change and development, the process of technological change is shaped by environmental characteristics and organizational change strategies.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE STRATEGIES

The external environment of organizations is continually changing, and organizations are always faced with uncertainties as the level of competition from their industry increases. Consumer demands, governmental regulation, internal competition, and stockholder requirements for improved performance continuously affect the internal organizational operating activities, systems, structure, strategy, functions, procedures, and day-to-day activities. Nevertheless, the effect of environmental changes on an organization's current performance is relative and depends on the organization–environment typology and degree and magnitude of organizational changes. Environmental changes may create problems for organizations that are in the process of adopting innovations.¹⁷ Although most organizations are primarily concerned with adaptive innovative changes to maintain stability and continuity, mature organizations attempt to minimize the effect of environmental changes that will sustain the organization's current operations with or without changing (i.e., sustaining existing performance).¹⁸

However, when there is environmental instability, there is uncertainty as to how the organization and its competitors respond to environmental changes.¹⁹ When there are significant environmental changes that contribute to low performance, current structures and systems may not meet customer needs and production requirements. Increased uncertainty creates conditions for changes in the organization's structure systems as well as strategy—and human and technological resources. Whether the changes are incremental or radical, the adaptation process shows differences in organizational approaches and responses to environmental changes.

Fox-Wolfgramm, Boal, and Hunt viewed organizational adaptation change as involving a shift from the current state of affairs toward a different state or condition in the future. They described these changes in terms of first order—incremental and second order—radical changes. For them, first-order changes are nontrivial changes that involve responses that are strategic issues and development that will influence an organization's ability to achieve its objectives. The incremental change strategy requires an integrated approach that examines both the institutional and organizational contexts within which change occurs.²⁰

The incremental versus radical approach dichotomy of Fox-Wolfgramm et al.²¹ is comparable to the Tushman and Romanelli²² two-dimensioned approach of organizational learning and change---convergence that is incremental changes and reorientation that is radical change-and the Lant and Mezias first orderincremental and second order-reorientation typologies of organizational learning.²³ Incremental change involves minor adjustment to correct errors from existing rules and regulations through restructuring of existing rules and regulations and culture so that the system remains in balance. In contrast, secondorder radical change alters and changes existing rules and procedures with new goals, strategy, structure, and mission, so that the organization develops new cultures, norms, and behavior to undertake transformational changes. Although organizations undertake incremental changes over time during the course of their history and growth, they cannot rely only on incremental changes in the long run, as this dependence will contribute to decline in performance. They need to undergo transformational changes to avoid failures where failure rates are higher among small and medium organizations.

When environmental uncertainties put pressure on organizations to change and adopt innovations, organizations that undertake transformational changes always perceive the environment as uncertain and unpredictable. Such organizations become proactive in their strategic choice and seize the opportunity to be innovative with new products and services, and they adapt their operating activities accordingly. Freeman and Hannan noted that when a turbulent environment exacerbates the demand for organization's products or services, it increases administrative intensity (the size of administrative and production worker personnel), resulting in making the organization big (i.e., increased differentiation both vertically and horizontally to manage complex organization work activities).²⁴

Romanelli and Tushman, in their study of the minicomputer industry, noted that during periods of environmental changes and instability, the industry was competitive and dynamic, experiencing a rapid growth with increased concentration and growth. When the industry reached its maturity stage, there was slow growth and stability in the market, where the strategy focused on "develop[ing] stability of industry structure and technological progress."²⁵ The growth and stability dimensions of organizational change are related to the adaptation function of organizational activities.

Damanpour and Evan advanced the environment organizational continuous change linkage by noting that when "the organization-adapting function requires that the environment changes, the structure or processes of the organization undergo change to meet the new environmental conditions. Innovative organizations...not only adapt to the environmental changes, but also use their resources and skills to create new environmental conditions...Innovations are means of providing these internal or external changes and are, therefore, a means of maintaining or improving organizational performance."²⁶

The question of sustaining or improving current performance becomes of paramount importance for organizations, both generalist and specialist, that face

environmental changes and uncertainty. Generalist organizations attempt to manage their environmental uncertainties by expanding into existing geographical territories or by going into new geographical territories. Their strategies focus on diversifying their products and services, which would allow them to flourish. In contrast, specialist organizations concentrate on improving their existing products and services, or on developing new products to maintain their current market share.²⁷ The mix between strategy and structure influences the ability of the organization to adapt through either diversification (generalist organizations) or concentration (specialist organizations) to environmental changes. According to Lant and Mezias, "organizations with an adaptive strategy search for information that reveals the relationship between organizational characteristics and performance. That is, they determine which mix of organizational characteristics is associated with the highest performance and adopt those characteristics."²⁸ In other words, performance is dependent on whether or not there exists a close relationship between current environmental changes and the ability of the organization to handle and process these changes.

Organizational adaptations have been of paramount research interest among behavioral accountants and organization management researchers. Social science and organizational researchers have applied ecological and environmental contingency analysis to describe the process of change and development in organizations.²⁹ The ecological approach seeks to understand the diversity of organization by examining how social and environmental changes affect the composition or mix of organizations.

Ecology also examines competition as an evolutionary approach that is a function of the size and number of firms/competitors in a given industry. It considers factors like historical timing and an organization's experience in the competitive process, as well as environmental factors that cause disequilibrium and change among organizations.³⁰

Environmental research, in contrast, has primarily focused on those internal and external processes that necessitate process innovation changes in organizations. In this chapter, environmental issues are examined to study those organizational adaptation and environmental factors—both internal processes and external factors—that affect the collection, analysis, and reporting of environmental and ecological information associated with organizational performance.

ORGANIZATIONAL ADAPTATION AND STRUCTURAL CHANGES

Organizational adaptation change deals with those environmental and technological factors that affect environmental accounting and reporting systems in organizations. Adaptive organizations are defined as those organizations capable of developing networks of relationships that are open, dynamic, and capable of learning and handling situations that are of "ambiguity and uncertainty."³¹ The process of adaptation involves interactions and relationships between organizations and environment, where organizations exchange ideas and share information on environmental and related issues within their networks. Where there is interdependency among units in organizations in making policies and decisions, there is the issue of control over resources, and the importance of the transaction to the unit and whether or not the transaction involves one or more unit.³² Although the demand for control over resources intensifies competition, organizational networks can minimize conflict by fostering cultural changes for the adoption of innovative behavior that support organizational relationships and coordinated efforts in the management of environmental programs and reports.

The adaptation theory assumes that organizational change and development is an ongoing process "that is the result of the relative strength and type of power or dependency between organization and environment."³³ In other words, adaptation assumes that dominant coalition groups in organizations develop strategies or policies in response to environmental changes, which can create either threats or opportunities. Organizational structures and systems adjust according to these changes.

Whereas the environment affects organizations, leaders/managers develop strategies and make policy decisions and implement them to adapt to these organizational contingent changes. To maintain organizations as functional and adaptive systems, managers either buffer organizations from external environment threat or attempt to make minor adjustments that do not disrupt the existing functioning of organizational structures. It is possible for firms to switch paths by management direction or by reversing or revamping their existing business. Learning from failing and moving ahead to new areas based from past failures becomes the key to success in incorporating learning with strategy. Accordingly, the process of adaptation and change reflects organizational learning.

When organizations are unable to adapt or initiate, there is inertia. Singh and Lunsden discussed the effect that internal structural arrangement and external environmental constraints contribute to organizational inertia that inhibits change. They argued that inertia is likely to exist or operate as part of main core of organizational characteristics and features such as goals, forms of authority, and marketing strategy as well as technology.³⁴ Inertia is a liability of age that limits organizations' interest for change as a result of vested interests that inhibits transformations. As organizations develop networks and exchange relationships, it limits their ability to change. The rate of change, in response to internal processes and external factors, then slows down with age, which can be attributed to the rigidity and liability of the aging process.³⁵ Singh and Lunsden attributed the slow response and the length of time it takes to change as the fluidity of the aging thesis, in which younger and newer organizations are more likely to change and adapt than older organizations. In other words, "rates of change in core features may decrease with age, and rates of change in peripheral features may increase with age."³⁶ Accordingly, the lower level of fitness among older organizations is a cause for these organizations to be selected for mortality and death.

The adaptation strategies that organizations use to avoid mortality and manage environmental changes vary whether or not those changes are minimal

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

(stable) or substantial (drastic, in case of crisis). Organizations customarily adopt an incremental change strategy during periods of stability and a radical change strategy during periods of crisis and environmental volatility. When organizations choose to adapt, they select their adaptation strategies on the basis of whether that selection is either incremental or radical. Adaptation depends also on the intensity of competition and the entry–exit strategy prevalent within a given population of organizations.³⁷

The adaptation-selection approach to organizational change is based on the assumption "that individual organizations cannot change easily and quickly; it also assumes that when they do change, great risks are entailed. By this view, when technologies and environments change, some existing organizations fail, while some new organizations also appear. The selective replacement of old forms of organization by the new forms constitute the main way this mechanism accounts for change in the world of organization."³⁸ The adaptation-selection process goes through periods of evolution, growth, and adaptation. Given that there is an organization selection process, when initial business experiences are coupled by local market condition, selection influences the success of business outcomes. When the adaptation-selection approach is extended to study environmental changes and reporting systems, adaptation study focuses on issues of transaction costs and level of technology development among units and divisions that are interdependent. The approach also examines the role accounting can play in reducing those costs associated with organizational environmental transactions and interdependency relations.

Technology

Environmental change also influences technological developments that shape the founding and growth of organizational populations and industries over time. Technology has become an important factor in the study of organizational and environmental selection and societal evolutions/transformations. Technology constitutes well-developed and well-formulated ideas to replace or modify human behaviors, organizational tasks, and structures and products through the use of existing or new tools.³⁹ When there are innovations or inventions that produce new technology, technological breakthroughs have occurred that replaces the old technology. Technology forms and developments have become the basis for organizational competition, as well as mechanisms to handle environmental changes and conflict. Baum, Korn, and Kotha, in their study of the telecommunication service industries, have used technology and dominant design as an environmental factor that shapes competition, as well as the founding and failure rates in these industries. They stressed that "understanding how technological factors condition patterns of competition is central to organizational ecology because competition forms the basis for selection among the adaptive capabilities of organizations within a population."⁴⁰ According to Frisbie et al., technology is based on a formulation that "recognizes three ecosystem

flows—energy, materials, and information—as basic to the survival and adaptation of populations."⁴¹ Hunt and Aldrich have suggested that "technological innovation is a major catalyst for the creation of a new organizational community to the extent that it prompts the creation of new organizational forms."⁴²

Astley applied the community ecology approach to advance the importance of "technology in shaping population forms: organizations within populations become more homogeneous as they converge on a common set of techniques and know-how, while differences in technologies that result from the difficulty of transferring technologies across population boundaries differentiate populations from each other."⁴³ Astley also noted that although homogenization is caused by inbreeding of technological know-how among organizational populations, the changes in the technology over time are incremental because "the core technology on which it was founded remains largely unchanged."⁴⁴ According to Zyglidopoulos, although incremental change improves existing products or services, the technological changes cannot be attributed to any particular individual or group inventors.⁴⁵ These modifications, which involve better ways of using existing technologies, could become significant as cost-saving and management control mechanisms.

Podolny and Stuart have applied an evolutionary theory of technological innovation, which corroborated Astley's (1985) analysis of incremental technological change in homogenized organizational populations. They have indicated that most technological changes that have affected organizational and industrial development and social structures occurred through an evolutionary gradual process over time. As a gradual process, technological change is "characterized by the accumulation of minor improvements to incumbent technologies." Evolutionary theorists argued that these gradual changes in technology "are determined by properties of the technology itself or that they can be inferred from the local search practices of organizations."⁴⁶ However, Podolny and Stuart suggested that technological change involves social relationships among "actors" that are "involved in developing particular technologies." In a social context, individual actors have their own niches of innovation and play important roles within the niche by sponsoring and championing technological changes.⁴⁷

In contrast, when technological change involves a breakthrough in the invention of new products or products, and the invention can be attributed to an inventor/inventors, the process results in discontinuous or revolutionary changes, which can be either competence enhancing or competence destroying. "Competence enhancing discontinuities build on existing technological stocks, while competence destroying ones require the development or acquisition of fundamentally new and complimentary technological stocks."⁴⁸ Tushman and Anderson elaborated that although competence-enhancing discontinuities are usually attributed to existing organizations, competence-destroying ones are usually initiated by new entrants to an industry.⁴⁹ Depending on the magnitude of changes, technological changes in information systems can be incremental or revolutionary. If the information technological changes result in new

30

organizational structures and systems, they can become sources of competence enhancing strategies.

Competence-enhancing technological changes usually occur as a result of market reactions and competitive pressures. Technological ecology becomes instrumental when an organization takes advantage of competition by combining "interrelated set of goods and services markets that together comprise a technology system."⁵⁰ Windrum cited Microsoft as having cross-leveraged products by integrating its Web browser with its software products in its window and taking the market from Netscape. Microsoft gained competitive advantage by managing "cross-product integration and optimization of operative systems and browser software." It pursued a strategy of producing and integrating "complimentary products and/or services."⁵¹ The integration of Microsoft window operating systems with other software enabled Microsoft to control the distribution channel and win the majority of users who are not technically competent to work with Netscape. Microsoft was able to centralize its operation and thereby gain control over the distribution channel.

Whether it is an incremental or discontinuous change, technological innovations are shaped by the political and personal interests of managers. Managers sometimes choose technologies that enhance centralization of control over the organization's functions, including workers' activities.⁵² Nevertheless, the primary conditions that necessitate the need for technological changes are related to market demands, competition, and environmental changes. Initial environmental conditions including political, economic, legal, and social factors and historical developments have effects on technological developments of organizations. Zyglidopoulos related historical developments to foundings and imprints as creating boundaries for technological developments of organizations.⁵³ The suggestion is that an organization's future technological development is shaped by initial historical, social, and organizational structures.

From an ecological and evolutionary perspective, technology contributes to societal changes and new social structural arrangements. Technology not only shapes social structures but transforms societies by altering and improving social and productions' infrastructures and relations, and facilitating the process of organizational adaptation and change. As an agent of social change, technology transforms social and economic lives through economic growth that generates long-term income and wealth in regions and contributes to regional and national developments.⁵⁴ These technological changes have economic and commercial value and are transferred regionally and nationally to be adopted by organizations.

When organizations pursue continuous technological innovations that have commercial value, entrepreneurs seize some of these innovations and pursue them over time to create new populations of organizations. Hunt and Aldrich have noted that not all technological breakthroughs that create new populations are radical, or what Astley referred as punctuated equilibrium technological changes.⁵⁵ It is possible for new organizational forms to emerge from competence-enhancing

technology that enables organizations to readily adapt to what is being done from complimentary opportunities. In contrast, when firms lack the flexibility to adapt to new technological changes, technology can destroy existing organizational forms and create new ones. Whether technological changes involve competence enhancing or competence destroying, they play important roles in the economic growth process of organizations. However, differences in technological changes among organizations and individuals in their ability and knowledge to use technology in productivity and profitability account for the differences in competitive advantages resulting from innovation or early adoption decisions.⁵⁶

Accordingly, technological changes in organizations will involve both imitation and innovation. If the numbers of imitators increase over time, imitation can intensify competition, which can increase disequilibrium among organizations.⁵⁷ The selection process puts a limit on imitation and intensifies the need for innovation, as well as organizational learning, to promote competitive growth among organizations.

It can be deduced that technology thus becomes one of the main factors that accounts for most theories of organizational evolution, including the radical and incremental approaches to adaptation change. Technology not only increases the ability of organizations to adopt to change but also improves their competitive advantage.⁵⁸ The possession of advanced technology increases the competitive advantage in populations of organizations and improves their ability to adapt to external environmental changes.

Effects of Environmental Factors on Organizational Structures and Systems

Environmental changes, whether stable or turbulent, will affect structures and systems, as well as the internal and external fit of the organization. Siggelkow extended the contingency literature to describe fit between an organization choices and its environment, where an organization's performance is examined as "a system of interconnected choices: choices with respect to activities, policies and organizational structures, capabilities, and resources."⁵⁹ Accordingly, internal fit is related to "whether a firm has a coherent configuration of activities," and external fit as relating to "the appropriateness of the configuration given the environmental conditions facing the firm."⁶⁰ Siggelkow suggested that highly coupled organizations have difficulty adopting to environmental changes. If there is a tight fit, the organization is vulnerable to environmental changes. Although tight fit can create conditions for inertia, loosely coupled structures become sources for technological change and innovation.⁶¹ Whether organizational fit is either internal or external, it helps to understand the relationship between an organization's choice of strategies for change and adaptation and its environmental factors.

The effect of external environmental factors—stable or unstable environment varies according to the age of the organization and the complexity of its structures. In stable environments, older organizations have advantages over newer

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

organizations because they have developed repetitive and fixed routines of accounting procedures to handle their day-to-day activities. In contrast, in dynamic–unstable environments, newer organizations are able to adapt easier than mature organizations, "as old established procedures [of mature organizations] may no longer accomplish what they were initially intended to do."⁶²

As organizations grow, institutionalization and gaining legitimacy becomes important. Institutionalization occurs when social actions and practices are taken as granted, are accepted, or become a norm, and part of the organization behavior. Over time, as others adopt social actions, they are accepted because members of the organization and society share them. Once a social structure is set up for these behaviors, cultural values or organizational arrangements are formed in which these actions are legitimized and widely disseminated within the organization.

Meyer and Scott argued that although institutional theory considered legitimacy as something that is taken for granted, it is rituals, customs, and cultures that play important roles in legitimacy. Rules, regulations, and order only constitute the legality, not the legitimacy, of the organization.⁶³ Carroll and Hannan extended the institutional theory to define legitimacy in an organizational population. They inferred that "an organizational form is legitimate to the extent that relevant actors regard it as the 'natural' way to organize for some purposes."⁶⁴ In other words, when there is legitimacy, adding more organizations increases density, which makes it unlikely to "have much effect on its taken-for-grantedness."⁶⁵

Carroll and Hannan further elaborated on the effects of institutionalization and legitimacy with their studies from the newspaper industry. They reported that when a small newspaper publisher challenges an established order, for example, "accepted notions of freedom of speech," the financial effects are significant and may force the publisher to shut its business. "But the institutional consequences of the action may very well benefit publishers who come later and attempt to do exactly the same thing which had previously been considered unacceptable."⁶⁶ As organizations institutionalize and become legitimate, they attempt to gain visibility and establish environmental dominance through mergers, acquisitions, diversification, or corporate interlocking with other organizations.

Although mergers and acquisitions are used to acquire resources, they can also restrict competitor's access to resources. This focus on the interdependencies of the organization with the environment indicates that resource dependence leads to interorganizational actions that involve mergers, acquisitions, cooptation, consolidation, and joint ventures.

Resource Dependence, Competition, Innovation, and Interorganizational Relations

The resource dependence model indicates that environmental resources shape an organization's adaptive change strategies. For example, if "organizations are not able to internally generate either all the resources or functions required to maintain themselves," they will use interorganizational coordinating mechanisms to enter into "transactions and relations with elements in the environment that can supply the required resources and services."⁶⁷ However, the choice of coordinating mechanisms-competition or absorption through mergers and acquisitions-depends on management decisions, strategies, power, and influences used to manage the organization-environment relationships. Through transactions and relations, organizations can adjust their capabilities to fit environmental changes. At the same time, "environmental constraints leave the possibility of a variety of activities and structures consistent with environmental requirements."68 Accordingly, the resource-dependence model treats the environment as comprising resources that can influence organizational actions but that do not necessarily constrain or limit the set of strategies organizations will undertake to survive. These strategies are not necessarily limited to interorganizational relationships. They may include technological innovation and competition.

When there is fierce competition, dominant organizations have a sustainable advantage over their competitors. They become leaders of the business ecosystems that consist of several industries. Moore referred to organizations as operating in several industries as business ecosystems and cited the automobile and the microcomputer industries as operating in several industries. The business ecosystem increases if the suppliers are included in the system. According to Moore, the evolution of business ecosystems include at least "four distinct stages: birth, expansion, leadership, and self-renewal—or, if not self-renewal, death" that brings cooperative and competitive challenges for innovation.⁶⁹ Although the business ecosystem perspective indicates that organizations' capabilities evolve around innovation of new products and services, either through competition or cooperation, the selection and adaptation strategies emphasize competition as the determining factor for innovation.

However, the size and age of organizations may accelerate or impede competition and technological innovations among organizations. Competition can thus become a destabilizing force in organizations. According to Barnett and Hansen, "competition is an important cause of disequilibrium among organizations."⁷⁰ It increases the likelihood for dissolution if there are too many small firms in the market, minimal or no barriers for entry and exit, or firms are undifferentiated and products are homogenous.⁷¹ Although price is the main form of competition in many merchandising and manufacturing firms, for example, it is less important in service organizations such as auditing firms, where differentiation and reputation becomes the basis for competition. When too many organizations are competing in the same market, environmental and ecological management programs can be used by some organizations to differentiate their products and services from their competitors. There is recognition that environmental performance that reduces waste management and environmental risk effectively, and solves environmental and health problems can provide a competitive advantage by providing protection against environmental liabilities, cutting costs, and increasing manufacturing and production efficiency.⁷²

Accordingly, the environment-organization's performance interdependency relationship brings the question of ecologically sustainable practices to balance the unanticipated social and economic consequences of industrial growth. Because the ecological approach considers interdependency relations between the organization and the environment, sustainability has become an ecological issue. Sustainability of the ecosystem requires interdependent relations that are enduring and lasting over time. Thiele suggested that sustainability is an ecological issue that is inherently embedded in ethical issues, and ethical formulations are necessary to study interdependency relations. In this regard, "ethics might be defined as a system of mores that arises out of and sustains certain relations of social interdependence."⁷³ The ecological ethics underlying assumptions are based on interdependence relations in which cultural, social, and environmental factors cumulatively define ethical values, mores, and obligations for the continued sustenance of the community and the environment. Sustainability as an ecological ethical issue involves selection and adaptation strategies in balancing corporate growth, business performance, competition, conservation, and environmental resources management.

Haveman's study of Savings and Loan Associations in California corroborates Rumlet's findings that environmental factors not only affect an organization's performance but can also change the core of its competencies. The study revealed that "under conditions of dramatic environmental change, change in an organization's core features (products offered, clients served, and technologies employed) will prove beneficial to financial performance and survival chances. Moreover, the direction of change affects financial performance, but not survival chances. If organizations build on their original domain, financial performance is enhanced; if changes bear no relation to the competencies developed through experience in the original domain, financial performance is hurt."⁷⁴

The resource-based approach to organizational domain puts emphasis on organizations to capitalize on their existing competencies, particularly if it involves the innovation of new products or services. If innovation change focuses on the original domain of what the firm does best, it can use past knowledge, experience, and technology in future endeavors of new products and services. The resources outlay and accounting costs incurred for such innovations can be managed effectively if future performance incorporates environmental transaction costs and organizational adaptation strategies that improve environmental accounting reports.

Transaction Costs and Organizational Change Approaches

Williamson introduced the transaction cost economic analysis to the study of organizations and environmental change. He provided an alternative view of the organization based on economic choice and cost efficiency. The transaction cost approach assumes that there are differences among organizations "because transactions differ so greatly and efficiency is realized only if governance structures are tailored to the specific needs of each type of transaction."⁷⁵ Transaction then becomes the unit of analysis. He noted that transaction costs are critical because they constitute "the crucial importance of organizations for economizing on such costs. This brings organization theory to the fore, since choice of an appropriate governance structure is preeminently an organization theory issue."⁷⁶

To answer the question of which organizations have better characteristics to fit and adapt, the transaction cost approach addresses "both product and capital market competition are the sources of natural selection pressures."⁷⁷ Organizational selection and adaptation is based on the notion that organizations with better transaction costs could adapt and survive environmental changes, while others with poor transaction costs fail or disintegrate. For Williamson, the transaction cost approach is based on the principle that organizations with "governance structures that have better transaction cost economizing properties will eventually displace those that have worse, ceteris paribus. The *cetera*, however, are not always *paria*, where the governance implications of transaction costs analysis will be incompletely realized in noncommercial enterprises in which transaction cost economizing entails the sacrifice of other valued objectives (of which power will often be one); the study of these tradeoffs is an important topic on the future research agenda."⁷⁸

Williamson's proposition of transaction costs was based on the assumption that organizations that are functional–purposive when it comes into environmental and ecological concerns have lower transaction costs when compared to organizations that are differentiated on the basis of managerial power structures and influence.⁷⁹ The traditional management accounting approach, which is economics based, is based on the notion of functionality and purposefulness of the firm. Under the economic approach, management accounting systems are designed and implemented to reduce transaction and interdependency costs associated with large-scale divisionalized organizations. In other words, the usefulness of management accounting systems depends on whether or not those changes contributed significantly to organizational cost savings associated with environmental transaction costs.

Williamson's study of the transaction cost approach has the utility to study adaptation changes in environmental accounting and reporting systems to explain the functionality of accounting systems in complex organizations.⁸⁰ When organizations operate as systems, they are not only functional and selective in their adaptation processes but also pay attention to management accounting systems as mechanisms to reduce environmental transaction costs associated with technology, production, and distribution processes.

For example, process innovation changes in management accounting systems associated with activity-based costing (ABC), just-in-time technology (JIT), and the balanced scorecard are designed and implemented to reduce transaction and

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

other costs associated not only with production, distribution, and sales but also with inter- and intradepartmental transactions and services. Transaction cost analysis becomes important in the adaptation and monitoring task processes of accounting systems, as well as in planning and management of organizational systems.

Although environmental management is one of the main core competencies in organizations, the success of an organization depends on the ability of the organization to sustain and maintain continuous change. To remain competitive, organizations are not only continuously changing but are also reinventing themselves with new products and services that support responsible use of environmental and ecological resources.

The adaptation change framework indicates that environmental change, crisis, competition, leadership changes, strategic shifts in directions, and new technological developments create the preconditions that advance environmental reporting systems. To be successful, environmental change has to be managed. Responsible organizations have their own change agents or champions who are specifically assigned to handle environmental management programs. To manage environmental changes in organizations, change agents have to demonstrate success or minor accomplishments as a result of the change programs. Otherwise, the prospects to overcome those individual, group, and institutional barriers or resistance to environmental changes would be less likely.

The capability of environmental change management strategies to shape organization performance largely depends on the scope of selection and adaptive change strategies that are employed to manage the operating activities of organizations. Chapters 3 and 4 discuss the selection and adaptive organizational change approaches to present the underlying framework of the ecology of management accounting and control systems.

NOTES

1. C.T. Timura, "Environmental conflict' and the social life of environmental security discourse," *Anthropological Quarterly* 74 (2001), 111.

2. C. Davidson, "Economic growth and the environment: Alternative to the limits paradigm," *Bioscience* 50 (2000), 439.

3. J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," Research in Organizational Behavior 4 (1982), 26.

4. W.R. Freudenburg and R. Gramling, "The emergence of environmental sociology: Contributions of Riley E. Dunlap and William R. Catton, Jr. 1989," *Sociological Inquiry* 59 (1989), 439–52.

5. M.C. White, D.B. Martin, D.V. Brazeal, and W.H. Friedman, "The evolution of organizations: Suggestions from complexity theory about the interplay between natural selection and adaptation," *Human Relations* 50 (1997), 1386–87.

6. A. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding: Location, dependence and unobserved heterogeneity," Administrative Science Quarterly 40 (1995), 111-44.

7. H.E. Aldrich, and J. Pfeffer, "Environments of Organizations," Annual Review of Sociology 2 (1976), 79–105; and W.G. Astley, "The two ecologies: Population and community perspectives on organizational evolution," Administrative Science Quarterly 30 (1995), 224–41.

8. J. Freeman and M.T. Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," *American Journal of Sociology* 88 (1983), 1116–45. See also S. D. Dobrev, T.Y. Kim, and G.R. Carroll, "The evolution of organizational niches: U.S. automobile manufacturers, 1885–1981," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 47 (2002), 233–64.

9. See J. Child, "Strategic choice in the analysis of action, structure, organizations and environment: Retrospect and prospect," *Organization Studies* 18 (1997), 43–76; R.M. Grant, "Strategic planning in a turbulent environment: Evidence from the oil majors," *Strategic Management Journal* 24 (2003), 491–517; J.K. Benson, "The inter-organizational network as a political economy," in A *Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations*, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E.W. Lehman (New York: The Free Press, 1980), 349–68; H.C. Clitheroe, Jr., D. Stokols, and M. Zmuidzinas, "Conceptualizing the context of environment and behavior," *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 18 (1998), 103–12; and R.C. Young, "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations?" *American Journal of Sociology* 94 (1988), 1–24.

10. J.V. Baldridge and R.A. Burnham, "Organizational innovation: Individual organizational, and environmental impacts," in Etzioni and Lehman, *A Sociological Reader*, 160–73.

11. E. Romanelli and M.L. Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice: A quasi-experimental design for comparative-longitudinal research," *Management Science* 32 (1986), 614.

12. Ibid., 614, 616.

13. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," 1143.

14. Baldridge and Burnham, "Organizational innovation," 163-65.

15. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations"; and Baldridge and Burnham, "Organizational innovation".

16. S. Zyglidopoulos, "Initial environmental conditions and technological change," Journal of Management Studies 36 (1999), 241-62.

17. This section adapts S. Sisaye, "Organizational adaptation change approaches on the development and effectiveness of environmental management accounting and reporting systems," in *Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance*, ed. K.E. Karim and R W. Rutledge (Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Publishing Group, 2004), 75–101.

18. M.L Tushman and C.A. O'Reilly III, "Ambidextrous organizations: Managing evolutionary and revolutionary change," *California Management Review* 38 (1996), 8–30. See also, Romanelli and Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice"; and Baldridge and Burnham, "Organizational innovation."

19. A. Ozsomer, R.J. Calantine, and A. DiBenedetto, "What makes firms more innovative? A look at organizational and environmental factors," *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 12 (1997), 400–16.

20. S.J. Fox-Wolfgramm, K.B. Boal, and J.G. Hunt, "Organizational adaptation to institutional change: A comparative study of first-order change in Prospector and Defender Banks," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998), 90–91.

21. Ibid.

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

22. M.L. Tushman and E. Romanelli, "Organizational evolution: A metamorphosis model of convergence and reorientation," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 7 (1985), 171–222.

23. T.K. Lant and S.J. Mezias, "An organizational learning model of convergence and reorientation," Organizational Science 31 (1992), 47–71.

24. J. Freeman, and M.T. Hannan, "Growth and decline processes in organizations,", in Etzioni and Lehman, A Sociological Reader, 424–40.

25. Romanelli and Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice," 615.

26. F. Damanpour and W.M. Evan, "Organizational innovation and performance: The problem of "organizational lag," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 29 (1984), 395.

27. Romanelli and Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice."

28. Lant and Mezias, "An organizational learning model," 55. See also P. Lawrence and J.W. Lorsch, *Organization and Environment* (Homewood, Ill.: Irwin, 1969); and M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, *Organizational Ecology* (Boston: Harvard University Press, 1977).

29. S. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems: Process Innovation for Internal Auditing and Management Accounting Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting Series 10 (Amsterdam: Elsevier Sciences, JAI Press, 2001).

30. W.P. Barnett and M.T. Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," *Strategic Management Journal* 17 (1996), 154–55. See also M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," *American Journal of Sociology* 82 (1977), 929–64.

31. P. Bate, "Using the culture concept in an organization development setting," The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 26 (1990), 100.

32. E.W. Lehman, "A paradigm for the analysis of inter-organizational relations," in Etzioni and Lehman, A *Sociological Reader*, 369, 376. See also J.K. Benson "The interorganizational network as a political economy," in Etzioni and Lehman, A *Sociological Reader*, 349–68,

33. L.G. Hrebiniak and W.F. Joyce, "Organizational adaptation: Strategic choice and environmental determinism," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 30 (1985), 347. See also J. Pfeffer and G.R. Salancik, *The External Control of Organization* (New York: Harper & Row, 1978); and J.D. Thompson, *Organizations in Action* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1967).

34. J.V. Singh and C.J. Lunsden, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," Annual Review of Sociology 16 (1990), 179.

35. J. Ranger-Moore, "Bigger may be better. But is older wiser? Organizational age and size in the New York Life Insurance Industry," *American Sociological Review* 62 (1997), 903–20.

36. Singh and Lunsden, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 182.

37. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems.

38. W.P. Barnett and G.R. Carroll, "Modeling internal organizational change," Annual Review of Sociology 21 (1995), 218. See also H. Aldrich, Organizations and Environments (Englewood Cliff, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1979); and Hannan and Freeman, "Structural inertia," 1984.

39. R.C. Young, "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations?" American Journal of Sociology 94 (1988), 6.

40. J.A.C. Baum, H.J. Korn, and S. Kotha, "Dominant designs and population dynamics in telecommunications services: Founding and failure of facsimile transmission service organizations, 1965–1992," *Social Sciences Research* 24 (1995), 129. 41. W.B. Frisbie, L.J. Krivo, R.L. Kaufman, C.J. Clarke, and D.E. Myers. "A measurement of technological change: An ecological perspective," *Social Forces* 62 (1984), 751.

42. C.H. Hunt and H.E. Aldrich, "The second ecology: Creation and evolution of organizational communities," Research in Organizational Behavior 20 (1998), 277.

43. Astley, "The two ecologies," 225.

44. Ibid., 227.

45. Zyglidopoulous, "Initial environmental conditions," 244.

46. J.M. Podolny and T.E. Stuart, "A role-based ecology of technological change," American Journal of Sociology 100 (1995), 1228.

47. Ibid.; see also Astley, "The two ecologies."

48. Zyglidopoulos, "Initial environmental conditions," 1999, 245.

49. M.L. Tushman and P. Anderson, "Technological discontinuities and organizational environments," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 31 (1986), 439–65. See also D.S. Fletcher and I.M. Taplin, "Organizational evolution: The American life cycle," *National Productivity Review* 19 (2000), 41–48.

50. P. Windrum, "Late entrant strategies in technological ecologies: Microsoft's use of standards in the browser wars," *International Studies of Management and Organization* 31 (2001), 90.

51. Ibid., 102.

52. R.J. Thomas, "Organizational politics and technological change," Journal of Contemporary Ethnography 29 (1992), 442-77.

53. Zyglidopoulous, "Initial environmental conditions," 257.

54. For further details, refer to S.R. Barley, "Technology as an occasion for structuring: Evidence from observations of CT scanners and the social order of radiology departments," Administrative Science Quarterly 31 (1986), 78–108; R.A. Erickson, "Technology, industrial restructuring, and regional development," Growth and Change 25 (1994), 353–79; and E. Laszlo, "Information technology and social change: An evolutionary analysis," Behavioral Science 37 (1992), 237–49.

55. Hunt and Aldrich, "The second ecology"; see also Astley, "The two ecologies."

56. R.R. Nelson and S.G. Winter, "Neoclassical vs. evolutionary theories of economic growth: Critique and prospects," *The Economic Journal* 84 (1974), 888–89.

57. Barnett and Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," 154-55.

58. D.J. Teece, "Firm organization, industrial structure, and technological innovation," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 31 (1996), 193–224.

59. N. Siggelkow, "Change in the presence of fit: The rise, the fall, and the renaissance of Liz Claiborne," Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001), 838.

60. Ibid, 839.

61. Ibid.

62. D. Marple, "Technological innovation and organizational survival: A population ecology study of nineteenth-century American railroads," *The Sociological Quarterly* 23 (1982), 109.

63. J.W. Meyer and W.R. Scott, Organizational Environments: Ritual and Rationality (Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage, 1983).

64. G.R. Carroll and M.T. Hannan, "Density dependence in the evolution of populations of newspaper organizations," *American Sociological Review* 54 (1989), 525.

65. Ibid.

ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES

66. Ibid., 539. See also Aldrich, Organizations and Environment.

67. Aldrich and Pfeffer, "Environments of Organizations," 84.

68. Ibid., 102.

69. J.F. Moore, "Predators and prey: A new ecology of competition," Harvard Business Review (1993), 76.

70. Barnett and Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," 154.

71. M.E. Porter, Competitive Strategy (New York: Macmillan, 1980), and Competitive Advantage (New York: Free Press, 1985). For background readings, refer to G.J. Stigler, The Organization of Industry (Homewood, Ill.: Irwin, 1968).

72. C.M. Rosen, "Environmental strategy and competitive advantage: An introduction," California Management Review 43 (2001), 8-15.

73. L.P. Thiele, "Evolutionary narratives and ecological ethics," *Political Theory* 27 (1999), 29.

74. H.A. Haveman, "Between a rock and a hard place: Organizational change and performance under conditions of fundamental environmental transformation," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37 (1992), 72. See also, R.P. Rumlet, "Diversification strategy and Profitability," *Strategic Management Journal* 3 (1982), 359–69.

75. O.E. Williamson, "The economics of organization: The transaction cost approach," *American Journal of Sociology* 87 (1987), 568.

76. Ibid.

77. Ibid.

78. Ibid., 574. Italics in original.

79. Ibid. See 548-77.

80. Ibid.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 3

Selection and Organizational Change

The ecological model uses evolutionary biology to study the interdependence of human and other biological communities with their environment. In principle, the ecology model applies the Darwinian approach of natural selection and survival of the fittest to organizations. It has been used to explain organizational founding, growth, and mortality. In evolution, there is progression from simple (founding) to complex forms (growth). Although there is the process of organizational change, natural selection "does not necessarily involve progress to more complex or higher forms of social organizations are moving toward a better fit with the environment, but nothing more."¹

Having its basis in the biological evolution of species, the natural selection approach has been applied in social sciences to study organizations and their characteristics on the basis of the following three underlying frameworks: classification of organizational forms into identifiable classes, development of taxonomy theory to describe their differences, and explanation of their evolutionary forms. There are at least "three central issues of the population ecology models." They are "the role of structural inertia in constraining adaptation, the classification of organizational survival."² Chapter 3 discusses those ecological selection characteristics that affect organizational change and development in relation to management control systems.

NATURAL SELECTION PROCESSES OF ORGANIZATIONS

The natural selection approach recognizes that organizations, over the course of their life histories, develop commitment and become interdependent with the environment. Although environmental conditions select those organizational characteristics that can best fit the environment, the origin of the organizational relationship with the environment determines those organizational activities. The process of natural selection implies that organizations achieve a better fit with the environment through an evolutionary gradual process.

The selection approach is an environmental deterministic model that puts primary emphasis on the effect of the environment on organization social structure.³ Environmental factors are considered as determinants to randomly select those organizations with the appropriate structures that can best survive and adapt to environmental conditions.

Selection as an Environmental Deterministic Approach

44

In the selection process, survival is dependent on the ability of the organizations to better exploit the environmental resources. This selection description is analogous to the neo-Darwinian biology perspective that genes mutate randomly.⁴ It becomes apparent that environmental selection is the sole determinant of those organizational forms and their characteristics that will either survive or die. It is only those organizations who subscribe to the environmental requirements that are selected.

Hannan and Freeman have proposed that organizational forms are derived from population of organizations.⁵ Accordingly, for research purposes there is a presumption that it is possible to select populations of organizations whose demographics can be studied. Therefore, the unit of analysis is the population level instead of a single level of organization. It is inferred that the individual social unit will not affect the selection process.⁶

Although the ecological framework has generated several empirical, historybased studies, it has been noted that there are limitations to the applicability of the framework and its interpretation in organizational studies. Amburgery and Rao have noted the shortcomings of the ecological approach as in the classification of a population of organizations that are diverse. The authors indicated that ecological analysis has not effectively addressed the identification of those factors that are associated with diversified organizations.⁷ There is a recognition that diversity based on demographic and geographical characteristics can be useful in explaining the selection processes that contribute to population differentiations and subgroupings. Rather, population ecology focuses on environmental influences of organizations belonging to the same population.

Environmental Resources and Organizational Forms

Because the ecological approach focuses on selection, the environment becomes the major force of external control of organizations. Although management decisions and strategic choices made in shaping the control and distribution of environmental resources are downplayed, environmental characteristics are considered as major sources of influence that shape resource-dependent relationships and organizational activities over time. Accordingly, the ecological approach focuses on external environmental resource pressure on selection. It is assumed that when resources are abundant, no selection is likely to take place. However, when environmental changes are accompanied by changes in policies or availability of resources (i.e., conditions of scarcity) because of limited resources, selection occurs. This process leads to the formation of certain organizational characteristics that are best suited to the environment.⁸ It is apparent that survival or failure depends on the ability of organizational populations to sustain those organizational forms and characteristics that are critical for success.

Romanelli has described the organizational form as those characteristics that are distinct to an organization and that can be used to classify them as a member of the population with similar characteristics. These new organizational forms are caused by incremental changes primarily related to endogenous (internal) factors within the organization population.⁹ Although organizational forms are related to formal structural arrangements, there could be variations of those forms by control systems. The ecological approach uses evolution of changes in organizational forms to classify organizational typologies. At the same time, there are limits on the number of new organizational forms that can coexist. The institutionalization process imposes structural conformity across organizations within the same population.¹⁰

To better understand environmental causes of organizational functions and forms across populations of organizations, ecological research has "focused on how selection processes create uniformity and stability in organizational forms, and how existing populations are sustained over time."¹¹ Therefore, the evolutionary biology assumptions of natural selections are based on differential reproduction and survival rates of organizations, depending on environmental characteristics and relative competitive advantages. Accordingly, although natural selection is associated with reproductive successes entailing more viable offspring, it does not necessarily guarantee fitness with the environment. Because nature selects those biological species who curtail overreproduction, natural selection has variations in fertility and mortality rates among biological—including organizational—populations.¹² The relative advantages of competition in certain environments make it possible for some organization population to increase their numbers.

Selection and Organizational Forms Variations

Using the ecological biological analogy, Freeman proposed two important logics of natural selection. "First, natural selection presumes a population logic." It is aimed at "understanding the range of variations" among sets of populations of organizations. Second, natural selection is conceptually a dynamic theory that "explains the pattern of variation observable" among organization structures that are best fit with the environment.¹³ These variations among organizations may

include division of labor, organizational structures, product innovations, and technological development. Variations also occur in methods organizations use to acquire needed resources to obtain relative advantage over their competitors. Technological variations may include multiple standards, several techniques, and various processing methods of goods and services.¹⁴ During selection, organizational forms, rules, and procedures, including culture, are selected to strengthen the prospect for organizational fitness and success. Heterogeneity and variation create ample opportunities for organizations to select those strategies and behaviors that best fit with the environment characteristics.

Aldrich and Pleffer elaborated that the selection occurrence of variation in an evolutionary process involves three stages: the first stage involves the process of occurrence of variations or changes that are appropriate behaviors to adapt to environmental characteristics. The second stage is related to the selection of those variations over others that are best suited to exploit environmental resources. The third stage is the retention mechanism of those selected characteristics.¹⁵ Aldrich and Pfeffer referred to this stage as being characterized by organizational stability, where there are adherences and observances to certain organization rules and procedures. Stability in the structure of decision rules could lead to the preservation of organizational forms and functional interdependency relations between organizations and the environment. Once certain organizational forms are maintained, these forms persist over time as organizations pursue stability and the retention of existing structural characteristics.¹⁶ It is the process of natural selection that contributes to the existence of organizational variations, forms, survival, and retention in successful populations. Organizational ecology provides explanations for why organizational forms are different and what some organizational forms, and not others, do to survive and change.

Selection weeds out those organizational forms that are unable to meet the population operating requirements. When those forms that do not fit the industry standards are removed, selection increases the likelihood that those remaining will better fit and compete with other members of the population. Although selection increases the environmental fitness of those remaining forms, it also reduces competition when the crowding of organizations whose niches overlap causes an increase in exits at higher rates, particularly in localized competition.

When there is a higher exit rate, selection at first makes it less attractive for new organizations to enter the market. However, when the exit rate stabilizes and the market shows evidence of higher retention rates, the decrease in failure rates will encourage entrepreneurs to start new ventures. Sorenson attributed the increase in retention rates as being caused more by population pressures/characteristics than selection. "As retention rates increase, the competitive effect of population density increases." Because better-fitted organizations can create more competition, there will be a decrease in "competitive interaction among the surviving firms."¹⁷

Sorenson's historical analysis of the U.S. automobile industry supported the theory that "selection systematically modifies the nature of competition."

Selection also "raises the bar for entry into the population," and it "provides new opportunities for entrepreneurs by distributing the remaining forms across the resource space leaving exploitable interstices."¹⁸ Selection thus becomes a fitness set theory that describes the set of strategies that provided organizations with evolutionary competitive advantages.

According to Hannan and Freeman, if selection occurs as a form of fitness, it involves the actual loss of organizations.¹⁹ Selection then becomes an adaptive process if selection occurs for some organizations with certain properties/characteristics, but not for other organizations. Organizations adapt their characteristics according to the environment by adjusting the composition of their characteristics, but when organizations reach their limited ability to adapt to change, the forces of resistance to change create organizational inertia.

SELECTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL INERTIA

Organizational ecology theory assumes that inertia arises because organizations have limited capabilities to reshape their current structures (forms) to respond to environmental changes. The ecological approach indicates that inertia pressures within the population of organizations can involve either competition or selection to explain the organization–environment linkage.

Hannan and Freeman argued that when there is strong environmental pressure, there is lower organizational flexibility to adapt, and inertia prevails. Selection mechanisms thus explain the organization–environment linkage. "Inertial pressures arise from both internal structural arrangements and environmental constraints."²⁰

Approaches to Organizational Inertia

Hannan and Freeman listed several factors related to internal pressures of inertia. These include sunk costs associated with organization investment in long-lived assets, inadequacy of cost accounting systems to provide required full information on organization activities to managers on a timely basis, and initiation of changes in organizational structures that would affect existing exchange and working relationships. Moreover, there are barriers to adaptive changes when organizations resist change because the costs associated with the change may be significant or affect certain power holding groups.²¹ In contrast, external pressures that could create inertia include "legal and fiscal barriers to exit from markets," costs associated with recovering external information (e.g., related to information acquisition), and legitimacy constraints emanating from the environment. When organizations have "collective rationality problems," a rational decision for a given problem may not be adopted or applied by a large number of decision makers.²² This condition creates a lack of consistency in uniformly adopting similar strategies to address similar or comparable environmental conditions facing the organization.

When there is structural inertia—both internally and externally—environmental changes, particularly those changes that are volatile and unpredictable, decrease organizational fitness. Hannan related the erosion in fitness resulting from the structural inertia inability to recognize the importance of environmental changes.²³ The underlying assumption in inertia is that as organizations get older, they get better in what they do. However, structures and routines also get obsolete over time and with age. Getting better at doing old things helps survival in a stable environment, not in a changing/volatile environment. That is, inertia becomes the cause for organizational mortality.

Inertia limits the capabilities of an organization to benefit from technological changes and thereby exploit opportunities created by dominant design technological changes. This inertia allows new firms/organizations to enter into the industry/market. This happens because incumbent organizations rely on past routines, strategies, and initial actions that limit decisions not based on information gained from current learning and experiences. There is a tendency among organizational members to resort to old methods and dominant design in their traditional business, which they know how to do best, rather than to try new areas/ventures that the market demands.²⁴ Although inertia problems can be partially addressed within the adaptation framework (refer to Chapter 5), Hannan and Freeman argued that it needs to be "supplemented with a selection orientation."²⁵

Organizational Size and Inertia

According to the ecological model of organizational change, structural inertia increases with organizational size and affects mortality rates. The selection process usually favors those larger organizations with greater structural inertia because inert organizations have lower mortality rates.²⁶ Ranger-Moore noted that inertia is often prevalent among large organizations. Accordingly, organizational failure rates increase with size because "large organizations suffer from increasing inertia as a result of bureaucratization and other time-dependent processes."²⁷ When too much inertia is caused by bureaucratization and increased organizational complexity, an organization fails to keep up its performance with the changing environment and becomes less flexible to respond to those changes. In contrast, the mortality rate among younger organizations is higher. New organizations have a higher propensity toward failure because they need more time to learn new roles. Their socialization processes take time, and they face increasing difficulties to attract customers from other, established organizations.

The organizational selection process tends to favor those organizations with high levels of reliability and accountability, which tend to be predominantly large inert organizations. In these organizations, according to Singh and Lunsden, "the reproducibility of organizational structure [coordination, legitimation, socialization, organizational learning] increases with age. Because greater reproducibility of structure also leads to greater inertia, however, organizations become increasingly inert with age. And since selection processes favor organizations with inert structures, organizational mortality rates decrease with age—the liability of newness."²⁸ It is the process of inertia that hampers change and innovations in organizations. Eventually, increased inertia with age could lead to organizational failure.

Durand suggested that inertia can positively affect an organization by providing guidance and strategies for growth. However, too much inertia confidence or "excessive inertia can hamper a firm's development" and contribute to its future failure. The strategy is to find the appropriate threshold that would enable the organizational population to survive. "However, once the threshold has been reached, relative inertia determines the level of selective pressure on populations and firms. Consequently, firm selection pressure is reduced as organizational inertia increases up to a point at which any additional relative inertia results in increased firm selection pressure."²⁹

Inertia and Organizational Change

Within the ecological framework, it is apparent that selection instead of adaptation has become the main causal explanation for organizational change in population ecological research. It assumes that when there is selection as a form of environmental–organizational fit, it results in actual losses in organizations. Accordingly, the ability of organizations to select or adapt depends on environmental conditions: stable or unstable. If the environment is stable, organizations are able to adapt at lower performance levels at a lower cost through incremental technological changes. Incremental change increases the average fitness of an organization more in a stable than in an unstable environment.³⁰ However, when inertial pressures are strong, unstable environmental conditions create less mobility in organizations, and the strategy for adaptive changes is less likely to succeed. When there is adaptive flexibility, it is followed by environmental selection. That is, selection weeds out those organizations with structural inertia that are less efficient and that are unable to adapt to internal and external environmental pressures.

Hannan and Freeman discussed several factors that are associated with inertia. External environmental pressures of inertia include legal and fiscal barriers to entry and exit markets, and local, state, and federal regulations and political decisions, including legislation of rules and regulations.³¹ According to Aldrich and Pfeffer, barriers to entry, such as economics of scale and relative cost advantages by large organizations, limit potential entrants into the market, lower rates of change and variations within population of organizations, and minimize the structure of activities and the abilities of smaller organizations to have control and influence on their environment.³² Internally, organizational constraints of inertia are related to the lack of available information to make informed decisions, as well as the inability of structures and systems to respond effectively to environmental turbulence.³³

Hannan and Freeman elaborated that internal political constraints arise when managers attempt to change organizational structure, which could affect the political equilibrium because structural changes involve the reallocation and redistribution of organizational resources. "Such redistribution upsets the prevailing system of exchange among subunits (or subunit leaders). So at least some subunits are likely to resist any proposed reorganization."³⁴ The lack of support is costly to the organization in the short run. However, if problems persist longer, it can become costly. Managers are likely to forgo these proposed changes, including planned reorganization, if they threaten the existing organizational norms.³⁵ These internal pressures of inertia are commonly associated with the existence of complex and bureaucratic organizational structures of large organizations. In general, large organizations have formalized and centralized structures that are cumbersome, incapable of anticipating environmental changes, and less responsive to customer demands through product innovation, retrenchment, and cost-cutting strategies to remain competitive. In most situations, large organizations with considerable characteristics of inertia tend to insulate themselves from selection when compared to smaller organizations who exhibit significant rates of failure. However, if there is growth from small to big organizations, growth is assumed to involve a selection process that is accompanied by a replacement of the small organization by a new, large organization.³⁶

When inefficient organizations fail, competition makes it difficult for new organizations to enter, because the required resources and customers' base, loyal employees, and dependable suppliers are high in cost. It is expected that those organizations that entered the market early have structural advantages of competition over late entrants. However, even those who entered later are able to compete better, depending on the density of the population and their ability to survive and dominate the market.³⁷ If there is organizational learning without selection, there is a potential increase in the overall fitness of a given organizational population. The population level learning approach indicates that although there is a liability of newness in entering a new market, in mature industries, new entrants can historically adjust and learn faster the market process overtime.

LIABILITY OF NEWNESS: AGE DEPENDENCE AND ORGANIZATIONAL MORTALITY

Organizations differ in their availability of resources: human, financial, social capital, wealth, status, or political influence. Some organizations are better endowed with extensive resources, and others find themselves with disadvantaged conditions. Hannan elaborated the link between endowments and mortality rates, particularly for relatively newer and younger organizations.³⁸ He indicated that organizations with better endowments are able to survive better in their early stages. Mortality rates among them are lower unless endowments are replenished or depleted.

50

In addition to resource endowments, Hannan examined the relationship between age and organizational mortality in relation to organization experience and capabilities. He suggested that organizational capability and market position influence organizational survival chances. He defined organizational capability in terms of an organization's "ability to execute routines and solve problems." Capability consists of solutions that are "context specific" and are derived from codes of organizational learning acquired from years of experience.³⁹ Accordingly, young organizations have limited capabilities because they suffer from agedependent or related acquired experiences.

Age provides a positional advantage within the organizational community members and has the effect of reducing mortality rates. Aging endows an organization with a well-developed social structure and favorable social relations (i.e., trust) with employees, customers, suppliers, and other constituent groups, which increases its chances for survival. Similarly, organizations that have "robust positions provide advantage over broader ranges of environmental variations." These robust positions take time to be developed, but once established, they persist.⁴⁰ By virtue of their positions, these organizations have social support groups that can provide advace, information aid to members, and networking that can help sustain organizational vitality.

Age and experiences are associated with an organization's capability to handle environmental uncertainty. Hannan ascertained that mortality rates resulting from environmental changes decline with aging and that those young organizations are vulnerable to environmental changes because of their age—the liability of newness. Age "insulates older organizations from damage due to environmental turbulence." Older organizations have advantages of handling environmental changes compared to younger organizations.⁴¹

In contrast, Ranger-Moore, in his study of the New York life insurance industry, reported that the effect of age on failure is mixed, although organizational growth and age increased inertia. He found that organizational size, that is, larger size, reduced failure rates, and the liability of newness at adolescence (old age) minimized mortality. Liability of aging became a risk for small organizations that have higher probability of failure. Successful organizations that are large were able to overcome the risk of failure associated with age. Ranger-Moore argued that organizational size and distribution of firms in an industry should be considered as a factor to be accounted for in mortality rates of a given population.⁴²

The size and distribution of firms in an industry, therefore, have an effect on organizational performance. The rate of entry, exit, or dissolution could be caused by merger, absorption, or acquisition—or by outright failure. The findings of Boone et al. corroborated that the increase in mortality rates among organizations, including auditing firms, can be attributed to mergers and acquisitions.⁴³

In general, organizational ecology studies have attributed that failures among new organizations are a result of the liability of newness hypotheses.⁴⁴ These new organizations fail because they attempt to enter new markets that are already established. Because existing organizations have control over economic, political,

and social resources, newer organizations cannot effectively compete with them, and they will eventually fail. Whereas small organizations are innovative and account for the largest share of the labor force, their failure rates are high because they have problems with raising the necessary capital or needed resources to continue operations, as well as with meeting government regulatory requirements that are usually strict or high among small businesses. The age-dependence mortality rate indicates that new organizations, because of limited resources and environmental conditions, are more likely to fail than older organizations.

Wholey and Brittan gave examples from the newspaper industry to substantiate the liability of newness and the age-dependence mortality hypothesis. They reported that the success and failure of newspapers was related to environmental conditions. For example, newspapers founded during periods of turmoil failed when the period ended at greater rates than established newspaper organizations did because of limited resources. Those organizations that succeeded the initial period of crisis, the founding years, were able to survive. Although organizations were imprinted by the conditions surrounding founding, size was related to survival because largeness provided advantages in economies of scale that contributed to fewer failures during time of crisis when compared to new and small organizations.⁴⁵

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPRINTING AND ORGANIZATIONAL FOUNDING

Organizational ecology has examined the effect of ecological and environmental conditions on organizational founding, growth, and mortality rates. Messallam has attributed organizational founding to the formal incorporation or the formal starting date of an organization as reported by the government organization as the founding date for tax purposes.⁴⁶ Although it is difficult to determine when an organization was founded or came into existence, or where to trace the founding, in most cases, it can be traced to the time period when the idea was developed to found an organization. Nevertheless, "the organizational founding literature has focused its attention on the effects of ecological variables (population density, prior foundings, and prior deaths) and some institutional-environment variables (political and economic conditions) on organizational founding rates."⁴⁷

Initial Environmental Characteristics and Leadership Effects on Organizational Founding

Ecological research has attributed to both environmental conditions and leadership characteristics as having significant influence on the founding of organizations. New organizational forms are primarily shaped by institutional environment and include external factors related to economic, political, legal, cultural and social factors and resources.⁴⁸ Similarly, Zyglidopoulos referred to

the initial conditions during the founding, birth, and first few years of an organization life as having both environmental and organizational conditions: "Initial environmental conditions include the technological, economic, legal, competitive, and social aspects of a firm's early environment, while organizational conditions refer to the founder(s), and the initial resource endowments of the firm."⁴⁹ Thus, the environmental and organizational conditions at the time of founding shape organizational structures and the accompanying persistent patterns of staffing, division of labor, policies, and strategies.

It is the cumulative effects of initial environmental conditions, founder–leader personalities, and organizations' early decisions that affect the structure, behavior, and performance of the organization for a long time. The founders' views—ideas, management styles, thinking—are institutionalized over time and can become persistent for a long time if the founders play roles in training their successors. This process, which is referred to as environmental imprinting, describes events that occur at important developmental stages of organizations, where they are expected to become enduring, persistent, and permanent effects throughout the organization's history and life cycles.

Imprinting, the process in which events occurring at certain key developmental stages have persisting consequences and structural inertia influences mortality rates. According to Hannan, "if imprinting occurs, then founders build organizations that fit specific environments. If core features of organizations get set by early decisions and actions and resist changes afterward, then environmental change will erode the fit between organizations and environments. That is, the joint action of imprinting, inertia and environmental change creates a liability of obsolescence."⁵⁰ It is the cumulative effect of capability and positional advantages coupled with the structural inertia and endowment processes that establishes the linkage between age and mortality rates among organizations.

Hannan viewed environmental imprinting as a process whereby "organizations best match their external environments at the time of their founding." When the environment changes, as a result of organizations' inertia, the imprinted features are hard to change, and older organizations fall behind and "become obsolete. Under this scenario, the hazard of mortality for old organizations exceeds the hazard for young ones."⁵¹

Moreover, the differences between current and the founding environment, which can be referred to as the drifting environment, are prone to creating different demands on the organization. The environmental dissimilarities between the founding and the current environment increase pressures on organizational capabilities, which become lower at older age, resulting in mortality. In contrast, organizations that have been founded under periods of environmental hostility have lower death rates compared to those founded under stable or low environmental hostility. Amburgey and Rao referred to this condition as trial-by-fire hypothesis, which was based on their studies from the American brewery industries. It needs to be noted that environmental instability that leads to political turmoil could also contribute to increased organizational failures.⁵²

In organizational founding, ecological research has focused on the differences between emerging organizations and operational start-ups, where new entities that are successful can begin to produce goods and services. Amburgey and Rao compared the failure time period between emergent organizations and start-ups. They indicated that the failure rates for emergent organizations are higher than for start-ups because start-ups have better capabilities and resources to handle environmental and selection processes.⁵³ The selection pressures for emerging organizations are higher because selection weeds out those organizations that do not have clearly defined goals, strategies, technologies, and boundaries for their operational activities. That is, the prior start-up experiences at the time of founding have persistent effects over the lives of these organizations.

Differences in founding between emerging organizations and operational start-ups can be attributed to asymmetry in founding rates. Sorenson described the asymmetry as contributing to mortality. That is, although "selection raises the bar for entry into the population," it also "provides new opportunities for entrepreneurs by distributing the remaining forms across the space leaving exploitable interstices. These effects explain both the intensification of competition in a population over time and the eventual resurgence in entry rates.... Since evolutionary processes alter founding rates through asymmetry in legitimacy and competition, rather than directly, these processes should create similar asymmetry in the relationship between mortality rates and density."⁵⁴

Organizational Density and Founding

Most of the organizational ecology research on founding has dealt with density dependence and population dynamics and has related increases in population density to decreases in the rate of founding as a result of competition.⁵⁵ In other words, density dependence—high or low—which is relative to a given population, explains the dynamics of organizational foundings and mortality. When organizational density factors are related to increasing concentrations of a certain population of organizations, intense competition and limited gains realized from investment in founding create barriers to entry or founding. Conversely, when the economic, legal, and political environments are favorable, potential entrepreneurs start up businesses, and founding increases.

It is assumed that as the number of founding organizations increases, new populations of organizations are created and communities are established. Growth in organizational founding contributes to the creation of new jobs and indirectly affects intraorganizational mobility. Over time, organizational populations gain legitimacy through political connections, understanding of their businesses, and exploring new business opportunities. When legitimacy is coupled with organizational learning, it can facilitate community growth. Hunt and Aldrich stated that entrepreneurship, age, technological innovations, legitimation, and organizational collectiveness contribute to the establishment of organizational communities.⁵⁶ In the process, as organizations mature, new

entrepreneurs help maintain growth and stability within the population until it is overcrowded.

Eventually, when "the population reaches its carrying capacity, a high level of foundings elaborates competition and constrains subsequent foundings, and, consequently, the founding rate declines."⁵⁷ Ruef referred to this concept of carrying capacity as a community and population ecology approach that is related to the maximum number of organizations with similar identities that can be supported in a given environment. When the carrying capacity and the size of the population is at a maximum, there is a decline in new organizational forms, or organizational founding.⁵⁸ Accordingly, density intensifies competition.

Kanazawa provided two propositions to explain the relationships between density (legitimacy and competition) and population vital rates (organizational foundings and mortality), as follows: "At low density, the *legitimation* process dominates and leads to high organizational founding rates and low organizational mortality rates. At high density, the *competition* process dominates and leads to low organizational founding rates and high organizational mortality rates."⁵⁹ In other words, although growth in legitimacy contributed to increased rates of founding and decreased rates of mortality growth; competition contributed to decreased rates of founding and increased rates of mortality.⁶⁰

Geographical and Regional Attributes of Founding

The relationship of density and founding can be accounted for by geographical boundaries, location, and regional and local conditions. Lomi described how differences or variations in local, social, and economic conditions across regions produce differences in organizational founding rates. Location-dependent conditions include economic resources: industry versus agricultural employment, wealth distribution, and population skills/labor specialization concentration. Heterogeneity of social and economic conditions across geographical regions can explain the effect of location on organizational founding rates.⁶¹

In a study of agricultural credit unions in Italy, Lomi revealed that the ecological effects of geographical location on organizational founding rates are substantial. In Italy, the duality of regions between industrial and agricultural sections is primarily geographical.⁶² Location defined variations in organizational founding where localized conditions become suitable for certain industries; for example, rural areas or an agricultural economy for agricultural credit unions. Location also defined organizational structures, processes, and functions as having their own distinct characteristics.

Lomi considered the ecology of localized conditions as determinants for the concentration of certain specialist industries in the case of agricultural banks in Italy. Lomi argued that specialized organizations, for example, rural credit banks in Italy, cannot expand beyond their regions and are prone to changes in their locality conditions. The study corroborated that "models of founding rates of cooperative banks [in Italy] are better specified at the regional level, while national density has no effect on founding rates."⁶³ That is, spatial/geographical factors are important in the study of organizational founding rates and vitality/ dynamics. For specialist banks in Italy, ecological factors related to government policies, and legal and historical factors, as well as large-scale institutional changes in the banking industry in both Italy and Europe, have affected their survival.⁶⁴

In a related study of the founding and evolution of the Seven Bell companies in the United States, Noda and Collis noted that geographic and socioeconomic differences accounted for differences in original experiences in local market conditions, which shaped the future business development strategies of these companies. They determined that organizations' initial business experiences were imprinted on their future directions and influenced their business development strategies. These processes could have accounted for the beginning of organizational heterogeneity. The authors noted that important factors that led to organizations' intradiversity included favorable local regional and market conditions, environmental surroundings, and management entrepreneurial tendencies and willingness to take risks and learn from local experiences and market conditions.⁶⁵

The environmental imprinting literature also indicates that strategic choices adopted at the time of founding persist.⁶⁶ Although throughout the organization life cycles there are evolutionary developments, changes in strategy or strategic choice occur at the time of founding. Entrepreneurs experiment with several strategies when they start business. Once they grow and become successful, they are concerned with managing the environment and are less likely to change. However, when there are political instabilities, they are more prone to fail without modifying or changing those earlier strategies. This process in environmental instability, cyclical business growth, and technology and capital requirements contributes to organizational decline and failure. For some organizations, environmental changes create opportunities for new niches to open and capitalize on their information processing capabilities.

ORGANIZATIONAL NICHE, DENSITY, AND COMPETITION

According to the organizational ecology framework, environmental variations affect selection related to differential birth and death rates of organizational populations. That is, distributions of organizations into generalists and specialists can be attributed to selection pressures in environmental variations. Freeman and Hannan elaborated that the concept of niche can be used to provide explanations on how the growth and death of generalist and specialist organizations are related to resource availability—scarcity or slack and the ability of organizations to tolerate environmental changes.⁶⁷

Although the control and distribution of critical resources may significantly shape organizational activities, the selection framework maintains that environmental characteristics and variations are the primary determinants of organizational

SELECTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

activities. Whereas slack is related to organizational size, scarcity is related to constraints on resources availability, which could contribute to organizational decline and death. However, changes in environmental characteristics, for example, the advent of new technology, could facilitate the death of an older population and its replacement by new ones. Accordingly, the growth of organizations ultimately depends on their capability to tolerate environmental variations, including resources availability, and to resist pressures and withstand competition from members of the organizational population. That is, the niche width of the organization becomes one of the primary determinant factors that affects the survival or the decline of those organizations.

Organizational Niche

Baum and Singh claimed that almost all organizations in a population occupy an organizational niche. They referred to the organizational niche as characteristics related to organizational capabilities and as having a defined location space within the competitive environment.⁶⁸ They determined that the nature of competition varied, depending on where the organization niche—generalist versus specialist— is focused. Moreover, competition can be intense (high) or low, depending on the nature of resource requirements and production capabilities required for competing, as well as the ability of the environment to accommodate an increasing number of organizations within a population. Accordingly, the width of the organizational niche becomes an important factor that can affect competition.

Freeman and Hannan noted that the ability of organizational populations to compete and grow, and acquire the needed resources, depended on niche width--narrow or broad. For these authors, population growth and diversity are dependent on having a broad niche. They explained that "populations with broad niches are commonly called generalists. Populations with more limited ranges of tolerance are called specialists. Niche width theories are formulated to explain how environmental variations affect life chances of specialists and generalists."⁶⁹ They also noted differences in terms of strategy: whereas "specialist populations follow the strategy of betting all of their fitness chips on specific outcomes; generalists hedge their bets." Although generalists have slack resources, or excess capacity, "specialists commit most of their resources to a few tactics for dealing with the environment."70 Accordingly, the size of the organization, access to resources, geographical proximity of competing organizations, and economy of scale in production and distribution create discrete segments of organizations that are differentiated into generalist and specialist organizations. The resource partitioning theory has been applied to describe this partitioning and aggregation of organizational populations into discrete segments of generalist versus specialist organizations.

The resource partitioning theory examines those market conditions and concentrations that give rise to specialist or generalist organizations. The theory states that when there are a few organizations, each organization attempts to control the center of the market. As the number of organizations increases, those organizations that are large and powerful and that dominated the center of the market push those small organizations to the periphery. These small organizations become specialists and out-compete generalists by operating in distinct resource spaces.⁷¹ Accordingly, the success and failure of specialist and generalist organizations depends on the conditions of resources partitioning. When mass market concentration increases, competition among generalist organizations increases, contributing to increases in their mortality rates. When market concentration and consolidation occur among generalist organizations competing for the largest segment of the consumer base, this increases the founding and decreases the mortality rates of specialist organizations.⁷²

Resource Partitioning Theory: Generalist versus Specialist Organizations

Resource partitioning theory describes the environmental characteristics that contribute to the classification of organizations into different segments. Environmental differences arise as a result of differences in social and economic conditions, location space, geographical boundaries, and other characteristics related to the availability of resources. Differences in the size of the organizations, the economy of scale, and the capability of organizations to exploit environmental resources affect the partitioning of organizations into different segments. The organizational ecology literature has used the resource partitioning theory to describe this segmentation of organizations into generalists and specialists organizations. The resource partitioning theory explains that the rise of specialist organizations in general can be associated with increased concentration and consolidation of the market by large generalist organizations.

As large generalist organizations compete to dominate the market and control the consumer resource base, the intensity of competition, focused on the center of the market, reduces their available resources to meet the needs of the peripheral market. This condition then gives rise to specialist organizations that occupy "resource space that lies outside the generalist target areas.... When these resources are sufficient to sustain a specialist segment, the market can be said to be 'partitioned,' in that it appears that generalist and specialist organizations do not compete; they depend on different parts of the resource base."⁷³ Thus, the increased market concentration by generalist organizations give rise to increased founding rates of specialist organizations. Over time, those specialist organizations that are able to survive increase their geographical or spatial dimensions and resource space available to them.

Organization-Environment Niche Fit and Selection of Organizational Forms. According to the resource partitioning theory, the organization-environment niche fit selects which organizational forms-generalists or specialists—will survive and flourish. Organizational population segmentation by age (old vs. new) or size (large vs. small) characteristics is related to the generalist-specialist organizational form of concentration and resource sharing. In a resource partitioning context, it has been determined that the intensification of competition by generalist organizations to the center of the market leaves room for smaller organizations to enter the periphery of the market. The lack of attention by generalist organizations to other markets provides opportunities for specialist organizations to prosper. The relative size differential between small-specialist and large-generalist organizations contributed to small organizations' ability to take relative advantage of specialization without growing. At the same time, large organizations continue to grow and to expand their generalists' resource base and markets.⁷⁴ Although there is interaction between the two segments, market differentiation and product diversification have made it possible for specialist organizations to prosper in a given market.

Boone et al. applied the resource partitioning theory to describe the growth of auditing firms. The authors found that "the niche position of specialist auditing firms seems to be sustained by their flexibility over time. This dynamic capability allows specialist firms to meet the unique and changing needs of certain clients and other customers. In essence, they provide customized and personalized service of a kind that the large generalist auditors are incapable of providing (at least to small client firms)."⁷⁵ They attributed the success of auditing firms to their relative size and the nature of the service industry.

In service and professional industries, where there are a few large firms dominating the market (i.e., auditing and banking), small firms catering to the needs of customers with special and challenging needs have emerged and flourished. When institutional forces were in play, most enacted government regulations have benefited big auditing firms. Resource partitioning was at work in earlier periods, when there were minimal laws during the unregulated era, than in later periods, when legislation was put into effect to regulate the industry. In the unregulated era, there was competition. When there was legislation and regulatory activities, there was minimal competition, which led to concentration, but because legislation was put into effect, small firms did well along with the big auditing firms.

Boone et al. recommended that it is important for researchers to "investigate the relationship between the dynamics of organizational populations and the timing and form of legislation and regulation." In the auditing firms, "the ecological process causing a dual market structure [generalist vs. specialist auditing firms] was accelerated and institutionalized by law."⁷⁶. In the case of the auditing industry, the political, institutional, and legal processes are the primary forces that facilitated the resource partitioning theory.

Organizational Forms: Generalist versus Specialist Organizations. Resource partitioning of markets into generalist and specialist segments has been described primarily within the context of environmental variations. Freeman and Hannan classified environmental variations into coarse and fine grained. They referred fine grained to "large patches of single kind of square" and small grained to "large clumps of homogeneous squares."⁷⁷ They attributed grain to the time period of change and the frequency and length of periodical fluctuation of change. This change of fluctuation may either involve a long or a short time period. "When fluctuation occurs frequently so that tenure in any one environmental condition is short, the environment is said to be fine grained. Fluctuating environments, in which tenure is long, are coarse grained."⁷⁸

COARSE- VS. FINE-GRAINED ENVIRONMENTAL VARIATIONS. Freeman and Hannan suggested that coarse-grained variations favor generalist organizations, and finegrained variations the proliferation of specialist organizations. The authors applied variations, generalism, and seasonality to describe the age, sales volume, and concentration of the markets and market segmentation in the restaurant industry. They found that specialist restaurants are more likely to succeed in fine-grain environmental conditions and with width variations. The death rates of restaurants declined with age, and newer restaurants learned from the experience and death rates of older restaurants. In general, the authors concluded that age and continuous fluctuation of sales volume had effects on the death rates of restaurants.⁷⁹

The Singh and Lunsden⁸⁰ study corroborated Freeman and Hannan's⁸¹ selection-fitness dichotomy features of environmental variations—coarse- versus fine-grained—to specialist and generalist organizations. That is, a specialist strategy is preferable in a fine-grained and a generalist strategy in a coarse-grained environment. In a fine-grained environment, specialists have lower mortality rates because they are able to withstand small periodic variations or brief tough times. When the environment variability is coarse grained, generalists are able to withstand and sustain longer periods of environmental variations better than specialist organizations.

STABLE VERSUS UNSTABLE ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS. Hannan and Freeman, in their 1977 study, used stable versus unstable environmental conditions, which used the same analogy of fine- versus coarse-grained environmental variations, as critical factors contributing to the success of generalist versus specialist organizations. The authors suggested that specialized organizations flourish in stable (fine-grained) environments, whereas generalist organizations are able to survive in unstable (coarse-grained) and uncertain environments. In unstable environments, generalist organizations have the resources to optimize the entire set of environmental configurations. In contrast, specialist organizations do not have the excess or the required resource base to meet environmental changes. In unstable environments, the need to maintain excess resources for a longer period of time becomes critical for survival and to insulate organizations from "environmentally induced disruptions" that are considered unnecessary by specialist organizations. ⁸² The authors noted that excess resources allow generalist organizations to set up specialized units to enhance performance and success in unstable environments.

SELECTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

Accordingly, generalist organizations can change their course of action by making slack resources available to take advantage of existing opportunities in unstable, coarse-grained environments. In comparison, specialist organizations have specific resources that are suboptimal and are unable to compete with the generalists, who have the resources to sustain competition and diversify to meet the continual environmental changes. However, when the environmental conditions are stable, specialist organizations have comparative advantages over generalist organizations in specialized niche markets.⁸³

However, the effect of environmental instability on the founding and growth of specialist organizations depends on the time duration: short or long time period. If the time duration is short, generalist organizations can manage without changing their strategy. In contrast, if it is long, they can change the course of their actions relative to specialist organizations, which might be forced to exit the industry. Comparatively, in stable environments, specialist organizations are favored and are able to meet market demands better than generalist organizations. Therefore, environmental variations (coarse grained—unstable or fine grained—stable) select organizational forms (generalist or specialist organizations).

RESOURCE PARTITIONING AND PURCHASING PREFERENCES AND MARKET CONCENTRATIONS. In addition to environmental variations, resource partitioning is also dependent on customers' purchasing power. Peli and Nooteboom suggested that generalist and specialist organizations do perform in different markets to satisfy customer preferences. The possible market positioning of organizations depends on their ability to meet customer preferences, and their market positioning depends on their resource location space or niche, economies of scale, and market location: center or periphery.⁸⁴ To meet customers' preferences, "generalist organizations make appeal to a broad range of customer tastes, while specialists address specific ones. Accordingly, a generalist's niche is a broad region in the resource space, while specialists occupy small spots."⁸⁵ Concentration and diversification of resources and products thereby increases niche width and enables generalist organizations to maintain their market share. Although niche overlap and competition reduces prices, it also forces medium-sized generalists to exit the market. Eventually, small specialists emerge to fill the market vacuum on the peripheries.

Resource partitioning theory explains the interrelationship between two trends: increased market concentration and the rise of many small specialist organizations in markets that are matured and concentrated. According to the ecological theories of niche width, when the ranges of resources are wide/broad, the subpopulation of organizations contains generalists. In contrast, when the resource niche is narrow, the subpopulation of organizations contains specialists.⁸⁶ The resource partitioning approach predicts that when an industry or market is dominated by large generalist organizations, specialist organizations proliferate.

Boone et al. described two issues that account for the emergence and growth of specialist organizations. The first issue was related to the causes in the trend in

market concentration of industries for a considerable period of time. The second factor addresses why specialist-small organizations appear and flourish in certain mature industries, given that both generalist and specialist organizations operate in same industries. "The core theoretical imager of resource partitioning relies on notions of crowding among organizations in a market characterized as a finite set of heterogeneous resources. Organizations attempt to find viable positions within this market by targeting their products to various resource segments. Specialist organizations choose narrow homogeneous targets, while generalist organizations targets composed of heterogeneous segments."87 Boone et al.'s study supported the resource partitioning theory's assumptions that specialist organizations tend to have a niche and locate themselves in "resource space that lies outside the generalist target areas." When resources are thin/limited, specialist organizations tend to be small and are more likely to be invaded by generalists forcing them out of business. Accordingly, the amount of space available for specialist organizations to operate is critical. The prediction is that "as overall market concentration rises, the viability of specialist organizations increases as well."88

RESOURCE PARTITIONING AND NICHE WIDTH. Swaminathan applied the resource partitioning ecological theories of niche width-broad or narrow-to explain the founding and death of generalist and specialist organizations in the mature industries of wineries. The study supported the resource partitioning model assumptions that when the level of market concentration increases in mature industries, there will be an increase in the death rate of generalists. The ones who are able to survive are able to control the market by moving to the center. When generalists move toward the center, there is the problem of crowding, which increases the death rate of generalists. Those who are able to survive use "economies of scale of production and marketing," which assumes that "the best location for a generalist firm is the center of a concentrated market." Accordingly, as a result of overlap by generalists, "the total resource space covered by generalist-firms is smaller than it would be in a competitive, un-concentrated market where firms offer differentiated products or services."89 In contrast, when the market is concentrated, specialists in the periphery have access to resources located on the periphery and are able to differentiate and segment their markets on the periphery without facing competition from the generalist industries. Swaminathan accounted the differences in the founding and death rates between generalists and specialists to differences in these two subpopulations of organizations in the resource location.90

The amount of resource space that is available to specialist organizations depends on geographical location. Lomi found that geographical location and spatial surroundings were primary factors in shaping the evolution of organizational populations—agricultural credit unions and rural banks in Southern Italy. The study ascertained that location provided an ecological advantage for the birth and death rates of certain population of organizations, in this case,

specialized rural banks, than the internal structure of organizations.⁹¹ Environmental attributes related to geography, space, and social and economic conditions provided favorable climate for the founding, diffusion, and growth of certain specialized organizations.

Carroll and Swaminathan, in their study of the brewing industries, suggested that location and organizational form identities-smallness, quality production, cultural factors related to differentiation, and uniqueness of product-played central roles in strengthening specialist organizations. Legitimacy as a beer specialty producer and identity associated with status and personal attraction were critical in both product appeal to consumers and increased opportunities for survival and growth for specialist organizations.⁹² In a related study, Swaminathan noted that specialist winery organizations worked together to establish a collective identity that is distinct, to counteract the threat from generalist organizations. Through trade shows, conferences, and other forms of advertising, the organizations attempted to maintain the authenticity of their identity in their size (smallness), reputation, and quality of their products. If it so happens that generalists are able to incorporate some of the uniqueness identity characteristics of the specialist organizations in their products, they can reduce the chances for specialist organizations to grow and prosper. Swaminathan attributed this product differentiation strategy to economies of scale advantage that enable mass producers' wineries to offer a wide variety of wine products to both the mass and specialized markets. When there are higher levels of industry concentration, greater homogeneity of organization develops, contributing to the decline in the founding and increased death rates of specialized organizations.⁹³

It can be inferred that industry concentration and organizational density generally accounted for the increase or decrease in the founding and death rates among specialist organizations. The ecological approach considers external environmental pressures associated with the number of organizations in a competitive environment (i.e., density and the environment's carrying capacity to support a given number of organizations) affects selection by favoring other forms through rules, regulations, economic incentives, and political rulings and legislation that restrict other organizations from entering the market. Selection as an evolutionary process decreases the founding rates when external environmental factors, for example, entry of foreign firms, affect competition.

Sorenson provided examples from the automobile industry in the United States, where the Japanese entry affected negatively the founding rates by increasing the retention rates among existing members of a population. That is, both selection and retention have different effects on entry rates: retention increases entry rates, whereas selection decreases founding rates. Sorenson attributed the effects of retention and selection on entry rates to their interactive processes. "First, selection might increase the average fitness of the remaining organizations making entry into the niche less attractive, as hypothesized. Second, high retention rates could signal entrepreneurs that the niche provides attractive business opportunities since a high retention rate implies that few ventures fail." Retention in this case "simply measures population pressures," as retention increases population density/competition.⁹⁴ When there is retention, existing members of a population interact, learn better to adapt, and increase their overall fitness to the environment without selection. When there is selection, there is an increase in mortality rates of existing organizations and an increase in the entry rates of new organizations. Accordingly, the increase or decrease in selection pressures can be accounted for by the degree of organizational density, legitimation, and competition.

ORGANIZATIONAL DENSITY: LEGITIMATION AND COMPETITION

Population density refers to the number of organizations within a population. The ecological approach assumes that density influences the growth and decline in organizational population.⁹⁵ Freeman ascertained that density dependence, which is related to the proportions of organizations within a population, "generates homeostatic processes in populations, that is, it generates equilibrium levels toward which population size adjust, usually at a decreasing rates."⁹⁶

When organizations evolve over time, they increase from small to large numbers. They grow by exploiting their resources and expanding their customer base. That is, a low level of density encourages subsequent foundings because of increased market size and profit-making opportunities. As resources become scarce and customer demand falls, organizations stabilize and eventually start to decline because of saturated markets. When the market is saturated, intense competition contributes to decline in founding and increased mortality rates. Those organizations that are able to develop new technology survive, and others, who lose their technological advantage, decline or eventually die. It is the process of competition and legitimation for limited resources that accounts for the density-dependence model of organizational founding, growth, and decline.⁹⁷ Over time, organizations go through a series of phased stages of growth and decline, depending on the interaction of legitimation and competition. Accordingly, legitimation and competition have become two important factors in the ecological study of organizations. To this effect, Sorenson has denoted density, which "counts of organizations in a population serve as a measurable proxy for both of these factors" in industrial evolution.98

Legitimation

64

Organization ecological approaches "focus attention on the legitimation of organizational populations, collections of organizations exhibiting a given structure or form."⁹⁹ Legitimation among organizations arises when they share cognitive frameworks that provide visions or expectation of goals and guidelines for survival and environmental fit. Ruef and Scott have identified three views of legitimacy based on "three basic components of institutions—the normative, the

regulative, and the cognitive."¹⁰⁰ The normative approach has an emphasis on prescriptive rules or social obligations that are widely accepted as fair and legitimate. Medical licensures or certified public accountant (CPA) certifications are examples of normative control systems. Government organization regulatory agencies and professional associations enforce regulative legitimacy by monitoring rules, imposing sanctions, promulgating regulations and laws, or enforcing professional conduct of behavior. Cognitive legitimacy is associated with the acceptance of certain beliefs and behaviors associated with the performance—delivery of products or services—of the organization. Over time, when these behaviors are communicated and incorporated as part of the vision and goals of the organizations can collectively pursue normative and regulatory legitimacy with governmental and institutional support where industry standards and performance activities are observed and maintained.¹⁰¹

When a population operates within the framework of modern institutional relationships having well-developed sources of normative and external legitimacy, legitimacy increases the resources available to existing organizations and potential entrepreneurs in a given industry, thereby expanding their leverage to exert influence on the market.¹⁰² Legitimacy also decreases the costs associated with mobilizing these resources to found new organizations. Thus, legitimacy increases founding rates where the founding of many organizations eventually contributes to wider acceptance and legitimacy within the organizational community.¹⁰³

Although regulatory legitimacy is associated with external regulatory agencies oversight, normative legitimacy is internal, where organizations attempt to influence the normative assessment associated with their performance. The degree of regulatory legitimacy governing managerial and technical requirements varies by organizations, depending on licensing and certification requirements. In accounting, those requirements are substantial, and external regulatory agencies from the government and professional associations such as the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) require high standards in managerial and technical competency to practice in the profession. Not only have these standards increased over time, but members are also required to be up to date on the latest technical and managerial skills developments in the profession, using continuing education to keep their certification. Increased legitimacy, either regulatory or normative, has the effect of increasing uniformity among members of a population and decreasing rates of mortality. Increased density intensifies competition, which could lead to concentration and consolidation of services by a few large firms, as evidenced in the concentration of accounting and tax-related services by the four major accounting firms in the United States.

It needs to be noted that when there is increased density, the population becomes differentiated. As population becomes differentiated and legitimized over time, density dependence becomes less important to competition. When the population is structured through differentiation, there is reduction in competitive interaction, as density is reduced and declines in importance over time, when the population gets older. Such a trend contributes to the growth of large organizations that provide a wide variety of differentiated and specialized services, as in the case of the big four accounting firms. Although smaller organizations coexist, their size and numbers do not lead to density dependence to affect competition within the population.

Competition

Organizational density affects competition at higher levels of population density, while at the initial stage of organizational growth, density is generally low. As more organizations enter into the population, density increases, thereby increasing legitimacy. Legitimacy enables organizations to have access to resources, thereby increasing founding, where increased density results in intense competition. It is the nature of interdependency and overlap of resource use among members of a population to intensify competition, thereby creating more pressure and demand as the need for additional resources increases. This implies that organizations' competitive capabilities and differences in their strategic positions have a profound effect on their performance and on their ability to change or maintain their competitive advantage.¹⁰⁴ Although organizational learning improves performance, the more organizations face obstacles and competition pressures in the market place, the better they are likely to perform.

Barnett, Greve, and Park described the effects of increased competition on selection processes as follows: "Having many competitors increases the chances that an organization will not obtain the resources it needs, and so will fail. On the other hand, having many competitors increases the number of potential acquirers in the population, making an organization more likely to disappear through merger or acquisition when its rivals are more numerous."¹⁰⁵ Their study of retail banks operating in Illinois between 1987 and 1993 revealed that competition is a significant issue driving the process of organizational evolution, which shaped the strategies and structures of organizations.

In the long run, intense competition has a negative effect on founding rates because organizations will not be able to acquire the necessary resources to start new ventures or businesses. It has been found that whenever there is an increase in competition, it is followed by decreases in founding and increases in mortality rates.¹⁰⁶ Sorenson described how legitimacy and competition have interactive effects on population vital rates of founding and mortality when "increased legitimacy increases founding rates and decreases mortality rates, whereas increases in competition decreases founding rates and increase mortality rates."¹⁰⁷

However, the effect of legitimacy and competition on founding and mortality rates is constrained by geographical boundaries. According to the organizational ecology literature, legitimation has no geographical constraints and encompasses national boundaries.¹⁰⁸ Competition is mostly a local phenomenon and is bound

by location and regional boundaries and largely driven by availability of local resources, where resource endowments can positively affect and depletion can negatively affect legitimacy and competition.

Competition is not entirely a density issue but is also related to organizational size. Ranger-Moore, Breckenridge, and Jones have related organizational size to growth rates and competition. They suggested that growth rates in organizations decline, as a function of size is related to organizational inertia, where inertia limits the opportunities of organizations to innovate, grow, and compete. That is, older organizations, because of their size, are inert and slow to change, and organizational age has a negative effect on growth rate. When organization size dictates strategy and structure, organizations of the same size compete more aggressively with each other than with organizations of different sizes. Accordingly, growth rate in same-size organizations is mostly influenced by internal conditions (inertia) or external factors (competition) from similarly sized organizations. However, "organizations of different sizes require different types of resources, which could result in size-localized competition." That is, in ecological studies, in addition to population, "organizational size relative to the sizes of other organizations in the population" needs to be included.¹⁰⁹ If organizations of the same population are different in size, they may not compete equally for resources, as well as experience equally the intensity of competition.

Accordingly, localized competition is thus specific to a certain population that has distinguishable characteristics from others. Size localized competition thus accounts for size distributions or variations among organizations within a given population.¹¹⁰ Although "organizational size has a significant effect on vital rates (i.e., founding, failure, entry of organizations," inertia may account for organizations' abilities to perform and survive, thereby reducing failure rates.¹¹¹ Overtime, organizational inertia reduces their ability to adapt and compete, contributing to organizational failure and mortality.

The Ranger-Moore study of the New York State life insurance industry from 1860 to 1985 showed that because "size and growth are negatively related: the larger the organization, the lower growth rate," suggesting an inference to the effect that "growth rates decrease as size-localized competition increases." The authors reported that when there is an increase in competition from similarly sized organizations, as is the case with the life insurance industry, growth rate decreased. They accounted the decline in growth rate "as measured by the total value of policies issued" by insurance firms.¹¹² Overall, it was ascertained that organizations of the same size experienced intensified competition and experienced lower growth rates. However, because life insurance firms have primarily financial (liquid) assets holdings instead of production (physical plant that have sunk costs) assets, they showed less inertia, although the negative effects of size on inertia in general applied to them. It was, rather, the combined inertial forces from size and age that reduced growth rates in organizations, as evidenced by the New York State life insurance industry. The Ranger-Moore study identified two dimensions---size and age---in addition to density as causing intensified

localized competition among organizational population, contributing to decreases in founding and growth and relatively minimal effects on mortality rates.

ORGANIZATIONAL DENSITY EFFECTS ON FOUNDING AND MORTALITY RATES

Organizational ecology studies of legitimation and competition have related founding and mortality rates to density, where at low levels of density, founding rates of organizations rise, and at high levels of density, they decline.¹¹³ Lomi and Larsen have suggested that the recurrent pattern in organizational growth, stability, and decline has been influenced by forces of legitimation and competition. Whereas legitimation is embodied in accepted and established institutional rules, competition arises because of resource constraints and organizations' dependence on the availability of these similar/related scarce/limited resources.¹¹⁴ Accordingly, the rate of organizational growth—founding or death—is dependent on the forces of legitimation and competition. Carroll and Hannan¹¹⁵ gave examples from the newspaper industry to ac-

Carroll and Hannan¹¹⁵ gave examples from the newspaper industry to account for the effects of competition in decreasing the size of the geographical markets, and thereby increasing mortality rates. The authors reported that as newspapers grew in numbers, they achieved legitimation. At the same time, there were increases in competition, followed by decline in the size of the locality market and reduction in the number of daily newspapers. Those newspapers that have advantages of size and economies of scale over their competitors were able to monopolize and consolidate their local markets. When retention rate increases over time, it resulted in an increase of population density, which increased competition. While the daily markets declined, specialized newspaper markets experienced growth.

Selection in the newspaper industries was shaped by competition, age, and political changes that have broader implications on the local market.¹¹⁶ Accordingly, the possibility that a particular organizational form (i.e., from the newspaper industry) will survive than other organizational forms could result in weeding out less efficient firms, thereby reducing competition within the industry.¹¹⁷ In localized competitive situations, when organizations' resources overlap with other firms, because of selection, some firms' resources overlap with other firms, some firms will leave if it is crowded. The Baum and Singh study of daycare centers documented the consequences of overlap and nonoverlap densities within a population and its effect on resource requirements and mortality rates. Their study revealed that when there is overlap density, it increases mortality.¹¹⁸

Sorenson suggested that although selection improves a population of organizations' fitness to the environment, it also "decreases competitive intensity among surviving firms by distributing them more evenly across the resource space." Those firms that usually fail are mainly in crowded segments, rather than in the sparse resource segments.¹¹⁹ However, learning and experience, which improve with the age of the organization, provide better competitive ability and interaction with the environment and increase retention rates within the population.

Nevertheless, the effect of legitimation and competition were confounded by geographical boundaries. It has been ascertained that when compared to legitimation, competition is constrained by physical and political barriers. Bigelow et al. used geographical boundaries or demarcation to differentiate legitimation and competition within organizational population. They examined the American automobile producers to test the organizational ecology theory of density dependence, "that legitimation takes place at a broader level of geographic density while competition occurs at a more local level of analysis."¹²⁰ They found that "geography and physical distance [have] different scale of effects of legitimation and competition rather than nation-state political boundaries" for the American automobile producers.¹²¹

As a follow-up to the Bigelow et al. study, Hannan et al. used a larger sample that allowed for a comparative study of the European automobile manufacturers to test the ecological theory of density-dependence of legitimation and competition. They reported that during the early stages of organizational evolution "legitimation typically operate[d] on a broader scale than competition."¹²² At the organizational growth stage, competition tended to be more local compared to the legitimation of the institutional environment, which tended to have a broader scope and operated across boundaries, regions, and countries. The authors noted that whereas competition has a national process among countries and manufacturers, legitimation, which requires acceptance leading to institutionalization, is a continental-wide "European-wide process."¹²³ Both the Bigelow et al. and the Hannan et al. studies documented that both legitimacy and competition have different effects on organizational founding and failure rates.

McLaughlin and Khawaja extended the Hannan and Freeman framework of legitimation, in which they defined legitimation in relation to the size of the market for environmental ideas. The authors denoted market size by the number of print books published dealing with environmental issues. Whereas their definition and extension of legitimation was slightly different than the ecological approach (see Hannan and Freeman¹²⁴ attribution of legitimation in relation to the number of organizations in a given population), their study nevertheless supported the ecological effect of legitimation on founding and competition for mortality rates of environmental organizations.¹²⁵ That is, legitimation was related to the founding rate of environmental organizations because an increase in the number of books published on environmentalism contributed to founding. An increase in the number of local and regional environmental organizations not only intensified competition but also contributed to a declining rate of national environmental organizations. It can be inferred that environmental issues have geographical boundaries that limited growth in local and regional environmental organizations, which in turn, have negatively affected the founding rates of national environmental organizations.

Ecological studies have used geographical location and boundaries to better specify the relationships between density dependence and organizational 70

founding rates. To this effect, Lomi has noted that if founding rates are location dependent, the responses to founding and decline are locally dependent—local region to geographical location, small or large—which affected organizational heterogeneity.¹²⁶ The implication is that potential founders are more likely to be more responsive to local variations of legitimation and competition when local conditions of market, capital requirements, labor availability, changes in investment laws, political factors, and environmental uncertainty are present that direct affect their businesses, instead of national events in distant areas that do not have bearings on local and regional competition.

Lomi and Larsen ascertained that location or spatial structure shaped evolutionary dynamics because the process, structures, and functions of organizational populations are described within the context of geographical space and longitudinal time period. The authors implied that "location dependence may be a general process affecting the vital rates in organizational populations."¹²⁷ Lomi corroborated that spatial factors of location and geography are relevant in the ecological study of organizational change processes, particularly for specialist organizations; for example, agricultural credit unions (banks) in Southern Italy. Accordingly, "ecological factors related to location will be of critical importance for the survival of these specialist banks because large-scale institutional change is rapidly eroding the historical, legal, and cultural boundaries around populations of banking organizations in Europe."¹²⁸ Geographical proximity has also positive effects on technological innovation and diffusion by enabling these organizations to collaborate on new products and technologies.¹²⁹

In the long run, concentration of organizations as a result of location or geographical factors could contribute to uneven regional development. However, decentralization and devolution have enabled large organizations to become more responsive to local needs and to serve as agents for local regional economic transformation. Diversification, product innovations, reorganization, and competition not only contributed to market integration but also enabled large organizations to recognize that involvement and contribution to local and regional development promoted the growth of their businesses.

In addition to geographical factors, Singh and Lumsden noted that historical conditions and the prevailing social structures need to be considered on founding to determine whether those conditions have imprinted on the organization processes and structures. In most cases, some of the characteristics acquired at founding become persistent throughout the organization life history.¹³⁰ Although differences in organizations in form, fitness, and age are related to founding, these characteristics also influenced the later behaviors and actions of organizations, including mortality rates.

The effects of organizational founding and mortality on mobility have been extended by Greve and Fujiwara-Greve¹³¹ and Haveman and Cohen.¹³² Both studies found that organizational founding, which contributes to sustained growth and size, also increased interorganizational mobility. In contrast, organizational dissolution through mergers or acquisitions or mortality decreased mobility.

SELECTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

De Geus compared the mortality rates of business organizations to what is commonly referred to as living companies; for example, churches or universities. The study showed that in general, corporate death rates among business organizations are mostly premature and excessively high. When compared to living animals, or other institutions such as churches, armies, or universities, corporate death rates tended to be unusually high, untimely, and unnatural. Most companies die because they focus on capital, labor, and other economic issues and do not see the big picture that a living business includes a community of people in addition to labor, capital, and economic profit and technological change. In other words, long-lived organizations are living companies. They have personalities that define "who they are, understand how they fit into the world, value new ideas and new people, and husband their money in a way that allows them to govern their future."¹³³

According to de Geus, living companies are capable of managing change and are able to transform overtime as technology changes. Living companies are conservative in their financial affairs by avoiding risks and using their capital only when opportunities for investment or venture are attractive. They also pay attention to the world issues/changes around them. In addition, they have clearly developed identities ("logo") and pursue technological changes/innovations and are tolerant and welcome new ideas and technologies that are not directly related to their areas of business expertise. They are willing to undergo change to survive.¹³⁴

De Geus denoted that the success and the longevity of life of living organizations depend on the value they place on their employees and organizational learning. The implication is that living companies not only value their employees (labor force) but also give them power and control over their activities by encouraging them to participate in decisions that affect the long-term growth of the company. Through organizational learning, living companies acquire new ideas and skills that would enable them to be innovative.¹³⁵

Because living organizations have long-term tenure, de Geus asserted that they can shape and change human communities and surroundings and use their environmental resources responsibility to ensure their continuity from generation to generation. In general, when living organizations live longer and organizational loses and death are avoided or minimized, societies and organizational communities, including shareholders and employees, benefit from organizational living or continuities.¹³⁶ Nevertheless, organizations' persistence in maintaining longevity creates inertial pressure to preserve and modify, if necessary, existing structures to adapt to environmental changes.

ORGANIZATIONAL INERTIA, ADAPTATION, AND ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

According to Hannan and Freeman, inertia pressures on organizations arise "both from internal arrangements (e.g., internal politics) and the environment (e.g., public legitimation of organizational activity."¹³⁷ Inertia is denoted as being

72

related to indifference to change by relying on past historical achievements. It is embedded in organizations because inertia represents an accumulation of individual organizational members' resistance to change. When there is inertia, the underlying assumption in inertia is that there is a persistence pattern among organizations to maintain existing activities even in situations where there are environmental changes.¹³⁸ Inertia largely involves the retention of the existing organizational design archetype.¹³⁹ Although the environment is constantly changing and organizations adapt to these changes, the forces of inertia reduce the speed of structural change required to adapt to environmental changes.¹⁴⁰ Over time, the cumulative effect of tension between inertia and environmental change results in organizational innovations and change.

Wong-Ming Ji and Millette provided the "in" theory of organizational change as a framework to resolve organizational tension/conflict brought about by the interactive forces of inertia and innovation. They argued that because "inertia is embedded within the status quo of organizations," innovations of new ideas and developments contribute to organizational members' awareness that inertia exists and has to be challenged.¹⁴¹ This discourse creates tension or conflict between inertia and innovations. The authors suggested that this tension between the two opposing forces of inertia and innovation can be resolved through organizational change, which may involve either adaptation strategies or selection.

From an ecological perspective, the adaptation approach assumes that "subunits of the organization, usually managers of dominant coalitions, scan the relevant environment for opportunities and threats, formulate strategic responses, and adjust organizational structure appropriately." In adaptation, there is a focus on "a hierarchy of authority and control that locates decisions concerning the organization as a whole at the top."¹⁴² Managerial actions, policies, and strategies affect organizational environment relations. Successful managers who are able to acquire slack resources are in a better position to buffer or insulate the organization from extreme environmental changes. Slack is related to organizational size. Slack enables organizations to adapt to environmental changes because it provides "a large enough margin for error so that failure in an adaptation attempt causes no lasting decrement to effectiveness outcomes."¹⁴³ However, when resources become scarce, subunits will assume power and control over internal resources as these resources become critical for organizational survival.¹⁴⁴ Romanelli and Tushman noted that conflict is essential to change and that there are advantages from conflict, as "conflict in organizations" becomes "a critical process determinant of adaptation."¹⁴⁵ Leadership plays an important role in the adaptation process by developing and formulating strategies that will enable the organization to adapt to environmental changes. Adaptation strategies are enacted so that there is a balance between the structure and environment relationships.

It is generally assumed that the potential reciprocal adaptation change management in the environment-organization relationship is part of the ecological paradigm. Everett, in his work on public relations theory, proposed that the

SELECTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

"concept of organizational adaptation is central to the ecological paradigm," since "organizational adaptation refers to the process by which some degree of fitness is reached between an organization and environment."¹⁴⁶ Because mangers develop strategies to adjust organization changes, adaptation process is related to the ecological approach where fit between the organization and environment characterize the relationships.

Eisenhardt and Galunic applied a coevolution theory, a biological application to business, to describe the nature of interdependency, adaptation, and evolution over time in organizations. The authors viewed the corporation as an ecosystem in which the forces of collaboration and competition regulate markets and organization performance. When markets become competitive, business organizations need fewer collaborations or balanced links.¹⁴⁷ Business unit managers take control of strategic and operating decisions to meet market requirements. Whereas collaboration is needed to build multibusiness teams, collaboration may not necessarily lead to better adaptation and performance. It is, rather, the leadership and management decisions that become critical in adaptive strategies.

Hannan and Freeman differentiated between adaptation and selection of organizational change in relation to environmental changes: stable with moderate changes or unstable with volatility changes. They suggested that when there are stronger environmental changes and pressures, there is less organizational adaptability. It is more likely that organizational selection is the relevant approach to explain the organization–environment linkage. Whereas adaptation examines the broader general interface of the organization and the environment, it understates the subunits and their differential access to environmental resources. That is, adaptation process examines the overall fitness of the organization with the environment. Therefore, fitness, within an adaptation framework, is viewed "as the probability that a given form of organization would persist in a certain environment."¹⁴⁸

The problem in ecological adaptation, according to Hannan and Freeman, is that unless the environment is favorable to the organization, the organization will not flourish. If the environment variation changes, organizations then have to experiment with trial and error to select the appropriate strategy for that given environment. In this process, there is an interplay of organization–environment variation and competition in the "determination of optimal adaptive structure" to deal with uncertainty.¹⁴⁹ It is these structural and strategic changes that make the adaptation strategy the appropriate change strategy under conditions of stable environmental conditions with minimal variations. Chapter 4 discusses those adaptation change strategies that are applicable to environmental conditions experiencing relatively stable or minimal variations.

NOTES

1. H.E. Aldrich and J. Pfeffer, "Environments of organizations," Annual Review of Sociology 2 (1976), 80.

74 ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

2. J. Betton and G.G. Dess, "The application of population ecology models to the study of organizations," Academy of Management Review 10 (1985), 751.

3. See H. Aldrich, Organizations and Environments (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1979); Aldrich and Pfeffer, "Environments of organizations," 79–105; and M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," American Journal of Sociology 82 (1977), 929–64.

4. M.C. White, D.B. Martin, D.V. Brazeal, and W.H. Friedman, "The evolution of organizations: Suggestions from complexity theory about the interplay between natural selection and adaptation," *Human Relations* 50 (1997), 1383.

5. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations."

6. Aldrich and Pfeffer, "Environments of organizations," 80-82; and J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 4 (1982), 9.

7. T.L. Amburgey and H. Rao, "Organizational ecology: Past, present, and future directions," *Academy of Management Journal* 39 (1996), 1277. See also D.C. Lau and J.K. Murnighan, "Demographic diversity and fault lines: The compositional dynamics of organizational groups," *Academy of Management Review* 23 (1998), 325–40.

8. B. McKelvey and H. Aldrich, "Population, natural selection, and applied organizational science," Administrative Science Quarterly 28 (1983), 115–17.

9. E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms," Annual Review of Sociology 17 (1991), 79–103. Refer also M. Ruef, "The emergence of organizational forms: A community ecology approach," American Journal of Sociology 106 (2000), 658–714.

10. P.J. DiMaggio and W.W. Powell, "The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields," *American Sociological Review* 48 (1983), 147–60; and E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms."

11. C.H. Hunt and H.E. Aldrich, "The second ecology: Creation and evolution of organizational communities," Research in Organizational Behavior 20 (1998), 269.

12. Refer to J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," Research in Organizational Behavior 4 (1982), 1–32; and L.P. Thiele, "Evolutionary narratives and ecological ethics," Political Theory 27 (1999), 6–38.

13. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," 3.

14. R. Durand, "Firm selection: An integrative perspective," Organization Studies 22 (2001), 393.

15. Aldrich and Pfeffer, "Environments of organizations," 81.

16. Ibid., 96-99. See also McKelvey and Aldrich, "Population, natural selection."

17. O. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry: The American automobile industry," *Social Science Research* 29 (2000), 321.

18. Ibid., 323-24.

19. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations."

20. Ibid., 931.

21. Ibid.

22. Ibid., 931–35.

23. M.T. Hannan, "Rethinking age dependence in organizational mortality: Logical formalizations," *American Journal of Sociology* 104 (1998), 126–64. See also, A. Van Witteloostuijn, "Bridging behavioral and economic theories of decline: Organizational inertia, strategic competition, and chronic failure," *Management Science* 44 (1998),

501-19; and W. Weitzel and E. Jonsson, "Decline in organizations: A literature integration and extension," Administrative Science Quarterly 34 (1989), 91-109.

24. J.A.C. Baum, H.J. Korn, and S. Kotha, 1995, "Dominant designs and population dynamics in telecommunications services: Founding and failure of facsimile transmission service organizations, 1965–1992," *Social Sciences Research* 24 (1995), 108.

25. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations."

26. J.V. Singh and C.J. Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," Annual Review of Sociology 16 (1990), 169-70.

27. J. Ranger-Moore, "Bigger may be better. But is older wiser? Organizational age and size in the New York Life Insurance Industry," *American Sociological Review* 62 (1997), 903.

28. Singh and Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 168.

29. R. Durand, "Firm selection: An integrative perspective," Organization Studies 22 (2001), 401.

30. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 313.

31. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations."

32. Aldrich and Pfeffer, "Environments of Organizations," 93.

33. Betton and Dess, "The application of population ecology models."

34. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," 931.

35. Ibid., 932.

36. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "Structural inertia and organizational change," *American Sociological Review* 49 (1984), 149–64.

37. G.R. Carroll, and J.R. Harrison, "On the historical efficiency of competition between organizational populations," *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994), 723, 745–46.

38. Hannan, "Rethinking age dependence in organizational mortality," 1998, 131.

39. Ibid., 127.

40. Ibid., 159. See also S.D. Dobrev, T. Kim, and M.T. Hannan, "Dynamics of niche width and resource partitioning," *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (2001), 1299–337; M. Kasimoglu and B. Hamarat, "Niche overlap-competition and homogeneity in the organizational clusters of hotel population," *Management Research News* 26 (2003), 60–77; T.Y. Kim, S.D. Dobrev, and G.R. Carroll, "Shifting gears, shifting niches: Organizational inertia and change in the evolution of the U.S. automobile industry, 1885–1981," *Organization Science* 14 (2003), 264–82; and E. Litwak and P. Messeri, "Organizational theory, social supports, and mortality rates: A theoretical convergence," *American Sociological Review* 54 (1989), 49–66.

41. Hannan, "Rethinking age dependence in organizational mortality," 159.

42. Ranger-Moore, "Bigger may be better," 903-17.

43. F. Boons, L. Baas, J.J. Bouma, A.D. Groene, and K.L. Blansch, "Trajectories of greening: The diffusion of green organizational routines in the Netherlands, 1986–1995," *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000), 18–40. See also Amburgey and Rao, "Organizational ecology," 1274.

44. J. Freeman and M.T. Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," *American Journal of Sociology* 88 (1983), 1116-45.

45. D.R. Wholey and J.W. Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications," Academy of Management Review 11 (1986), 520-22.

46. A.A. Messallam, "The organizational ecology of investment firms in Egypt: Organizational founding," *Organization Studies* 19 (1998), 33.

47. Ibid., 24-25.

76

48. For details, see G.R. Carroll and Y.P. Huo, "Organizational task and institutional environments in ecological perspective: Findings from the local newspaper industry," *American Journal of Sociology* 91 (1986), 838–39; E. Romanelli, "The evolution of organizational forms," *Annual Review of Sociology* 17 (1991), 100; P. Selznick, *Leadership in Administration: A Sociological Interpretation* (Evanston: Row, Peterson, 1957); and A.L. Stinchcombe, "Social structure and organization," in *Handbook of Organizations*, ed. J. G. March (Chicago: Rand McNally, 1965), 142–93.

49. S. Zyglidopoulos, "Initial environmental conditions and technological change," *Journal of Management Studies* 36 (1999), 247. See also W. Boeker, "Strategic change: The effects of founding and history," *Academy of Management Journal* 32 (1989), 489–515; Stinchcombe, "Social structure and organization"; and Wholey and Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications."

50. Hannan, "Rethinking age dependence in organizational mortality," 132.

51. Ibid., 154.

52. Wholey and Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications," 1996.

53. Ibid.

54. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 323-24.

55. Singh and Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 164-65.

56. Hunt and Aldrich, "The second ecology."

57. Messallam, "The organizational ecology of investment firms in Egypt," 29.

58. M. Ruef, "The emergence of organizational forms: A community ecology approach," American Journal of Sociology 106 (2000), 678.

59. S. Kanazawa, "Testing macro-organizational theories in laboratory experiments," Social Science Research 28 (1999), 66–67. Italics in original.

60. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 309.

61. A. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding: Location, dependence and unobserved heterogeneity," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 40 (1995), 116–17. 62. For details, see ibid., 111–44.

63. Ibid., 137.

64. Ibid., 140.

65. T. Noda and D.J. Collis, "The evolution of intraindustry firm heterogeneity: Insights from a process study," Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001), 908-9, 913-15.

66. J. Freeman and W. Boeker, "The ecological analysis of business strategy," *California Management Review* 26 (1984), 73–86. See also Wholey and Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications."

67. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," 1983. See also J. Pfeffer and G.R. Salancik, *The External Control of Organizations* (New York: Harper & Row, 1978); and S. Sisaye, *A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems*, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1977).

68. J.A. Baum and J.V. Singh, "Organizational niches and the dynamics of organizational mortality," *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994), 350. See also, A. Van Witteloostuijn, "Bridging behavioral and economic theories of decline: Organizational inertia, strategic competition, and chronic failure," *Management Science* 44 (1998), 501–19; and W. Weitzel and E. Jonsson, "Decline in organizations: A literature integration and extension," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 34 (1989), 91–109. 69. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," 1118.

70. Ibid., 1119.

71. Singh and Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 169.

72. R.G. Carroll and A. Swaminathan, "Why the microbrewery movement? Organizational dynamics of resource partitioning in the US brewing industry?" *American Journal* of Sociology 106 (2000), 717–34; and Dobrev, Kim, and Hannan, "Dynamics of niche width and resource partitioning," 1301–3.

73. Carroll and Swaminathan, "Why the microbrewery movement?" 720. See also G.R. Carroll, "Concentration and specialization: Dynamics of niche width in populations of organizations," *American Journal of Sociology* 90 (1985), 1262–83.

74. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding," 123. See also Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry"; and Van Witteloostuijn, "Bridging behavioral and economic theories of decline."

75. Boons et al., "Trajectories of greening," 375.

76. Ibid., 376.

77. "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," 1119.

78. Ibid. See also Singh and Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology."

79. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations," 1138-43.

80. Singh and Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology."

81. Freeman and Hannan, "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations."

82. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," 948.

83. Durand, "Firm selection," 402. See also M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, Organizational Ecology (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989).

84. G. Péli and B. Nooteboom, "Market partitioning and the geometry of the resource space," American Journal of Sociology 104 (1999), 1134.

85. Ibid., 1135.

86. For details, see A. Swaminathan, "Resource partitioning and the evolution of specialist organizations: The role of location and identity in the U.S. wine industry," *Academy of Management Journal* 44 (2001), 1169–85.

87. Boons et al., "Trajectories of greening," 356.

88. Ibid., 357.

89. Swaminathan, "Resource partitioning and the evolution of specialist organizations," 1171.

90. Ibid., 1169.

91. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding."

92. Carroll and Swaminathan, "Why the microbrewery movement?" 729-30, 751.

93. Swaminathan, "Resource partitioning and the evolution of specialist organizations," 1172-77.

94. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 320.

95. Baum and Singh, "Organizational niches," 3666. For details, see also G.R. Carroll and M.T. Hannan, "Density dependence in the evolution of populations of newspaper organizations," *American Sociological Review* 54 (1989), 524–41.

96. J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 4 (1982), 21.

97. For further details, refer to L.S. Bigelow, G.R. Carroll, M.L. Seidel, and L. Tsai, "Legitimation, geographical scale, and organizational density: Regional patterns of foundlings of American automobile producers," *Social Science Research* 26 (1991), 377– 98; Carroll and Hannan, "Density dependence"; M.T. Hannan, G.R. Carroll, E.A. Dundon, and J.C. Torres, "Organizational evolution in a multinational context: Entries of automobile manufacturers in Belgium, Britain, France, Germany, and Italy," *American Sociological Review* 60 (1995), 509–28; A. Lomi and E.R. Larsen, "Interacting locally and evolving globally: A computational approach to the dynamics of organizational populations," *Academy of Management Journal* 39 (1996), 1287–1321; and Messallam, "The organizational ecology of investment firms in Egypt."

98. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 308.

99. M. Ruef and W.R. Scott, "A multidimensional model of organizational legitimacy: Hospital survival in changing institutional environments," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998), 880.

100. Ibid., 878.

101. Hunt and Aldrich, "The second ecology," 287-90.

102. J.A. Baum and W.W. Powell, "Cultivating an institutional ecology of organizations: Comment on Hannan, Carroll, Dundon, and Torres," *American Sociological Review* 60 (1995), 529–38; P.J. DiMaggio and W.W. Powell, "The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields," *American Sociological Review* 48 (1983), 147–60; H.R. Greeve, "An ecological theory of spatial evolution: Local density dependence in Tokyo Banking, 1894–1936," *Social Forces* 80 (2002), 847– 79; M. Bloomsbury, "Institutional sources of practice variation: Staffing college and university recycling programs," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 46 (2001), 29–56; and J.W. Meyer and B. Rowen, "Institutionalized Organizations: Formal structures as myth and ceremony," *American Journal of Sociology* 83 (1977), 340–63.

103. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, *Organizational Ecology* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989); and Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry."

104. T. D'Aunno, M, Succi, and J.A. Alexander, "The role of institutional and market forces in divergent organizational change," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45 (2000), 679–703.

105. W.P. Barnett, H.R. Greve, and D.Y. Park, "An evolutionary model of organizational performance," *Strategic Management Journal* 15 (1994), 12–13.

106. Baum et al., "Dominant designs and population dynamics in telecommunications services," 97–135; Bigelow et al., "Legitimation, geographical scale, and organizational density," 377–98; Hannan and Freeman, *Organizational Ecology*; P. Ingram and T. Simons, "State formation, ideological competition, and the ecology of Israeli workers' cooperatives, 1920–1992," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45 (2000), 25–53; and U.H. Staber, "Organizational interdependence and organizational mortality in the cooperative sector: A community ecology perspective," *Human Relations* 45 (1992), 1191–212.

107. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 309.

108. Greeve, "An ecological theory of spatial evolution"; Hannan et al., "Organizational evolution in a multinational context"; and Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding".

109. J. Ranger-Moore, R.S. Breckenridge, and D.L. Jones, "Patterns of growth and sizelocalized competition in the New York state life insurance industry, 1860–1985," *Social Forces* 73 (1995), 1029. Italics in original. See also 1027–9.

78

110. Ibid., 1029-30

111. Ibid., 1031.

112. Ibid., 1040.

113. Carroll and Hannan, "Density dependence," 526.

114. Lomi and Larsen, "Interacting locally and evolving globally," 1287-8;

115. Carroll and Hannan, "Density dependence."

116. Ibid., 529-36.

117. See also G.R. Carroll and J.R. Harrison, "On the historical efficiency of competition between organizational populations" *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994), 720– 49; and G.R. Carroll and Y.P. Huo, "Organizational task and institutional environments in ecological perspective: Findings from the local newspaper industry," *American Journal of Sociology* 91 (1986), 838–73.

118. Baum and Singh, "Organizational niches," 347-54.

119. Sorenson, "The effect of population-level learning on market entry," 308.

120. Bigelow et al., "Legitimation, geographical scale, and organizational density," 386. 121. Ibid., 394.

122. Hannan et al., "Organizational evolution in a multinational context" 513.

123. Ibid., 525.

124. Hannan and Freeman, Organizational Ecology.

125. P. McLaughlin and M. Khawaja, "The organizational dynamics of the U. S. environmental movement: Legitimation, resource mobilization, and political opportunity," *Rural Sociology* 65(2000), 422–39.

126. Lomi, "The population ecology of organizational founding"; see also J.A. Baum and S. J. Mezias, "Competition, institutional linkages, and organizational growth," *Social Science Research* 22 (1993), 131–64–-a study of the Manhattan hotel industry.

127. Lomi and Larsen, "Interacting locally and evolving globally," 1292.

128. "The population ecology of organizational founding," 140.

129. Bigelow et al., "Legitimation, geographical scale, and organizational density."

130. "Theory and research in organizational ecology," 176-77.

131. H.R. Greve and T. Fujiwara-Greve, "Organizational ecology and job mobility," Social Forces 79 (2000), 547-68.

132. H.A. Haveman and L.E. Cohen, "The ecological dynamics of careers: The impact of organizational founding, dissolution, and merger on job mobility," *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994), 104–52.

133. A. de Geus, "The living company," Harvard Business Review (1997), 52.

134. Ibid., 53-54.

135. Ibid., 54-55.

136. Ibid., 55-57.

137. "The population ecology of organizations," 957.

138. Refer to E. Romanelli and M.L. Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice: A quasi-experimental design for comparative-longitudinal research," *Management Science* 32 (1986), 608–21; and N. Siggelkow, "Change in the presence of fit: The rise, the fall, and the renaissance of Liz Claiborne," *Academy of Management Journal* 44 (2001), 838–57.

139. S.J. Wolfgramm, K.B. Boal, and J.G. Hunt, "Organizational adaptation to institutional change: A comparative study of first-order change in prospector and defender banks," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998), 89. 140. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "Structural inertia and organizational change," American Sociological Review 49 (1984), 149-64.

141. D.J. Wong-MingJi and W. R. Millette, "Dealing with the dynamic due of innovation and inertia: The 'in-' theory of organization change," *Organization Development Journal* 20 (2001), 36.

142. Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," 930.

143. Romanelli and Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice," 618.

144. See also S. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997).

145. Romanelli and Tushman, "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice," 620.

146. J.L. Everett, "The ecological paradigm in public relations theory and practice," *Public Relations Review* 19 (1993), 181.

147. K.M. Eisenhardt and D. C. Galunic, "Coevolving: At last, a way to make synergies work," *Harvard Business Review* (2000), 91-101.

148. "The population ecology of organizations," 937.

149. Ibid., 955.

CHAPTER 4

Adaptation and Organizational Change

Organizational adaptation change addresses those external and internal factors, including governmental, technological, and transactional cost factors (discussed in Chapter 1), that affect organizational change, as well as management accounting and control systems in organizations. In general, adaptation change refers to both internal process changes as well as external environmental factors that affect the performance of organizations and their environmental management accounting and reporting systems. Adaptation theories indicate that changes in organizations' policies, strategies, structures, and behaviors are brought by responses to environmental conditions. Chapter 4 presents several adaptation themes—systems approach, cultural change, organizational learning, and organizational development—that enable organizations to respond to environmental changes. Adaptation enables organizations to handle environmental changes by choosing those adaptation strategies that can sustain or improve their performance over time. It is pursued when the degree of external environmental pressures on organizations to change are lower or minimal.

Adaptation change is not likely to alter existing performance, but it is pursued to sustain or maintain current performance levels. It ensures that there is a fit between the organization form and the environment. It is expected that those organizations that are fit or suited for the environment have better chances of succeeding and being responsive to environmental changes. Therefore, adaptation as strategy of organizational change is appropriate when the environmental changes are favorable to the organizations' structures, policies, activities, and performance objectives.

THE ROLE OF EXTERNAL FACTORS IN ORGANIZATIONAL ADAPTATION PROCESSES

The adaptation framework pays particular attention to the effect of external environmental factors and market conditions on organizational change and development. Barnett and Carroll presented the adaptive change approach as more suited as an organizational change and development approach to study high growth and emerging companies.¹ During the last 15 years, there has been tremendous growth in public accounting organizations through mergers and acquisitions. They have also extended their service beyond the traditional accounting function of tax and auditing into management consulting and information technology. Although the accounting organizations have not changed their core businesses of tax and auditing, they have experienced growth in related service areas. It is rather evident that they have adopted an adaptive strategy that emphasizes organizational growth-but an incremental growth that focuses on meeting current environmental changes without changing the main operating activities of the organizations. In other words, adaptive change strategy ensures that the organizations' operating performance fits and can handle these environmental changes.

Barnett and Carroll maintain that adaptive organizational change process "assumes that change in the world of organizations occurs mainly through the adaptive responses of existing individual organizations to prior changes in technology, environment or whatever."² The adaptation approach primarily focuses on the analysis of the external environment and how it affects organizational change strategy and environmental accounting and reporting systems. Since the 1970s, external environmental factors, particularly governmental regulatory agencies, have played active roles in shaping organizational adaptation change strategies, including environmental resources management programs and accounting reporting systems.

The adaptation change approach is being used to selectively pursue organizational change and development strategies that facilitate continuous growth. When organizations selectively replace old forms, new forms represent the method by which environmental changes take place among populations of organizations. In the process, environmental changes, both internal and external, contribute to the development of new organizational policies and procedures. Substantial shifts in strategies and policies require changes in management accounting and reporting systems consistent with organizational change and development to sustain organizational competition and functional adaptation of accounting systems. The organizational adaptation change approach considers organizations as systems that are both adaptive and functional, but they also incorporate and manage transaction costs associated with technology, production, and innovation that can occur as a result of organizations' interaction with their external constituencies, including customers, shareholders, and employees as well as competitors.

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

Organizations, as open systems, have subsystems that are interdependent with one another and that are involved in managing the environmental transaction costs associated with technology, production, distribution, and delivery of products and services. The management of environmental and ecological programs and accounting systems can become instrumental in explaining the relationship between the functional approach to organizational change and the effect environmental factors, including technology and competition, have on the effectiveness in sustaining or improving organizational performance. The natural selection approach indicates that a population or an organization response for adaptation to environmental change depends on the magnitude of structural inertia in organizations.

An analogy of the selection, adaptation, and fitness trade-off in plants and other species can be made to organizations. Agarwal used selection experiments to study the effect of selection on adaptation and performance. It is apparent that "selection experiments are a powerful tool to investigate genetic trade-offs and the potential for adaptation. By selecting on particular traits, Agarwal was able to observe associations that might otherwise be difficult to detect using quantitative genetic techniques. The findings from selection experiments reveal that "local adaptation to host plants may be genetically correlated with reduced performance on other hosts and with altered host-plant preference. Adaptation to particular environments is often associated with responses in other phenotypic traits. If performance and preferences are positively associated and vary quantitatively on alternate hosts, local disruptive selection may be able to maintain genetic variation in populations of herbivores. Trade-offs and adaptation to host plants may often be subtle, and tradeoffs may be difficult to detect by direct measurements, especially under apparently benign conditions."³ The study showed that selection is a natural process that involves a trade-off between adaptation and fitness, and that adaptation to an environment contributes to an initial decrease in performance that improves over time, as the process of fitness with the environment improves gradually.

NATURAL SELECTION PROCESS, INERTIA, AND CHANGE ORIENTATIONS

Natural selection theory is a dynamic model that examines the continuous interactions of organizations with their environment. "The selection logic can explain variation in organizational characteristics that do not themselves have survival implications."⁴ According to selection, a system of interconnected features such as organizational structures, capabilities, and resources also has an effect on a company's decision to adapt to its environment. In other words, organizational inertia becomes significant when a firm is confronted with environmental change.⁵

Environmental change affects organizational responses and fitness to handle environmental changes. Environmental dynamism describes the rate of environmental change and the degree of instability of factors within a given environment. When the environmental change is dynamic, managers face too much uncertainty that may present limited sets of loosely developed alternatives. In these situations, they have a few guidelines and evaluation techniques they can use to select the best alternatives.

Siggelkow described four different cases to demonstrate that environmental change can affect both external and internal fit: no change—the environmental change has no relevance to the firm, detrimental fit—destroying change—if both the external and internal fit are affected, benign destroying change—internal fit has been compromised by the environmental change, and fit—conserving change—external fit is affected.⁶

When the natural selection process is in operation, it can identify those organizational populations whose demographics can be analyzed, and its success can be determined on the basis of organizational characteristics and capability levels of organizational selection. Although selection pressure is generally organizationally specific, an organization can reduce the pressure on itself while increasing the selection pressure on its rivals. "Selection pressure can be considered to be firm specific, rather than an immutable, blind, exogenous dimension." The managers of firms have to craft and execute their strategies to escape from or lessen the effect of the selection pressure and enhance the selection in other markets.⁷

Accordingly, structural inertia, population species definition, and environmental selection form the basis of population ecology perspective on organizations. First, the inertial pressures have great influences on organizational structures. These inertial pressures might arise both from structural agreements and from environmental constraints. It is known that when the inertial pressure becomes stronger, this lowers the organization's adaptive flexibility. Second, the population ecology model emphasizes organizational populations within a species as an important unit of analysis. Finally, it is assumed in the population ecology model that the environment determines the distribution and form of organizations through selection.⁸ These three major issues become interdependent and vital to the organizational evolution models. Accordingly, "organizational ecology sees organizational structures evolving as a function of environmental selection. When environmental conditions change, new organizations or new forms of organizations emerge, and adapted organizations die."⁹

Selection within populations of organizations in modern societies favors organizations whose structures have high inertia. Because structural inertia increases monotonically with age, organizational death rates decrease with age. Attempts at reorganization of current structure results in increase death rates. Complexity increases the risk of death caused by reorganization.¹⁰ The presence of organizational inertia, therefore, accounts for the orientation of an organization to adapt to environmental changes.

INERTIA AND DECLINE EFFECTS ON ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

Inertia results in organizational decline. Rosenblatt, Rogers, and Nord listed characteristics of organizational decline as including rigidity in the structuring of activities because of centralization and bureaucratization; organizational politics arising as a result of conflict of interest, scarcity of resources, and uncertainty; lack of innovation and unwillingness to take risks; and decreased morale among employees.¹¹ When there is a decline, organizations can manage decline by being flexible to change their mission-priorities, goals, and structure and by realigning their staff and resources. Because decline results in failure, it can be avoided only through changes in performance.

It is widely accepted that change is beneficial for those organizations that are experiencing decline or as considered as low-performing organizations, because change enables them to move to the center of the market. However, the effect of change on performance depends on the size and age of the organization. It is likely that inertia deters change in performance in the high-performing, large, successful organizations. In the short run, as the inertia theory indicates, change contributes to decline of performance in these organizations, particularly if they are old and mature. In general, inertia attributed to organizational change is mostly related to changes in the organizational core—marketing strategy and production technology, among others—which affects relations with the organization's stakeholders (customers, shareholders, or employees). These changes require adjustments in related parts of the organization, which creates uncertainties and ambiguities that constrain change.¹²

Although change temporarily disrupts the organization's tasks, routines, and relationships with the environment, decline in performance eventually improves once the organization reestablishes and reinforces existing or new relationships with those actors and stakeholders of the organization's environment. Compared to small organizations, large organizations have enough resources to circumvent failure from inertia arising from low performance resulting from change. The liability of change is likely to decrease over time as these organizations introduce new policies to overcome the shortcomings of prior changes.

Greeve substantiated the effect of change on performance on the U.S. radio industry from 1984 to 1992. Radio stations choose their market and position themselves to compete by providing music and related programs that appeal to their targeted audience groups. The radio market is segmented by demographic groups—age, sex, income, and occupation—and the delivery of music and other programs is targeted accordingly. Whenever changes are introduced in radio programming, they involve format changes to retain current and attract new listeners. These format changes are expensive because they require "staff changes, market surveys, or help from format consultants." These format changes may affect relations with advertisers who may "withdraw advertising to renegotiate rates" because of an expectation of a decline in listeners after change has been instituted. Disagreements over the formats of change have the potential to strain relations with the advertisers, customers, and external stakeholders. In competitive market situations, organizations tend to position themselves in markets that gave them "high and reliable performance" by leaving the uncertain markets.¹³ When organizations face uncertain markets, they revise or change their policies or positions consistent with the market demands.

ORGANIZATIONAL AGE AND SIZE INFLUENCES ON GROWTH AND DECLINE

The failure rates of organizations tend to decline monotonically as a function of size. Compared to small organizations, large organizations have relatively extensive resources, favorable tax laws, and government regulatory agencies and can exert influence over environmental fluctuations, especially competition, either by "monopolizing key environmental resources or by exerting control over their institutional environment."¹⁴

When it comes into aging, "organizations experience a monotonic liability of aging that is reflected in a failure rate that increases at a decreasing rate with age."¹⁵ There is a liability of smallness where young organizations are more likely to experience high failure rates compared to old organizations. Nevertheless, as organizations go through a learning experience, the failure rates decline monotonically with their age. Whereas age reduces failure rate, older organizations do relatively well in stable environments, and their failure rates are low. In dynamic and volatile environments, failure rates for older organizations are higher and lower for younger organizations. Because inertia forces accumulate with age, they result in obsolescence, which during environmental turbulence, creates panics and uncertainty, resulting in increased mortality or failure rates among older organizations.

In addition to the failure rates, organizational size has an effect on the growth rates. Growth rates are observed to decline as a function of size, supporting the idea that the accrual of organizational inertia reduces the ability of organizations to capitalize on growth opportunities.¹⁷ Whereas growing organizations tend to be less adaptable to changing environment conditions, increased organizational inertia makes these organizations more accountable and reliable, resulting in enhanced performance. In general, environmental periods characterized by government regulatory periods, economic depression or downturn, or growth periods increase or decrease organizational death rates.

However, organizations of similar size engage in fierce competition with each other rather than with organizations of greatly different sizes. The reason is that organizations of different sizes require different types of resources, which could result in size-localized competition. The Ranger-Moore, Breckenridge, and Jones study of the New York life insurance industry revealed that the relationships among size, growth, and competition lead to three results: organizational growth rates decreased as organizational size increased, growth rates decreased as size-localized competition increased, and the effects of density or size-localized competition will be more highly statistically significant when the measure of size-localized competition is adjusted for density.¹⁸

Organizational Life Cycles: Staged Theory of Growth

The process of organizational birth, growth, maturity, decline, and mortality is based on the theory of organizational life cycles and failures. Wholey and Brittain argued that environment influences the processes of organizational life cycles and indicated that environmental conditions and slack resources contribute to organizational growth.¹⁹ Organizations become generalist or specialist depending on environmental conditions: stable or volatile. When environmental conditions are stable, organizations become specialists. Volatile environmental conditions increase uncertainty, and organizations become generalists to diversify the risks associated with uncertainty.

Wolf suggested that there are cognized models that represent the conception and understandings of environment by the people who live, act, and interact with the environment. For these people, the environment guides their actions, beliefs, cultures, and rituals. The environment molds the changes, compositions, and relationships among them and their entities.²⁰ These cognized models also explain the actions and strategies organizations adopt to manage their environment. They are expected to vary depending on the condition of the environment: dynamic or stable and resource availability: slack or scarcity. When resource conditions are slack, environmental conditions are favorable to support growth. In contrast, when organizational resources are scarce, organizations adopt retrenchment strategies that enhance the organization's goal for survival and adaptability to environmental changes.

The theory of organizational life cycles thus uses a biological analogy to social systems to explain that life cycle growth is associated with age and that organizations pursue strategies of growth, survival, or death to manage their external environment and competitors. Freeman referred to the life cycle process as "patterns over time through which new organizations come into being, change, and disappear."²¹

Whetten applied the life cycle theory to examining the sequential growth of organizations. The growth stage involved four methods in which organizations can grow. The first method is growth in organizations' existing domains, where organizations expand their current activities that they have done well. The second method is through diversification into new domains, where organizations spread out their risks across several product lines. The third is through technological innovation or development. The fourth method is growth through improved managerial techniques that involve improved efficiency of management administrative processes and turn-around strategies.²²

Theories of external or environmental control of organizations indicate that there are positive and negative consequences associated with organizational growth. Growth indicates that an organization has been able to acquire the necessary resources that contribute to increased size. In general, organizational growth occurs when management uses resources, goals, priorities, and commitments to satisfy customer needs for products or services. When growth results in increased size, organizations have advantages over economies of scale because of efficient use of resources, become competitive, and if they diversify, are able to spread their risk across several industries, product lines, or services. Growth enables organizations to reduce their dependence on the environment and minimize external influence on the organization's activities.²³

In contrast, there are also dysfunctional consequences of growth that are associated with complexity, rigidity, inefficiency, and inaccessibility. As organizations increase in size, profitability and innovation usually diminish with increased size. The organizational learning process focuses more on managing growth through formal management control systems, resulting in increased communication and coordination activities; bureaucratization of rules and procedures; management hierarchy of offices and positions; and specialization of jobs, all contributing to monotony, repetitiveness, and less autonomy, as well as mechanization of work and mass production and job alienation.²⁴

Incremental and Transformational Organizational Growth Strategies

Organizational growth may occur through incremental or transformational change strategies. Incremental growth involves gradual change, whereas transformational growth is accompanied by revolutionary change. An incremental change involves minor modifications or adjustments in an organization's strategy, policy, or structure. Incremental changes are common in organizations' production activities when innovations are undertaken to improve current activities to reduce costs and increase efficiency of production.

In contrast, transformation involves fundamental changes in strategy (where there is an exit or entry strategy in an industry), structure (reorganization to align functions, change management titles and managers), and power distributions (through turnover) in an organization. Real fundamental transformation requires revolutionary changes that require altering or changing "systems, strategies through short, discontinuous bursts of change over most or all domains of organizational activity."²⁵ In a true transformational change, there is a punctuated equilibrium, where there is a relative frequency that is high enough to sufficiently affect a change in form or substance for a true overall change in the system to occur.²⁶

Organizational learning involves a gradual or transformational change strategy. When organizational change focuses on adaptation processes of managing growth, it involves incremental-first order change learning. When organizational change is accompanied by organizational response to natural selection process of new forms, it results in transformational-second order change learning. Incremental change is a mechanistic approach that focuses on formalization, specialization and efficiency in operations. Transformational change is broader and addresses organic and dynamic learning that is entrepreneurial in orientation and focuses on new ways to do things, search for new market opportunities and product innovations, or seek for alternative responses to environmental changes.²⁷

Those organizations not implementing radical changes the first time are likely to pursue radical transformations of strategic change following a trial-and-error period of incremental changes. These radical reorientations have been undertaken primarily for two major reasons: first because of sustained low performance, and second because of the need to address major technological, social, and environmental changes. It is widely accepted that in larger organizations, greater structural complexity and interdependence require an emphasis on incremental as opposed to transformational changes. Political, technological, and economic conditions of external environment have also greatly affected the evolution of organizations and their responses to environmental changes.²⁸

Organizational responses to growth, maturity, or decline and environmental changes—stable or dynamic—tend to vary accordingly by age, size, and history. Fox-Wolfgramm, Boal, and Hunt suggested that organizations have biographies that describe their responses or reactions to change. These biographies are unique and distinct to organizations and describe their identities that reflect their prior successes and are used to reinforce their identities during periods of crisis.²⁹ Organizational identity and envisioned image help sustain organizational change, provide a common ideology to organization members, and reinforce common strategic orientation among members. These orientations reflect those ideas, ideologies, values, and beliefs that the organization does or aspires to do. Although an organizational biography reinforces image and identity, it does not necessarily imply that those images and identity are in conformity with institutional environmental changes, and in some cases, those identities may inhibit or deter change. However, those biographies that are conducive to change become positive forces that enhance institutionalization and organizational visibility.

Although growth and change, whether incremental or transformational, increase organizational size, legitimacy, and institutionalization, thereby contributing to high visibility, it also brings increased attention and regulation from governmental agencies. These regulations shape organizational policies and strategies to meet regulatory requirements. Accordingly, regulatory requirements arising from national and state regulations lead to conformity and inertia. That is, legislation enacted to promote and limit competition, norms and values, and cognitive models of divergent change will have direct effects on organizational change. For example, D'Aunno, Succi, and Alexander found that "organizations that meet regulatory requirements in their fields are less likely to make divergent changes," whereas "organizations that are members of multidivisional firms are more likely to make divergent changes."³⁰ In large, complex organizations with multidivisionalized structures, performance of divisions or branches will decline after a core organizational change takes place, when compared to small and unitary organizations.³¹

Irrespective of size, organizational performance can vary as a result of differences in strategic positions and competitive capabilities. Although organizational learning influences organizational performance, the more organizations face competition in the marketplace, the more likely they are to perform better. However, competition minimizes resource availability and increases organizational dissolution through mergers and acquisitions. For example, according to Barnett, Greve, and Park, "having many competitors increases the chances that an organization will not obtain the resources it needs, and so will fail. On the other hand, having many competitors increases the number of potential acquirers in the population, making an organization more likely to disappear through merger or acquisition when its rivals are more numerous."32 Their study of all retail banks operated in Illinois from 1987 to 1993 revealed that competition is a significant issue driving evolution. Organizational evolution and change are caused and then shaped by the strategies and structures of organizations, which enable them to be adaptive to survive, regardless of whether or not they learned from their experiences in the market.

ORGANIZATIONAL ADAPTATION

Adaptation has thus become one of the mechanisms organizations use to shape their context and activities to respond to environmental changes. Organizational context refers to structure, tasks, institutional environment, and strategy.³³

Structure

Organizational structures include both formal and informal (less formal) structures. Weber described formal structure characteristics as including specialization, formalization, hierarchy, decentralization, and management control.³⁴ Accounting control systems constitute part of the formal structures in organizations. Informal structures, in contrast, include norms and culture, as well as leadership behavior and attributes. Organizational structures shape technological change, innovative activities, management decisions and employee behaviors. Organizational structures influence an organization's ability to respond or adapt to environmental conditions or changes.

As divisionalized organizations increase in size, their structures become complex, resulting in more management hierarchy and bureaucratization of rules and procedures to handle their increased activities. Bureaucratization eventually becomes a barrier for organizational learning. As a result of bureaucratization, organizations have tendencies to create rules when they face new problems. However, bureaucratic rules enable organizations to respond to problems as far as the current rules permit. Bureaucratization creates obstacles for organizations to react in creative manners and instead allows organizations to follow programmed procedures to handle problems. The ecological perspective indicates five elements that come into play when addressing bureaucratic rule births. These are ecological units—formal organization rules; vital events—a rule is born, revised, and suspended; resources—on which rule populations feed; population boundaries—joint dependence on the same resources; and density—the number of rules in a given organizational rule population at a given time.³⁵

The rate of rule birth decreases with rule density as the organization grows bigger over time. As organizational size increases, the number of organizational rules will also grow, contributing to rule density. This positive density eventually leads to absorption and sorting mechanisms of rules, resulting in negative density. Organizational inertia and the temporal pattern of encoding problems in rules become factors that inhibit organizational learning. At the same time, the decline in rates of rule birth may be accompanied by suspension of rules if environmental turbulence necessitates rules change.³⁶

Schulz suggested that density of rules in accounting is significant, and in most cases, as accounting rules are related to the core of the organization, they are shielded from external turbulence. Accordingly, this "strong density effect of accounting rules can be seen to be a result of low turbulence. Accounting rules are located close to the core of the administrative activities and presumably face a comparatively low level of environmental turbulence (their level of rule production is comparatively low: an average of .7 rules per year.)"³⁷ This implies that accounting rules are less subject to structural changes and have very low birth rates. Once accounting rules are established (e.g., accounting rules related to procurement), they tend to be bureaucratized, organizational learning declines, and the rules are less likely to change. That is, when there is a rule density, they tend to be absorbed and become persistent in the existing structure. In other words, the rules absorb problems by providing solutions to current and anticipated problems. Absorption and sorting mechanisms contribute to decline in rule birth rates.

Schulz elaborated that the negative density effect of accounting to change exists because accounting involves a formal set of technical administrative rules that is relatively closed compared to ambiguous rules in other administrative areas. When there are closed systems characterized by technical and formal administrative rules like accounting, "organizational learning and organizational rule production reach organizational limits." Whereas in "informal organizations rules such as norms, beliefs, traits, cultures, and practices," rule proliferation is more open and "less inhibited, displaying no density dependence or even positive dependence."³⁸ Compared to formal rules, cultures can easily adapt and change as circumstances warrant.

Bureaucratization is more prevalent in production and manufacturing organizations. In a study of craft-administered construction organizations that are referred to as specialist organizations, Hannan and Freeman found that these organizations did not fit the traditional bureaucratized manufacturing model of organizations. Rather, they were able to adapt to changes in demand of construction by "varying the mix of skills represented in their work force." These bureaucratically administered construction organizations were more specialized, and as a result, they were efficient only when demand was high and very inefficient when it was low.³⁹ This assumes that organizational form becomes relevant when processing information and rules related to organization activities and functions and transforming these rules into actions/responses.

Accordingly, mobility in information processing and rule enforcement becomes an indicator of fitness of organization form to adaptation processes of environmental changes. This suggests that when bureaucratized structures are flexible, the organization can be responsive to changes with minimal rule changes. If they are inflexible, the changes required are beyond structural changes and may include other aspects of the organization's contexts, including the task and institutional environments.

Tasks

92

The task environment includes customers, employees, unions, suppliers, and competitors, as well as regulatory agencies, including governmental organizations that affect the goal setting and attainment of organizational performance. Tasks incorporate the rules, beliefs, and customs that govern the organizations' action and tend to affect the dominance of the organization. Organizational tasks are described as those factors that are directly related to the work activities of the organization.

Institutional environment refers to the external factors that indirectly affect an organization's work activities through societal norms, resources, and constraints. Carroll and Huo's study of the local newspaper industry revealed that although institutional environmental variables have strong effects on the founding and failure rates of organizations, they have weak effects on performance. However, task environmental variables are more likely to affect performance and dominance of individual organizations.⁴⁰

Whenever there are increases in organizational tasks, they contribute to more job creation and better opportunities for intraorganizational mobility. Studies of job mobility have directly related the creation and destruction of jobs to organizational founding rates, places where they are founded, and organizational failure rates,⁴¹ as well as the relational position of the first incumbent who occupied the position.⁴² Organizational founding is supported by the study to increase the rate of intraorganizational mobility. In addition, organizational founding is found to increase the rate of interorganizational mobility.

Organizational dissolution is found to decrease the rate of intra- and interorganizational mobility. Mergers and acquisitions are examples of organizational dissolution that have negative effects on job mobility. They tend to decrease the rate of intraorganizational mobility because of increased rate of exit from the industry.⁴³ Although increases in organizational founding and growth positively affect tasks, structures, and job mobility, increases in dissolution through mergers and acquisitions negatively affect tasks and job mobility.

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

When increases in founding and growth are accompanied by proliferation of tasks and rules in organizations, task complexity could become counterproductive to increased performance and management change and adaptation strategies. Changes in management policies and strategies become necessary to bring new orientation that would enable the organization to modify its task and job structures to undertake a different course of action. Strategic choice by management makes it possible to develop alternatives suited for adaptive change.⁴⁴

ADAPTIVE CHANGE STRATEGIES

The adaptive change strategy considers the effect external environmental factors—competitive forces, market conditions, technological changes, governmental regulatory agencies, consumers, and owners and other stakeholders—have on organizational change and development. In adaptive change, the goal is in sustaining or improving current performance within the range of industry standards. Adaptation involves strategic and structural changes. The question thus centers on maintaining the appropriate mix of strategic and organizational structural characteristics associated with high or improved performance.

There are several perspectives on adaptive change strategies, ranging from strategic management to organizational learning. They address the need for organizations to adapt to environmental changes. They provide contrasting views to the organizational ecology inertia view of strategy. Although organizational learning focuses either on the inventions of new techniques or the improvement of existing knowledge to improve performance, strategic change addresses the choice of either adaptation or selection as an ecological and evolutionary change strategy for organizational growth and development.

ORGANIZATIONAL LEARNING

Schulz gave an overview of the organizational learning and change processes in terms of the "number of processes that create new knowledge or modify existing knowledge."⁴⁵ The learning process affects how knowledge is gathered or obtained (codified), analyzed (explored), and communicated (selectively implemented or executed or put into action). Schulz described the organizational learning process as affecting the knowledge information gathering/codification and exploration (production) as well as the distribution (dissemination) processes. The learning process (input) that subunits experience influences the process (outflows) by which the knowledge is disseminated to peers and supervising units.⁴⁶

The knowledge production and distribution process of organizational learning is an evolutionary process in which learning evolves over time to maintain or change systems or make them adaptive to the requirements of the environment. The evolutionary perspective notes that there are internal and external constraints that give rise to organizational learning. Barnett and Hansen related the internal constraints to the organization's history and the lessons learned from past failures or accomplishments. These internal constraints are reflected in the organization's internal structures related to strategy, policies, employees, and organizational culture including norms, shared values, and behaviors. They mitigate the external constraints to the competition or the organization's rival firms. They suggested that an organization's competition changes when its co-hort of rivals that share the same strategy interaction changes. The organization is then "confronted with new rivals that do not share the organization's co-evolutionary history."⁴⁷ The new rivals bring new constraints and change the dynamics of competition. Competition thus becomes a cause for an organizational evolutionary change allowing for learning to operate.

Accordingly, organizational learning involves an adaptation process by which an organization uses its knowledge and history to adapt to the changes in the external environment. When an organization faces a shortfall in performance, it searches for changes and triggers the need for organizational learning. In general, organizations adopt changes or learning when the benefits outweigh the costs. The evolutionary process of learning deals with the ecological change and adaptation of structures and organizational, sociocultural, and administrative control systems in response to environmental changes. It is generally accepted that evolutionary change occurs in increments where "systems take a series of small steps to maintain themselves, and they gradually change."⁴⁸ That is, organizational structures evolve or change incrementally when faced with new and unpredictable environments. Managers usually respond to environmental threats and opportunities gradually and incrementally as strategies and structures evolve to handle them.⁴⁹

The competitive environment and the age of an organization influence the learning process. Age accounts for development of organizations over time. It reflects experience and affects both the learning and competition of the organization. Although both age and competitive experience contribute to lower morality rates or organizational failure, they also result in intense competition. When organizations face intensified competition with experienced rivals, they are more likely to fail than to survive. Sometimes rival firms may be eliminated through mergers and acquisitions for learning to occur across organizations.⁵⁰ At the same time, they can increase their chances of survival by learning from the experiences of their rivals.

Over time, as organizations evolve, they retain what they learned from their experiences in rules and regulations. As new rules develop to codify organizational learning experiences, the proliferation of rules leads to bureaucratization. Schulz suggested that bureaucratization is "an outcome of organizational learning" in which organizations develop new rules to address "new problems that do not seem to be covered by existing rules and when these problems are fairly recurrent, consequential or salient."⁵¹ As organizations develop more rules, it leads to bureaucratization and the breeding of more rules, which could minimize new learning experiences. To this effect, Schulz elaborated the obstacles created

by rule production on organizational learning. "As lessons from past experiences get encoded in rules or other systems of automated responses, new experiences become scarce, and learning through further codification of experiences declines. Making rules and routines help organizations respond to problems in a programmed and efficient way, but, at the same time, rules create a dangerous sense of familiarity with arriving problems that reduces the likelihood that new problems will be seen as opportunities to draw new lessons."⁵²

Schulz suggested that absorption and sorting mechanisms can contribute to decline in new rule making, or birthrate of rules, particularly when organizational problems have "thematic relatedness" or require "joint dependence on the same resources" as often is the case with "accounting problems or procurement problems." Under these circumstances, organizations can develop a more generic common rule than when the contents are presumed to be different. Moreover, Schulz recommended a radical measure that will require a "large-scale abolishment of old rule populations." Such radical measures would "allow organizations to eliminate obsolete historical imprints on old rule systems and help to infuse new impulses into the system." The recommendation is for a "development of a new rule making body" that would undertake a "large scale intervention" on abolishing old rules and replacing them with new ones.⁵³ It can be inferred that Schulz's radical measures are consistent with reengineering approaches of organizational and administrative changes.⁵⁴

When an organization introduces a change, the effect of that change will be affected by the learning strategy the organization adopts. This choice will influence the magnitude of the organization's change: gradual or radical. When process change is supported by organizational learning, it facilitates both gradual and radical changes. Stata viewed organizational learning as a competitive advantage for organizations to be able to respond quickly to changes in their institutional environments. "Organizational learning entails new insights and modified behavior. [It] occurs through shared insights, knowledge, and mental models."⁵⁵ In other words, organizations cannot effectively utilize a change program without a well-developed learning strategy to respond to the changes.⁵⁶

Organizational learning has a two-stage process that involves either a gradualincremental or a radical-transformational change process. A similar approach has also been provided by Argyris and Schon⁵⁷ and Argyris,⁵⁸ termed singleloop and double-loop learning.⁵⁹ Whereas single-loop learning is comparable to gradual-incremental learning, double-loop learning has similar approaches to radical-transformational learning.

Gradual-Incremental Learning

When learning occurs in small step increments over a period of time, it is usually referred as gradual learning. The learning process leads to a gradual accumulation of skills, techniques, and knowledge over time that has the potential to contribute to a mastery of knowledge in those areas. Most often, there is a trial and error sequential process operation, and if knowledge is acquired over time, it could lead to mastery of skills. The action learning expertise acquired through actual or real problem-solving activities could lead to self-confidence, less alienation, growth, and the achievement of organizational goals. Organizational learning requires joint effort from all members of the organization, and that team (not individual) effort becomes critical in the dissemination of learning and change throughout the organization.⁶⁰ Most technological changes involving the innovation or adoption of new tools or better ways of using existing technologies require individual as well as team collaboration to realize organizational learning objectives and minimize the unintended consequences of learning.

Using Argyris⁶¹ and Argyris and Schon⁶² analogy, gradual–incremental learning is single-loop learning. The objective of single-loop learning is to find new ways and methods to speed up organizational learning and improvement. Although some organizations learn technological innovation through trial and error, other organizations adopt and imitate only successful innovations. The economic rationale for organizational learning in the adoption decision is that innovation "will increase a firm's present value above the pre-innovation level."⁶³ Accordingly, innovation will contribute to incremental change and single loop learning.

Radical-Transformational Learning

When organizational learning involves radical learning, it indicates that the organization has completely overhauled the existing procedures, rules, and modes or operating activities with new and fundamentally different methods of conducting business. There is a large-scale replacement of existing procedures and guidelines with completely new and significantly different methods of operations. Radical change involves organizational transformation of existing mission, strategy, policies, culture, leadership, and structural arrangements. The change requires employees to adopt new behaviors and approaches to organizational work environment.

Radical-transformational learning parallels Argyris and Schon⁶⁴ classification of double-loop learning. Double-loop learning occurs when an organization is able to "detect and correct errors in the operating norms" and activities of the organization.⁶⁵ Double-loop learning allows an organization to institute new norms and procedures to transform organizational activities. It is a second-order learning that leads to reorientation,⁶⁶ discontinuous change, and development of new paradigms to do things differently than in the past.

On the basis of the incremental–gradual (single-loop) and radical–transformational (double-loop) learning strategies, it can be inferred that learning is an ecological and evolutionary change strategy that primarily occurs in the form of adaptation. Ecologically, inertia creates the need for learning to have a better fit between the organization and the environment. Inertia is an evolutionary process that occurs

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

over time and presents an ecological dilemma to an organization. Inertia, which has been approached as an adaptive organizational change strategy, is viewed within the ecological framework of strategy and is presented in the next section of this chapter.

THE ORGANIZATIONAL ECOLOGY INERTIAL VIEW OF STRATEGY

Freeman and Boeker⁶⁷ and Hannan and Freeman⁶⁸ provided the underlying framework for the organizational ecology view of strategy. The main thrust of the ecological view of strategy is that organizations are inert and have stable routines and cultural practices that constrain them to adapt to environmental changes. Accordingly, organizations resist change and have vested political interests to preserve rather than to radically change their current strategies.⁶⁹

The ecological analysis of strategy is based on the premise that populations of organizations have some organizational forms in common. These forms include structure, strategies, organizational characteristics, market, or technological production techniques. Accordingly, organizational forms provide a set of stable routines, procedures, values, and norms for accomplishing organizational objectives. These routines constitute repetitive organizational actions that can serve as a basis of competitive advantages and differentiate organizations. Freemen and Boeker argued that because of the existence of "stable routines or practices," organizations display inertia, where "their strategic and structural features change at relatively slow rates." At the same time, the ecological framework recognizes that managers and strategies do matter and that strategies are modified. However, "such changes occur as relatively abrupt modifications in the organization's mode of operative."⁷⁰

These changes are abrupt and not systematic, even though changes in the same aspects of the structure involve changes in others. In most cases, changes are resisted because of the tendency to follow the same routines or procedures to conduct organizational activities. This is the case in large and successful organizations that are preoccupied by managing problems related to the environment instead of changing them. Because these organizations have a niche and possess resources that they can handle successfully, they tend to become inert and are less likely to change their strategies. Freeman and Boeker have proposed that strategies are more likely to change when there is population density and organizations are not able to expand their resource bases or develop efficient methods to utilize existing resources.⁷¹ When these conditions intensify, new organizations develop, and competition among them results in the emergence of new strategies different from the previous strategies.

Barnett and Burgelman elaborated that the evolutionary perspective of strategy requires a dynamic model that examines "which paths organizations will grow, change their performances, or experience strategic events such as birth, restructuring, product innovation, merger, technological change, or failure." In addition the framework examines "how *selection* processes affect, and are affected by the pace and path of strategic change."⁷² These types of strategic questions have generated ecological research largely on founding and failure.

Industrial organization researches on strategy have used the evolutionary model of economics to analyze the long-run strategic choice behaviors of managers. Robles used an experimental setting to monitor the adaptive adjustment behavior of managers when faced with making choices among several alternative game situations. The "experimental evidence suggests that the random element of strategy choice declines with repetition. As agents repeat a game, they should become more certain of their environment and their productions of opponent's play, and hence less likely to experiment or make mistakes."⁷³ It can be inferred that strategy choice declines with repetitive actions because managers over time become aware of the environmental constraints that limit the choice of making decisions aggressively that could become risky and restrictive.

STRATEGIC ADAPTATION TO CHANGE

According to Freemen and Boeker, "the strategy construct encompasses two concepts: choice and the adaptation of firm to environment."⁷⁴ Child provided an extended review of the strategic choice literature. He argued that strategic choice is a political process that puts emphasis on power holders within organizations to decide the course of strategic actions including the design and structuring of organizations as well as the setting of standards of performance to be accomplished. Whole management action is a political process, managers are accountable for their actions. Although managers choose their actions based on information and their built-in preferences, there are limits to choice as a result of cognitive limitations. It is this concept of accountability that contributes to functional organizations' performance.⁷⁵

Strategic Adaptation Approaches to Organizational Change

Strategic adaptation emphasizes the role that managers can play in monitoring environmental changes and developing or modifying organizational strategies to adapt to these changes. Managerial choice of strategies depend whether the organization is experiencing poor or high performance. When organizations face poor performance, it is accompanied by strategic and organizational changes. Organizational changes involved realigning organization functions and structures as well as changing leaders and executives to overcome political resistances to change. Organizational success, in contrast, is likely to contribute to inertia and less strategic change. This is particularly the case in organizations with long organizational tenure of management that exhibits strong social cohesion, understanding, and commitment to current organization policies and procedures and resists changes that many alter current modes of operations. There is a tendency for these organizations to pay less attention to external environmental threats or opportunities. External environmental factors act as sources of organization inertia, as organizations have limited abilities to change their current operating activities.⁷⁶ Because inertia leads to resistance to change and eventually to lower performance, strategic changes may be necessary to bring improved performance unless the organization faces internal organizational structural processes that interfere with these strategic changes.

Molinsky argued that internal organizational processes could create obstacles to strategic change initiatives that are promising. The changes can become watered down or too ineffective to be implemented. Sometimes, when agents persist in disseminating their ideas over enthusiastically, their ideas become rhetoric, which in turn is often met with skepticism. The rhetoric will likely become so destructive that the agents or sponsors end up in the process of strengthening the existing leadership or status quo. When there is too much "catering to the wishes of current leadership of the organization," it could undermine the change process and has the undesirable effect of strengthening the existing status quo.⁷⁷ The three paradoxes of organizational change—management, leadership, and rhetoric—help to perpetuate and fuel conflicts, tensions, and antagonisms to strengthen the status quo.⁷⁸ In other words, change initiatives could be used by management to accumulate more power and create loyalty among subordinates.

Molinsky noted that the location of the change effort or the person who sponsors the change becomes critical for the realization of the change initiative. He argued that if a change is "exclusively associated with a particular division or project," the change is undermined not "because of questionable merits of the project, but because of an antagonism toward the project's sponsor." He found this to be the case in a hospital study, when a team project that was a multi-disciplinary effort composed of nursing, pharmacy, and medicine was perceived as a nursing project because it was sponsored by the nursing department. The change initiative was opposed because of sponsorship and conflictual relationships and bias toward the nursing department.⁷⁹

The lessons from the Molinsky's study are that unless an organization frames the change initiatives for potential leaders in a manner that fits the culture of the organization, the change effort will fail. A change effort requires the building of trust and cooperation, coordination, and open communication among employees. If managers neglect to attend meetings, and if workers are afraid to express their opinions freely at meetings, the change effort will be undermined. Change efforts are more likely to materialize if there are representations and participation of all concerned groups or parties at meetings.

Molinsky stressed the importance of leadership commitment to pledge the required resources to undertake the change effort. It is critical that the change efforts are limited or narrowed, as multiple projects stretch resources, create duplication of efforts, and undermine team effort and solidarity, which would affect the success of the change effort. The change initiatives cannot be implemented successfully unless all members of the team fully participate in the planning and implementation process.

Boeker reported that organizations with poor performance levels pursue strategic changes. Usually a change in strategy is necessitated when the current strategy does not meet the requirements of the environment. Under such situations, managers have the ability and discretion to influence strategy and the direction of the organization. Strategic change may also lead to changes in top management more often in poorly performing than in successful organizations, which could affect performance.⁸⁰ However, if leadership changes occur in institutions that have long organizational tenure, organizational politics could hamper the prospects for change.

Organizational Politics

Organizational politics have become part of the main facet of organizational life. Politics plays a significant role in the planning, goal formulation and implementation, strategic planning, budgeting, and resource allocation decisions in organizations. Leadership, human resources management approaches to motivation, and job satisfaction are integrated in the power and political processes of organizations. Organizational politics perceptions that are related to issues of fairness in rewards and merits allocation, goal clarity, and group interactions will likely influence and affect the quality of the work environment for employees. When politics become coercive, it decreases employee morale and satisfaction, as well as organizational effectiveness. If politics are used as mechanisms to control employee behavior, it results in intensive political activity, which can negatively affect organizational outcomes/performances.⁸¹

Drory and Romm argued that organizational politics as an activity are more commonly associated with informal instead of formal organizational behavior.⁸² When there is a formal attempt by managers to influence employee's activities, the behavior process may become political. That is, organizational politics occurs in a social context when managers use politics to enforce policies. Although organizational politics create conflict, the political process becomes flexible to adapt to the particular situation where action is implemented. When politics become flexible and adaptive, it could lead to congruent behavior that supports the organization's strategies and policies.

When there is congruency in organizational politics, there is compatibility with an employment context related to employees' work attitudes, trust, goal perceptions, and job satisfaction. Employees have positive perceptions that the organizational political processes support their commitment to achieve organizational goals, and that supervisors reward their performance. Moreover, organizational size, diversity, and reputation are additional factors that affect workers' expectations for job mobility and career advancement opportunities.⁸³ Thus, organizational politics have both positive and negative dimensions and can be managed to influence employees' behavior and attitudes to the work place and organization.

When there is a conflict in organization, it leads to mediation to resolve conflict. The process of mediated conflict as a political process considers

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

"individual and group as actors who are self-seeking and calculating based on their interests." It "stresses conflict of interest rather than coordination problems as the ultimate cause of institutionalization and institutional change. In addition, power resources rather than cognitive resources are seen as important in explaining how institutions are generated and changed."⁸⁴ The basis of power and power resources—formal or less formal (informal)—and the relative scarcity or slack availability of resources influences the type of exchanges (competitive, cooperative, distributive, or unequal) in the organization.⁸⁵ Organizational politics can thus become sources of institutional change. At the same time, institutional variations create structural differences that contribute to variations in conflict management or mediation.

Institutional Adaptation Strategies

Watkins viewed institutions as having symbiotic relations of interdependence. A symbiotic relation arises from "the product of our cultural inheritance" and "takes the form of institutions." Accordingly, "institutions define the manner in which human beings" cooperate "with one another, based on particular patterns of ideas."⁸⁶ Ecologically, human beings, like any other living organisms, are governed by forces of nature. They live and abide by forming symbiotic relationships with others. According to Watkins, symbiotic relationships require humans to form cooperative relationships with the natural environment in preserving and using, but not necessarily destroying, environmental resources.⁸⁷ According to the evolutionary process of natural selections of institutions, institutions are governed by the principle of selective adaptation process of the survival of the fittest (i.e., only those institutions that are best suited survive or exist).

The ecological approach of institutions as having symbiotic relationships and selective adaptation mechanisms have implications for strategic and management control systems. Seal indicated that the institutional approach examines "the internal organization of the firm with a particular reference to management control mechanism."⁸⁸ In this context, control is related to structural arrangements of functions and work related activities (jobs) that allow managers to observe and monitor employee/peoples' behavior.

Lounsbury discussed the institutional structural differences in terms of temporal or spatial variations that contribute to the diffusion and adoption of organizational practices, which eventually become institutionalized as rules and organizational procedures. In the study of the staffing practices for management of recycling programs in universities, Lounsbury found that the creation of a recycling full-time manager or addition to an existing staff in either full-time or part-time capacity contributed to additional responsibility of recycling programs. Institutionalization of recycling programs reduced the normative pressures from national student organizations, social movements, and environmental coalition including students. In larger, more selective universities, full-time recycling managers/coordinators were employed because student environment groups were active and lobbied for the creation of these positions. Comparatively, those universities "that staffed their recycling programs through role accretion tended to be public, smaller and were importantly influenced by social comparison processes among schools of similar selectivity."⁸⁹ The study revealed that organizational stratification played a role in the diffusion of organizational practices and their institutionalization over time.

As the organizational adaptation process implies, crisis created the conditions for strategic change. Universities were pressured to create institutional mechanisms to handle environmental and recycling programs by external parties and interest groups including students and environmental coalition groups. The groups' successful lobbying efforts resulted in strategic changes that brought organizational changes—either in full-time or part-time staff additions—to institutionalize the recycling program. Management control mechanisms were put into place to balance and check the administrative mechanisms of the recycling programs. Although there was institutional variation in organizational practices or recycling programs, the institutional adaptation process effectively provided legitimacy and visibility to those organizations that have fully diffused and adopted those environmental organizational practices.

Institutionalization of Environmental Programs. The ecological framework has argued that environmental concerns and responsibilities have become part of the institutionalization process of organizations.⁹⁰ Recently, organizations have prepared and issued reports of environmental audits and performance indicators such as the consumption and management of water, energy, toxic materials, and assets.⁹¹ The amount of space an organization allocates to environmental issues on annual or other accounting reports indicates the level of commitment an organization has on environmental management systems. The support and commitment of management and the participation of employees in the design and management of environmental programs makes the process of institutionalization of environmental concerns and issues a continuous and an ongoing process. Because environmental concerns are of interest and concern to employees and are more likely to arouse public emotions and desires, it is important that top management plays an important role in recognizing the importance of environmental management programs as mechanisms in resolving the various contending issues among interest groups. Accordingly, it can be inferred that environmental management can become part of management's best organizational practices that prevail in socially responsible organizations.

Environmental management received priority in the federal government in the 1960s, with the establishment of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to manage environmental programs associated with industrial growth in the United States. Since then, the Federal Government has issued several environmental regulations including the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

1976 and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation Liability Act of 1980 (Superfund) to balance the effect of business innovation and growth with the management of and conservation of natural resources. These regulations have contributed to the development of accounting standards, namely, SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, to recognize and report corporations' environmental liabilities associated with business innovations and growth.

Effective management of the environmental resources has become important as corporations prepare sustainability reports.⁹² These reports most often have contained economic, environmental, and social performance data as well as the management of responsible environmental values and commitment to manage and report future environmental strategies. However, the relative absence of environmental reporting standards has contributed to the generation of reports that are not uniform across companies, which has made the comparability and verifiability of environmental reports among organizations problematic.⁹³

Nevertheless, environmental reporting has enabled companies to satisfy ethical and social responsibilities as well as meet investors' concerns and governmental regulatory agency external reporting requirements. Responsible environmental strategies are considered as enabling organizations to protect the environment and reduce transaction costs associated with regulation, litigation, and liabilities and clean up, which improves organizational competitiveness and performance. Organizations that possess complementary assets for process innovation and implementation benefit from cost advantages associated with responsible production processes, better product design through improved manufacturing processes and disposal of wastes, and access to complementary manufacturing and distribution processes in favorable terms for process innovation and growth. When marketing strategies that focus on cultural and humanistic values are designed to promote product sales, market share and synergy of production, and marketing and distribution linkages, they advance both environmental management and improved business performance. In other words, when corporations with effective environmental management strategies are coupled with a culturally and socially oriented marketing strategy, they have gained relative competitive advantage over those organizations without environmental strategies and policies.94

For example, Epstein and Young have suggested that economic value added (EVA) measures can be incorporated to develop profitable investment decisions in line with responsible environmental management policies.⁹⁵ In other words, these studies indicate that there is a positive relationship between a balanced pro-growth environmentally responsible management program and improved organizational performance. Florida and Davison have also indicated that an environmental management system (EMS) program serves as a formal system for gathering information and making choices among programs that balance environmental and green management with overall business strategy for managing balanced manufacturing growth and improved business performance. The

authors suggested that green management is not an alternative concern but, rather, balanced pro-growth and environmental management programs in which performance, productivity and profit motivations go together with environmental management programs that reduce waste, pollution, emission, as well as conserve natural resources.⁹⁶

The Case for Balanced Environmental Management and Accounting Reporting Systems. Process innovation changes in environmental management, and accounting reporting systems are considered one of the main core competencies of responsible organizations, particularly in technology and manufacturing firms, characterized by a highly competitive environment. The successes of these organizations depends on their ability to sustain and manage continuously environmental and ecological change programs. To remain competitive, organizations not only continuously adopt policies that support the development and reinvention of new products and services but also pursue growth strategies that support continuous changes and adaptation in environmental and natural resources management. Environmental accounting systems are necessary to improve ecological data gathering and reporting and delineate criteria for the establishment of environmental priorities and programs.⁹⁷

Nordhaus and Kokkelenberg developed guidelines for management accounting systems that incorporate environmental information systems associated with renewable and environmental resources related to agriculture, forestry, recreation, land, timber, and fisheries, as well as livestock and grain and nonrenewable resources of oil and natural resources. The authors recommended that organizations prepare environmental reports that focus on pollution, global warming, and sustainable resources to determine their costs (if any) and their effect on financial performance, as well as to report on public, natural resources such as air, ocean, water, and lakes that are of interest to the general public and to governmental regulatory agencies such as the (EPA), as well as state, local, and municipal governments.⁹⁸

For example, Burritt proposed that environmental and ecological issues could be best handled at local and regional government levels. Ecologically sustainable development (ESD) is an important concern that can be addressed effectively at the local and municipal government levels. Local expenditures on environmental projects are handled well by local governments to satisfy voluntary disclosure of funds, accommodate contending stakeholders interests, and fulfill communication, reporting, independence, and accountability requirements. Although ecologically sustainable development is based on the principle of local autonomy, the program objectives cannot be fully realized unless there is interagency cooperation by governmental agencies at the local, state, and federal government levels on environmental data collection, design, and reporting.⁹⁹

Recently, the National Research Council (NRC) Report recommended that nature's (environmental) numbers should be included in the national accounting

system. That is, the NRC calls for a systematic development of green accounting that will include assets and production activities associated with the natural resources and the environment.¹⁰⁰ In other words, the national income and product accounts (NIPA) would be extended to include nonmarket accounts (e.g., air and water quality) with near-market accounts/activities (such as cooking hot dogs at home or consumer products such as televisions or cameras). By developing parallel indicators for nonmarket accounts similar to those for near-market accounts, the NRC puts forward that protecting the environment (e.g., the air and water quality) contributes to the growth of gross domestic product (GDP). These indicators will increase voluntary environmental disclosures and reporting on environmental policies, expenditures, and audits. GDP indicators and processes can include benefits from environmental products and related details on sustainable and renewable resources as well as the limitations that companies in the chemical, forestry, paper, utilities, and related sectors face in managing environmental resources.

Along the lines of the NRC recommendations, Boons et al. advocated the need for an EMS as an important component of the strategic planning processes in the highly industrialized European countries. They provided examples from Western Europe and Scandinavian countries in which socially responsible firms have integrated ecological and environmental concerns into their strategic plans and policies. These firms have developed strategies by which the developments of new products and services are firmly grounded on the principles of environmental management systems.¹⁰¹ Environmental concerns, which are often referred to as greening, have become a strategic issue whereby organizations have used it as part of their marketing device to attract new customers and recruit and retain employees, as well as serve as a public relations medium when dealing with the community, general public, and governmental regulatory agencies.¹⁰² Environmental management systems have been employed as an effective management strategy to minimize the negative effect of unintended consequences of production activities on ecological systems and human welfare.

Accordingly, organizations that have legitimized environmental management systems have valued responsible behavior and cooperation with governmental regulatory agencies on environmental (greening) issues. As a result, the strategy of greening has been diffused and embedded in their organizational institutional structures. These organizations have voluntarily provided environmental accounting reports to account for the cost of their programs and to inform shareholders and employees and the public on the success of their EMS programs. For example, in the highly industrialized countries of Europe (e.g., Sweden), some organizations have environmental managers who are responsible for managing issues related to the environment and who prepare and report on the organization's activity on environmental and ecological matters on the principle that environmental reporting advances a more fair and responsible society. There is the belief that EMS contributes to resource conservation and efficiency in resource utilization, as well as reduces the effect of technological advances on the environment. $^{103}\,$

It can be inferred that implementation of environmental concerns and practices in organizations, if accepted and practiced regularly and repeated over time, can be internalized by employees. Such practices can develop into norms of acceptable behavior and serve as a frame of reference to meet the demands of the dominant constituencies, and thereby provide organizational visibility and legitimacy. Greening issues, once institutionalized, become legitimate and could develop into collective sense making that can provide employees with norms and shared ideology to guide their actions in day-to-day activities and for turning organizational policies into operational practices. Accordingly, organizations develop new routines to manage emerging environmental and ecological issues to legitimize their actions and ensure stability over time to balance institutional pressures for legitimacy, efficiency, and responsible environmental practices that could eventually advance competition for environmental concerns and subsequently contribute to increasing similarities among organizations.¹⁰⁴

However, the long-term effect of the institutionalization of environmental reporting rules and regulations over time is that once these rules are established, they become fixed and uniform and tend to be bureaucratic in nature, making the density effect of rules in accounting significant. When accounting rules are close to the core of the organizations' administrative activities, they tend to be shielded from external environmental changes. Schulz inferred that a low level of environmental turbulence in accounting resulted in a low level of rule production and a very low birth rate for accounting rule change.¹⁰⁵ The low-level density effect in accounting is contributed to the mere fact that accounting involves formal and technical administrative rules rather than ambiguous rules like norms, beliefs, and culture in other administrative areas that are more open, adaptable, and amenable to changes as circumstances warrant. Accordingly, accounting rules by nature are technical and formal and tend to operate in closed systems. The consequential effect of closed accounting systems has been reflected in the low birth rates and proliferation of existing accounting rules, as has been the case in the environmental reporting systems and disclosures. As accounting rules receive more scrutiny by parties including external governmental agencies, they are forced to be open to accommodate these changes. The 1990s public interest in environmental and natural resources conservation and management have contributed to a gradual/incremental increase in the birth and growth of environmental disclosures and requirements in accounting reporting systems and their institutionalization across public and business organizations.

The growing emphasis on environmental and natural resource conservation management and their voluntary disclosure in accounting reports supports the assertion of the convergence of ecological and institutional research. Singh and Lumsden indicated that if a convergence between them occurred, it can be examined in terms of how institutional environment variables have influenced ecological dynamics of organizational populations and the role of legitimacy and institutionalization in population dynamics. Institutional variables such as customers, competitors, suppliers, and government regulatory agencies have profound effects on organizational vital rates: founding, disbanding, mortality/ death, or performance change rates. In contrast, legitimacy or external institutional support reduces selection pressures on organizations. In general, legitimacy in institutional environment "provides access to resources, which reduces morality rates."¹⁰⁶ Although young organizations lack legitimacy and institutional support because of the newness liability assumptions, those organizations that have this support have relatively easy access to resources, which reduces their mortality rates. Environmental effects represent the cumulative effects of all organizations in a given population. Leaders of organizations formulate strategies to help organizations adapt to environmental pressure changes. The process of adaptive change is rooted in organizational learning, which has shaped the organizational growth strategies of public accounting firms.

ORGANIZATIONAL GROWTH STRATEGIES OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS

The accounting public organizations (i.e., auditing firms) have experienced relative growth over the years. Most of the growth has occurred through mergers and acquisitions. It seems apparent that organizational mortality or exits from markets of auditing firms have been largely caused by merger, acquisition, or dissolution. By the 1970s, there were the eight big firms, but that number was reduced by half by 2002. Now there are only four big accounting firms. The exception to the merged growth strategy was the dissolution or mortality of Arthur Andersen, LLP, in 2002 as a result of poor management and auditing practices. In the late 1980s, when the number of big accounting firms declined from eight to six, Sommer stated that the reasons for merger included "synergy, diversification to avoid excess dependence upon one product or line of business, economics of scale."¹⁰⁷ For accounting firms, mergers provided opportunities for weaker firms to have access for establishing services and build clientele for consulting, tax, and auditing services. It enabled them to consolidate resources-manpower, clients, and offices-both nationally and internationally. In essence, mergers enabled accounting firms to consolidate their services and to serve their clients at lower costs. The economy of scale advantage made them competitive in offering diversified services for both large and small clients. At the same time, they offered specialized services for certain industry segments such as health care and information technology. They used specialization as basis for product differentiation and for charging high premiums for these services.¹⁰⁸

However, the diversification and provision of multiple services for the same client organization, for example, a combined tax and management advisory or consulting services, has the potential of creating conflicts of interest. Sommer noted the conflict of interest arising between the consulting and auditing of firms and the apparent growth in consulting personnel and the larger benefits and economic rewards from consulting compared to auditing. He indicated that the conflict was a result of consulting being more lucrative, generating the bulk of growth in revenue for the big auditing firms, and being more attractive professionally compared to auditing and tax services. Although the accounting profession has both professional standards, the conflict of interest could potentially affect the fairness of financial accounting reports, as well as auditors' cultural perception of their relationships with those firms to which they could provide both tax-related public accounting and management consulting services.¹⁰⁹

Sommer's (1989) expression of the conflict of interest between tax advisory and consulting services was reflected recently in Arthur Andersen LLP's relationship with the Enron Corporation. The dissolution or mortality of Arthur Andersen was contributed largely to the apparent conflict of interest and Arthur Andersen's failure to follow the standards and professional practices accepted by the public accounting firms and the profession at large.

Although conflict of interests may have contributed to unanticipated consequences, for example, the case of Arthur Andersen, increased size and diversification of services has offered several economic and political advantages to public accounting firms. The case in point is that of the Boone et al. article. which gave two reasons associated with cost and perceived quality advantages for the increase in size and market concentration of auditing firms. The authors indicated that cost advantage is related to "economics of scale and scope"auditing firms invested in developing expertise to best serve their clients. The audit services for large clients are the same and are served by developing expert technical knowledge and skills. Regulatory control of firms and new laws increased the demand for auditing firms. As the technology of auditing (e.g., statistical sampling and risk analysis) progresses, the market expands. The scope of auditing increased when auditing firms were able to provide auditing expertise to clients in several "related advisory services (such as tax preparations, internal control systems design, consulting and personnel placement)".¹¹⁰ Large audit firms diversified into several areas to offer their services to large companies who have regional offices and diverse product lines.

Boone et al. argued that there was a preference of larger firms to hire the big auditing firms, which made it a highly concentrated market, accounting for over 90 percent of large firms being audited by big auditing firms. Moreover, external financing (e.g., creditors, shareholders) increased the demand for high-quality auditing service, which can be met by big auditing firms. Big auditing firms were perceived to be independent and interested in keeping their reputation for expertise and quality of service.¹¹¹

In their study of the public accounting firms in Netherlands, Boone et al. indicated that the large accounting firms have benefited from Dutch government regulations, which contributed to increased demand for large auditing firms' services. The large auditing firms were involved in the legislative process through their representative, who served as a member of the Regulatory Board, which set up government regulations. Because of their indirect influence on legislation, the firms have benefited from government regulations.¹¹² Government regulations at the national, state, and local levels, coupled with market shifts and changes for auditing services, have continually shaped the restructuring of the big auditing firms.

The adaptation framework has documented that organizations continuously modify their strategies and policies to meet the demands of the external environment, particularly government regulatory agencies, competition, and market conditions. These adaptive strategies are not necessarily radical but, rather, are incremental, and gradually make it possible for organizations to fit with the environment. Adaptation thus increases organizations' chances for survival through retention. Adaptive strategies have important implications for internal organizational changes, including accounting control systems and the management of work activities by teams, which are presented subsequently in Chapters 5 and 6.

NOTES

1. W.P. Barnett and G. R. Carroll, "Modeling internal organizational change," Annual Review of Sociology 21 (1995), 217-36.

2. Ibid., 217-18.

3. A.A. Agarwal, "Host-range evolution: Adaptation and trade-offs in fitness of mites on alternative hosts," *Ecology* 8 (2000), 504–5.

4. J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 4 (1982), 9.

5. N. Siggelkow, "Change in the presence of fit: The rise, the fall, and the renaissance of Liz Claiborne," Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001), 838.

6. Ibid., 841.

7. R. Durand, "Firm selection: An integrative perspective," Organization Studies 22 (2001), 411.

8. J. Betton and G. G. Dess, "The application of population ecology models to the study of organizations," *Academy of Management Review* 10 (1985), 753-54.

9. G. Péli, J. Bruggeman, M. Masuch, and B.O. Nuallain, "A logical approach to formalizing organizational ecology," American Sociological Review 59 (1994), 572.

10. Ibid., 573.

11. Z. Rosenblatt, K. S. Rogers, and W. R. Nord, "Toward a political framework for flexible management of decline," *Organization Science* 4 (1993), 77–79.

12. H. R. Greve, "The effect of core change on performance: Inertia and regression toward the mean," Administrative Science Quarterly 44 (1999), 591. See also H.R. Greve, and T. Fujiwara-Greve, "Organizational ecology and job mobility," Social Forces 79 (2000), 547–68; and H.R. Greve, "An ecological theory of spatial evolution: Local density dependence in Tokyo Banking, 1894–1936," Social Forces 80 (2002), 847–79.

13. Greve, "The effect of core change on performance," 597-98.

14. J. Ranger-Moore, "Bigger may be better. But is older wiser? Organizational age and size in the New York Life Insurance Industry," American Sociological Review 62 (1997), 905.

15. Ibid., 907.

16. Ibid., 912.

17. J. Ranger-Moore, R.S. Breckenridge, and D.L. Jones, "Patterns of growth and sizelocalized competition in the New York state life insurance industry, 1860–1985," *Social Forces* 73 (1995), 1027.

18. Ibid., 1033.

19. D.R. Wholey and J. W. Brittan, "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications," Academy of Management Review 11 (1986), 513-33.

20. E.R. Wolf, "Cognizing 'cognized models," American Anthropologist 10 (1999), 19.

21. J. Freeman, "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes," Research in Organizational Behavior 4 (1982), 2.

22. D.A. Whetten, "Organizational growth and decline processes," Annual Review of Sociology 13 (1987), 337, 347-49.

23. J. Pfeffer and G. R. Salancik, The External Control of Organizations (New York: Harper & Row, 1978).

24. Whetten, "Organizational growth and decline processes," 341-43.

25. E. Romanelli and M.L. Tushman, "Organizational transformation as punctuated equilibrium: An empirical test," Academy of Management Journal 37 (1994), 1162.

26. S.J. Gould and N. Eldridge, "Review article: Punctuated equilibrium comes of age," *Nature* 36 (1993), 225.

27. S.J. Fox-Wolfgramm, K.B. Boal, and J.G. Hunt, "Organizational adaptation to institutional change: A comparative study of first-order change in Prospector and Defender Banks," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998), 120. See also B. Morel and R. Ramanujam, "Through the looking glass of complexity: The dynamics of organizations as adaptive and evolving systems," *Organization Science* 10 (1998), 278–93.

28. M.L. Tushman and E. Romanelli, "Organizational evolution: A metamorphosis model of convergence and reorientation," *Research in Organizational Behavior* 7 (1985), 178, 192, 197, 215; and S.R. Barley, "Technology as an occasion for structuring: Evidence from observations of CT scanners and the social order of radiology departments," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 31 (1986), 78.

29. "Organizational adaptation to institutional change."

30. T. D'Aunno, M. Succi, and J.A. Alexander, "The role of institutional and market forces in divergent organizational change," Administrative Science Quarterly 45 (2000), 682–86.

31. Greve, "The effect of core change on performance," 591-92.

32. W.P. Barnett, H. R. Greve, and D. Y. Park, "An evolutionary model of organizational performance," Strategic Management Journal 15 (1994), 12-13.

33. Fox-Wolfgramm, Boal, Hunt, "Organizational adaptation to institutional change," 92.

34. M. Weber, The Theory of Social and Economic Organization (Glencoe, Ill.: The Free Press, 1947).

35. M. Schulz, "Limits to bureaucratic growth: The density dependence of organizational rule births," Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998), 845–49.

36. Ibid., 852–55, 868–74. See also J. Langton, "The ecological theory of bureaucracy: The case of Josiah Wedgwood and the British pottery industry," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 29 (1984), 330–54.

37. Schulz, "Limits to bureaucratic growth," 864.

ADAPTATION AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

38. Ibid., 874.

39. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations," American Journal of Sociology 82 (1977), 956.

40. G.R. Carroll and Y. P. Huo, "Organizational task and institutional environments in ecological perspective: Findings from the local newspaper industry," *American Journal of Sociology* 91 (1986), 838–39.

41. H.A. Haveman and L. E. Cohen, "The ecological dynamics of careers: The impact of organizational founding, dissolution, and merger on job mobility," *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994), 106.

42. A.S. Miner, "Organizational evolution and the social ecology of jobs," American Sociological Review 56 (1991), 774, 780.

43. Haveman and Cohen, "The ecological dynamics of careers," 112, 113, 115.

44. M.C. White, D.B. Martin, D.V. Brazeal, and W.H. Friedman, "The evolution of organizations: Suggestions from complexity theory about the interplay between natural selection and adaptation," *Human Relations* 50 (1997), 1383–84.

45. M. Schulz, "The uncertain relevance of newness: Organizational learning and knowledge flows," Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001), 663.

46. Ibid., 676.

47. W.P. Barnett and M.T. Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," Strategic Management Journal 17 (1996), 143.

48. C.P. Kottack, "The new ecological anthropology," American Anthropologist 101 (1999), 33.

49. L. Butel, and A. Watkins, "Evolving complex organizational structure in new and unpredictable environment," *Journal of Business Research* 47 (2000), 27–33.

50. Barnett and Hansen, "The red queen in organizational evolution," 145-53.

51. Schulz, "Limits to bureaucratic growth," 845.

52. Ibid., 872.

53. Ibid., 874.

54. S. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems: Process Innovation for Internal Auditing and Management Accounting Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting Series 10 (Amsterdam: Elsevier Sciences, JAI Press, 2001).

55. R. Stata, "Organizational learning-the key to management innovation," Sloan Management Review 30 (1989), 64.

56. T.K. Lant and S.J. Mezias, "An organizational learning model of convergence and reorientation," *Organizational Science* 31 (1992), 47–71.

57. C. Argyris and D.A. Schon, Organizational Learning: A Theory of Action Perspective (Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley, 1978).

58. C. Argyris, On Organizational Learning (Cambridge, Mass.: Blackwell, 1992).

59. R. Snell and A.M.K. Chek, "The learning organization: Learning and empowerment for whom," *Management Learning* 25 (1998), 337-64.

60. See I. DeLoo and B. Verstegen, "Does action learning lead to organizational growth?" *The Mid-Atlantic Journal of Business* 37 (2001), 55–64.; and A.L. Molinsky, "Sanding down the edge: Paradoxical impediments to organizational change," *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 35 (1999), 8–24. For comparison, see S.G. Winter, "Satisficing, selection, and the innovating remnant," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 85 (1971), 237–61.

112 ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

61. Argyris, On Organizational Learning.

62. Argyris and Schon, Organizational Learning.

63. R. Jensen, "Innovation adoption and diffusion when there are competing innovations," Journal of Economic Theory 29 (1983), 162.

64. Argyris and Schon, Organizational Learning, 1978.

65. A.H. Van de Ven, "Central problems in the management of innovation," Management Science 32 (1986), 603.

66. Lant and Mezias, "An organizational learning model of convergence and reorientation."

67. J. Freeman and W. Boeker, "The ecological analysis of business strategy," California Management Review 26 (1984), 73-86.

68. M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, Organizational Ecology (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989).

69. See also W. Boeker, "Strategic change: The influence of managerial characteristics and organizational growth," *Academy of Management Journal* 40 (1997), 152–70; and Tushman and Romanelli, "Organizational evolution."

70. Freeman and Boeker, "The ecological analysis of business strategy," 79.

71. Ibid.

72. W.P. Barnett and R.A. Burgelman, "Evolutionary perspectives on strategy," *Strategic Management Journal* 17 (1996), 6. Italics in original.

73. J. Robles, "Evolution with changing mutation rates," *Journal of Economic Theory* 79 (1998), 208.

74. Freeman and Boeker, "The ecological analysis of business strategy," 73.

75. J. Child, "Strategic choice in the analysis of action, structure, organizations and environment: Retrospect and prospect," Organization Studies 18 (1997), 44–50.

76. For details, refer to H.E. Aldrich, "Organizational Boundaries and Inter-Organizational Conflict," Human Relations 24 (1972), 279–93; Boeker, "Strategic Change"; Hannan and Freeman, Organizational Ecology; Hannan and Freeman, "The population ecology of organizations"; and Pfeffer and Salancik, The External Control of Organizations.

77. Molinsky, "Sanding down the edge," 16.

78. Ibid., 19.

79. Ibid., 12.

80. Boeker, "Strategic change," 163-66.

81. Refer to A. Drory and T. Romm, "The definition of organizational politics: A review," Human Relations 43 (1990), 1133–54; C.P. Parker, R.L. Dipboye, and S.L. Jackson, "Perceptions of organizational politics: An investigation of antecedents and consequences," *Journal of Management* 21 (1995), 891–912; and J.J. Voyer, "Coercive organizational politics and organizational outcomes: An interpretive study," *Organization Science* 5 (1994), 72–85. For a comparative approach, refer to S. Olzak and S. C. N. Uhrig, "The ecology of tactical overlap," *American Sociological Review* 65 (2001), 694–717.

82. Ibid., "The definition of organizational politics."

83. For details, see N. Christiansen, P. Villanova, and S. Mikulay, "Political influence compatibility: Fitting the person to the climate," *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 18 (1997), 709–30; Greve, and Fujiwara-Greve, "Organizational ecology and job mobility," 568, 571–72; and L.A. Witt, "Enhancing organizational goal congruence: A solution to organizational politics," *Journal of Applied Psychology* 83 (1998), 666–74.

84. K. Nielsen, "Institutionalist approaches in the social sciences: Typology, dialogue, and future challenges," *Journal of Economic Issues* 35 (2001), 506–7.

85. S. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997).

86. J.P. Watkins, "Towards a reconsideration of social evolution: Symbiosis and its implications for economics," *Journal of Economic Issues* 32 (1998), 99.

87. Ibid., 101.

88. W.B. Seal, "Deindustrialisation and business organisation: An Institutionalist critique of the natural selection analogy," *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 14 (1990), 268.

89. M. Lounsbury, "Institutional sources of practice variation: Staffing college and university recycling programs," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 46 (2001), 49. For a comparative approach, see G. Stone, M. Joseph, and J. Blodgett, "Toward the creation of an eco-oriented corporate culture: A proposed model of internal and external antecedents leading to industrial firm eco-orientation," *The Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing* 19 (2004), 68–84.

90. This section adapts S. Sisaye, "Organizational adaptation change approaches on the development and effectiveness of environmental management accounting and reporting systems," in *Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance*, ed. K.E. Karim and R.W. Rutledge (Westport, CT: Greenwood Publishing Group, 2004), 75–101.

91. Refer to L. Füssel and S. Georg, "The institutionalization of environmental concerns: Making the environment perform," *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000), 41–58.

92. See S. Sisaye, G. H. Bodnar, and P. Christofi, "Total quality management and sustainability reporting: Lessons from social soundness analysis," *Internal Auditing* 19 (2004), 32–39.

93. For details, see P. Wallace, "Assurance on sustainability reporting: An auditor's view," Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory 19 Supplement (2000), 53–65; and S.D. Beets and C.C. Souther, "Corporate environmental reports: The need for standards and an environmental assurance service," Accounting Horizons 13 (1999), 129–45.

94. See P. Christmann, "Effects of 'best practices' of environmental management on cost advantage: The role of complimentary assets," *Academy of Management Journal* 43 (2000), 663–80; and I. Maignan, O. C. Ferrell, and G. T. Hult, "Corporate citizenship: Cultural antecedents and business benefits," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 27 (1999), 455–69.

95. M.J. Epstein and S. D. Young, "'Greening' with EVA," Management Accounting 80 (1999), 45-49.

96. R. Florida and D. Davison, "Gaining from green management: Environmental management systems inside and outside the factory," *California Management Review* 43 (2001), 64–84. See also I. Rojsek, "From red to green: Towards the environmental management in the country in transition," *Journal of Business Ethics* 33 (2001), 37–50.

97. B. Catasus, "Silent nature becomes normal: A study of environmental reporting," International Studies of Management and Organization 30 (2000), 59-82.

98. W.D. Nordhaus and E.C. Kokkelenberg, "Accounting for renewable and environmental resources," *Survey of Current Business* 80 (2000), 26–51. See also, R. Howes, "Accounting for environmentally sustainable profits," *Management Accounting* 77 (1999), 32–33.

99. Refer to R. Burritt, "Thinking local: Towards an environmental standard," Australian CPA 69 (1999), 57–60. See also W.D. Nordhaus and, E.C. Kokkelenberg, "Overall appraisal of environmental accounting in the United States," *Survey of Current Business* 79 (1999), 50–65; and W.W. Wood, "Environmental accounting: The new bottom line," *Ground Water* 38 (2000), 161.

100. National Research Council, "Nature's Numbers: Expanding the national economic accounts to include the environment" (Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, Mimeo 2000).

101. F. Boons, L. Baas, J. J. Bouma, A. D. Groene, and K. L. Blansch, "Trajectories of greening: The diffusion of green organizational routines in the Netherlands, 1986–1995," *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000), 18–40.

102. Füssel and Georg, "The institutionalization of environmental concerns," 50,

103. For details, see Boons et al., "Trajectories of greening"; F. Boons and L. Strannegard, "Organizations coping with their natural environment: A laboratory for institutionalization," *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000), 7–17; Füssel and Georg, ibid.; and Catasus, "Silent nature becomes normal."

104. Boons and L. Strannegard, ibid., 10; see also Füssel and Georg, ibid.

105. Schulz, "Limits to bureaucratic growth."

106. J.V. Singh and C.J. Lundsen, "Theory and research in organizational ecology," Annual Review of Sociology 16 (1990), 184.

107. A.A. Sommer, Jr., "Commentary: The challenge of the 1989 mergers," Accounting Horizons 3 (1989), 103. See also C.W. Wootton, S. D. Tonge, and C. M. Wolk, "Pre and post big 8 mergers: Comparison and auditor concentration," Accounting Horizons 8 (1994), 58–74, and Sommer "Commentary," 103–4.

108. For issues related to mergers and acquisitions in public accounting firms, see also J. Trampe, "Thriving change: The internal auditor's role in mergers and acquisitions," *Journal of Accountancy* 185 (1998), 33–36; and B. Tsay and R. J. Steverson, "Post merger: Integrating the accounting system," *Management Accounting* 72 (1991), 20–23.

109. Sommer, "Commentary," ibid., 104–105. See also, S. Holmes and S. Marsden, "An exploration of the espoused organizational cultures of public accounting firms," *Accounting Horizons* 10 (1996), 26–53. For an exploratory and theoretical treatments on organizational death, refer to R.J. Sutton, "The process of organizational death: Disbanding and reconnecting," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 32 (1987), 542–69; and W. Weitzel and E. Jonsson, "Decline in organizations: A literature integration and extension," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 34 (1989), 91–109.

110. C. Boone, V. Brocheler, and G. R. Carroll, "Custom service: Application and tests of resource-partitioning theory among Dutch auditing firms from 1896 to 1992" *Organization Studies* 21 (2000), 361.

111. Ibid., 362.

112. Ibid., 366-67.

CHAPTER 5

Adaptation Strategies in Management Control Systems

Management control systems in organizations are defined by internal processes of power relationships and organizational system characteristics, as well as by external environmental factors, including technological developments. Etzioni has identified three bases of power and control systems: normative, coercive and remunerative-instrumental (utilitarian).¹ They have generated three types of compliance and involvement: moral when normative, alienative when coercive, and calculative under remunerative. These three power and compliance typologies have constituted the underlying principles of management control systems in complex organizational process and structural intervention strategies, as well as to stages of development: emergence, growth, and crisis/realignment. Moreover, the adaptation framework has addressed the effect that quality management, leadership characteristics, and environmental changes including international competition and technological developments, particularly information technology, have on the evolution of management accounting and control systems.

Although management control manifests itself in all three forms of compliance and involvement in complex organizations, its focus in management accounting has remained on increasing organizational productivity by reducing costs of manufacturing, distribution, and marketing activities. However, the effectiveness of management control systems in complex organizations as adaptive control systems is contingent on several organizational structural, power relations, contextual and cultural process factors, management goals, and characteristics of technological changes.

When it comes to management control systems, the sources and basis of power have been found to significantly affect the type of control system that will prevail in an organization.² Power affects organizational decision-making processes and the distribution of resources in organizations. It has implications for designing or planning and implementation of accounting-based control systems that monitor individual or group-team performance. It is therefore imperative for the adaptation strategies' framework to study the sources of power, management control, and compliance systems in organizations.

POWER, MANAGEMENT CONTROL, AND COMPLIANCE SYSTEMS

The subject of power and control has long been of interest to sociologists and organizational management researchers. Approaches to power and control in organizations have varied depending on the theoretical approaches: structural-functional, radical structuralism, conflict–pluralistic or interpretive, and definitions of power.³ However, the common thread among these perspectives is that power involves a relative relationship in which an actor has the ability to influence another actor to carry out his or her directives. Power relationships are manifested in social structures of class, race, gender, occupations, and everyday organizational activities. In other words, power as a relative concept creates dependency and imbalanced relationships, which will affect social exchange mechanisms in networks or work group teams.⁴ People in power use reward (physical, material, or symbolic reward) and punishment (deprivation) to secure employee compliance with organizational goals. Subordinate orientation to compliance can be either positive (commitment) or negative (alienative).⁵

Second, these approaches have stressed that the basis of power, whether at the individual, group, or organizational level, can influence the extent to which leadership and management can secure employee compliance. To this effect, Etzioni, in 1961⁶ and again in 1964,⁷ identified three bases of power and control: normative, coercive, and remunerative.⁸ These three types of control systems have received substantial research attention in the management accounting and control literature. However, the management control literature has not applied Etzioni's (1961 and 1964) power typologies to discuss the interrelationships of these three approaches for managing teams in complex organizations. Chapters 5 and 6 have integrated the theories and approaches of these three control systems to extend the behavioral managerial accounting literature scope of teams and work groups' management. A background discussion of these three types of control systems now provides the context within which organization development and management control systems affect the operating activities of work teams.⁹

Normative Power and Control

Etzioni defined normative power as encompassing the allocation of "symbolic rewards," "esteem and prestige symbols," and the use of rituals and norms to facilitate positive response.¹⁰ Normative power is associated with higher-level

organizational participants who are committed, have higher performance obligations, and whose remunerative needs are at least moderately satisfied. Leaders who exercise normative power have charisma and are persuasive and manipulative in their use of expressive activities to build their social power. Leaders have positive and affective interpersonal relationships with their followers, characterized by a high moral involvement and a "positive orientation of high intensity."¹¹

Etzioni suggested that lower-level employees who work in professional organizations such as research and planning organizations and law firms are affiliated with normative organizations. In contrast to professional organizations, "normative controls play a relatively limited role in blue-collar industries."¹²

In normative organizations, there is a prolonged recruitment, selection, placement, and socialization process to facilitate the internalization of norms, identification with authority, organization guidelines, and supervisor directives, and in which the social control of a professional code of ethics and symbolic sanctions become highly effective. In other words, cultural goals are used as basis for normative compliance. Accordingly, a high level of intensity leads to identification, moral commitment, and intrinsic satisfaction from work.¹³

Elites who rely on normative compliance seek to integrate employees into organizational positions and structures through absorption and cooptation.¹⁴ Because the effective operations of normative organizations require a high degree of consensus, the socialization process is extensive to allow lower participants a high degree of involvement in organizational activities.

Normative decision making, whether practiced at the individual, group, or organizational level, is grounded on the principles of functionality and consensus. Sociological studies have documented that in groups and communities in which decisions are reached through consensus, even in situations where there is low member participation, decisions are functional because of the dialectic process that balances the concerns of the individual with those of the group.¹⁵ The group, in its attempt to resolve a social issue through consensus, is practicing normative decision-making mechanisms, which involve gathering of new information (adaptation) and the exercise of power (goal attainment). It is apparent that groups using the consensus method have developed affection and mutual trust (integration) and share common goals and values (pattern maintenance).¹⁶ The formation of work teams thus fosters functional diversity and mutual interdependency among members, leading to activities guided by reciprocal exchange, collaboration, and close working relationships among team members to attain commonly shared organizational objectives. It is, therefore, plausible to assume that consensus among groups/teams could transform over time into concertive control, where group politics and leader desire for control affect the outcome of the decision process. In other words, there is a certain degree of coercion involved even in decision situations reached through consensus.

Coercive Power and Control

Etzioni defined coercive power as involving the threat or use of physical sanctions, including force, to secure compliance. Although coercive power, when it is negative, may result in alienative involvement among employees, it can be effective when an "organization is confronted with highly alienated lower participants."¹⁷ If coercion is applied to less alienated employees, it will adversely affect their morale, their effectiveness, and their commitment to the organization. Alienation detracts from consensus about shared values and goals of the organization among lower participants. The organization can, however, operate for a long time even when there is dissension.

Although the word coercive has negative connotations, coercion has been integrated into compliance in most management control systems. Barker presented a negative view of concertive (normative) control when a team uses a more structured negotiated consensus decision making to practice "a tightening of the iron cage" by all means. He suggested that "the powerful combination of peer pressure and rational rules in the concertive system creates a new iron cage whose bars are almost invisible to the workers it incarcerates."18 Sewell cites advances in information technology as bringing a new form of controlelectronic surveillance control-where management uses video cameras to monitor self-discipline compliance and obedience among workers without face-to-face interaction.¹⁹ In other words, technological development and the competitive business environment, coupled with the organizational desire to institute continuous improvement through process innovation, has given new meaning to coercive control. Coercive control no longer needs to be exercised through direct command and immediate supervision but indirectly through concertive and compliance control. Accordingly, in this chapter, coercive control will be discussed within the context of group coercive and surveillance control.

In accounting, coercive control has been closely defined in terms of restrictive control if accounting systems are tight and are enforced in a punitive manner. Although coercive control reflects the negative aspects of bureaucratic control, it can be administered in conjunction with remunerative/instrumental control.

Remunerative Power and Control

The terms remunerative and instrumental controls are used interchangeably in this chapter. According to Etzioni, "remunerative power" is based on control over material resources and rewards through allocation of salaries and wages, commissions and contributions, working conditions, "fringe benefits," services, and commodities.²⁰ Remunerative power is based on control of instrumental relationships, activities, economic incentives, and goals. Remunerative control is related to low-intensity involvement or mild commitment among employees whose behaviors become calculative as employees attempt to act rationally with their immediate supervisors.²¹ Remunerative control is more commonly used by utilitarian organizations to influence the behavior of lower-level participants whose orientations are characterized by calculative involvement. Etzioni classified manufacturing organizations and factories that have largely blue-collar workers and offices in which most of the lower-level participants are white collar and clerical employees as utilitarian organizations. In general, these organizations tend to have narrow scope and low pervasiveness that limits the range of work activities in which the employees are involved outside the workplace.²² By limiting scope, the organization focuses on activities that are functional to production goals and utilitarian compliance.

Etzioni classified blue-collar workers into unskilled, semiskilled, and skilled, or into industrial and craft workers. He proposed "unskilled industrial workers to be the most subject to remunerative controls, and the skilled or craft-oriented ones to be relatively more affected by normative controls."²³ Therefore, utilitarian organizations would exhibit dual power structures in which remuneration incentives are the predominant form of control but are accompanied by coercive sanctions to secure employee compliance. Managers use of instrumental rewards, for example, in blue-collar industries, is limited by the bounds of the collective agreement or contractual relationships. If workers accept remunerative compliance, there is consensus on their performance obligations and the essence of the contractual agreements for any increases in their level of participation, involvement, and organizational activities related to production goals. For normative organizations, coercion has little or no value because coercion is perceived as negative, inflicting sanctions that lead to low gratification and decreased commitment among lower-level personnel.

In remunerative organizations, consensus on procedures and contractual relationships are supported by upward instrumental communication in the form of performance reports, and downward flow for performance appraisal and feedback purposes.²⁴ Compensation packages even among top management teams are remunerative, based on economic contractual relationships, and are tied to organizational performance. Although bureaucratic control in management accounting has been associated closely with remunerative control systems, recently critical studies in accounting have suggested that accounting control is primarily used for coercion and subordination of employees to accomplish management objectives. Although remuneration enforces competitive economic behavior, it has been found that cooperative behavior factors tend to narrow compensation gaps and thereby increase organizational performance.²⁵

An important aspect of the remunerative and coercive control dimension is related to the extent of control—tight versus remote control—and the scope of control—narrow or broad—depending on the number of activities assigned to a subordinate.²⁶ Given these two dimensions, coercive control encompasses tight control and narrow activities, whereas remunerative control involves a combination of both tight and remote control and broader responsibilities. However, for lower-level participants, the scope is usually narrow and well defined.

Accordingly, the commitment of organizational members and their internalization of norms are likely to be affected by the prevailing power, control, and compliance system characteristics: normative, coercive, or remunerative.

If either type of management control system is expected to be adaptive and integrative, the control process becomes social and political, with decision outcomes reflecting concern for individual, group/team and leadership interests. Accordingly, a cultural systems analysis approach is presented below to examine the functionality of the three forms of management control—coercive, instrumental, and normative—and their relationships to organizational development and management of work teams.

Although there are significant differences in these three types of control systems, it needs to be noted that they all coexist in organizations in one form or another. Normative and coercive control systems both use economic incentives to legitimize either method of compliance at the work place and affect overall work team effectiveness.

From an organizational adaptive systems change perspective, it is argued that management control systems, whether normative, coercive, or remunerative/ instrumental, have functional attributes. Organizations as systems are multidimensional and include management control systems, whose functions are purposive and are able to institutionalize cultural norms for managing teams. Accordingly, adaptive systems change strategies; for example, systems analysis, organizational, and cultural systems change, organizational change and development approaches, process and structural intervention strategies, and power relationships and compliance systems suggest that the three types of control systems can coexist at the same time. Accordingly, normative, coercive, or remunerative control systems follow adaptive strategies for managing teams and implement team-based organizational control systems.

SYSTEMS APPROACH TO ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE AND DEVELOPMENT

An Overview of Systems Theory

Systems theory "is concerned with articulating patterns of contingent relationships among collection of variables that appear to figure in organizational survival." The systems approach studies organizations in relation to contextual environmental factors such as "structure, size, technology, and leadership patterns."²⁷ The approach views organizations as being composed of several systems that are interdependent, where a change in one or more parts of the system will affect the entire system.

Organizations as systems are purposeful. They comprise individuals, groups/ teams, structures, systems, and policies.²⁸ According to Nadler, the systems model looks at organizations as comprising four major components (subsystems). These include: "the tasks (work to be done in the organization), individuals (who perform the work in the organization), formal organizational arrangements (processes that motivate people to work or achieve organizational goals)," and a set of informal organizational arrangements that deal with "communication, power, influence, values, and norms."²⁹ The model assumes the four parts are interrelated, with functional relationships that promote congruence and system maintenance.

The stability of systems relationships and their congruence within organizations, as well as their ability to develop adaptive structures as they interface with environmental changes, have been the focus of structural–functional (SF) analysis. Selznick described the SF analysis as relating organizational structural behavioral characteristics of communication, authority, management relations, social roles, and sources of power to the maintenance and continuity of a stable organization.³⁰

Accordingly, systems analysis indicates that the formation of teams in an organization is adaptive and systemic-integrative, as it draws members from several cross-functional areas to manage complex tasks that have a broader, organization wide scope. System analysis stresses that SF assumptions of congruity ensure a match between individual team member skills and the system goals of the organization. Functional importance matches rewards consistent with the skills of employees (including team members) and demands of the organization.³¹ Although systems theory emphasizes stability, adaptation, and functional congruity, it also "recognizes the fact that individuals, tasks, strategies, and environments may differ greatly from organization to organization."³²

Environmental Changes and Organizational Development Change Strategies

Organizations as systems are affected by environmental changes and are always in flux to attain a state of equilibrium to preserve system characteristics. As organizations strive to maintain a balance between the organization and the larger environment, they actively take inputs and transform them into outputs. The transformation process requires organizations to adapt to external environmental changes to survive and improve organizational performance.³³ Systems are defined by internal processes as well as by processes linking them to their environment. The continued interaction between an organization and its environment introduces what Thompson and McEwen referred to as environmental control, which brings about changes or even alteration of goals.³⁴ Accordingly, the degree of environmental control over the organizational goal setting process could be manifest in the form of competition, bargaining, cooptation, or coalition. Work teams are formed to prepare strategic plans and develop missions and goals to align organization resources with changing requirements of the external environment.

Organizations as functional systems not only adapt to environmental control but also incorporate transaction costs associated with technology, production, and innovation. Therefore, transactions from divisional interdependency can occur even among organizations that are in direct competition.³⁵ As organizational subsystems become increasingly interdependent, they not only compete but also bargain, coopt, or resort to the formation of coalition groups to pursue their purposive goals. The use of work group teams in managing transaction costs associated with technology, production, distribution, and delivery of products and services becomes more critical³⁶ as organizations develop innovative ways to handle their operating activities and attempt to control environmental changes through cooptation, bargaining, cooperation, or coalition formation.

Environmental changes affect organizational systems, structure, strategy, functions, procedures, and day-to-day activities. The effect of environmental changes on the current performance of the organization depends on whether these changes are minor or significant. Whether the environmental effect is minimal or significant, organizations go through a series of stages to maintain stability and continuity. Work teams become instrumental in that organizational development process.

According to Barnett and Carroll, the adaptive organizational change process "assumes that change in the world of organizations occurs mainly through the adaptive responses of existing individual organizations to prior changes in technology, environment or whatever."³⁷ Stability, adaptation, and change have become the focus of the institutional approach, which has its theoretical foundation rooted in the SF analysis of organizations.

The Institutional Approach to Organizational Change

Baker, Faulkner, and Fisher advanced the view that organizations go through at least three stages as they are institutionalized.³⁸ These stages are emergence, stability, and crisis. Stages two and three—stability and crisis, are relevant for understanding the effect of organizational change and developmental stages on management control of teams: power relations and compliance types.

Stage One—Emergence. In the emergence stage, social structures, roles, and relationships are fluid. The rules of interaction and exchange among employees are not yet fully developed and understood. Organizational members devote their time to learning work rules and internalizing these behaviors. During this period, founding leaders (managers) who are charismatic and inspirational have substantial influence in shaping the future growth and direction of the organization.³⁹ Management control systems are informal, and the founding leaders continuously shape and enforce the formation and control of team activities. Although the limited number of employees allows face-to-face interaction, management control systems tend to be unidirectional from top to bottom, characterized by what Etzioni characterized as coercive–authoritative power that is a unidirectional–top down decision-making process. Founding leaders portray

normative behavior attributes that Etzioni described as having charisma, prestige, and esteem----characteristics essential to soliciting employee and team involvement and commitment in the initial growth stage of the organization.⁴⁰

Selznick suggested that leadership role is effective and has the greatest effect on management control systems at the founding stage of organizational growth.⁴¹ Strong leadership at the early stage provides guidance and direction and ensures the institutionalization of work rules, formation of teams, committee decisionmaking processes, and employee professional relationships as well as organizational norms, values, and regulations.

Stage Two—Stability. In stage two, organizations are mature and institutionalized. At this stage, organizations develop their own identity, norms, and values, which in turn provide direction, stability, functionality, and solidarity to group members.⁴² Organizational norms and values shape members' behavior and work rules. Employees, as well as team leaders and members, demonstrate loyalty and commitment by observing these norms in all aspects of organizational life.

During stability, the social acts and behaviors performed by organization members tend to be recurring, persistent over time, and have a lasting effect on their actions. These behaviors are transmitted across organization members. Management control guidelines are developed, formalized, and enforced to guide actors' behaviors, authority, management hierarchy, communication, and reporting systems.

Instrumental (remunerative) control systems defining salaries, rewards, benefits, and the allocation of resources are tied to the functional importance of a position and the contribution of employees/teams to the achievement of organizational goals. Employee behaviors tend to be calculative and directed toward conformity with what Etzioni described as remunerative control systems that prevail in these stable organizations.⁴³ The stability stage is characteristic of manufacturing organizations that have well-defined mechanistic–centralized structures with well-defined management–labor contractual relationships. Organizations incorporate certain cultural beliefs, myths, knowledge, values, norms, perspectives, and attitudes that provide structures for guiding member participation in organizational activities.⁴⁴ When these ideologies are consistent and can be easily understood by members, and employees are rewarded for following them, management can use them to empower members, mobilize resources, and implement rational choices that consider all possible actions before selecting the best alternative.

STABILITY AND FUNCTIONALISM OF MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS. The functional view of sociology defines social organizations as rational purposive social systems.⁴⁵ Accordingly, the formation of work teams in organizations is rooted in functional emphasis of stability and continuity, where management control systems and

compliance systems are grounded on concerns for authority, accountability, and contractual relationships between supervisors and subordinates. Stability and rational decision-making approaches among team members in management accounting systems are based on the functional view of social organizations.

The functional approach described stability as the ultimate objective of organizations, as it facilitated utilization of the rational choice model for the design of management control systems, resource allocation decisions, and the provision of services to enable the socioeconomic system to function effectively. Behavioral accounting research has applied the classical-functional approach to explain management use of formal control systems for incentives and compensation management, or to what Etzioni⁴⁶ referred as calculative remuneration, performance evaluation of individuals and teams, and ensuring behavior consistent with management goals.⁴⁷ Although management control systems at the lower and middle management levels stressed instrumental–remunerative control for contractual relationships between supervisors and subordinates, control at the upper levels of management is characterized by an integrated approach that combines both remunerative and normative features.

FUNCTIONALISM AND DIFFERENTIATION. When organizations grow over time, they tend to become more complex. This complexity creates a need for the organization to divide into subunits or departments,⁴⁸ providing ample opportunities for the formation of cross-functional work teams. Specialization and differentiation increase the size and complexity of the organization and eventually change the unitary (U-form)-functional organization to the multiple (M-form)-divisional structures. The internal structures of divisionalized organizations are highly differentiated, bureaucratized, and formalized and are less democratic. Managers seek to solidify their power through coercive mechanisms by controlling the decision-making process for resource allocation decisions. They develop several levels of hierarchy to solidify their control over employees, work teams, consumers, and suppliers.

Management control systems have been used to reinforce goal congruence through incentive systems, including coercion among team members. Management has institutionalized several accounting standards, including budget targets, profit goals, and performance evaluation systems, to evaluate divisional performance, control management behavior, and develop commonly shared corporate culture among employees and team members.⁴⁹ Management accounting systems have become avenues for reinforcing goal congruence through incentive systems, including coercion, if necessary, to secure employee and team compliance with organizational rules, procedures and goals. Thus, institutionalization becomes an effective process through which a planned change program can be incorporated into the organizational culture and team management control systems. However, over the long term, bureaucratic rules and formal control systems may be dysfunctional for an organization if there are continual turbulent changes and discontinuity in the organizational environment. *Stage Three*—*Crisis.* When there are volatile changes in the external environment, an organization's choice of organizational growth and development strategies increases. If these turbulent changes cause an organization's level of performance to fall below the industry average, it can create a crisis. It increases the need for the formation of work teams to solve the organization's current crisis.

The crisis stage involves a period of unrest and instability. Crisis necessitates the need for organizational change and transformation.⁵⁰ During the crisis stage, it is critical that changes in the existing management control systems align control and reporting systems with organizational performance goals. The roles of leadership and teams are both critical in the organization's crisis stage of growth as the organization experiences changes in its functions, structures, systems, strategies, and policies. The crisis stage in many organizations has been accompanied by the formation of new teams to develop strategies for managing the organizational crisis, even if the strategy requires downsizing, divesting, and concentration of organizational resources in selected markets and geographical areas.

Although institutional approaches in sociology emphasized the key role of the leader in the early founding stages, evolution, and gradual adaptation of organizational systems to environment changes, management of the crisis stage also depends on leadership capability to institute adaptive organizational system change through a gradual, orderly, and consensual process. The effect of leadership and top management teams in large corporations, particularly when organizations adopt mergers and acquisitive growth strategies in response to crisis and environmental volatility, has been significant.⁵¹ Although environmental changes generate discontinuity and "dysfunction" in social systems, the institutional approach emphasized the ability of leaders to facilitate the adaptation process of social systems.⁵²

To this effect, Giddens noted that social actions and structures are influenced by dominant leadership characteristics, which shape regular relations of autonomy and dependence in social interactions. These social systems are continually shifting and adapting as leadership resources, skills, roles, positions, and structures change over time.⁵³ In the process, some systems persist by adapting to environmental changes, while others disintegrate. Management in these organizations institutes control system improvements that include changes that range from individually centered to team-based performance and reward systems. Accordingly, the formation of cross-functional teams and work groups become paramount in handling complex functions that cannot be effectively addressed by divisional/departmental specialists.

SYSTEMS INTERVENTION STRATEGIES: PROCESS VS. STRUCTURAL INTERVENTION

The systems approach indicates that organizations pursue simultaneously both process and structural intervention strategies to create desired changes in work team functions. Process and structural interventions thus affect management control systems and the operational performance of organizations.

Process Intervention

Process intervention strategies target changing people's behavior, culture, organizational communication styles, and flow of information. Process changes address behaviors, attitudes, and interpersonal and intergroup interactions, which affect system maintenance and team functions.⁵⁴ The principles behind process intervention strategies are based on the relationship between teamwork characteristics and cultural change.

Process changes are functional if team members operate within horizontal and lateral structures. When team members receive nonhierarchical cooperation that allows their full participation in problem identification and resolution, process intervention facilitates the formation of interdepartmental and cross-functional management teams that can collaboratively work on specified activities.

Structural Intervention

However, structural intervention strategies are oriented toward changing the components of organizational systems. They include changes in organization/job design, reward systems, performance management systems, and accounting control systems that affect team performance outcome.⁵⁵

Both process and structural interventions pursue an organizational development (OD) strategy in managing behavioral and organizational changes.

Organizational Development (OD): Definition. Porras and Silvers described OD as a change program designed to create a better fit between the organization's capabilities and the demands of its current environment, or to promote changes in the organization that help it better fit the future environment it expects to face. OD attempts to achieve this fit through planned change that emphasizes changes in employee cognition and behavior.⁵⁶ Recently, the focus of OD has shifted from affecting individual and group behavior directly to more indirect process intervention intended to alter behavior through changes in structural arrangements and reward systems. Porras and Hoffer considered the functional–congruence view of OD as important for organizational change. They proposed that "if behavior is influenced by characteristics of an organization's internal environment— that is, its system elements—then altering the system elements should lead to altering behavior on the job."⁵⁷ Accordingly, they proposed that the function of OD interventions is to alter individual behavior and internal organizational systems.

OD also can enhance organizational climate, which, in turn, influences labor relations, "employees' behavior and organizational performance."⁵⁸ Organizations that employ OD consultants search for experts who facilitate congruity of

employee behavior with organizational goals. Congruencies of behavior consist of those behaviors consistent with OD agent values, adaptable to change, open to new ideas and experiential learning, and adaptable to organization culture and values.

OD and Incremental Change/Learning Strategy. The OD approach to change advocates a gradual and incremental adjustment of change over time. It emphasizes the importance of consensus, participation, acceptance, and employee involvement in the change process. According to Buller and McEvoy, "the initial adoption of a planned organizational change is a function of a number of individual, group, and organizational factors. These factors combine to determine the overall level of acceptance and commitment to the change by organization members."⁵⁹ Institutionalization of these factors is supported through training, employee involvement, promotion, and a combination of intrinsic as well as extrinsic rewards. The objective of OD is to contribute to the personal development of organization members and the improvement of organizational performance.

The OD intervention strategy is described as incremental and gradual. The approach emphasizes the importance of leadership and change agents (champions) in change management. As such, OD stresses cultural change and education, which focuses on changing employee attitudes, behaviors, work habits, and beliefs.

The incremental OD approach, which is an example of single-loop learning, has been popular in continuous improvement programs such as total quality management (TQM). TQM is based on the principles of education, training, and organizational learning to sustain continuous improvement and change in organizational performance. TQM uses teamwork, interdivisional cooperation, cultural change, and institutional development in planning and implementing successful process innovation.

TQM's approach of bottom-up participation and the use of change leaders (e.g., quality circles) has been advocated for production and quality improvement programs. The incremental-gradual change strategy of TQM is reflected in the changes made in various accounting systems. Changes in accounting and internal control have become primarily incremental, involving procedural and operating changes.⁶⁰ Accounting as an administrative tool involves planning, budgeting, and internal control and reporting systems that affect managerial communication and decision-making. As described above, the culture of the organization shapes the accounting systems can be implemented.⁶¹

According to Damanpour and Evan, "an administrative innovation that brings structural changes has more impact in organizational performance than one can expect from technical innovation alone. Administrative innovation supports and facilitates the adoption of technical innovations and improves the organization's ability for institutional problem solving. Administrative innovations can change an organization's climate, communication, interdepartmental relations, personnel policies, and so on. In turn, they provide new opportunities for the initiation and adoption of innovations in the technical system." 62

Daft stressed that the success of administrative innovation depends on organizational structural arrangements that support the innovation. Structural arrangements refer to the level and ratio of management groups in the organization's hierarchy.⁶³ The more management levels, the greater the management hierarchy and intensity within the organization. Damanpour pointed out that administrative intensity, related to high managerial ratio and multilayered management hierarchy, facilitates the adoption of administrative innovation. Because administrative intensity affects the adoption process the most. As the management group ratio rises, the chances for successful administrative integration and adoption increase.⁶⁴ Such administrative innovation tends to be limited in scope because of constraints inherent in the hierarchical structure.

When management introduces cultural changes to support administrative innovations, process intervention changes are designed to initiate attitude and behavioral changes among organizational employees. Process changes involve new behavior patterns to foster interpersonal and intergroup interaction and create improved formal and informal communication linkages within work groups/ teams and among individuals at all organizational levels. According to Van de Ven, "from a managerial viewpoint, to understand the process of innovation is to understand the factors that facilitate and inhibit the development of innovations. These factors include ideas, people, transactions, and context over time."⁶⁵ The end result of process changes is to encourage divisions and departments to work together to achieve organizational level objectives. When process innovations are accompanied by cultural changes, it has the desirable effect of motivating employees in the accounting department to participate in the achievement of department- and organization-wide objectives.

Organizations utilize the OD intervention strategy to introduce planned administrative innovation programs. As mentioned earlier, a popular OD intervention strategy in the 1990s was TQM, which was implemented to develop new operating methods to improve product quality or streamline an administrative system such as personnel or accounting. However, unanticipated implementation problems that can affect successful implementation of the innovation program are likely to prevail if these programs do not involve all members of the organization, including the accounting staff, and do not have the full support of management as part of their overall organizational change strategy.⁶⁶

OD addresses both process and structural intervention strategies because they simultaneously affect team characteristics, functions, and cultural interactions, as well as the structural aspects of management control systems. Accordingly, accounting control systems will be affected by both structural and process intervention changes. These include changes in organizational structures, performance improvement requirements, and process changes affecting individual and team/group cultural environments. However, these changes may require a radical approach of organizational transformation that goes beyond OD intervention strategies.

Organizational Transformation (OT): A Radical Intervention Learning Strategy

Organizational Transformation (OT) Strategy. In contrast to OD, OT strategy, according to Porras and Silvers, advocates a long-term plan that promotes paradigmatic changes to help the organization better fit its current environment or creates a more desirable future environment. It focuses on organizational learning and a new vision for the organization. The paradigm shift in OT affects the entire behavior across the whole organization, thereby creating new organizational behavior and giving individual employees a new way of viewing their job.⁶⁷ Thus, OT intervention leads to both cognition change and commitment to radical change.

The OT process in organizations involves reciprocal exchange relationships to promote congruency and coherence among various units of the organization. Congruence promotes stability and the alignment of resources to satisfy new requirements for system maintenance brought about by environmental changes.⁶⁸

OT's Approaches to Organizational Systems Change. Barnett and Carroll indicated that OT could involve a change in either content or process. When an organization changes its content, it has dramatically altered an element or all parts of its organizational structure, including mission, strategy, authority structure, and technology.⁶⁹ A process change, in contrast, affects the way the organization operates within its environmental context, the sequence of activities, and the decision-making and communication systems, as well as the resistance encountered in the organization. Structural change entails changes in organizations' divisions/departments and functions, job design, and organization of work processes and performance evaluation systems.⁷⁰ Process and structural changes have become instrumental in bringing organizational change and development.⁷¹

Technological innovations such as business process reengineering (BPR) have made significant structural changes in manufacturing processes; among others, in inventory and production scheduling management, delivery techniques, and product design and quality improvements.⁷² For example, BPR as an OT intervention strategy not only altered organizational systems but also resulted in downsizing and restructuring of organizations. With the advent of new information technology, the implications of BPR's resizing and work processes configurations are substantial for accounting and internal control, particularly with those repetitive, routine functions dealing with the management of current assets and liabilities.⁷³

For example, Davidson has suggested that reengineering programs focus on business transformation (another terminology for OT), followed by organizational change. OT accompanies the BPR approach, which follows double-loop learning. Accordingly, the philosophy of "transformation focuses first on business processes and infrastructure, and second on organizational structures and systems." In other words, business activities can be structured to improve performance "and to then drive organizational change to align with the new business model."⁷⁴

BPR as a business transformation strategy is an example of the OT approach, which assumes that organizational innovations encompass structural changes that involve more than improvements in operational performance. Rather, the focus of the transformation is on the development of core competencies and infrastructure to support core business activities, where organizations can build their "capabilities to introduce enhanced services and value-added processes that in turn can grow into new stand-alone businesses. A philosophy that focuses on the latent business growth potential of the core business represents a fundamental shift in management focus."⁷⁵

The Effect of Information Technology on OT

The role of information technology is critical for OT-oriented process innovation to take place in organizations. Information occupies "a central role as the enabler of entirely new, cross-functional business processes. Computer and communications technology enables organizations to break the old rules and conventions that dictated the design of business processes."⁷⁶ Information technology can serve "to increase flexibility, to improve communication, and to integrate different functions and organizations."⁷⁷ Accounting as an economic information system thus becomes a cornerstone in business process innovation. Whereas OD innovation intervention is limited to a single organizational unit or function, OT focuses on changing several units or functions with interdependent operating activities.

The systems approach, whether it involves OD's process and structural changes or OT's radical changes, advocates that the functional goals of organizational systems are to sustain acculturation, organizational achievement, stability, adaptability, and survival. In accounting, the systems approach implies that environmental change, systems interdependency, transaction costs, and performance improvement will affect management control systems, whether they involve normative, coercive, or instrumental power control and compliance systems. In other words, the effective functioning of teams or formal work groups in management control systems is dependent on the prevailing characteristics of power control relationship and the organization's cultural and social environments.

A PROCESS VIEW OF CULTURE AND ORGANIZATIONAL POWER CONTROL

The systems approach defines organizations as having cultures. Over time, as organizations become increasingly complex and institutionalized, they develop their own cultural identity, norms, and values.⁷⁸ Organizational culture shapes

individual as well as team member behavior by providing direction, stability, and solidarity to group members.⁷⁹ Team members show their loyalty and commitment by observing and participating in the rituals of organizational life. Institutionalization ensures that cultural change results are observable and detectable through employee behavior, cognition, and values. Institutionalization becomes an effective process through which planned change programs can be incorporated into organizational culture. "If organizational norms and values are supportive of the change, it will achieve a high level of institutionalization; if norms and values are not supportive, then the change is not likely to occur."⁸⁰

The systems approach takes a functional view of organizational culture when describing decision-making processes. As functional groups, teams contribute to the overall maintenance and operation of organizational subsystems. Team culture and operating procedures become effectively integrated into the overall organizational culture. When institutionalized, culture plays a central role in the formation of social structure and the distribution of power and resources.⁸¹

Culture-Definitions

By definition, culture encompasses a set of shared assumptions, values, beliefs, and norms that are understood and accepted by individual members and groups within an organization. "Drawn from anthropology, the concept of culture is meant to describe the relatively enduring set of values and norms that underlie a social system."⁸² Accordingly, cultural behaviors tend to exhibit enduring patterns of persistence and continuity over time.⁸³

Organizational culture thus consists of norms, values, beliefs, procedures and rules that are shared and bind members together. Feldman defined "organizational culture . . . as a set of meanings created within the organization but influenced by broader social and historical processes. Organizational members use these meanings—norms, roles, plans, ideals and ideas—to make sense out of the flow of actions and events they experience."⁸⁴ Leadership, founding members, and individual and team/group commitment to certain ideals can help create an organizational culture that influences behavior, commitment, organizational decisions, and attitudes toward innovation.⁸⁵

Accordingly, culture becomes an important component of the organizational change, development and management control process.⁸⁶ Cultural norms can be transformed into normative control if they emphasize solidarity, social identity, and the feeling of being part of the group; increase individual identification with the group; and strengthen commitment to the group and organizational goals, thereby reducing turnover.⁸⁷ Accordingly, understanding cross-cultural differences in a diverse group or team is critical for promoting cultural diversity as well as increasing assimilation into the group culture, an important component of the organizational change and development process in a diverse society.

Teece approached culture as part of an organization's informal structure.⁸⁸ Culture represents the subjective and nonrational values shared by organization members. The subjective view of culture indicates that "culture focuses attention on the expressive, non-rational qualities of the experience of the organization."⁸⁹ Culture expresses what Etzioni referred as the normative–ritualistic expressive control system.⁹⁰ Culture thus incorporates issues related to emotion, affection, bias, and prejudice—issues not addressed by the rational model of organizations, but related to expressive–ritualistic aspects of organization life.

Culture becomes a salient form of organizational power and control systems. Culture can augment coercive control if it is used as "an effective way of controlling and coordinating people without elaborate and rigid formal control systems."⁹¹ Once members internalize culture, it becomes part of formal management control systems in organizations. Once culture is institutionalized, it can be "managed, controlled and intentionally changed" by managers to support existing power and compliance systems.⁹² If managed properly, culture can become an important instrumental and normative power control for managing teams and directing their activities toward improving organizational performance.

Cultural Change and Development in Organizations

Managers can use existing culture as a lever to influence the course of strategy formulation and implementation. Culture in essence can become "the central focus of an organization's strategy for change."⁹³ "The belief is that firms that have internal cultures supportive of their strategies are more likely to be successful."⁹⁴ At the same time, management can use the coercive control mechanisms of culture to legitimize existing control systems and power wealth disparities.

The cultural perspective views organizational change as encompassing "changes in patterns of behavior, values and meanings" where "changes in strategy, structure and leadership... are intimately connected to cultural change."⁹⁵ Kanter argued that there are at least four positive attributes of organizational development associated with cultural change. First, when cultural change flattens hierarchical structures and decision-making processes, it encourages employee involvement in organizational decisions. Second, cultural change facilitates effective lateral and horizontal communication. Third, it creates a positive work environment. Fourth, it encourages egalitarian working relationships.⁹⁶ In other words, normative cultural attributes of flat hierarchy, job restructuring to permit work teams to perform specific production functions, and on-the-job training have been associated with continuous improvement programs. Normative cultural control thus provides a supportive climate conducive for the effective operations of functional teams.

The OD literature has advanced the view that when cultural homogenization among organizational team members develops, a high degree of social interaction facilitates information sharing.⁹⁷ Culture performs a functional role when team members develop loyalty, trust, and commitment, as their relationships with the organization and its external environment remain relatively stable. When group membership is diverse, cultural issues enhance instrumental control when they are directed on how best to manage groups to facilitating functional relationships among employees, organizations, and the environment.

Barsade, Ward, Turner, and Sonnenfeld discussed the role of positive affective diversity in groups and top management teams. They described positive affective diversity as encompassing psychological personality factors and dispositions that arise from pleasant emotional engagement, high levels of enthusiasm, positive attitudes, energy, and other demographic factors such as age, gender, or race that affect group composition. They suggested that affective diversity of both personality and group components would affect individual member relations with the group, group cohesiveness, and individual perceptions of influence, satisfaction, and participation within the group.⁹⁸ In groups characterized by positive affective diversity, normative culture that increases group process interaction results in better group functionality and performance.

An organization's need for managers, teams, and groups to coordinate the growing functional areas increases as the organization evolves from the unitary (U-form)-functional organization to the organization with multiple (M-form)-divisional structures. As organizations become complex, their internal subsystems are divided into subunits or departments.⁹⁹ With increasing organizational complexity, cultural homogeneity cannot be sustained. Managers develop layers of hierarchy to monitor complex structures and solidify their control over employees, consumers, and suppliers. Grattet, Jenness, and Curry suggest that in addition to structural complexity, institutionalization "can also produce differentiation of cultural forms and practices."¹⁰⁰

Yet organizations that are highly differentiated and heterogeneous can support the formation of teams and work groups drawn from several functional areas of management. Differentiation can provide management avenues for normative control by promoting cohesiveness and solidarity among team members who share similar views and opinions on a given issue. Differentiation requires instrumental control of teams if cross-divisional teams are assigned to work on a given specific task.

The relationship between cultural diversity and normative versus instrumental control is related to the size of the organizational populations and systems. As systems size increases, cultural homogeneity decreases, minimizing the affective attributes of normative control mechanisms to facilitate work team compliance. "Large organizations have greater cultural diversity than do small organizations."¹⁰¹ In larger organizations, specialization and diversity of topics on work-related issues, as well as opinions and political differences, are greater. Teams become instrumental by providing forums for diverse group members with similar interests and specialization to work on projects directed towards improving overall organizational performance.

Burke and Litwin have stressed that "corporate culture (beliefs and values) determines the type of reward system an organization has."¹⁰² If a corporate culture has a stated policy to reward either individual or team performance results, then the organizational reward system should reflect those stated policies. To

change employee behavior, managers need to change those values that conflict with organizational goals and reward those instrumental behaviors that reflect new values consistent with management behavior and strategy. According to Burke and Litwin, "culture change must be planned as well and aligned with strategy and leader behavior."¹⁰³ The effect of cultural change on organizational performance depends on the degree and scope of change. When cultural change focuses on organizational mission, it affects the total system. "Changing structure, on the other hand, may or may not affect the total system. It depends on where in the organization a structural change might occur."¹⁰⁴ When cultural change is accompanied by structural change, a successful change process becomes more integrative and systemic, resulting in long-term sustainable change in organizational activities accompanied by continuous innovations in management control systems.

A CULTURAL SYSTEMS VIEW OF MANAGEMENT CONTROL INNOVATION: THE SHIFT FROM INDIVIDUAL TO TEAM-BASED MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

The systems approach to organizational change and management control innovation is rooted in the principles of OD intervention strategy. OD has been viewed by Porras and Silvers as a change program designed to create a "better fit between the organization's capabilities and its current environmental demands, or promoting changes that help the organization to better fit predicted future environments....OD concentrates on work-setting changes that help an organization adapt to its external environments." It focuses on "planned change" approaches that emphasize "change in individual employees' cognitions as well as behaviors."¹⁰⁵ Accordingly, OD has focused on individual and group processes as well as structural arrangements and reward systems.

The cultural intervention approach of OD has been popular in continuous improvement programs of TQM, where bottom-up participation and the use of change leaders (quality circles) have been advocated for production and quality improvement programs.¹⁰⁶ However, as Brynjolfsson, Renshaw, and Alstyne noted, targeted changes in a single system can be counterproductive: "It may be that no single isolated change can improve a process, but that a coordinated change can."¹⁰⁷ The OD approach has advocated simultaneous changes in all organizational systems. Because all systems are interrelated, a change in one component of the system affects all other organizational systems.

The systems approach maintains that the adoption of new methods, including technological and administrative innovation, requires OD-based cultural intervention changes in attitudes, behaviors, and beliefs. These changes can be taught through formal education and training, seminars, delegation to employees, reward systems, and communication channels. To bring about successful cultural change, it is essential for leaders to champion these systemic changes by encouraging members to be involved in teamwork and increasing their involvement in decision-making, and granting employees more responsibility for making managerial decisions. When process changes are accompanied by structural intervention improvements through job restructuring and enrichment, organizational design, task realignment, and horizontal reporting systems, management control innovations are likely to be successfully implemented throughout the organization.

Systems research in management control has concentrated on a variety of subsystems, including the external environment, organizational structures, and production technologies, that affect the design and implementation of management control systems. Systems theory and its effect on the study of organizations as interdependent systems, the definition of functions and formal positions as embedded in a particular social system, and analysis of a structure in relation to its environment all emphasize the importance of contingency theory in management control research.

Contingency research, in turn, analyzes the components of a given organization and its structure and cultural settings, a firm's ability to innovate and adapt to change, and the effect that environment, technology, and competition have on strategy and the subsequent design and implementation of management control systems.¹⁰⁸ For example, given current changes in the manufacturing environment, contingency approaches could be applied to explain variations in process adoption strategies, relating to just-in-time (JIT) and activity-based costing (ABC) methods for improving cost-accounting systems. Contingency analysis, derived from social systems theory, can be extended to study those unique, situational characteristics of control systems¹⁰⁹ that create a better fit for team decision making on controlling costs and improving organizational profitability, an approach that would corroborate the findings of Drake et al.¹¹⁰

Contingency analysis was especially applicable in the 1990s, when substantial changes took place in the business environment. These included intense international competition; shifts in customer demands from high-volume, low-cost products to better quality, customized products; increased governmental regulation molding business organizations accountable for their products and services; and increased organizational concentration resulting from mergers and acquisitions in high technology, electronics, telephones, and consumer products and services. To respond to these rapid-paced environmental changes, business organizations initiated the quality movement. New management philosophies such as TQM and business process reengineering (BPR) were implemented in many organizations to support more flexible organizational structures and systems to manage process innovation changes.¹¹¹

These organizational changes have shifted the basis of management control systems from meeting separate, individually based budgetary goals to a dependence on the achievement of organization-wide goals. Performance and compensation packages are now being increasingly tied to team-based performance goals. These environmentally induced changes in management control systems have led to profound cultural changes. The conventional model of

management control, which stressed individual control, centered on principalagent (management-subordinate) relationships, hierarchy of authority, chain of command, and bureaucratic control, has changed its focus from individual to team-based control systems. Accordingly, in Chapter 6, the effectiveness of team-based management controls that are employed in manufacturing organizations to monitor production quality and cost control, as well as manage incentive systems, will be discussed. Chapter 6 outlines the management control contexts under which self-managing teams have been extensively used in the design and implementation of process innovation changes in management accounting systems such as ABC. It is shown that team-based control in organizational management, in turn, has been necessitated by innovative approaches in management accounting systems such as ABC.

NOTES

1. A. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations: In Power, Involvement, and Their Correlates (New York: The Free Press, 1961).

2. S. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997).

3. G. Burell and G. Morgan, Sociological Paradigms: Organizational Analysis (Portsmouth, N.H.: Heinemann, 1979).

4. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting.

5. A. Etzioni, "Compliance structures," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman (New York: The Free Press, 1980), 87–88.

6. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations.

7. A. Etzioni, Modern Organizations (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1964).

8. Etzioni, "Compliance structures," 87-100.

9. This section on types of control and compliance systems integrates S. Sisaye, "Management control systems and organizational development: New directions for managing work teams," *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005), 51–61.

10. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations, 5; and "Compliance structures," 88.

11. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis, 10.

12. Ibid., 32, 31.

13. Ibid., 52-53; and "Compliance structures," 91.

14. Refer to P. Selznick, Leadership in Administration: A Sociological Interpretation (Evanston, Ill.: Row & Peterson, 1957).

15. A.P. Hare, "Group decision by consensus: Reaching unity in the society of friends," *Sociological Inquiry* 43 (1973), 75–84.

16. Ibid., 82-84.

17. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis, 13; see also 5, 27, 28, and 29.

18. J. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage: Concertive control in self-managing teams," Administrative Science Quarterly 38 (1993), 435.

19. G. Sewell, "The discipline of teams: The control of team based industrial work through electronic and peer surveillance," Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998), 397-428.

20. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis, 5; and "Compliance structures," 88.

21. Etzioni, "Compliance structures," ibid., 91.

22. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis, 31, 164.

23. Ibid., 32.

24. Ibid., 141-42.

25. Refer to M. Ezzamel and H. Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork: A critical study of group-based systems of organizational control," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998), 358–96; and A.D. Henderson and J. W. Fredrickson, "Top management team coordination needs and the CEO pay gap: A competitive test of economic and behavioral views," *Academy of Management Journal* 44 (2001), 96–117.

26. A. Etzioni, "Compliance structures," 95.

27. L. Smirch, "Concepts of culture and organizational analysis," Administrative Science Quarterly 28 (1983), 344.

28. For details, refer to R.L. Ackoff and F. E. Emery, On Purposeful Systems (Chicago: Aldine, 1972); M. Beer, Organization Change and Development: A Systems View (Glenview, Ill.: Scott & Foresman, 1980); C.W. Churchman, The Systems Approach (New York: Delacorte Press, 1968); and The Systems Approach and Its Enemies (New York: Basic Books, 1979); L. Tracy, "Applications of living systems theory to the study of management and organizational behavior," Behavioral Science 38 (1993), 218–30; and L. von Bertalanffy, Perspectives on General System Theory: Scientific Philosophical Studies, translated by E. Taschdjian (New York: George Brazuller, 1975).

29. D.A. Nadler, "Managing organizational change: An integrative approach," The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 17 (1981), 193.

30. P. Selznick, "Foundations of the theory of organizations," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 2nd ed., ed. A. Etzioni (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1969), 25.

31. T. Parsons, *The Social Systems* (New York: The Free Press, 1951). For details, refer to K. D. Bailey, "Post-functional social systems analysis," *The Sociological Quarterly* 23 (1982), 509–26.

32. Nadler, "Managing organizational change," 14.

33. See K.L. Boulding, "General systems theory: The skeleton of science," in Sociology and Modern Systems Theory, ed. W. Buckley (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1967), 1–10. Refer also to D. Katz. and R. L. Khan., "Common characteristics of open systems," in Systems Thinking: Selected Readings, ed. F. E. Emery (Baltimore: Penguin Books, 1969); and their book on The Social Psychology of Organizations (New York: Wiley, 1978).

34. G. Thompson and W. J. McEwen, "Organizational goals and environment," in A Sociological Reader, 2nd ed., Etzioni, 187–96.

35. O.E Williamson, "The economics of organization: The transaction cost approach," *American Journal of Sociology* 87 (1987), 548–77.

36. A.R. Drake, S.F. Haka, and S.P. Ravenscroft, "Cost system and incentive structure effects on innovation, efficiency and profitability in teams," *The Accounting Review* 74 (1999), 323–45.

37. W.P. Barnett, and G.R. Carroll, "Modeling internal organizational change," *Annual Review of Sociology* 21(1995), 217–18.

38. W.E. Baker, R.R. Faulkner, and G.A. Fisher, "Hazards of the market: The continuity and dissolution of inter-organizational market relationships," *American Sociological Review* 63 (1998), 147–77. See also N. Fligstein, "The intra-organizational power struggle: Rise of finance personnel to top leadership in large corporations, 1919–1979," *American Sociological Review* 52 (1987), 44–58.

39. W. Boeker, "Strategic Change: The effects of founding and history," Academy of Management Journal 32 (1989), 489–515.

40. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis.

41. Selznick, Leadership in Administration.

42. Ibid. See also Selznick, "Foundations of the theory of organizations."

43. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis.

44. See R.H. Kilmann, Beyond the Quick Fix (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1984); and W.H. Sewell, Jr., "A theory of structure: Duality, agency, and transformation," American Journal of Sociology 98 (1992), 1–29.

45. For details, refer to C. Perrow, *Complex Organizations*, 3rd ed. (New York: Random House, 1986); Selznick, "Foundations of the theory of organizations"; and W.R. Scott, *Organizations: Rational, Natural and Open Systems* (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1987).

46. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis.

47. See K. Merchant, Control in Business Organizations (Boston: Pitman, 1985); and S. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997).

48. W. Boeker, "Strategic Change: The influence of managerial characteristics and organizational growth," *Academy of Management Journal* 40 (1997), 152–70. See also his "The development and institutionalization of sub-unit power in organizations," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 34 (1989), 388–410.

49. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting.

50. Baker et al., "Hazards of the market"; and Fligstein, "The intra-organizational power struggle."

51. S. Lieberson and J. F. O'Connor, "Leadership and organizational performance: A study of large corporations," in *A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations*, 3rd ed., ed. Etzioni and Lehman, 284–99.

52. Perrow, Complex Organizations; and Scott, Organizations.

53. G. Giddens, Social Theory and Modern Sociology (Cambridge, Mass.: Polity Press, 1987).

54. Beer, Organization Change and Development, 4-5.

55. Ibid., pp. 133–35; and W.L. French and C.H. Bell, Jr., Organization Development: Behavioral Science Interventions for Organization Improvement, 2nd ed. (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1978), 74–80, 165–70.

56. J.I. Porras and R.C. Silvers, "Organization development and transformation," Annual Review of Psychology 42 (1991), 51-78.

57. J.I. Porras and S.J. Hoffer, "Common behavior changes in successful organization development efforts," The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 22 (1986), 480.

58. J.I. Porras, K.K. Hargis, J. Patterson, D.G. Maxfield, N. Roberts, and R.J. Bies, "Modeling-based organizational development: A longitudinal assessment," *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 18 (1982), 443, 445.

59. P.F. Buller and G. M. McEvoy, "Determinants of the institutionalization of planned organizational change," *Group and Organization Studies* 14 (1989), 35–36.

60. S. Sisaye and G. Bodnar, "TQM and internal auditing: A synthesis," Internal Auditing 10 (1995), 19-31.

61. S. Sisaye, "Process innovation and adaptive institutional change strategies in management control systems: Activity based costing as administrative innovation," *Advances in Management Accounting* 11 (2003), 251–85.

62. F. Damanpour and W. M. Evan, "Organizational innovation and performance: The problem of 'organizational lag,'" Administrative Science Quarterly 29 (1984), 406.

63. R.L. Daft, "A dual-core model of organizational innovation," Academy of Management Journal 21 (1978), 193-210.

64. F. Damanpour, "The adoption of technological, administrative, and ancillary innovations: Impact of organizational factors," *Journal of Management* 13 (1987), 679, 682.

65. A.H. Van de Ven, "Central problems in the management of innovation," Management Science 32 (1986), 591.

66. S. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems: Process Innovation for Internal Auditing and Management Accounting Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting Series 10 (Amsterdam: Elsevier Sciences, JAI Press, 2001).

67. Porras and Silvers, "Organization development," 54, 58.

68. S.B. Bacharach, P. Bamberger, and W. J. Sonnenstuhl, "The organizational transformation process: The micro-politics of dissonance reduction and the alignment of logic's of action," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 41 (1996), 477–78.

69. Barnett and Carroll, "Modeling internal organizational change." See also M.T. Hannan and J. Freeman, "Structural inertia and organizational change," *American Sociological Review* 49 (1984), 149–64.

70. R.F. Zamutto and E.J. O'Connor, "Gaining advanced manufacturing technologies' benefits: The roles of organizational design and culture," *Academy of Management Review* 17 (1992), 701–28.

71. Van de Ven, A. H. and M. S. Poole. "Explaining development and change in organizations." Academy of Management Review 20 (1995), 510-40.

72. See M. Hammer, "Reengineering work: Don't automate, obliterate," Harvard Business Review 68 (1990), 104–12; and M. Hammer and J. Champy, Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution (New York: Harper Business, 1993).

73. S. Sisaye and G. Bodnar, "TQM and internal auditing: A synthesis," Internal Auditing 10 (1995), 19-31.

74. W.H. Davidson, "Beyond re-engineering: The three phases of business transformation," *IBM Systems Journal* 32 (1993), 77.

75. Ibid.

76. G.K. Gulden and R.H. Reck, "Combining quality and reengineering efforts for process excellence," *Informing Strategy: The Executive Journal* 8 (1992), 16.

77. J.R. Dixon, P. Arnold, J.L. Heineken, J.S. Kinn, and P. Mulligan, "Business process reengineering: Improving in new strategic directions," *California Management Review* 36 (1994), 105.

78. Refer to H.J. Baligh, "Components of culture: Nature, interconnections, and relevance in the decisions on the organization structure," *Management Science* 40 (1994), 14–27; and M.J. Hatch, "The dynamics of organizational culture," *Academy of Management Review* 18 (1993), 657–93.

79. Selznick, Leadership in Administration.

80. P.F. Buller and G. M. McEvoy, "Determinants of the institutionalization of planned organizational change," *Group and Organization Studies* 14 (1989), 34.

81. See Kilmann, Beyond the Quick Fix; and Sewell, "A theory of structure."

82. W.W. Burke and G.H. Litwin, "A causal model of organizational performance and change," *Journal of Management* 18 (1992), 526.

83. M.E. Smith, "The process of socio-cultural continuity," Current Anthropology 23 (1982), 128.

84. S. Feldman, "How organizational culture can affect innovation," Organizational Dynamics 17 (1988), 57.

85. See W. Boeker, "Strategic Change: The effects of founding and history," *Academy of Management Journal* 32 (1989), 489–515; and S. Feldman, "Management in context: An essay on the relevance of culture to the understanding of organizational change," *Journal of Management Studies* 23 (1986), 587–607.

86. P. Bate, "Using the culture concept in an organization development setting," The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 26 (1990), 83–106; and R.B. Lawson and C.L. Ventriss, "Organizational change: The role of organizational culture and organizational learning," The Psychology Record 42 (1992), 205–19.

87. D. Abrams, K. Ando, and S. Hinkle, "Psychological attachment to the group: Cross-cultural differences in organizational identification and subjective norms as predictors of workers' turnover intentions," *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 24 (1998), 1027–39.

88. D.J. Teece, "Firm organization, industrial structure, and technological innovation," Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 31 (1996), 205.

89. Smirch, "Concepts of culture," 355.

90. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis.

91. M.L. Tushman and C.A. O'Reilly III, "Ambidextrous organizations: Managing evolutionary and revolutionary change," *California Management Review* 38 (1996), 18–19. See also J.G. Birnberg and C. Snodgrass, "Culture and control: A field study," *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 13 (1988), 447–64.

92. M. Alvesson, "On the popularity of organizational culture," Acta Sociologica 33 (1990), 37.

93. Bate, "Using the culture concept," 84.

94. Smirch, "Concepts of culture," 346.

95. D. Meyerson and J. Martin, "Cultural change: An integration of three different views," Journal of Management Studies 24 (1987), 624.

96. R.M. Kanter, The Change Masters (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1983).

97. Beer, Organization Change and Development.

98. S.G. Barsade, J. A. Ward, J. D. F. Turner, and J. A. Sonnenfeld, "To your heart's content: A model of affective diversity in top management teams," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45 (2000), 802–36.

99. Boeker, "The development and institutionalization of sub-unit power."

100. Grattet, Jenness, and Curry, "The homogenization and differentiation of hate crime law," 303.

101. N. Mark, "Beyond individual differences: Social differentiation from first principles," American Sociological Review 63 (1998), 322.

102. W.W. Burke and G. H. Litwin, "A casual model of organizational performance and change," Journal of Management 18 (1992), 528-29.

103. Ibid., 529.

104. Ibid.

105. Porras and Silvers, "Organization development," 54.

106. Sisaye and Bodnar, "TQM and internal auditing."

107. E. Brynjolfsson, A. A. Renshaw, and M. V. Alstyne, "The matrix of change," Sloan Management Review 38 (1997), 38.

108. Refer to J. Fisher, "Contingency-based research on management control systems: Categorization by level of complexity," *Journal of Accounting Literature* 9 (1995), 24–53.

109. See J. Fisher, "Contingency theory, management control systems, and firm outcomes: Past results and future directions," *Behavioral Research in Accounting* 10 Supplement (1998), 47–64.

110. Drake et al., "Cost system and incentive structure effects."

111. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 6

Management Control Systems and the Functional Adaptation Performance of Work Teams

The theory and practice of management control of teams has received research attention recently, as organizations recognized the importance of adopting improved management accounting systems to respond to environmental changes in the 1990s. International competition highlighted the importance of cost and the need to undertake changes in organizational structures and systems, which contributed to the restructuring of organizations, including downsizing and closing of departments/branches, as well as management changes.

The emergence of new organizational structures and the need to cut costs and to change the cost structures associated with growth brought forward the importance of teams in managing organizations. Moreover, organizational growth through acquisition and diversification strategies, coupled with technology and structural changes, have created the need to coordinate team activities. The adaptive framework of organizations has advanced the view that management control systems in organizations are functional and have the objective of improving decisions.

THE ADAPTATION FRAMEWORK OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

The theory and practice of management accounting and control research have incorporated the adaptive approach to organizations to document that decisions reached through teams/groups yield better results when compared to decisions made by individuals. Accordingly, teams and work groups are perceived to perform important functional roles in organizations.¹ Recent studies in behavioral accounting research have indicated that management control decisions in

complex organizations are adaptive and can be substantially improved if teams and work groups participate in organizational decision-making processes.² These studies have suggested that teams and work groups can yield relatively better management decisions than would have been realized from individual decisions. They have recognized the contribution teams can make in improving management control decisions as well as performance.³

An organizational adaptation systems change approach examines teams' performances in relation to organizational change and development, managerial power relations, cultural systems, and process innovation changes in management control systems. Systems analysis provides a theoretical perspective to study the formation and operational activities of teams in relation to organizational development and emerging power control in organizations. It examines the functional role of teams, as well as the effect that organizational, environmental, and development stage factors have on team performance in management control system innovations. Teams' performances in the managerial decision-making process thus depend on environmental factors including the size, composition. and tasks assigned to teams. When organizations are viewed as systems, team members are expected to be representative of several disciplinary or functional areas of management, including accounting, finance, and production, as well as marketing. Once teams are formed to carry out purposeful actions, the effectiveness of self-managing teams depends on the type and mix of the types of power relations-normative, coercive, and utilitarian (remunerative-instrumental)--and three associated forms of compliance: moral under normative power, alienative when coercive power is used, and calculative in remunerative power.⁴ These three approaches constitute the underlying framework in the management control systems literature, particularly for managing teams in industrial organizations.

WORK TEAMS: DEFINITIONS

Work teams are defined as having members who are drawn from several departments or possess different functional areas of specialization; for example, accounting, finance, marketing, production, or organizational expertise. Hollenbeck et al. have identified three team attributes that are important in team decision-making processes. First, teams are highly interdependent, and members collaborate with each other to share information relevant for their task assignment. Teams plan and schedule their work, assign specific tasks to individuals, select leaders who can manage and lead, and take initiative in innovations and problem solving. Second, team members share "a common goal and a common fate" where the success or failure of the team affects individual outcomes. In other words, teams are held accountable and responsible for their performance outcome. Third, there is interaction, influence, and feedback among team members.⁵ Hollenbeck et al. stressed that process feedback coupled with outcome-type related information yields better performance results.⁶

There is substantial research in the management accounting literature, which relates performance feedback and economic incentives to performance outcome and accountability.⁷ However, it needs to be noted that there are cultural, social, and political barriers that hamper the effectiveness of teams.⁸ Implementation of self-managing teams is a long-term continuous process evolving over time as the organization begins the process of forming work teams. Therefore, cultural, social, and power control issues can affect the effective functioning of teams in organizations. Accordingly, the effect of power and compliance systems on the three types of teams' management control systems—concertive–normative, group-based control–coercive, and remunerative-instrumental—in complex organizations is presented.

TEAMS AND MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

In the 1990s, the development of teams and work groups changed the traditional top-down hierarchical management control systems in many business organizations. Accordingly, three competing models of team-based control systems in organizations have evolved. Two of them are the concertive control proposed by Barker⁹ and the coercive group–based control advanced by Ezzamel and Wilmott.¹⁰

The remunerative-instrumental control, the third model, has constituted the basic control model in management accounting literature. The next section discusses the theories and approaches of these three control systems for managing teams and management control systems process innovation changes.

Concertive Control

Barker suggested that concertive teams in manufacturing organizations develop their own rules and regulations to manage member performance. These rules are either implicit or explicit and do not follow the traditional model of management control systems based on superordinate and subordinate relationships. Barker argued that in team-based management, organizations transform from a hierarchy to "a flat confederation of concertively controlled self-managing teams."¹¹ Self-managing teams have been commonly used in organizations that are downsizing to eliminate unneeded supervisors, middle-level managerial positions, and change management-labor authority relationships. They have changed the basis of management control from the individual to a group-based control system. Teams use corporate vision and guidelines to formulate rules and regulations to maintain organizational stability through group behavior. In essence, teams have developed contingency guidelines of concertive control system to manage the behavior and performance of team members.¹²

Barker defined concertive control as a team-based control system in which control shifts from management to workers. Workers openly discuss team goals. Through dialogue, they reach consensus on their own control systems and the performance of goals expected from self-managing teams. Team members, through peer review and participatory control systems, develop guidelines for member performance and reward systems. Concertive control becomes the new method whereby workers develop a set of core corporate values through negotiation.¹³ Unlike the traditional control model of managed supervision through reward–punishment and coercion to secure employee adherence to organization rules, concertive control uses peer review and participatory group control to monitor member performance.

Barker described the team participatory decision-making process as "negotiated consensus" decision-making. He believed that "this negotiated consensus creates and recreates a value-based discourse that workers use to infer 'proper' behavioral premises: ideas, norms, or rules that enable them to act in ways functional for the organization."¹⁴ The inference is that this consensus is then translated into rules and procedures by and for the team.¹⁵ In essence, the team is expected to practice self-discipline in their work behavior. Over time, the culture of concertive control further rationalizes the legitimacy of team rules and regulations in organizations and its institutionalization among work groups, employees, and other members of the organization.

Participation, involvement, commitment, and cohesiveness, which are described in teams as democratic decision-making processes, are attributes associated with concertive control systems.¹⁶ When team rules reinforce group cohesiveness, trust, and cooperation, teams become interdependent with one another and collectively share responsibilities among themselves. Decentralized structures promote member participation in team activities and facilitate the flow of information. Inclusive involvement of work team members creates a flat organizational structure, which enhances democratic work place environment. Coopman associated the process factor of involvement in decision making, team interaction, listening, and sharing feelings as components of team democracy that encourage communication and satisfaction while increasing team performance.¹⁷ Both Barker¹⁸ and Coopman¹⁹ view democratic decision-making—involvement, trust, cooperation, and group responsibility—as the essence of concertive control among team members. Although both Barker²⁰ and Coopman²¹ do not explicitly discuss structural factors, they emphasize that team settings provide a decentralized structure that supports a democratic workplace environment. In other words, structural factors, decentralization, process attributes, participation, access to information, and perceived empowerment are necessary conditions for creating a democratic workplace environment that enhances both individual satisfaction and team performance accomplishment.

Concertive control is based on the principle that individuals are committed to the group and are willing to take risks in situations of social uncertainty.²² Because teams are interdependent, they are expected to share information (feedback), use feedback for improving performance,²³ and collaborate to improve organizational performance and resource allocation decisions.²⁴ Teams have contributed changes in organizational systems, including structures and accounting control systems. Commitment among team members promotes shared control and mutual

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

responsibility. Concertive control systems develop when team members jointly agree to monitor their behavior as well as the behavior of group members. Concertive control can eventually evolve into administrative innovation systems, which production and service industries can use to introduce new approaches for resolving existing bureaucratic problems.²⁵ An extension of Etzioni's²⁶ view of instrumental control indicates that accounting as an administrative control system enables managers to simultaneously use both concertive and coercive controls as coordinating mechanisms for managing the internal operating procedures of the organization.

Group-Based Coercive Control

Ezzamel and Wilmott suggested that teams are susceptible to the development of a group-based coercive and dictatorial control system. They presented a slightly different interpretation, in that they maintain that team-based management control systems are neither democratic nor participatory in their composition and enforcement of team rules.²⁷ The authors challenged Barker²⁸ and other management scholars whose views suggested that teamwork is prominent in restructuring work and organizations, as well as in decentralized flexible work settings.

Ezzamel and Wilmott carried out a critical perspective analysis, in which they argued that the self-management democratic approach of teamwork might contribute to less autonomy and lead to disempowerment through concentration of managerial control and expansion of certain coercive features of team culture and ideology. In certain teams, charismatic and influential leaders may use the team decision-making approach to advance their own work and political ideologies so their agenda becomes part of the operating team culture. Ezzamel and Wilmott suggested that teamwork reveals political aspects in work reorganization that may include coercion and individual control of teamwork.²⁹

Ezzamel and Wilmott noted "the shift to teamwork was generally experienced as posing a threat to the narrative of self, not as an empowering relaxation of managerial control."³⁰ They elaborated that over time, concertive control will evolve into a set of ideologies that tend to be ritualistic in nature, where adherences to these rituals are strictly observed. They advanced the view that accounting numbers were used as rituals to justify the team approach, and they argued that accounting has played an important role in justifying, supporting, and rationalizing the team-based dictatorial approach to management control.³¹ If accounting numbers are used to evaluate and reward performance, coercive control can be legitimized and justified through remuneration and economic incentive systems. In other words, as Etzioni³² suggested, coercion could be reinforced through remuneration and can become an effective way to enforce compliance for blue-collar organizations—the focus of the Ezzamel and Wilmott³³ study—including lower-level white-collar workers.

There is validity to the Ezzamel and Wilmott argument that team decisions have political ramifications of coercion, control, and ritualistic behaviors, and that team members do not necessarily behave in an egalitarian manner.³⁴ In

corroboration, Katzenbach noted that even among top management teams in those best-managed companies, nonteam behavior was manifested by the committee chair controlling the team agenda, lobbying to gain support of individual members, and implementing team decisions.³⁵

Although there is a strong organizational culture favoring management control of team agenda and operations, teams have the potential to offer the most democratic approach in organizational decision-making processes. In most situations, decisions made in committees and groups tend to be democratic because the group provides a forum for all members to participate and express their views. Contrary to the assumption that dictatorial fiat and imposition of ingroup decision-making prevails, most teams reach decisional agreement through consensus, allowing for mutual understanding and cooperation.³⁶ This decisionmaking approach corroborates what Barker referred to as a "negotiated consensus" decision-making process.³⁷

Similarly, a problem associated with in-group consensus and concertive control is that the conflicting demands between individual and team performance do not support the collective/mutual accountability essential to the effective functioning of teams under normative control. Rather, there is competition and coercion among team members for access to organizational resources. Once teams and work groups are formed, the extent of their autonomy and effectiveness depends on the structure and process by which they were organized, the degree of legitimacy accorded to them, and the reward/incentive allocation systems tied to their performance outcomes. If management granted teams more autonomy and flexibility, teams would be empowered to be responsible for completing their assignments, tasks, or jobs on time.³⁸

Organizations as political institutions involve coalition building, exercising control, allocating resources, and defining evaluation systems and compensation packages as well as managing the external environmental factors. The role of power and exchange influences the resource allocation decisions,³⁹ the incentive systems, and the operating structure of teams.⁴⁰ To counter the effects of power and politics, whereas the normative approach advocates an empowerment that allows teams to develop their own rules and policies, remunerative control emphasizes access to resources, the sharing of strategic information, and the bridging of teams across organization.⁴¹ Remunerative control works best when formalized accounting systems such as activity-based costing (ABC) are put in place to institute instrumental oriented human resource management policies for managing team performance and accomplishment.

Remunerative Control

Remunerative control is based on the assumption that individual accountability is more appropriate for maintaining control over performance through material remunerative rewards. In extreme cases, coercive control can be used to supplement remuneration to secure employee compliance.

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

Accordingly, remunerative control has been the focus of management accounting control—particularly ABC systems—in many industrial organizations. ABC as an administrative control tool plays a central role in the design and implementation of instrumental-remunerative control systems for self-managed teams and groups.

Activity Based Costing Administrative Control Principles. Activity based costing (ABC) is an administrative innovation that was introduced as part of the quality movement in the 1990s to adapt management accounting information reporting systems with changes in technological developments in manufacturing organizations. Argyris and Kaplan suggested that competitive and technological environmental changes in the 1980s contributed to the development of new products and services. Accounting systems developed new techniques to account for changes in product costs, quality, and customer requirements. The ABC approach developed techniques "for assigning the indirect and support expenses of production, marketing, and selling activities."⁴²

According to Drucker, the underlying assumption in ABC "is that manufacturing is an integrated process that starts when supplies, materials, and parts arrive at the plant's loading dock and continues even after the finished product reaches the end user. Service is still a cost of the product as is installation, even if the customer pays." ABC takes a systemic approach in analyzing and integrating "what was once several activities-value analysis, process analysis, quality management, and costing—into one analysis."⁴³ When calculating product cost, the objective of ABC is to help eliminate those activities (i.e., non–value added activities) that do not contribute to improved performance.⁴⁴

ABC is designed to provide accounting information on the cost of activities associated in producing products and delivering them to customers. Activity drivers that generate costs are assigned to products and customers, and cost drivers are assigned to all activities that generate those costs. Product costs are determined by adding costs of each activity incurred in making the product. Overhead is identified with those activities that generate the costs, instead of being allocated to products or operating departments on the basis of selected already existing allocation bases, such as direct labor hours, units of volume produced, or processing/machine hours spent on the product. ABC attempts to provide cost information on each activity and other quality costs associated with each activity.⁴⁵ Cost drivers associated with each activity determine the workload required to perform an activity and thereby measure the workforce productivity for the work done in the activity.

ABC assists in identifying the major activities needed to make the product and provide the associated quality costs to assist production managers to control quality costs through continuous improvement of the major product activities. The ABC system thus allows for identifying the costs associated with the activities of the product, accurately determining the total and unit costs for each product, and facilitating a more profitable product pricing system. Accordingly, the focus of ABC's cost objectives has been directed at those activities that affect production decisions. As an accounting method, ABC "refers only to the actual technique for determining the costs of activities and the outputs that those activities produce...the aim of ABC is to generate improved cost data for use in managing a company's activities."⁴⁶ ABC thus gathers information on operational activities that support continuous improvements.⁴⁷ Because of ABC, accounting has been increasingly integrated in organization processes at both strategic and operational levels.

For accounting to play a role in promoting change in organizations, the contribution of accounting for improvement should be directed on the "real activities" of the organization, but "not on objectives or general principles."⁴⁸ Improving the activities of the organization requires an administrative infrastructure that is systemic and integrative. Such interactive work can be handled through dialogue, negotiation, and communication among divisions/units. Results that are obtained are based on concrete experiments with defined time periods. The learning process in organizations requires identifying problems, collecting data, and solving problems in a step-by-step format incrementally, with the objective of satisfying people and improving employees' competence and the organization's performance.⁴⁹ These accounting changes, although incremental, have been able to extend accounting information systems to business and information technology strategies.

Activity Based Costing Implementation Issues. Although the benefits of ABC innovations are higher than the costs associated with implementation, organizational structures such as decentralization, centralization, formalization, and differentiation have affected ABC's implementation. Organizations with organic structures tend to have structures that are decentralized, less formalized, and undifferentiated and that are more appropriate for initiation of administrative innovations. Those with mechanistic structures that are centralized, formalized, and differentiated have become instrumental for the adoption and implementation of administrative innovations.⁵⁰ "ABC is an administrative innovation because its implementation may lead to new administrative procedures, policies and organizational structures."⁵¹

When organizations decide to adopt ABC, bureaucratic structures, including centralization, play an important role in the adoption decision. Gosselin raised three related issues that are associated with the adoption of ABC in centralized structures. First, "centralized and formal organizations that adopt ABC are more likely to implement ABC than decentralized and informal organizations." Second, "decentralized and less formal organizations may have greater flexibility to stop the ABC implementation process... if they feel it would be relevant to do so." Third, "vertical differentiation may have more impact on the adoption decision than on the implementation process."⁵²

Mechanistic organizations prefer to adopt ABC because it is a formal accounting system. Because bureaucratic organizations are centralized and have

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

higher levels of vertical differentiation that encourage ABC adoption, they are able to carry the administrative innovation all the way through implementation. Centralization and formalization become the appropriate organizational structures to commit the resources needed for ABC implementation.⁵³ Organizational contextual factors affect the diffusion of ABC innovation process and either encourage or discourage the "implementation of innovation."⁵⁴ Moreover, the successful implementation of ABC depends on the extent to which managers support their implementation in the organization.

Administrative innovations in accounting and control systems have received less acceptance and minimal support by senior level management. The resistance to administrative innovations including ABC has been attributed to the slow pace in innovation, resulting from organizations with constraints in organizational, personnel, and hierarchical structures. It has been found that organizations with decentralized and autonomous divisions have resisted the adoption of ABC, compared to centralized organizations.

ABC as a formal accounting system is more likely to be adopted by mechanistic centralized organizations. It benefits organizations that are hierarchical and interdependent with cross-functional arrangements and that incur a great deal of transaction costs. The key to ABC is the understanding and analysis of transaction costs, activities, and intraorganizational relationships.⁵⁵ The economies of scale advantage that centralized organizations enjoyed as low-cost producers have created barriers for ABC implementation. They include "too many or too few identified activities and cost drivers; overly complex system design; reciprocal cost allocation; and lack of technical expertise on the identification and analysis of activities."⁵⁶

Implementation problems are largely organizational issues associated with the sociotechnical settings of ABC. ABC requires the commitment of materials and resources for the project. If senior managers mandate ABC without commitment from lower level personnel, it will have minimal effect. ABC systems meet the least resistance in situations "where senior operating executives had sponsored the project and were actively involved in its early phase."⁵⁷

Senior management's involvement in ABC provides legitimacy that ABC is a serious and important undertaking, and it also promotes coordination and interaction among functional and divisional managers. If senior managers can provide job security to employees and possible reassignment for employees affected by ABC, they can receive ABC support at lower personnel levels. By minimizing barriers through incentive structures and performance reward systems aligned to ABC, implementing ABC at a critical time when information is available, and knowing the potential savings and costs, ensure the success of ABC.⁵⁸

Argyris and Kaplan stressed that ABC would promote changes in organizations when ABC has incentives aligned with support programs. Organizations develop "systems or structures that facilitate, reward, and reinforce collective change. Examples of such organizational enablers include employees empowered to act at the local level, reduced managerial layering, financial and non-financial rewards for successful implementation, and information systems that produce relevant information in a timely and user friendly manner."⁵⁹

The adaptive systems view of organizations indicates that external environmental factors influence the adoption and diffusion of innovation. Competition is an important institutional environment that has bearing on innovation. Anderson's study of ABC implementation at General Motors Corporation (GM) revealed that competition brought with it the importance of cost and the need to design new cost systems. GM adopted ABC, because GM's competitors had adopted ABC. It corroborated the assertion that "the identity of voluntary adopters of ABC is consistent with the claim that competition and environmental uncertainty promote ABC adoption."⁶⁰ Anderson's GM study supported the idea that external communication through publicity and competition from outsiders provided internal support and external validity to ABC implementation. It helped to "overcome internal resistance by management" and "reinforced management's commitment to ABC."⁶¹

ABC, as an administrative innovation change program, requires a series of process stages for the successful completion of the initiation process.⁶² The initiation process includes data gathering, resource funding availability, cultural program of attitudinal change, education and training, and management support/sponsorship. The implementation process requires structural support of formalization, centralization, and decision-making in the organization's bureaucratic structure. Although organic structures support initiation, it is the mechanistic structures that implement them. The implementation of ABC and other accounting changes as administrative innovations will thus be influenced by the prevalence of mechanistic structures in organizations. Once ABC is adopted, the potential gains to be realized from ABC as remunerative control mechanisms are substantially higher than the costs incurred to implement them.

Activity Based Costing and Remunerative Control Systems. Accounting studies have emphasized the role ABC plays as remunerative-instrumental control when teams are involved in cost management and control to improve organizational performance and profitability. Drake, Haka, and Ravenscroft examined the importance of team-based decision making in relation to ABC in controlling manufacturing (product) costs related to volume. For them, "ABC systems differ from more traditional volume-based costing (VBC) systems by highlighting the consumption of process resources that are under the control of multiple individuals. These resources are typically related to batch-level, product-sustaining or facility-sustaining costs. To reduce such costs typically requires the coordinated effort of multiple workers rather than isolated efforts by individuals."⁶³

Drake, Haka, and Ravenscroft suggested that team effort is needed in ABC systems to control costs associated with volume. "By fostering or inhibiting cooperative efforts among workers, incentives can play a key role in the type of decisions that occur."⁶⁴ Their study documented the relationships among ABC, teams, innovative activity, and firm profitability. The results revealed that "in ABC-type settings, where significant cost reductions can be gained primarily from coordinated efforts of multiple workers, incentives that motivate cooperative innovations result in higher profits. Providing ABC information to workers with individually oriented incentives results in fewer multi-person process innovations and lower profits.⁶⁵ Because individual incentives worked against team effort, it is only cooperative work that can contribute to higher profit. The authors stressed the critical role of team incentives in the successful implementation of ABC.⁶⁶ Their results demonstrated that remunerative rewards and economic incentives increase profitability when directed to team rather than individual performance.

Drake, Haka, and Ravenscroft's findings provided empirical support for Etzioni's assertion that remunerative economic rewards are appropriate mechanisms of control for manufacturing and production organizations processing a high volume of goods and commodities. Accordingly, when compensations/ remunerations are instrumentally allocated consistent with team performance, immediate team performance is not only enhanced but improves over time as teams participate in performance measurement and reward allocation decisions.⁶⁷ Teams can play important roles in providing better cost information for cost reduction and optimal resource allocation, both in manufacturing and service organizations.

Evans's study extended the role of teams in providing better cost information to service organizations, particularly hospitals. He discussed the importance of health care teams in hospital cost management and their effect on changing operational processes. He also noted that team management has decentralized decision making among physicians. Teams have been effective in developing physician profiles to compare hospital resources use with their associated costs. Hospitals not only used the team approach to reduce costs associated with labor and overhead but also adopted a quality management program to continuously improve their health care delivery systems. According to Evans, departmental teams not only compare results but also develop alternative systems in situations in which a physician's consumption of resources exceeded the hospital average.⁶⁸ Although this approach provided effective individual remuneration incentives, it also facilitated cooperation and mutual working relationships among team members.

Evans further discussed how organizational performance depends on the mix of relationships among changing organizational structures, teams, and employee commitment levels.⁶⁹ Coopman's study of health care teams described the relationship among commitment, trust and cooperation, involvement, compensation incentives, member satisfaction, and accomplishment of team tasks.⁷⁰ Accordingly, satisfaction and retention affect organizational performance. High-performance teams have been associated with improving both product quality and labor productivity in manufacturing organizations.⁷¹

Nevertheless, the quality of information shared among team members, which varies according to process feedback, intervention strategies between managers

and subordinates, and team member experience, have all affected the accuracy of team decision-making processes.⁷² If teams are able to pool information not shared before, there has been substantial improvement in overall accuracy of team decisions⁷³ beyond the simple pooling of shared information alone. Remuneration systems and instrumentality control have affected the flow and quality of information exchanged among team members and its subsequent use in organizational resource allocation decisions. Remunerative control accordingly can align traditional individual management control, contractual relationships, and incentive structures to collective control, group incentive arrangements, and responsibility systems. However, the effectiveness of remunerative–instrumental control depends on the extent to which remuneration and calculative material incentives are institutionalized as part of the normative or coercive culture of the organization.

PROCESS, STRUCTURAL, AND TECHNOLOGICAL FACTORS: THEIR EFFECT ON MAKING MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS OF TEAMS ADAPTIVE

Teams operate in organizational contexts. Accordingly, process, structural, and technological developments of the organization affect the type of management control system—concertive, coercive, or remunerative—and the operating activities of teams.

Organizational Process Development Issues

Barker has suggested that concertive control in general supports normative compliance characteristics that are congruent with behavioral changes and organization process development.⁷⁴ In other words, in concertive control systems, team and work group behaviors are characterized by openness and objectivity in their decision-making processes. Stata described openness as a process whereby team members communicate agendas in advance of meetings to promote cooperation and trust among members. Objectivity, in contrast, occurs when team members search for fact-based impartial solutions that are free of political and parochial interests.⁷⁵ The extent to which team leaders observe concertive control practices largely depends on the degree to which individual team members feel that the organizational climate fosters openness and objectivity in team interactions.

A major principle behind concertive control is that both process and structural interventions in management control innovation happen simultaneously. When they occur in tandem, team members experience affective behaviors that motivate them to work cooperatively to implement the required process and structural changes.

Organizations that are continuously adopting process intervention strategies and innovations are constantly revising and changing their philosophies and

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

approaches to management control systems.⁷⁶ The technological changes and the quality movement of the 1990s have contributed to changes in management control processes from the earlier more formalized accounting procedures of meeting budgetary goals and individual performance guidelines (mechanistic approach) to the more recent processes of participation, delegation, and autonomy to attain team-based management performance targets (organic approach).

Organic innovative systems encourage the institutionalization of team-based management approaches as substitutes for formal control systems in which teams can independently establish their own performance goals.⁷⁷ A team-based management control system is inherently rooted in a cognitive approach to managing employees in which employees can use personal, face-to-face communication, flexible feedback, and interpersonal relationships to promote trust, cooperation, collegiality, and coordination among themselves and their respective divisions. Birnberg has described these shifts in control systems as cognitive-process changes to control, where teams have the autonomy to establish and enforce their own performance goals, thereby influencing their remuneration compensation packages.⁷⁸

Cognitive control, like any process change, has drawbacks, as it creates conditions that can appear subjective to individual members when team performance is assessed.⁷⁹ Nevertheless, in cognitive-based team control, formal control is substituted with frequent use of personal and flexible feedback, interpersonal relationships, face-to-face contact and communication, cooperation, and open coordination among divisions—characteristics prevalent in organic organizations.⁸⁰ In other words, the cognitive process of performance feedback, whether negative or positive, involves escalation of commitment and trial and error learning.⁸¹

The organizational change and learning process highlights the importance of performance feedback and instrumental rewards to increase team member commitment to incrementally improve performance beyond current levels. Normative process control attributes of empowerment, autonomy, cooperation, team leader and follower relationships, and information exchange, when supplemented with instrumental-remunerative rewards, can enhance team functionality and team member effectiveness. It can also be inferred that there is an economic incentive for team members to share information and participate in decisions that affect product quality, labor productivity, and organizational performance. However, structural arrangements, whether mechanistic or organic, can affect the degree to which process issues contribute to the functionality of teams and improved organizational performance.

Organizational Structural Development Issues

Organization structural issues address structural arrangements and contextual and job-task activities. Structures that manifest in centralized or decentralized forms can be loose or tightly controlled or can involve independent or interdependent tasks. These conditions have a direct effect on the operation of the three control systems—normative, coercive, and instrumental–remunerative— and in turn, affect organizational performance.

Structural Arrangements. Burns and Stalker have identified two types of organizational structures: mechanistic and organic structures.⁸² Mechanistic structures exhibit hierarchical differentiation with several chain-of-command levels, concentration of power in top management, and centralized decision making. Organic structures, in contrast, have flexible organizational arrangements that are amenable and adaptable to changes in their institutional environments. Hierarchy is horizontal, with less differentiation, limited chain of command, and minimal bureaucratic features.

Given both mechanistic and organic structures, the team approach to decision making is more appropriate to divisionalized (organic) organizations with decentralized and matrix structures. Matrix structures support the formation of teams and team decision-making processes through horizontal structures and communication channels. In these structural arrangements, the team-based approach reduces the tracing of decisions to individuals by making members of the group as a whole accountable for the decision-making process. Morrill, in a study of the executive decision-making process, noted that "matrix systems promote the syndication of risk by entire executive corps as groups of high-level managers embedded in complex authority relations are responsible for decisionmaking rather than individual managers. In such a structure, it is difficult to trace decisions to any one manager; most decisions must be traced to some group process within or between product teams or departments."83 Accordingly, the team decision-making process is a joint responsibility of all members of the group, whereby each individual member collectively shares the success or the failure associated with team decisions.

Contextual Job-Task-Related Issues. Organizational tasks/jobs can be either simple or complex, requiring interdependency relationships among several tasks. Tasks in centralized structures are relatively simple and mechanistic. In matrix and organic systems with decentralized structures, tasks can be relatively complex and interdependent, requiring a highly skilled labor force, experienced management, and autonomous, cross-functional teams.

Zetka noted that decentralized organizations with coordinating work structures have interdependent tasks for which efficiency, rationality of production processes, and cost control give rise to the formation of teams.⁸⁴ A dominant actor can control team and subordinate actions when technological production techniques require pooled interdependence, where task performances are segmented from one another, and when the tasks performed by segments are relatively simple and task coordination occurs in a face-to-face interaction. This structure is prevalent in blue-collar manufacturing organizations in which bureaucratic (accounting control) or simple personal control prevails. The operation of this team

structure corroborates with the description of coercive control described by Ezzamel and Wilmott. $^{85}\,$

As Zetka described, when the technological process includes tasks that require collective or group-based coordination skills, it is necessary to restructure those task units so that processing of complex information is available on a timely basis for the groups to coordinate their actions collectively.⁸⁶ Complex task structures require the development of mature groups that are synergetic. Zetka described two task coordination structures in medical surgery that are applicable for both command–coercive and normative–symbolic control.⁸⁷ When the task coordination in the hospital involved conventional medical surgery, where physicians work face to face on surgery on a moment-by-moment basis, a command control mechanism managed by a dominant actor (i.e., a team leader) is effective for coordinating the actions of team members. Physical proximity of the work object has made the dominant authoritarian control system more effective.

In contrast, if there is no close physical proximity, and no-face-to-face feedback, the medical task structure requires nonverbal communication channels, including video screens and computer monitors, creating virtual interactive contexts. Workers who perform these tasks are highly experienced and specialized and do not rely on command and control mechanisms to carry out their tasks. In these situations, Zetka noted that coercive control is not recommended because it could slow down and disrupt collective performance.⁸⁸ To this effect, Etzioni noted that normative based control through peer review, which is nondictatorial control, is commonly used among higher-rank participants. If they fail to perform, they are transferred to less important positions. For them, moral involvement and intrinsic satisfaction from work associated with prestige and esteem are more important than remunerative rewards.⁸⁹

A study by Zetka presented two contrasting situations in which the command control described by Ezzamel and Wilmott and the concertive control that Barker described could occur.⁹⁰ Environmental and geographical factors, in addition to structural and work/task-specific requirements, would create work conditions in which the two types of control systems operate simultaneously in complex organizations in their growth and stability, or crisis and realignment stages of development. Etzioni described power/control systems that need to be specified within the context of organizational structures and technological work/ task complexities.⁹¹ Complex organizations have work structures that are interdependent and require work teams that operate in normative, remunerative, or coercive control systems to coordinate complex tasks.

Tasks that are interdependent are complex, and managing transaction costs among these functions become critical in management control.⁹² Accordingly, work task-related contingencies influence the type of control system—command-coercive, normative, or remunerative—that will be predominantly used by the team members to accomplish their tasks. It must be noted that both command and normative control cannot be entirely effective in securing the compliance of team members unless they are accompanied by instrumental–remunerative controls. The type of management control system used is also affected by team member response and adaptation to environmental and process innovation changes.

Structure and the Control of Information Flow. The level of organizational structure—highly or loosely controlled team structure—has an effect on the control, flow, and accuracy of information among team members. Accounting and auditing studies conducted within auditing contexts have documented that organizational structures affect the flow and accuracy of information and communication within audit teams. Rudolph and Welker have pointed out that although organizational structure provides control and coordination that regulates information overload, it constrains the timely availability and accuracy of information exchanged for decision-making purposes.⁹³ The authors suggested that a highly structured audit committee apparatus, which is synonymous with Ezzamel and Wilmott's command–coercive control structure,⁹⁴ provided mechanisms for regulation and control but resulted in low-quality information and reduced satisfaction among employees. They implied that structured audit settings are appropriate for less experienced auditors, which Etzioni described as low-level white-collar workers.⁹⁵ It can be inferred that structured settings give rise to a dominant actor in the team structure, who then centralizes the flow of information.

These highly structured settings give rise to what Ezzamel and Wilmott described as group-based power control,⁹⁶ or what Etzioni referred to as coercive control⁹⁷: a dominant actor or coalition would centralize the accounting information system and dominate the coordination and flow of information. Recent advances in information technology and computerization have contributed to increased management demand for accounting information for strategic planning purposes and the need to centralize (mechanistic structures with a command/ coercive control mechanisms) the information system for planning and control purposes.

The Rise of Electronic Surveillance in the 1990s as an Alternative Control Mechanism. With advances in information technology, the use of accounting information has expanded beyond the traditional management control function. International competition has made accounting and related financial information a strategic tool to assemble inside information on competitors, or what Wilensky referred to as organizational intelligence.⁹⁸ Intelligent information systems also have been used in organizations for surveillance and monitoring. Sewell has noted that management information systems have enabled managers to use surveillance on teamwork to monopolize power and knowledge in the work place.⁹⁹

Sewell suggested that surveillance, when conducted through electronic and peer controls, can become an effective way to control and subordinate the industrial labor force.¹⁰⁰ Although teams have become popular in many organizations to empower employees, counter worker alienation, provide workplace settings for self-managed teams to have autonomy over their work, and participate in the decision-making process, surveillance has created normative control tyrannies in

team management control. The demand for continuous improvement and betterquality products and the need for controlling costs have linked normative control with direct supervision of employees to improve labor efficiency. Information technology, although advancing communication, coordination, and integration of work among team members, has facilitated close monitoring of team member activities. Accordingly, technology has eroded normative team characteristics of autonomy and emancipation from direct control by management. Management can now use information technology to monitor and scrutinize teamwork activities to the point at which teams exercise a limited degree of autonomy in organizing their work plans. Technology enables management to group workers into categories of poor or good performers according to standardized performance criterion.

Sewell argued that "surveillance enable[d] the evaluation and reward or sanction of individuals in a context of teamwork."¹⁰¹ Accordingly, electronic surveillance has increased "compliance through self discipline" and has "supported new relations of power and domination in addition to reinforcing existing ones."¹⁰² Management has used surveillance to monitor workers' adherence to company rules but also to rationalize their activities in accordance with organizational goals. Surveillance has emerged as an alternative form of control to normative-concertive control for what Etzioni¹⁰³ referred to as the instrumental activities of the organization. It can be inferred from the Sewell¹⁰⁴ study that advances in information technology over the years have significantly changed the use of surveillance in the workplace. These evolutionary changes have included transitions from the technical control of the 1900s to the bureaucratic control of the 1940s, followed by the scientific management control of the 1960s, accompanied by the cultural control of the 1970s and 1980s, and eventually to the growth of electronic surveillance control in the 1990s. These advances in technology have most affected the informed and educated labor force, or the professional workers formerly subjected to normative control mechanisms.

However, it needs to be noted that the effective use of electronic surveillance control for performance monitoring depends on the degree to which the organization has integrated information technology in its functional areas of management. Technology has revolutionized bureaucratic–coercive control into normative–electronic and peer surveillance control without face-to-face interaction with team members. Sewell emphasized that surveillance enhanced concertive control, enforcing compliance through ideational control, in which all team members continuously improve their performance to accomplish team concertive activities.¹⁰⁵ Although information technology has changed the type of management control system, the essence of control, which is rooted in monitoring, subordination, and domination, has remained the same. As Etzioni noted, "most organizations most of the time use more than one kind of power. Control might be predominantly coercive, utilitarian or normative."¹⁰⁶ Therefore, it can be inferred from Etzioni¹⁰⁷ and Sewell¹⁰⁸ that coercive control, in either the form of concertive or surveillance control, may coexist with instrumental–remunerative as well as

normative compliance systems. Again, it is to be noted that these coercive control mechanisms would not produce the desired compliance structure unless accompanied by remunerative incentives.

TEAMS, MANAGEMENT CONTROL, AND PROCESS INNOVATIONS

The effective management control of teams is based on the assumption that bottom-up, group-based approaches, rather than top-down individual-based command approaches, provide better solutions to organizational crisis and problems.¹⁰⁹ When organizations face environmental uncertainty and are in crisis, they respond to their crisis through new strategic plans that call for both structural and process changes.

As a result, new organizational structures based on systems principles of proper (down) sizing and decentralized decision making are instituted that support self-managing teams. Krishnan and Park suggested that when organizational changes involve downsizing or restructuring, changing the composition of top management teams might be necessary to improve organizational performance.¹¹⁰ However, changing functional teams that have been operating for a longer period of time, particularly at top management levels, require a negotiated approach so that the changes would not hamper the effective management of the organization strategic planning processes.¹¹¹

If structural change requires the formation of new management teams, attention needs to be given to the composition of team members. Boeker suggested that if top management teams' members are less diverse and homogeneous, they exhibit low orientations to strategic change. In contrast, the diversity of team members results in more information sharing, interacting, decisions, and solutions that support broader strategic changes.¹¹²

Structural and Process Issues Affecting Management Control Innovations

New organizational structures are not likely to accomplish the desired planned programs unless they are accompanied by process intervention strategies of behavioral and cultural change.¹¹³ Process changes include internal behavioral changes, where managers champion better group interactions and organizational commitment by promoting an open climate of interpersonal communication, information sharing, building trust and ownership among employees, and implementing matrix management to improve organizational performance.¹¹⁴ With these new structures in place, teams can operationalize policies and strategies developed by top management into specific programs and projects, respond better to changing customer needs, effectively manage resource allocation, and undertake product development decisions. Team leaders as champions provide a constant vision on the course of action by motivating and rewarding members for team accomplishment.

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

Campion, Medsker, and Higgs indicated that management could help teams acquire the required process characteristics that facilitate group member interactions and cooperation. The authors identified several themes that included potency, social support, workload sharing, communication, and cooperation within the group. Campion et al. defined potency as team spirit and a high expectation that the group would get the work done. Potency induces task commitment and hard work among team members. Social support facilitates "positive social interactions" among members to sustain group effectiveness. Workload sharing prevents "social-loafing or free-riding. To enhance sharing, group members should believe their individual performance can be distinguished from the groups and that there is a link between their performance and outcomes."¹¹⁵ Campion et al.'s study supported the conclusion that process characteristics were related to group productivity and can be affected by management through positive feedback, encouragement, modeling, and reinforcement.¹¹⁶

When teams plan and implement process intervention strategies directed toward changes in management control systems, cultural change programs most often are directed toward education and training that focuses on motivating employees to get involved in all aspects of decision-making processes. Recent examples of such process intervention strategies that have been incorporated in management accounting control systems are the quality-improvement programs of total quality management (TQM) and business process reengineering (BPR) of the 1990s.

TQM and BPR as Management Control System Process Innovations

TQM and BPR are examples of recent management control system innovations that followed the principles of process intervention, leading to cultural change and education for employees and teams.¹¹⁷ Many organizations have adopted TQM and BPR to change the organization culture and promote continuous improvement of products and services. Japanese manufacturing organizations were in the front lines with the quality movement during the 1980s and early 1990s, and they applied TQM and BPR to manage their subsidiary organizations in the United States.

Besser provided a detailed study of a Japanese auto assembly transplant in the United States, the Toyota Motor Manufacturing (TMM) plant in Kentucky, which successfully implemented TQM programs. TMM adopted the TQM philosophy of empowerment to grant teams' autonomy and control over the production decision process.¹¹⁸ According to Besser, Team Toyota developed normative cultural practices in which work teams and cells operating in flat hierarchical structures performed task-specific as well as cross-functional production activities. TMM organized more than two-thirds of its plant employees as line personnel, and about 15 percent as team leaders. Job restructuring, on-the-job training, and an emphasis on continuous improvement programs changed the organizational structures of Team Toyota. The company was clustered into three

"nested" teams: a work team, company team (TMM), and the corporate team; a very successful company.¹¹⁹ The work team is made up of four to five production workers. A team leader heads a group comprising three or four work teams. Each group is responsible for specific assigned work tasks within the assembly line production. The essence of the company team is to promote a company vision of shared goals, create a sense of belonging, and build a team that works together for the benefit of all employees and the company, or what Etzioni would refer to as normative cultural control.¹²⁰

Ripley and Ripley suggested that process innovation changes, TQM and BPR of the 1990's, have contributed to the development of information systems that shifted the competitive strategies of business organizations from cost volume-based to customer value-based, an approach that focused on quality of product, as well as improved production processes and maximum utilization of work-force talents. BPR has advocated a new paradigm that would completely change systems and processes to achieve organizational design and restructuring objectives.¹²¹

The case of Team Toyota presented contrasting results on the effect of TQM on organizational structures (mechanistic or organic) and design, as well as the effect of process change (education and cultural change) on team management. In organic-decentralized structures, team effectiveness and interaction contributes to satisfaction, high morale, and commitment among members, in a context where normative–concertive control and compliance attributes prevail. When a normative control system is administered in conjunction with instrumental–remunerative control, it contributed to improved team output and better organizational performance. At the same time, it should be noted that management's desire to control the accounting information system created a need for a centralized administrative structure for coordination, regulation and control of team activities. As discussed earlier, ABC is an example of an administrative control mechanism that has been recently used by management to both centralize accounting information and at the same time improve the performance of teams in production organizations.

When management control systems are supported by ABC, they enable organizations to use cost information for competitive intelligence, and industry financial accounting indicators as benchmarks to improve their performance.¹²² Thus, with availability of cost accounting information, top management teams are in a position to launch an effective benchmarking intervention strategy to achieve competitive goals and to build the case for process innovation and organizational structural changes.

Leadership, Teams, and Process Innovation

In process innovations, management generally supports administrative control and accounting information innovations to improve team performance. As change champions, managers continuously revise existing bureaucratic control

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

systems and hierarchical organization rules and procedures that may hinder the formation of teams and their functional performance. Managers most often assist employees to form self-managing teams that are autonomous in formulating team guidelines to manage organizational control innovations.

Managers are instrumental in ensuring the availability of required organizational resources to support intrafunctional coordination, team collaboration, joint use of resources, and consensus decision-making processes. Greater team cohesion and instrumental cooperation lead to high productivity and output.¹²³ When teams receive loose monitoring and control mechanisms, the administrative processes encourage risk-taking behaviors.¹²⁴ Managers use their rank and authority strategically to influence teams and individual behaviors for the purpose of creating sociopolitical processes that support innovative behaviors and contested changes in organizations.¹²⁵

When management provides positive reinforcement to teams and solicits their commitment, teams and workgroup members' contributions become instrumental for the successful adoption and implementation of process innovations. As a result, trust and cooperation develop between management and team members and a high-quality exchange of information and mutual collaboration occurs.¹²⁶ Thus, cultural change and educational programs succeed in the formation of cross-functional teams by promoting trust and cooperation among team members.

Cross-Functional Teams and the Role of Accounting Information in Process Innovations

The quality movement has emphasized a continuous improvement strategy for administrative and technical functions in accounting information systems. Accordingly, computers and information technology have changed the accounting function from that of producing financial reports to that of providing service.¹²⁷ Information technology has enhanced the accounting role from a staff function to a line function, where an accountant now serves as an expert in information management, rather than as a custodian of company resources. These changes in reporting relationships have enabled accountants to act as organizational development technical experts who participate in decision making on cost, quality, downtime, maintenance, inspection, delivery, and other factors indicating improved performance. Accounting systems are eventually being transformed to meet information requirements of global competitive economic systems as well as the requirements of increased management accountability.

Dixon et al. suggested that in radical innovation program changes such as BPR, which require organizational transformation, accounting has become one of the focus areas when teams are formed. The authors indicated that successful teams have "included a flexible mix of line managers and internal experts. Team leadership was often drawn from staff level management with close involvement from line managers. Teams were almost all cross-functional in composition, though the extent of cross-functionality varied.^{»128} Teams responsible for project design were also involved in project implementation. In other words, empowering cross-functional teams to make decisions in both the development and implementation phases contributed to the success of the design as well as the implementation of management accounting information systems.¹²⁹

Cross-functional teams exhibit normative attributes when team members direct their efforts to achieve overall organization mission and goals but also coordinate their activities with other company program areas. Management relies on teams to assume responsibility for their collective decisions, complete tasks on time, and eliminate unnecessary middle-level managerial positions to save costs and increase employee motivation, productivity, and commitment to the organization.¹³⁰

Management accountants involved in cross-functional teams have provided expert advice on ABC. They have used ABC to advise marketing and production managers on the appropriate balance between cost and product features such as quality, function, and appearance.¹³¹ Management accountants who worked with product development teams were delegated to product costing decisions and shared the information with team members for new product development and design innovations. When those teams became autonomous, they operated at the same level of improved productivity performances that are comparable to high-performance self-managed teams.¹³² Their goals included cost reductions, reduced design cycle times, and continuous design improvements during the manufacturing process.¹³³

Economists and geographers have discussed the scope of process innovations including cost-reduction devices as encompassing spatial distribution and interfirm networking in organizational adoption decisions. Geographical location and proximity to units or agents who have adopted innovations are assumed to facilitate the flow of information diffusion through personal contact and communication across areas or organizations. When organizations succeed in establishing network cohesiveness among adopters, users, and suppliers of innovations, networks not only reduced uncertainties associated with innovations but also produced positive influences on diffusion outcomes.¹³⁴

However, the degree to which organizations and industries adopt innovations and respond to innovations in the form of investment in new technologies is affected by several factors including market size, demand for new products and services, number of firms in the industry, and the industry's life cycle.¹³⁵ Nevertheless, it is assumed that in the early stages of an industry life cycle, technological innovations and creative responses to environmental changes are higher than in later stages. Although the rate of adoption is lower at the start of the diffusion process, it will eventually spread over time as innovation costs decline and organizational networks enable other firms to gradually adopt the innovation.

In networks, boundary spanners have focused on creating organizational linkages among units to promote organizational innovations. For administrative innovations to be realized, coordination of resources and programs at the highest levels of the affected organization units is critical. Because administrative

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

innovations including accounting changes span many organizational boundaries, resistance to change and coordination difficulties are common. In this regard, information flows and networks are critical in minimizing organizational and departmental resistance to innovations.

Accordingly, team leaders and networks disseminate successful cost-saving (reduction) innovation programs within or outside the organization. Effective teams develop networks, which provide them with stability and support the dissemination of innovation information among members. Networks support reciprocal exchange that are conducive to open, long-term, and sustainable relationships. In reciprocity, the members know each other and attach value and importance to the exchange process. However, if some team members occupy centrality location within networks, they have better access to valuable information among team members. Baker, Faulkner, and Fisher suggested that centrality in networks enables members to receive "more information about market conditions, new marketing ideas, competitors' actions, consumer trends, and so on." They affirmed that "access to information provides power."¹³⁶ In these networked situations, information power results in coercive–command control over normative-participatory control.

In general, networks support the formation of linkages and reciprocal relationships, which facilitate the exchange of information and other economic resources among organizational members.¹³⁷ By minimizing information disparity and increasing resource flows among functional team members, networks can sustain affective exchange relations. In doing so, networks help establish cultural norms and concertive control systems that increase team member interactions. Accordingly, networks facilitate the use of instrumental–remunerative control that aligns team performance with organizational objectives.

TEAMS, CULTURAL SYSTEMS CHANGE, ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT, AND MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

In this chapter, three types of power and compliance systems—normative, coercive, and remunerative–instrumental—were discussed within the context of complex organizations. Both stages in organizational development—emergence, growth, and crisis—and organizational structural differences—mechanistic–centralized and organic–decentralized—have shaped the commitment of team members and team operating mechanisms. They have affected the types of control/compliance systems—concertive, coercive, or instrumental–calculative—that prevailed in a given organization. Environmental factors, including international competition as well as advances in information technology, have changed the composition and formation of team members, as well as management–labor control and contractual relationships.

To respond to environmental changes, management accounting control systems have incorporated information technology and adapted control-compliance systems that are appropriate to the nature of specific tasks and required personnel management. Management control systems also have undergone profound evolutionary changes over the years. The management control evolution has included transitions from the scientific management bureaucratic-coercive control of the 1960s into the concertive-negotiated consensus or cultural control of the 1970s and 1980s, and into the surveillance-self imposed control of the 1990s, where the need for face-to-face interaction between supervisors and subordinates has been minimized.

This chapter presented contrasting views of normative-concertive, coercive, and remunerative controls and argued that the use and application of these three management accounting control system typologies in organizations are contingent on differences in organizational systems, culture, structure, and stages of development. Cultural differences are commonly associated with prevailing organizational forms and their accompanying management control systems. Because culture involves organization's values and norms, patterns of authority, and modes of exchange among organization.¹³⁸ It provides ritualistic orientation and organizational loyalty to members. When culture is institutionalized, it is rooted in political and historical ecological ideologies of organizational power elites.¹³⁹

A cultural systems approach provides an adaptive functional view of management control systems. According to the functional theory of organizations, process and structural intervention change strategies in management control systems are purposive, goal-oriented actions. They strengthen mutual collaboration among management, individuals, teams, and groups to achieve organizational goals. Process factors are related to both attitudinal and personality characteristics at the individual level as well as the development of norms, values, and work-related behaviors at the team level that promote organizational performance. Organizational structural changes, in contrast, involve job and organizational design, production and manufacturing processes, work restructuring, and accounting and reporting systems. Structural changes are more likely to succeed when they are accompanied or followed by cultural and behavioral intervention change strategies.

Organizations develop their own widely shared cultural goals that justify the activities of the organization. Goals in an organization are set by management and other power players to govern the behavior of groups and individuals.¹⁴⁰ Cultural goals define those values, norms, roles, behaviors, and customs expected from employees, team members, customers, and suppliers.¹⁴¹ A cultural change program can be structurally oriented if it addresses individual and team behaviors that have direct relationships to organizational structures, including missions, visions, values, goals, strategies, customers, and labor force.¹⁴² Although cultural goals are embedded in organizational strategies and policies, management reinforces those goals through sanctions and rewards and institutionalizes them in the management control systems.

ECOLOGICAL ADAPTATION AND MANAGEMENT CONTROL OF TEAMS

The ecological adaptation view of organizations indicates that structural and process changes, particularly organizational culture and leadership factors, have substantially affected the development of teams and workgroups control systems, particularly those of coercive and concertive control systems. Although the development of accounting control systems is entrenched in organizational power structures to meet management goals and aspirations, their purpose largely remains functional. Accordingly, an ecological adaptation functional perspective of management accounting control systems has been utilized in all three forms of control systems: bureaucratic–coercive, remunerative–instrumental, normative–concertive, or surveillance to study the management processes of teams and workgroups' activities. Whether the goal of an organization's control and compliance system is to foster incremental change through TQM or to radically change employee behavior and business practices through BPR,¹⁴³ improved management control programs require long-term structural and process intervention strategies to achieve those desired changes.

Management control systems innovation, if properly designed, usually encompass all internal organizational control issues, including administrative control rules and procedures, accounting system controls, and management supervisory controls governing individual and team performance.¹⁴⁴ When there are fundamental cultural changes of control systems, organizations simultaneously employ all three forms of control systems—remunerative, normative–concertive, surveillance, or group-based coercive control—to manage teams. Advances in information technology have revolutionized management accounting control through electronic surveillance control system.

Although most organizations utilize more than one form of control/compliance system, it has been found that of the three types of control systems, concertive control, which uses both instrumental (remunerative) and normative (ceremonial and other forms of social activities), compliments cultural system change and management control innovations. Because the purpose of concertive team control is to empower teams to set up mutually agreed-on contractual arrangements consistent with organizational objectives, concertive control uses participation and negotiated consensus to design and implement process innovation programs. Through negotiated consensus, concertive control has been instrumental in reconciling the requirements of individual autonomy with group solidarity to create an affective working environment. By allowing positive affective cohesiveness and solidarity to develop within team diversity, concertive control not only increases group interaction but also improves team performance consistent with organizational objectives.

Accordingly, when there is high team consensus and low management control, cognitive control techniques are most often used to direct the actions of both management and work teams toward process innovation and cultural change programs, which promote organization goals. However, when there is low team consensus, managers or team leaders use centralized-bureaucratic coercive control to direct and command employee activities to accomplish organizational objectives. Whether the control system is concertive or coercive, their functionality is enhanced with the simultaneous use of instrumentalremunerative control systems.

An ecological adaptation framework approaches management control systems including ABC and team-based control systems as living ecosystems that adapt, evolve, and develop over time as the organization environment changes. Ecology recognizes that in ecosystems, there are constraints and boundaries when designing and implementing team-based management control systems. Adaptation is a gradual process change strategy that organizations use to respond to constraints. System analysis involves analysis of the interdependence of nature, humans, and other animal species as they interact with the environment. An ecological approach of systems analysis to organizations studies the interdependent relationships among organizational units, subunits, or divisions as they interface with the environment: stable or dynamic.

Organizations as ecological adaptive control systems utilize gradual--incremental change strategies including TQM and ABC when the environmental changes are stable or predictable. If the environmental changes are unstable or dynamic, that is, continuously changing, it calls for a radical-transformational change strategy such as BPR. This implies that the formation and functions of management control systems and the subsequent operations of teams and work groups are contingent on environmental conditions and the forces that determine the prevalence of either adaptation or selection in organizational ecological systems.

NOTES

1. This section integrates S. Sisaye, "Teams and management control systems: A synthesis of three organizational development approaches," *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005), 172–85.

2. See J.G. Birnberg, "Some reflections on the evolution of organizational control," *Behavioral Research in Accounting* Supplement 10 (1998), 27–46; A.R. Drake, S.F. Haka, and S.P. Ravenscroft, "Cost system and incentive structure effects on innovation, efficiency and profitability in teams," *The Accounting Review* 74 (1999), 323–45; and J.H. Evans, "Cost management and management control in health care organizations: Recent opportunities," *Behavioral Research in Accounting* Supplement 10 (1998), 78–93.

3. See also R.D. Banker, J.M. Field, R.G. Schroeder, and K.K. Sinka, "Impact of work teams on manufacturing performance: A longitudinal field study," *Academy of Management Journal* 39 (1996), 867–90.

4. For background discussions, refer to S. Sisaye, "Management control systems and organizational development: New directions for managing work teams," *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005), 55–61. Sisaye's article develops the three bases of power—concertive, coercive, and remunerative—described by A. Etzioni in *A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations: In Power, Involvement, and Their Correlates* (New York: The Free Press, 1961), and his *Modern Organizations* (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1964).

MANAGEMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS

5. J.R. Hollenbeck, D.R. Ilgen, J.A. LePine, J.A. Colquitt, and J. Hedlund, "Extending the multilevel theory of team decision making: Effects of feedback and experience in hierarchical teams," *Academy of Management Journal* 41 (1998), 269.

6. See also T.K. Lant and A.E. Hurley, "A contingency model of response to performance feedback: Escalation of commitment and incremental adaptation in resource investment decisions," *Group and Organization Management* 24 (1999), 421–37.

7. See Birnberg, "Some reflections," 27-46; Drake et al., "Cost system and incentive structure," 323-45; and Evans, "Cost management," 78-93.

8. B.L. Kirkman and D. L. Shapiro, "The impact of cultural values on employee resistance to teams: Toward a model of globalized self-managing work team effectiveness," *Academy of Management Review* 22 (1997), 730–57.

9. J. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage: Concertive control in self-managing teams," Administrative Science Quarterly 38 (1993), 408–37; and his book titled *The Discipline of Teamwork: Participation and Concertive Control* (Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage, 1999).

10. M. Ezzamel and H. Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork: A critical study of groupbased systems of organizational control," Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998), 358–96.

11. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage," 412.

12. For details, see Barker, The Discipline of Teamwork.

13. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage," ibid. See also his The Discipline of Teamwork, ibid.

14. Ibid., 411-12.

15. G. Sewell, "The discipline of teams: The control of team based industrial work through electronic and peer surveillance," Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998), 410.

16. S. Coopman, "Democracy, performance, and outcomes in interdisciplinary health care teams," *Journal of Business Communications* 38 (2001), 261-84.

17. Ibid.

18. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage"; and see his book, The Discipline of Teamwork.

19. Coopman, "Democracy, performance, and outcomes."

20. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage"; and see his book, The Discipline of Teamwork.

21. Coopman, "Democracy, performance, and outcomes."

22. Refer to W.G. Ouchi, "The relationship between organizational structure and organizational control," *Administrative Science Quarterly* 22 (1977), 95–113; and O.E. Williamson, "The economics of organization: The transaction cost approach," *American Journal of Sociology* 87 (1987), 548–77.

23. Lant and Hurley, "A contingency model of response to performance feedback."

24. J.A. Sniezek, D.R. May, and G.E. Sawyer, "Social uncertainty and interdependence: A study of resource allocation decisions in groups," *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 46 (1990), 155–80.

25. Barker, The Discipline of Teamwork.

26. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations.

27. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork."

28. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage."

29. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork," 358-59.

30. Ibid., 392.

31. Ibid., 358-96.

32. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations.

33. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork," 358-96.

34. Ibid.

35. J.R. Katzenbach, "The myth of the top management team," *Harvard Business Review* 75 (1997), 83–91.

36. See T.L. Besser, *Team Toyota: Transplant of the Toyota Culture to the Camry Plant in Kentucky* (New York: State University of New York Press, 1996); and Coopman, "Democracy, performance, and outcomes."

37. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage"; and The Discipline of Teamwork.

38. M.A. Campion, G.J. Medsker, and A.C. Higgs, "Relations between work group characteristics and effectiveness: Implications for designing effective work groups," *Personnel Psychology* 46 (1993), 823–50.

39. S. Sisaye, A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5 (Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997).

40. See Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork." Refer also to J. Pfeffer, *Managing with Power: Politics and Influence in Organizations* (Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1992), and his *Power in Organizations* (Marshfield, Mass.: Pitman, 1981).

41. B.L. Kirkman and B. Rosen, "Powering up teams," Organizational Dynamics 28 (2000), 48-66.

42. C. Argyris and R.S. Kaplan, "Commentary-implementing new knowledge: The case of activity-based costing," Accounting Horizons 8 (1994), 86.

43. P.E. Drucker, "Redesigning the corporation requires a new set of tools and concepts: The information executives need," *Harvard Business Review* 73 (1995), 55.

44. Argyris and Kaplan, "Commentary—implementing new knowledge." See also R.S. Kaplan, "Management accounting for advanced technological environments," *Science* 245 (1989), 19–23, and his "New systems for measurement and control," *The Engineering Economist* 36 (1991), 201–18.

45. For details, see Kaplan, ibid. See also R. Cooper and R.S. Kaplan, "The promise and peril of integrated cost systems," Harvard Business Review 76 (1998), 109–19.

46. M.W. Roberts and K.J. Silvester, "Why ABC failed and how it may yet succeed," Journal of Cost Management 9 (1996), 24.

47. Cooper and Kaplan, "Integrated cost systems," 110.

48. R. Lukka, "Total accounting in action: Reflections on Sten Jonsson's accounting for improvement," Accounting, Organizations and Society 25 (1998), 338.

49. Ibid, 333-42.

50. R.L. Daft, "A dual-core model of organizational innovation," Academy of Management Journal 21 (1978), 193–210; and F. Damanpour, "The adoption of technological, administrative, and ancillary innovations: Impact of organizational factors," Journal of Management 13 (1987), 675–88.

51. M. Gosselin, "The effect of strategy and organizational structure on the adoption and implementation of activity-based costing," *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 22 (1997), 109.

52. Ibid., 117.

56. Ibid., 26.

57. Argyris and Kaplan, "Commentary---implementing new knowledge," 89.

^{53.} Ibid.

^{54.} Ibid., 105.

^{55.} Roberts and Silvester, "Why ABC failed," 32.

58. Roberts and Silvester, "Why ABC failed," 33–35. See also S.W. Anderson and S.M. Young, "The impact of contextual and process factors on the evaluation of activity based costing systems," *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 24 (1999), 525–59.

59. Argyris and Kaplan, "Commentary- implementing new knowledge," 89-90.

60. S.W. Anderson, "A framework for assessing cost management system changes. The case of activity based costing implementation at General Motors, 1986–1993," *Journal of Management Accounting Research* 7 (1995), 42. See also S.W. Anderson, J.W. Hesford, and S.M. Young, "Factors influencing the performance of activity based costing teams: A field study of ABC model development time in the automobile industry," *Accounting, Organizations and Society* 37 (2002), 163–74.

61. Ibid.

62. S. Sisaye, "Process innovation and adaptive institutional change strategies in management control systems: Activity based costing as administrative innovation," *Advances in Management Accounting* 11 (2003), 251–85.

63. Drake et al., "Cost system and incentive structure," 324.

64. Ibid.

65. Ibid., 324-25.

66. Ibid., 326.

67. Ibid. Refer to Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations, and his Modern Organizations. See also T.W. Scott and P. Tiessen, "Performance measurement and managerial teams," Accounting, Organizations and Society 24 (1999), 263–85.

68. Evans, "Cost management." See also M.A. Bell, "Hospital-uses team approach to improve processes, reduce costs," AORN Journal 68 (1998), 68-72.

69. Evans, "Cost management."

70. Coopman, "Democracy, performance, and outcomes."

71. Banker et al., "Impact of work teams on manufacturing performance." See also C. Rowe, "The effect of accounting report structure and team structure on performance in cross-functional teams," *The Accounting Review* 79 (2004), 1153–80.

72. Hollenbeck et al., "Extending the multilevel theory of team decision making"; and J.R. Hollenbeck, J.A. Colquitt, D.R. Ilgen, J.A. LePine, and J. Hedlund, "Accuracy decomposition and team decision making: Testing theoretical boundary conditions," *Journal of Applied Psychology* 83 (1998), 494–500.

73. J.R. Larson, Jr., T.M. Franz, C. Christensen, and A.S. Abbott, "Diagnosing groups: The pooling, management, and impact of shared and unshared case information in teambased medical decision making," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 75 (1998), 93–108.

74. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage"; and The Discipline of Teamwork.

75. R. Stata, "Organizational learning-the key to management innovation," Sloan Management Review 30 (1989), 70.

76. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems.

77. Drake et al., "Cost system and incentive structure."

78. Birnberg, "Some reflections."

79. C.P. Neck, M.L. Connerley, C.A. Zuniga, and S. Goel, "Family therapy meets selfmanaging teams: Explaining self-managing team performance through team member perception," *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 35 (1999), 245–59.

80. T.R. Burns and G.M. Stalker, The Management of Innovation (London: Tavistock, 1961).

172 ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

81. Lant and Hurley, "A contingency model of response to performance feedback."

82. Burns and Stalker, The Management of Innovation.

83. C. Morrill, "Conflict management, honor, and organizational change," American Journal of Sociology 97 (1991), 612. See also C. Morrill, "Customs of conflict management among corporate executives," American Anthropologists 93 (1991), 871–93.

84. J.R. Zetka, Jr., "The technological foundations of task-coordinating structures in new work organizations: Theoretical notes from the case of abdominal organizations," *Work and Occupations* 25 (1998), 356--79. See also C. Perrow, *Complex Organization*, 3rd ed. (New York: Random House, 1986).

85. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork."

86. Zetka, "The technological foundations of task-coordinating structures in new work organizations." For details, refer to Perrow, *Complex Organizations*; G. Thompson and W.J. McEwen, "Organizational goals and environment," in *A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations*, 2nd ed., ed. by A. Etzioni (New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, 1969), 187–96; and J.D. Thompson, *Organizations in Action* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1967).

87. Zetka, "The technological foundations of task-coordinating structures in new work organizations."

88. Ibid., 360-62.

89. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations," 262, 257.

90. Contrast Zetka "The technological foundations of task-coordinating structures in new work organizations" with Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork"; and Barker, "Tightening the iron cage"; and *The Discipline of Teamwork*.

91. Etzioni, ibid.

92. Williamson, "The economics of organization."

93. H.R. Rudolph and R.B. Welker, "The effects of organizational structure on communication within audit teams," Auditing: A Journal of Practice and Theory 17 (1998), 1–14.

94. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork."

95. Refer to Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations," and his Modern Organizations.

96. Ezzamel and Wilmott, "Accounting for teamwork."

97. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations.

98. H. Wilensky, Organizational Intelligence (New York: Basic Books, 1967).

99. G. Sewell, "The discipline of teams: The control of team based industrial work through electronic and peer surveillance," Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998), 424–25.

100. Ibid., 397-428.

101. Ibid., 415.

102. Ibid., 403-4.

103. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations, and his Modern Organizations.

104. Sewell, "The discipline of teams."

105. Ibid., 420-21.

106. Etzioni, Modern Organizations, 60.

107. Ibid.

108. Sewell, "The discipline of teams."

109. R.F. Zamutto and E.J. O'Connor, "Gaining advanced manufacturing technologies' benefits: The roles of organizational design and culture," *Academy of Management Review* 17 (1992), 701–28.

110. H.A. Krishnan and D. Park, "Effects on top management team change on performance in downsized U. S. companies," *Management International Review* 38 (1998), 303–19.

111. Refer to M.F. Wiersema and K.A. Bantel, "Top management team demography and corporate strategic change," Academy of Management Journal 38 (1992), 91-121.

112. W. Boeker, "Strategic Change: The influence of managerial characteristics and organizational growth," Academy of Management Journal 40 (1997), 158.

113. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems.

114. D.R. Belasco, "Team-up for success," Strategic Finance 81 (2000), 54-60.

115. M.A. Campion, G.J. Medsker, and A.C. Higgs, "Relations between work group characteristics and effectiveness: Implications for designing effective work groups," *Personnel Psychology* 46 (1993), 823–50.

116. Ibid., 842.

117. Extensive studies of TQM and BPR are provided in S. Sisaye, "Two approaches to internal auditing: A comparison of TQM and reengineering," *Internal Auditing* 11 (1996), 37–47; S. Sisaye and G. Bodnar, "Reengineering as a process innovation approach to internal auditing," *Internal Auditing* 11 (1996), 16–25; S. Sisaye and G. Bodnar, "TQM and internal auditing: A synthesis," *Internal Auditing* 10 (1995), 19–31; and S. Sisaye, G.H. Bodnar, and P. Christofi, "Total quality management and sustainability reporting: Lessons from social soundness analysis," *Internal Auditing* 19 (2004), 32–39.

118. Besser, Team Toyota.

119. Ibid.

120. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations; and his Modern Organizations.

121. R.E. Ripley and M.J. Ripley, "The innovative organization and behavioral technology for the 1990's," *The SAM Advanced Management Journal* 57 (1992), 30–36. See also T.F. Burgess, "Systems and reengineering: Relating the reengineering paradigm to systems methodologies," *Systems Practice* 8 (1995), 591–603; T.H. Davenport, *Process Innovation: Reengineering Work Through Information Technology* (Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1993); W.H. Davidson, "Beyond re-engineering: The three phases of business transformation," *IBM Systems Journal* 32 (1993), 65–79; and I.I. Mitroff, R. Mason, and C.M. Pearson, "Radical surgery: What will tomorrow's organizations look like?" *Academy of Management Executive* 8 (1994), 11–21.

122. P. Glass, "A benchmarking intervention into an executive team," Total Quality Management 9 (1998), 519–30.

123. Etzioni, A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations, 80.

124. S.A. Shane, "Are champions different from non-champions?" Journal of Business Venturing 9 (1994), 397-421

125. M.F. Maute and W.B. Locander, "Innovation as a socio-political process," *Journal of Business Research* 30 (1994), 161–74.

126. R.J. Deluga and J.T. Perry, "The role of subordinate performance and ingratiation in leader-member exchanges," *Group & Organization Management* 19 (1994), 67–86.

127. J.R. Dixon, P. Arnold, J.L. Heineke, J.S. Kinn, and P. Mulligan, "Business process reengineering: Improving in new strategic directions," *California Management Review* 36 (1994), 100.

174 ECOLOGY OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

128. Ibid., 103.

129. G.S. Vasilash, "Reengineering: Your job may depend on it," Production 15 (1993), 10.

130. Barker, "Tightening the iron cage," 413-14.

131. J.H. Hertenstein and M.B. Plat, "Why product development teams need management accountants," *Management Accounting* 79 (1998), 50-55.

132. D. Gerwin, "Team empowerment in new product development," Business Horizons 42 (1999), 29-36.

133. G.R. Carroll, "Why the microbrewery movement: Organizational dynamics of resource partitioning in the U.S. brewing industry," *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (2000), 715–62.

134. For a review, see R. Baptista, "The diffusion of process innovation: A selective review," International Journal of the Economics of Business 6 (1999), 119–24.

135. For details, refer to J.E. Butler, "Theories of technological innovation as useful tools for corporate strategy," *Strategic Management Journal* 9 (1988), 15–29; M. Gort and R.A. Will, "The evolution of technologies and investment in innovation," *The Economic Journal* 96 (1986), 741–57; M.E. Porter, *Competitive Strategy* (New York: Macmillan Publishing Company, 1980), and his subsequent book *Competitive Advantage* (New York: The Free Press, 1985); and D.M. Schroeder, "A dynamic perspective on the impact of process innovation upon competitive strategies," *Strategic Management Journal* 11 (1990), 25–41.

136. W.E. Baker, R.R. Faulkner, and G.A. Fisher, "Hazards of the market: The continuity and dissolution of inter-organizational market relationships," *American Sociological Review* 63 (1998), 158.

137. D.F. Midgley, P.D. Morrison, and J.H. Roberts, "The effect of network structure in industrial diffusion processes," *Research Policy* 21 (1992), 550.

138. J. Freeman and W. Boeker, "The ecological analysis of business strategy," California Management Review 26 (1984), 80.

139. E.R. Wolf, "Cognizing 'cognized models," American Anthropologist 10 (1999), 19-22.

140. Etzioni, Modern Organizations, 5, 7.

141. B. Buchowicz, "Cultural transition and attitude change," Journal of General Management 15 (1990), 45-55.

142. B.L. Porter and W.S. Parker, Jr., "Culture change," Human Resources Management 31 (1992), 45-67.

143. Sisaye, "Two approaches to internal auditing."

144. Sisaye, "Process innovation and adaptive institutional change strategies in management control systems."

CHAPTER 7

Conclusion: An Overview of the Implications of the Ecology of Management Accounting and Control Systems

This book has discussed the two predominant ecological approaches—selection and adaptation strategies—as they relate to management accounting and control systems. The ecological approach in general has noted the effect of the environment, geographical location, level of technology, culture, social groupings, and population characteristics on organizational growth and development. In particular, the ecological framework has argued that the environment has significant influence on organizational selection and adaptation strategies.

Chapter 7 concludes the discussion by presenting an overview of the ecology of management control systems. It outlines the contribution the selection and adaptation strategies have on the theory and practice of the ecology of management accounting and control systems.

THE SELECTION APPROACH TO MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

The selection approach has focused on the demography of organizational populations, particularly on the relationship between density and rates of birth—founding, failure, and growth—as well as death of organizations. Growth is viewed as an evolutionary process that can occur through a series of sequential stages over time, and structural constraints and pressures shape the form of change. Aldrich¹ and Carroll² have indicated that these stages include variation, selection, and retention. Organizations may experience incremental changes within each stage or radical transformation when evolving from one stage to another. Environmental factors account for three incremental and radical changes.

Ecology has evolved as a management philosophy for environmental management when natural ecosystems approaches involving nature, humans, and other animal species are incorporated into corporate business strategies. Ecology has thus analyzed organizations as living systems able to adapt, evolve, and develop over time. When designing management accounting systems, ecological analysis provides a perspective to examine the constraints and boundaries within which these systems operate. These constraints provide feedback and limit the boundaries and scope of systems so that appropriate measures can be applied when designing and implementing new organizational cost systems.

In environmental management, ecology provides a framework for organizations to develop a sustainable development enterprise. As a result, organizational strategic plans can be designed to accommodate responsible use of environmental resources, including energy conservation, development of alternative sources of energy, and management of nonrenewable energy sources such as oil, petroleum products, natural gases, and coal, as well as renewable energy sources such as trees. The development of management accounting sustainability reports to accumulate, measure, and disseminate this information becomes critical.³ Ecological use of natural ecosystems links organizations to their communities, and the effectiveness of these links is captured in organizations' sustainability reports, which provide the framework for social soundness analysis (SSA). SSA looks at the business boundaries, employees, the communities in which the business or industry is located and where the organization conducts its business, the economic and social relationships of the organization to these communities, and the organization's ability to meet the needs of those communities.⁴ The ecological approach transforms organizations' operating activities by integrating community-based approaches to business strategies, incorporates SSA in management accounting reports, and focuses on achieving sustainable development. Ecological analysis can provide organizations with tools so that welldeveloped strategic plans incorporating sustainability and environmental accounting can offer a competitive business advantage.

The ecological approach assumes that both external and internal factors contribute to the growth and failure rates of organizations. Organizations can adopt an externally oriented growth strategy through mergers and acquisitions. Internally, they can expand through technology innovation and product development. However, as organizations grow larger, inherent structural problems associated with growth arise. As organizations gain legitimacy and become established, they develop prescribed rules, routine procedures, and defined functions to guide daily operating activities. Organizations grow accustomed to these rules, making it difficult to change routine procedures. Because internal procedures and structures become rigid over time, there is resistance to change, resulting in organizational inertia.

Inertia makes organizations less flexible to adapt to change, making it less likely they will adopt innovations. Selection suggests that it is only when organizations replace old structures with new structures, strategies, and systems

CONCLUSION

that they are capable of instituting innovative change. The selection approach considers inertia as a primary obstacle to change, which can render organizations incapable of adapting, thus leading to organizational mortality—and their replacement by new organizational populations. In contrast, adaptation views inertia as a natural outcome of organizational growth that acts as an equilibrium force that stabilizes organizational activities and helps maintain the organization. The key point is that the underlying theoretical differences between the selection and adaptation approaches to change rest on their interpretation of inertia: Is inertia a barrier for change, or does it allow organizations to maintain change strategies that create stability and contribute to organizational survival?

THE ADAPTATION APPROACH TO MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING AND CONTROL SYSTEMS

The adaptation framework emphasizes organizations' need for survival and their desire for stability and maintenance of existing social systems. It is assumed that stability requires organizations to be flexible and responsive to current and perceived future environmental changes. Adaptation has become a strategic process that overcomes organizational inertia constraints to meet current environmental changes. Adaptation is a prerequisite for organizations to change and adopt innovation strategies, including changes in cost and management accounting systems, so they remain competitive and effectively conduct ongoing business operations.

This book has detailed the ecological adaptation changes in management accounting and control systems, particularly sustainability and environmental accounting and reporting systems; and the use of activity-based costing (ABC) in managing teams and work group performance. The underlying assumption is that because adaptive organizations are continuously involved in the management of change and development programs, improved cost and management accounting systems support behavioral adaptation change strategies. The adoption of environmental management accounting systems advances and improves the collection, analysis, and reporting of ecological and environmental data on organizational performance. It has been argued that environmental reporting needs to be integrated into an organization's strategic cost accounting and operating performance systems. Such integration has the potential to minimize transaction and other related costs associated with technological changes in production, distribution, and marketing systems.

This book used the systems approach as an adaptation change strategy to examine recent changes in management control systems. These changes in control systems are discussed within the context of work teams and groups as their roles change in managing organizational work activities. Several examples have been included to show the uses of ABC in promoting team and group incentives consistent with the accomplishment of organizational goals and objectives.

Recent trends in management control systems show a shift from individual to group or team-based incentives and contractual arrangements where rewards are allocated based on team/group accomplishments rather than individual performance. The current changes in accounting control systems in fact contradict the preconceived assumptions that accounting control systems are inert, inflexible, and resistant to change. To the contrary, recent developments indicate that although there is inertia in accounting, it is a relatively short-term phenomenon. Rather, changes in management control systems have evolved over the years and have adapted to changes in business requirements and environmental conditions. Changes in accounting control systems have been particularly significant in the 1990s.

The 1990s were a time in which international competition, global business changes, and environmental uncertainties brought significant developments in organization management. Various quality and productivity movements have been accompanied by new developments in management philosophy: total quality management (TQM) and process reengineering. These developments have shaped management accounting and reporting systems, particularly the methods that accountants use to gather, measure, interpret, and report cost data.⁵ ABC has been the most significant management accounting and reporting change brought by the quality movement. ABC's effect has been significant in manufacturing and industrial organizations for its use in managing incentives allocated to teams and work groups based on meeting performance targets and accomplishments.

In Chapters 5 and 6, three types of power control and compliance systems concertive--normative, coercive, and remunerative-instrumental—and their effects on team commitment and performance are discussed.⁶ It has been documented that the formation and performance of work teams are contingent on the prevailing types of management accounting and control systems that govern team operating activities. As adaptive power-compliance systems, management control systems have responded to changes in environmental uncertainties, whether dynamic or gradual. These changes have brought profound evolutionary changes in management control systems. Nevertheless, management accounting and control systems are purposive, goal-oriented functional systems that have adopted evolutionary change strategies that are largely oriented to incremental and gradual changes. Although these changes are consistent with the process and structural intervention strategies of TQM, fundamental changes in management control systems require long-term processes to bring about the desired changes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Recently, the use of ABC in teams and work groups in management control systems exemplifies an adaptive incremental-TQM based strategy that gained popularity in the 1990s. However, Chapters 5 and 6 document that ABC's use in manufacturing and industrial organizations for improving teams' incentives and performance has not been fully realized. This has been largely a result of unanticipated consequences associated with the premature implementation of team management. As the organizational sociology and development literature suggests, team management requires a phased approach that uses process

CONCLUSION

improvements of cultural change and education programs, committed leadership or champions of change, and the full involvement of team leaders and members in the planning and implementation of team management and control systems.

While these process changes are in place, they need to be accompanied by structural changes including organizational contextual components-structures, work procedures, systems, strategies, and policies. These changes not only shape the management control systems for teams and work groups but also make the control systems adaptive and responsive to external environmental changes. It can be seen that management accounting and control systems as adaptive administrative control mechanisms have been gradually transformed over the years from the scientific management bureaucratic control of the 1960s to the cultural control of the 1970s and 1980s, into the team-based self-imposed concertive and surveillance control of the late 1990s and early 2000s. These evolutionary adaptive changes have made the functions of the management accounting and control systems central to organizational operations. As the emphasis on cost as a strategic factor that influences organizational performance increases, it is imperative that organizations develop strategies to adapt and modify existing management control systems to gain the potential organizational cost savings benefits from utilization of teams and work groups.

NOTES

1. H.E. Aldrich, Organizations and Environments (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1979).

2. G.R. Carroll, "Organizational Ecology," Annual Review of Sociology 10 (1984), 71-93.

3. S. Sisaye, "Organizational adaptation change approaches on the development and effectiveness of environmental management accounting and reporting systems," in *Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance*, ed. K. E. Karim and R. W. Rutledge (Westport, Conn: Greenwood Publishing, 2004), 75–101.

4. S. Sisaye, G.H. Bodnar, and P. Christofi, "Total quality management and sustainability reporting: Lessons from social soundness analysis," *Internal Auditing* 19 (2004), 32–39.

5. See S. Sisaye, Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems: Process Innovation for Internal Auditing and Management Accounting Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting Series 10 (Amsterdam: Elsevier Sciences, JAI Press, 2001); and his "Process innovation and adaptive institutional change strategies in management control systems: Activity based costing as administrative innovation," Advances in Management Accounting 11 (2003), 251–85.

6. For background discussions, refer to S. Sisaye, "Management control systems and organizational development: New directions for managing work teams," *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005), 50–61; and his "Teams and management control systems: A synthesis of three organizational development approaches," *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005), 172–85.

This page intentionally left blank

References

- Abrams, D., K. Ando, and S. Hinkle. "Psychological attachment to the group: Crosscultural differences in organizational identification and subjective norms as predictors of workers' turnover intentions." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 24 (1998): 1027–39.
- Ackoff, R. L. and F. E. Emery. On Purposeful Systems. Chicago, Ill.: Aldine, 1972.
- Agarwal, A. A. "Host-range evolution: Adaptation and trade-offs in fitness of mites on alternative hosts." *Ecology* 8 (2000): 500–08.
- Agarwal, R. and M. Gort. "The evolution of markets and entry, exit and survival of firms." Review of Economics and Statistics 78 (1996): 489–98.
- Aldrich, H. E. Organizations and Environments. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1979.
- Aldrich, H. E. "Organizational Boundaries and Inter-Organizational Conflict." Human Relations 24 (1972): 279–93.
- Aldrich, H. E. and J. Pfeffer. "Environments of Organizations." Annual Review of Sociology 2 (1976): 79–105.
- Alvesson, M. "On the popularity of organizational culture." Acta Sociologica 33 (1990): 31–49.
- Amburgey, T. L. and H. Rao. "Organizational ecology: Past, present, and future directions." Academy of Management Journal 39 (1996): 1265–86.
- Amenakis, A. A. and A. G. Bedeian. "Organizational change: A review of theory and research in the 1990s." *Journal of Management* 25 (1999): 293–315.
- Anderson, S. W. "A framework for assessing cost management system changes. The case of activity based costing implementation at General Motors, 1986–1993." Journal of Management Accounting Research 7 (1995): 1–51.
- Anderson, S. W., J. W. Hesford, and S. M. Young. "Factors influencing the performance of activity based costing teams: A field study of ABC model development time in the automobile industry." Accounting, Organizations and Society 37 (2002): 163–74.

- Anderson, S. W. and S. M. Young. "The impact of contextual and process factors on the evaluation of activity based costing systems." Accounting, Organizations and Society 24 (1999): 525–59.
- Argyris, C. On Organizational Learning Cambridge, Mass.: Blackwell, 1992.
- Argyris, C. and R. S. Kaplan. "Commentary—implementing new knowledge: The case of activity-based costing." Accounting Horizons 8 (1994): 83–105.
- Argyris, C. and D. A. Schon. Organizational Learning: A Theory of Action Perspective Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley, 1978.
- Astley, W. G. "The two ecologies: Population and community perspectives on organizational evolution." Administrative Science Quarterly 30 (1985): 224-41.
- Bacharach, S. B., P. Bamberger, and W. J. Sonnenstuhl. "The organizational transformation process: The micro-politics of dissonance reduction and the alignment of logics of action." Administrative Science Quarterly 41 (1996): 477–506.
- Bailey, K. D. "Social ecology and living systems theory." Systems Research and Behavioral Science 15 (1998): 421-28.
- Bailey, K. D. "Post-functional social systems analysis." The Sociological Quarterly 23 (1982): 509-26.
- Baker, W. E., R. R. Faulkner, and G. A. Fisher. "Hazards of the market: The continuity and dissolution of inter-organizational market relationships." *American Sociological Review* 63 (1998): 147-77.
- Baldridge, J. V. and R. A. Burnham. "Organizational Innovation: Individual, Organizational, and Environmental Impacts," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 160–73.
- Baligh, H. J. "Components of culture: Nature, interconnections, and relevance in the decisions on the organization structure." *Management Science* 40 (1994): 14–27.
- Banker, R. D., J. M. Field, R. G. Schroeder, and K. K. Sinka. "Impact of work teams on manufacturing performance: A longitudinal field study." Academy of Management Journal 39 (1996): 867–90.
- Baptista, R. "The diffusion of process innovation: A selective review." International Journal of the Economics of Business 6 (1999): 107–129.
- Barker, J. The Discipline of Teamwork: Participation and Concertive Control. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage, 1999.
- Barker, J. "Tightening the iron cage: Concertive control in self-managing teams." Administrative Science Quarterly 38 (1993): 408-437.
- Barley, S. R. "Technology as an occasion for structuring: Evidence from observations of CT scanners and the social order of radiology departments." Administrative Science Quarterly 31 (1986): 78–108.
- Barnett, W. P. and R. A. Burgelman. "Evolutionary perspectives on strategy." Strategic Management Journal 17 (1996): 5–19.
- Barnett, W. P. and G. R. Carroll. "Modeling internal organizational change." Annual Review of Sociology 21 (1995): 217–36.
- Barnett, W. P., H. R. Greve, and D. Y. Park. "An evolutionary model of organizational performance." Strategic Management Journal 15 (1994): 11-28.
- Barnett, W. P., and M. T. Hansen. "The red queen in organizational evolution." Strategic Management Journal 17 (1996): 139-57.
- Barron, D. "The structuring of organizational populations." American Sociological Review 64 (1999): 421-45.

- Barsade, S. G., J. A. Ward, J. D. F. Turner, and J. A. Sonnenfeld. "To your heart's content: A model of affective diversity in top management teams." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45 (2000): 802–836.
- Bate, P. "Using the culture concept in an organization development setting." The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 26 (1990): 83–106.
- Baum, J. A., H. J. Korn, and S. Kotha. "Dominant designs and population dynamics in telecommunications services: Founding and failure of facsimile transmission service organizations, 1965–1992." Social Sciences Research 24 (1995): 97–135.
- Baum, J. A. and S. J. Mezias. "Competition, institutional linkages, and organizational growth." Social Science Research 22 (1993): 131–64.
- Baum, J. A. and W. W. Powell. "Cultivating an institutional ecology of organizations: Comment on Hannan, Carroll, Dundon, and Torres." *American Sociological Review* 60 (1995): 529–38.
- Baum, J. A. and J. V. Singh. "Organizational niches and the dynamics of organizational mortality." *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994): 346–80.
- Beard, D. W. and G. G. Dess. "Modeling organizational species' interdependence in an ecological community: An input-output approach." *Academy of Management Review* 13 (1988): 362–73.
- Beer, M. Organization Change and Development: A Systems View. Glenview, Ill.: Scott & Foresman, 1980.
- Beets, S. D. and C. C. Souther. "Corporate environmental reports: The need for standards and an environmental assurance service." Accounting Horizons 13 (1999): 129–45.
- Belasco, D. R. "Team-up for success." Strategic Finance 81 (2000): 54-60.
- Bell, M. A. "Hospital-uses team approach to improve processes, reduce costs." AORN Journal 68 (1998): 68-72.
- Benson, J. K. "The interorganizational network as a political economy," in *A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations*, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 349–68.
- Besser, T. L. Team Toyota: Transplant of the Toyota Culture to the Camry Plant in Kentucky. New York: State University of New York Press, 1996.
- Betton, J. and G. G. Dess. "The application of population ecology models to the study of organizations." Academy of Management Review 10 (1985): 750-57.
- Biersack, A. "Introduction: From the 'new ecology' to the new ecologies." American Anthropologist 101 (1999): 5–18.
- Bigelow, L. S., G. R. Carroll, M. L. Seidel, and L. Tsai. "Legitimation, geographical scale, and organizational density: Regional patterns of foundings of American automobile producers." *Social Science Research* 26 (1997): 377–98.
- Birnberg, J. G. "Some reflections on the evolution of organizational control." *Behavioral Research in Accounting* Supplement 10 (1998): 27–46.
- Birnberg, J. G. and C. Snodgrass. "Culture and control: A field study." Accounting, Organizations and Society 13 (1988): 447-64.
- Boeker, W. "Strategic Change: The influence of managerial characteristics and organizational growth." Academy of Management Journal 40 (1997): 152-70.
- Boeker, W. "Strategic Change: The effects of founding and history." Academy of Management Journal 32 (1989): 489-515.
- Boeker, W. "The development and institutionalization of sub-unit power in organizations." Administrative Science Quarterly 34 (1989): 388-410.

- Boone, C., V. Brocheler, and G. R. Carroll. "Custom service: Application and tests of resource—partitioning theory among Dutch auditing firms from 1896 to 1992." Organization Studies 21 (2000): 355–81.
- Boons, F., L. Baas, J. J. Bouma, A. D. Groene, and K. L. Blansch. "Trajectories of greening: The diffusion of green organizational routines in the Netherlands, 1986–1995." International Studies of Management and Organization 30 (2000): 18–40.
- Boons, F. and L. Strannegard. "Organizations coping with their natural environment: A laboratory for institutionalization." *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000): 7–17.
- Boulding, K. L. "General systems theory: The skeleton of science," in *Sociology and Modern Systems Theory*, ed. W. Buckley. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1967, 1–10.
- Brynjolfsson, E., A. A. Renshaw, and M. V. Alstyne. "The matrix of change." Sloan Management Review 38 (1997): 37-54.
- Buchowicz, B. "Cultural transition and attitude change." *Journal of General Management* 15 (1990): 45–55.
- Buller, P. F. and G. M. McEvoy. "Determinants of the institutionalization of planned organizational change." *Group and Organization Studies* 14 (1989): 33-50.
- Burgess, T. F. "Systems and reengineering: Relating the reengineering paradigm to systems methodologies." Systems Practice 8 (1995): 591-603.
- Burke, W. W. and G. H. Litwin. "A causal model of organizational performance and change." Journal of Management 18 (1992): 525-45.
- Burns, T. R. and G. M. Stalker. The Management of Innovation. London: Tavistock, 1961.
- Burell, G. and G. Morgan. Sociological Paradigms: Organizational Analysis. Portsmouth, N.H.: Heineman, 1979.
- Burritt, R. "Thinking local: Towards an environmental standard." Australian CPA 69 (1999): 57-60.
- Butel, L. and A. Watkins. "Evolving complex organizational structure in new and unpredictable environment." *Journal of Business Research* 47 (2000): 27–33.
- Butler, J. E. "Theories of technological innovation as useful tools for corporate strategy." Strategic Management Journal 9 (1988): 15–29.
- Campion, M. A., G. J. Medsker, and A. C. Higgs. "Relations between work group characteristics and effectiveness: Implications for designing effective work groups." *Per*sonnel Psychology 46 (1993): 823–50.
- Carroll, B. "Creating high-performance product design teams." National Productivity Review 19 (2000): 47-52.
- Carroll, G. R. "Why the microbrewery movement: Organizational dynamics of resource partitioning in the U.S. brewing industry." *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (2000): 715–62.
- Carroll, G. R. (Editor). Ecological Models of Organizations. Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger, 1988.
- Carroll, G. R. "Concentration and specialization: Dynamics of niche width in populations of organizations." *American Journal of Sociology* 90 (1985): 1262–83.
- Carroll, G. R. "Organizational Ecology." Annual Review of Sociology 10 (1984): 71-93.
- Carroll, G. R. and W. P. Barnett. "Organizational ecology: An introduction." Industrial and Corporate Change 13 (2004): 1-.
- Carroll, G. R. and M. T. Hannan. "Density dependence in the evolution of populations of newspaper organizations." *American Sociological Review* 54 (1989): 524–41.

- Carroll, G. R. and J. R. Harrison. "On the historical efficiency of competition between organizational populations." *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994): 720-49.
- Carroll, G. R. and Y. P. Huo. "Organizational task and institutional environments in ecological perspective: Findings from the local newspaper industry." *American Journal of Sociology* 91 (1986): 838–73.
- Carroll, G. R. and A. Swaminathan. "Why the microbrewery movement? Organizational dynamics of resource partitioning in the US brewing industry?" *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (2000): 715–62.
- Catasus, B. "Silent nature becomes normal: A study of environmental reporting." International Studies of Management and Organization 30 (2000): 59-82.
- Chattopadhyay, P. "Beyond direct and symmetrical effects: The influence of demographic dissimilarity on organizational citizenship behavior." *Academy of Management Journal* 42 (1999): 273–87.
- Chenhall, R. H. and D. Morris. "The impact of structure, environment, and interdependence on the perceived usefulness of management accounting systems." *The Accounting Review* 61 (1986): 16–35.
- Child, J. "Strategic choice in the analysis of action, structure, organizations and environment: Retrospect and prospect." Organization Studies 18 (1997): 43-76.
- Christiansen, N., P. Villanova, and S. Mikulay. "Political influence compatibility: Fitting the person to the climate." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 18 (1997): 709–30.
- Christmann, P. "Effects of 'best practices' of environmental management on cost advantage: The role of complimentary assets." *Academy of Management Journal* 43 (2000): 663–80.
- Churchman, C. W. The Systems Approach and Its Enemies. New York: Basic Books, 1979.
- Churchman, C. W. The Systems Approach. New York: Delacorte Press, 1968.
- Clitheroe, H. C. Jr., D. Stokols, and M. Zmuidzinas. "Conceptualizing the context of environment and behavior." Journal of Environmental Psychology 18 (1998): 103-112.
- Cohen-Rosenthal, E. "A walk on the human side of industrial ecology." American Behavioral Scientist 44 (2000): 245-64.
- Cooper, R. and R. S. Kaplan. "The promise and peril of integrated cost systems." Harvard Business Review 76 (1998): 109–119.
- Coopman, S. "Democracy, performance, and outcomes in interdisciplinary health care teams." Journal of Business Communications 38 (2001): 261-84.
- Crenshaw, E. M., M. Christenson, and D. R. Oakey. "Demographic transition in ecological focus." *American Sociological Review* 65 (2000): 371–91.
- D'Aunno, T., M. Succi, and J. A. Alexander. "The role of institutional and market forces in divergent organizational change." Administrative Science Quarterly 45 (2000): 679–703.
- Daft, R. L. "A dual-core model of organizational innovation." Academy of Management Journal 21 (1978): 193–210.
- Damanpour, F. "The adoption of technological, administrative, and ancillary innovations: Impact of organizational factors." *Journal of Management* 13 (1987): 675–88.
- Damanpour, F. and W. M. Evan. "Organizational innovation and performance: The problem of 'organizational lag." Administrative Science Quarterly 29 (1984): 392-409.
- Davenport, T. H. Process Innovation: Reengineering Work Through Information Technology. Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1993.
- Davidson, C. "Economic growth and the environment: Alternative to the limits paradigm." Bioscience 50 (2000): 433–40.

- Davidson, W. H. "Beyond re-engineering: The three phases of business transformation." *IBM Systems Journal* 32 (1993): 65–79.
- de Geus, A. "The living company." Harvard Business Review (1997): 51-59.
- DeLoo, I. and B. Verstegen. "Does action learning lead to organizational growth?" The Mid-Atlantic Journal of Business 37 (2001): 55-64.
- Deluga, R. J. and J. T. Perry. "The role of subordinate performance and ingratiation in leader-member exchanges." Group & Organization Management 19 (1994): 67-86.
- Desrochers, P. "Industrial ecology and the rediscovery of inter-firm recycling linkages: Historical evidence and policy implications." *Industrial and Corporate Change* 11 (2002): 1031–57.
- Deutz, P. and D. Gibbs. "Eco-industrial development and economic development: Industrial ecology or place promotion?" *Business Strategy and the Environment* 13 (2004): 347–62.
- Dietz, T. and T. R. Burns. "Human agency and the evolutionary dynamics of culture." *Acta Sociologica* 35 (1992): 187–200.
- DiMaggio, P. J. and W. W. Powell. "The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields." *American Sociological Review* 48 (1983): 147–60.
- Dixon, J. R., P. Arnold, J. L. Heineke, J. S. Kinn, and P. Mulligan. "Business process reengineering: Improving in new strategic directions." *California Management Review* 36 (1994): 93–108.
- Dobrev, S. D., T. Y. Kim, G. R. Carroll. "The evolution of organizational niches: U.S. automobile manufacturers, 1885–1981." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 47 (2002): 233–64.
- Dobrev, S. D., T. Y. Kim, and M. T. Hannan. "Dynamics of niche width and resource partitioning." *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (2001): 1299–1337.
- Doledec, S., D. Chessel, and C. Gimaret-Carpentier. "Niche separation in community analysis: A new method." Ecology 81 (2000): 2914–27.
- Drake, A. R., S. F. Haka, and S. P. Ravenscroft. "Cost system and incentive structure effects on innovation, efficiency and profitability in teams." *The Accounting Review* 74 (1999): 323–45.
- Drory, A. and T. Romm. "The definition of organizational politics: A review." Human Relations 43 (1990): 1133-54.
- Drory, A. and T. Romm. "Politics in organization and its perception within the organization." Organization Studies 9 (1988): 165-79.
- Drucker, P. E. "Redesigning the corporation requires a new set of tools and concepts: The information executives need." *Harvard Business Review* 73 (1995): 54–63.
- Duncan, O. D. "From social system to ecosystem." Sociological Quarterly 21 (1961): 140-49.
- Durand, R. "Firm selection: An integrative perspective." Organization Studies 22 (2001): 393-417.
- Ehrenfeld, J. R. "Industrial ecology: Paradigm shift or normal science." American Behavioral Scientist 44 (2000): 229-44.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. and D. C. Galunic. "Coevolving: At last, a way to make synergies work." Harvard Business Review (2000): 91-101.
- Epstein, M. J. and S. D. Young. "Greening' with EVA." Management Accounting 80 (1999): 45–49.

- Erickson, R. A. "Technology, industrial restructuring, and regional development." Growth and Change 25 (1994): 353-79.
- Escobar, A. "After nature: Steps to an antiessentialist political ecology." Current Anthropology 40 (1999): 1-30.
- Etzioni, A. "Compliance structures," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 87–100.
- Etzioni, A. (Ed.). A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 2nd ed. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1969.
- Etzioni, A. Modern Organizations. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1964.
- Etzioni, A. A Comparative Analysis of Complex Organizations: In Power, Involvement, and Their Correlates. New York: The Free Press, 1961.
- Etzioni, A. and E. W. Lehman (Eds.). A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed. New York: The Free Press, 1980.
- Evans, J. H. "Cost management and management control in health care organizations: Recent opportunities." Behavioral Research in Accounting Supplement 10 (1998): 78-93.
- Everett, J. L. "The ecological paradigm in public relations theory and practice." Public Relations Review 19 (1993): 177-85.
- Ezzamel, M. and H. Wilmott. "Accounting for teamwork: A critical study of group-based systems of organizational control." Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998): 358-96.
- Farina, A. "The cultural landscape as a model for the integration of ecology and economics." Bioscience 50 (2000): 313-20.
- Feldman, S. "How organizational culture can affect innovation." Organizational Dynamics 17 (1988): 57–68.
- Feldman, S. "Management in context: An essay on the relevance of culture to the understanding of organizational change." Journal of Management Studies 23 (1986): 587-607.
- Fennell, M. L. and J. A. Alexander. "Organizational boundary spanning in institutionalized environments." Academy of Management Journal 30 (1987): 456--76.
- Fisher, J. "Contingency theory, management control systems, and firm outcomes: Past results and future directions." Behavioral Research in Accounting 10 Supplement (1998): 47-64.
- Fisher, J. "Contingency-based research on management control systems: Categorization
- by level of complexity." *Journal of Accounting Literature* 9 (1995): 24–53. Fletcher, D. S. and I. M. Taplin. "Organizational evolution: The American life cycle." *National Productivity Review* 19 (2000): 41–48.
- Fligstein, N. "The intra-organizational power struggle: Rise of finance personnel to top leadership in large corporations, 1919–1979." American Sociological Review 52 (1987): 44-58.
- Florida, R. and D. Davison. "Gaining from green management: Environmental management systems inside and outside the factory." California Management Review 43 (2001): 64-84.
- Fox-Wolfgramm, S. J., K. B. Boal, and J. G. Hunt. "Organizational adaptation to institutional change: A comparative study of first-order change in Prospector and Defender Banks." Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998): 87-126.
- Freeman, J. "Organizational life cycles and natural selection processes." Research in Organizational Behavior 4 (1982): 1-32.
- Freeman, J. and W. Boeker. "The ecological analysis of business strategy." California Management Review 26 (1984): 73-86.

REFERENCES

- Freeman, J. and M. T. Hannan. "Niche width and the dynamics of organizational populations." *American Journal of Sociology* 88 (1983): 1116–45.
- Freeman, J., and M. T. Hannan. "Growth and decline processes in organizations," in A *Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations*, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 424–40.
- French, W. L. and C. H. Bell, Jr. Organization Development: Behavioral Science Interventions for Organization Improvement, 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1978.
- Freudenburg, W. R. and R. Gramling. "The emergence of environmental sociology: Contributions of Riley E. Dunlap and William R. Catton, Jr. 1989." *Sociological Inquiry* 59 (1989): 439–52.
- Frisbie, W. B., L. J. Krivo, R. L. Kaufman, C. J. Clarke, and D. E. Myers. "A measurement of technological change: An ecological perspective." Social Forces 62 (1984): 750–65.
- Fujiwara-Greve, T. and H. R. Greve. "Organizational ecology and job mobility." Social Forces 79 (2000): 547-68.
- Füssel, L. and S. Georg. "The institutionalization of environmental concerns: Making the environment perform." *International Studies of Management and Organization* 30 (2000): 41–58.
- Gerwin, D. "Team empowerment in new product development." Business Horizons 42 (1999): 29-36.
- Giddens, G. Social Theory and Modern Sociology. Cambridge, Mass.: Polity Press, 1987.
- Glass, P. "A benchmarking intervention into an executive team." *Total Quality Management* 9 (1998): 519–30.
- Gort, M. and R. A. Will. "The evolution of technologies and investment in innovation." *The Economic Journal* 96 (1986): 741–57.
- Gosselin, M. "The effect of strategy and organizational structure on the adoption and implementation of activity-based costing." Accounting, Organizations and Society 22 (1997): 105–22.
- Gould, S. J. and N. Eldridge. "Review article: Punctuated equilibrium comes of age." *Nature* 36 (1993): 223-27.
- Grant, R. M. "Strategic planning in a turbulent environment: Evidence from the oil majors." Strategic Management Journal 24 (2003): 491-517.
- Grattet, R., V. Jenness, and T. R. Curry. "The homogenization and differentiation of hate crime law in the United States, 1978 to 1995: Innovation and diffusion in the criminalization of bigotry." *American Sociological Review* 63 (1998): 286–307.
- Gray, S. J. "A memory loss: Ecological politics, local history, and the evolution of Karimojong violence." *Human Organization* 59 (2000): 401–18.
- Greve, H. R. "An ecological theory of spatial evolution: Local density dependence in Tokyo Banking, 1894–1936." Social Forces 80 (2002): 847–79.
- Greve, H. R. "The effect of core change on performance: Inertia and regression toward the mean." Administrative Science Quarterly 44 (1999): 590-614.
- Greve, H. R. and T. Fujiwara-Greve. "Organizational ecology and job mobility." Social Forces 79 (2000): 547-68.
- Gulden, G. K. and R. H. Reck. "Combining quality and reengineering efforts for process excellence." Informing Strategy: The Executive Journal 8 (1992): 10–17.
- Haenn, N. "Review article: Renovating ecology." American Anthropologist 27 (2000): 736-45.
- Hammer, M. "Reengineering work: Don't automate, obliterate." Harvard Business Review 68 (1990): 104-12.

- Hammer, M. and J. Champy. Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution. New York: Harper Business Publications, 1993.
- Hannan, M. T. "Rethinking age dependence in organizational mortality: Logical formalizations." American Journal of Sociology 104 (1998): 126-64.
- Hannan, M. T., G. R. Carroll, E. A. Dundon, and J. C. Torres. "Organizational evolution in a multinational context: Entries of automobile manufacturers in Belgium, Britain, France, Germany, and Italy." *American Sociological Review* 60 (1995): 509–28.
- Hannan, M. T. and G. R. Carroll. Dynamics of Organizational Populations: Density, Legitimation, and Competition. New York: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- Hannan, M. T. and J. Freeman. Organizational Ecology. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989.
- Hannan, M. T. and J. Freeman. "Structural inertia and organizational change." American Sociological Review 49 (1984): 149-64.
- Hannan, M. T. and J. Freeman. "The population ecology of organizations." American Journal of Sociology 82 (1977): 929-64.
- Hare, A. P. "Group decision by consensus: Reaching unity in the society of friends." Sociological Inquiry 43 (1973): 75-84.
- Hart, S. L. "A natural-resource-based view of the firm." Academy of Management Review 20 (1995): 986-1014.
- Hatch, M. J. "The dynamics of organizational culture." Academy of Management Review 18 (1993): 657–93.
- Haveman, H. A. "Between a rock and a hard place: Organizational change and performance under conditions of fundamental environmental transformation." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37 (1992): 48–75.
- Haveman, H. A. and L. E. Cohen. "The ecological dynamics of careers: The impact of organizational founding, dissolution, and merger on job mobility." *American Journal of Sociology* 100 (1994): 104–52.
- Hawley, A. H. Human Ecology: A Theoretical Essay. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1986.
- Hawley, A. H. Human Ecology: A Theory of Community Structure. New York: Ronald Press Company, 1950.
- Henderson, A. D. "Firm strategy and age dependence: A contingent view of the liabilities of newness, adolescence, and obsolescence." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 44 (1999): 281–314.
- Henderson, A. D. and J. W. Fredrickson. "Top management team coordination needs and the CEO pay gap: A competitive test of economic and behavioral views." Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001): 96–117.
- Hertenstein, J. H. and M. B. Plat. "Why product development teams need management accountants." *Management Accounting* 79 (1998): 50-55.
- Hollenbeck, J. R., D. R. Ilgen, J. A. LePine, J. A. Colquitt, and J. Hedlund. "Extending the multilevel theory of team decision making: Effects of feedback and experience in hierarchical teams." Academy of Management Journal 41 (1998): 269–82.
- Hollenbeck, J. R., J. A. Colquitt, D. R. Ilgen, J. A. LePine, and J. Hedlund. "Accuracy decomposition and team decision making: Testing theoretical boundary conditions." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 83 (1998): 494–500.
- Holmes, S. and S. Marsden. "An exploration of the espoused organizational cultures of public accounting firms." Accounting Horizons 10 (1996): 26-53.

- Hook, P. B. and I. C. Burke. "Biogeochemistry in a short grass landscape: Control by topography, soil texture, and microclimate." *Ecology* 81(2000): 2686–2703.
- Hornstein, H. "Organizational development and change management." The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 37 (2001): 223-26.
- Howes, R. "Accounting for environmentally sustainable profits." Management Accounting 77 (1999): 32–33.
- Hrebiniak, L. G. and W. F. Joyce. "Organizational adaptation: Strategic choice and environmental determinism." Administrative Science Quarterly 30 (1985): 336–49.
- Hunt, C. H. and H. E. Aldrich. "The second ecology: Creation and evolution of organizational communities." *Research in Organizational Behavior* 20 (1998): 267–301.
- Ingram, P. and T. Simons. "State formation, ideological competition, and the ecology of Israeli workers' cooperatives, 1920–1992." Administrative Science Quarterly 45 (2000): 25–53.
- Isenmann, R. "Industrial ecology: Shedding more light on its perspective of understanding nature as model." *Sustainable Development* 11 (2003): 143–58.
- Iwai, K. "Schumpeterian dynamics: An evolutionary model of innovation and imitation." Journal of Economic Behavior and Organizations 5 (1984): 159–90.
- Jargowsky, P. A. "Take the money and run: Economic segregation in U. S. metropolitan areas." American Sociological Review 61 (1996): 984–98.
- Jennings, P. D. and P. A. Zandbergen. "Ecologically sustainable organizations: An institutional approach." Academy of Management Review 20 (1995): 1015-52.
- Jensen, R. "Innovation adoption and diffusion when there are competing innovations." Journal of Economic Theory 29 (1983): 161–71.
- Kanazawa, S. "Testing macro-organizational theories in laboratory experiments." Social Science Research 28 (1999): 66–87.
- Kanter, R. M. The Change Masters. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1983.
- Kaplan, R. S. "New systems for measurement and control." *The Engineering Economist* 36 (1991): 201–18.
- Kaplan, R. S. "Management accounting for advanced technological environments." Science 245 (1989): 19–23.
- Kasimoglu, M. and B. Hamarat. "Niche overlap-competition and homogeneity in the organizational clusters of hotel population." *Management Research News* 26 (2003): 60–77.
- Katz, D. and R. L. Khan. The Social Psychology of Organizations. New York: Wiley, 1978.
- Katz, D. and R. L. Khan. "Common characteristics of open systems," in Systems Thinking: Selected Readings, ed. F. E. Emery. Baltimore, Md.: Penguin Books, 1969.
- Katzenbach, J. R. "The myth of the top management team." Harvard Business Review 75 (1997): 83–91.
- Keats, B. W. and M. A. Hitt. "A casual model of linkages among environmental dimensions, macro organizational characteristics, and performance." Academy of Management Journal 31 (1988): 570–98.
- Kilmann, R. H. Beyond the Quick Fix. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1984.
- Kim, T. Y., S. D. Dobrev, and G. R. Carroll. "Shifting Gears, Shifting Niches: Organizational Inertia and Change in the Evolution of the U.S. Automobile Industry, 1885– 1981." Organization Science 14 (2003): 264–82.
- King, A. "Avoiding ecological surprise: Lessons from long-standing communities." Academy of Management Review 20 (1995): 961–85.

- Kirkman, B. L. and B. Rosen. "Powering up teams." Organizational Dynamics 28 (2000): 48-66.
- Kirkman, B. L. and D. L. Shapiro. "The impact of cultural values on employee resistance to teams: Toward a model of globalized self-managing work team effectiveness." *Academy of Management Review* 22 (1997): 730–57.
- Korhonen, J., F. Malmborg, P. A. Strachan, and J. R. Ehrenfeld. "Management and policy aspects of industrial ecology: An emerging research agenda." Business Strategy and the Environment 13 (2004): 289–305.
- Kottack, C. P. "The new ecological anthropology." American Anthropologist 101 (1999): 23-35.
- Kremen, C. "Assessing the indicator properties of species assemblages for natural areas monitoring." *Ecological Applications* 2 (1992): 203–17.
- Krishnan, H. A. and D. Park. "Effects on top management team change on performance in downsized U. S. companies." *Management International Review* 38 (1998): 303–19.
- Krone, R. M. Systems Analysis and Policy Sciences: Theory and Practice. New York: Wiley, 1980.
- Langton, J. "The ecological theory of bureaucracy: The case of Josiah Wedgwood and the British pottery industry." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 29 (1984): 330–54.
- Lant, T. K. and A. E. Hurley. "A contingency model of response to performance feedback: Escalation of commitment and incremental adaptation in resource investment decisions." Group and Organization Management 24 (1999): 421–37.
- Lant, T. K. and S. J. Mezias. "An organizational learning model of convergence and reorientation." Organizational Science 31 (1992): 47-71.
- Larson, Jr., J. R., T. M. Franz, C. Christensen, and A. S. Abbott. "Diagnosing groups: The pooling, management, and impact of shared and unshared case information in teambased medical decision making." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 75 (1998): 93–108.
- Laszlo, E. "Information technology and social change: An evolutionary analysis." Behavioral Science 37 (1992): 237–49.
- Lau, D. C. and J. K. Murnighan. "Demographic diversity and fault lines: The compositional dynamics of organizational groups." *Academy of Management Review* 23 (1998): 325–40.
- Lawrence, P. R. and J. W. Lorsch. Organizations and Environment. Homewood, Ill.: Richard D. Irwin, 1969.
- Lawson, R. B. and C. L. Ventriss. "Organizational change: The role of organizational culture and organizational learning." *The Psychology Record* 42 (1992): 205–19.
- Lehman, E. W. "A paradigm for the analysis of inter-organizational relations," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 369–79.
- Lenox, M. J. and J. Nash. "Industry self-regulation and adverse selection: A comparison across four trade association programs." *Business Strategy and the Environment* 12 (2003): 343–56.
- Lieberson, S. and J. F. O'Connor. "Leadership and organizational performance: A study of large corporations," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 3rd ed., ed. A. Etzioni and E. W. Lehman. New York: The Free Press, 1980, 284–99.
- Linton, J. D., J. S. Yeomans, and R. Yoogalingam. "Supply planning for industrial ecology and remanufacturing under uncertainty: A numerical study of leaded-waste recovery from television disposal." *Journal of Operational Research Society* 53 (2002): 1185–96.

- Lipietz, A. "Cultural geography, political economy and ecology." *European Planning Studies* 7 (1999): 41–50.
- Litwak, E. and P. Messeri. "Organizational theory, social supports, and mortality rates: A theoretical convergence." *American Sociological Review* 54 (1989): 49–66.
- Lomi, A. "The population ecology of organizational founding: Location, dependence and unobserved heterogeneity." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 40 (1995): 111–44.
- Lomi, A. and E. R. Larsen. "Interacting locally and evolving globally: A computational approach to the dynamics of organizational populations." Academy of Management Journal 39 (1996): 1287–1321.
- Lounsbury, M. "Institutional sources of practice variation: Staffing college and university recycling programs." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 46 (2001): 29–56.
- Lukka, K. "Total accounting in action: Reflections on Sten Jonsson's accounting for improvement." Accounting, Organizations and Society 25 (1998): 333-42.
- Maignan, I., O. C. Ferrell, and G. T. Hult. "Corporate citizenship: Cultural antecedents and business benefits." *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* 27 (1999): 455–69.
- Mark, N. "Beyond individual differences: Social differentiation from first principles." American Sociological Review 63 (1998): 309–30.
- Marple, D. "Technological innovation and organizational survival: A population ecology study of nineteenth-century American railroads." *The Sociological Quarterly* 23 (1982): 107–16.
- Massey, D. S. and N. A. Denton. "Spatial assimilation as a socioeconomic outcome." *American Sociological Review* 50 (1985): 94–106.
- Maute, M. F. and W. B. Locander. "Innovation as a socio-political process." Journal of Business Research 30 (1994): 61-174.
- McKelvey, B. and H. E. Aldrich. "Population, natural selection, and applied organizational science." Administrative Science Quarterly 28 (1983): 101-28.
- McLaughlin, P. and M. Khawaja. "The organizational dynamics of the U. S. environmental movement: Legitimation, resource mobilization, and political opportunity." *Rural Sociology* 65 (2000): 422–39.
- Merchant, K. Control in Business Organizations. Boston: Pitman, 1985.
- Messallam, A. A. "The organizational ecology of investment firms in Egypt: Organizational founding." Organization Studies 19 (1998): 23–46.
- Meyer, J. W. and W. R. Scott. Organizational Environments: Ritual and Rationality. Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage, 1983.
- Meyer, J. W. and B. Rowen. "Institutionalized Organizations: Formal structures as myth and ceremony." *American Journal of Sociology* 83 (1977): 340-63.
- Meyerson, D. and J. Martin. "Cultural change: An integration of three different views." Journal of Management Studies 24 (1987): 623-47.
- Midgley, D. F., P. D. Morrison, and J. H. Roberts. "The effect of network structure in industrial diffusion processes." *Research Policy* 21 (1992): 533-52.
- Miley, F. and A. Reed. "Environmental reporting: Thinking local." Australian CPA 70 (2000): 40-42.
- Miner, A. S. "Organizational evolution and the social ecology of jobs." American Sociological Review 56 (1991): 772–85.
- Mitroff, I. I., R. Mason, and C. M. Pearson. "Radical surgery: What will tomorrow's organizations look like?" Academy of Management Executive 8 (1994): 11-21.

- Molinsky, A. L. "Sanding down the edge: Paradoxical impediments to organizational change." The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 35 (1999): 8–24.
- Moore, J. F. "Predators and prey: A new ecology of competition." Harvard Business Review (1993): 75-86.
- Morel, B. and R. Ramanujam. "Through the looking glass of complexity: The dynamics of organizations as adaptive and evolving systems." Organization Science 10 (1998): 278–93.
- Morrill, C. "Conflict management, honor, and organizational change." American Journal of Sociology 97 (1991): 585-621.
- Morrill, C. "Customs of conflict management among corporate executives." American Anthropologists 93 (1991): 871–93.
- Nadler, D. A. "Managing organizational change: An integrative approach." The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 17 (1981): 191-210.
- National Research Council. "Nature's Numbers: Expanding the national economic accounts to include the environment." Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, mimeo 2000.
- Naveh, Z. "The total human ecosystem: Integrating ecology and economics." *Bioscience* 50 (2000): 357–61.
- Neck, C. P., M. L. Connerley, C. A. Zuniga, and S. Goel. "Family therapy meets selfmanaging teams: Explaining self-managing team performance through team member perception." *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 35 (1999): 245–59.
- Nelson, R. R. and S. G. Winter. "Firm and industry response to changed market conditions: An evolutionary approach." *Economic Inquiry* 18 (1980): 179-202.
- Nelson, R. R. and S. G. Winter. "Neoclassical vs. evolutionary theories of economic growth: Critique and prospects." *The Economic Journal* 84 (1974): 886–905.
- Nelson, R. R., S. G. Winter, and H. L. Schuette. "Technical change in an evolutionary model." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 90 (1976): 90-118.
- Nielsen, K. "Institutionalist approaches in the social sciences: Typology, dialogue, and future challenges." Journal of Economic Issues 35 (2001): 505–16.
- Noda, T. and D. J. Collis. "The evolution of intraindustry firm heterogeneity: Insights from a process study." Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001): 897–925.
- Nordhaus, W. D. and E. C. Kokkelenberg. "Accounting for renewable and environmental resources." Survey of Current Business 80 (2000): 26-51.
- Nordhaus, W. D. and, E. C. Kokkelenberg. "Overall appraisal of environmental accounting in the United States." Survey of Current Business 79 (1999): 50-65.
- Olzak, S. and S. C. N. Uhrig. "The ecology of tactical overlap." American Sociological Review 65 (2001): 694–717.
- Ouchi, W. G. "A conceptual framework for the design of organizational control mechanisms." *Management Science* 25 (1979): 833–48.
- Ouchi, W. G. "The relationship between organizational structure and organizational control." Administrative Science Quarterly 22 (1977): 95-113.
- Ozsomer, A., R. J. Calantine, and A. DiBenedetto. "What makes firms more innovative? A look at organizational and environmental factors." *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing* 12 (1997): 400–416.
- Parker, C. P., R. L. Dipboye, and S. L. Jackson. "Perceptions of organizational politics: An investigation of antecedents and consequences." *Journal of Management* 21 (1995): 891–912.
- Parsons, T. The Social Systems. New York: The Free Press, 1951.

- Péli, G., J. Bruggeman, M. Masuch, and B. O. Nuallain. "A logical approach to formalizing organizational ecology." *American Sociological Review* 59 (1994): 571–93.
- Péli, G. and B. Nooteboom. "Market partitioning and the geometry of the resource space." American Journal of Sociology 104 (1999): 1132–53.
- Perrow, C. Complex Organizations, 3rd ed. New York: Random House, 1986.
- Peterson, A. T. "Predicting species' geographic distributions based on ecological niche modeling." *The Condor* 103 (2001): 599–605.
- Peukert, H. "On the origins of modern evolutionary economics: The Veblen legend after 100 years." Journal of Economic Issues 35 (2001): 543-55.
- Pfeffer, J. Managing with Power: Politics and Influence in Organizations. Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1992.
- Pfeffer, J. Power in Organizations. Marshfield, Mass.: Pitman, 1981.
- Pfeffer, J. "Organizational demography: Implications for management." California Management Review 28 (1985): 67-81.
- Pfeffer J. and G. R. Salancik. The External Control of Organizations. New York: Harper & Row, 1978.
- Pierce, B. D. and R. White. "The evolution of social structure. Why evolution matters." *Academy of Management Review* 24 (1999): 843–53.
- Podolny, J. M. and T. E. Stuart. "A role-based ecology of technological change." American Journal of Sociology 100 (1995): 1224-60.
- Porras, J. I., K. K. Hargis, J. Patterson, D. G. Maxfield, N. Roberts, and R. J. Bies. "Modeling-based organizational development: A longitudinal assessment." *The Journal* of Applied Behavioral Science 18 (1982): 433–46.
- Porras, J. I. and S. J. Hoffer. "Common behavior changes in successful organization development efforts." The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 22 (1986): 477-94.
- Porras, J. I. and R. C. Silvers. "Organization development and transformation." Annual Review of Psychology 42 (1991): 51-78.
- Porter, B. L. and W. S. Parker, Jr. "Culture change." Human Resources Management 31 (1992): 45-67.
- Porter, M. E. Competitive Advantage. New York: The Free Press, 1985.
- Porter, M. E. Competitive Strategy. New York: Macmillan, 1980.
- Ranger-Moore, J. "Bigger may be better. But is older wiser? Organizational age and size in the New York Life Insurance Industry." *American Sociological Review* 62 (1997): 903–20.
- Ranger-Moore, J., R. S. Breckenridge, and D. L. Jones. "Patterns of growth and sizelocalized competition in the New York state life insurance industry, 1860–1985." Social Forces 73 (1995): 1027–49.
- Ripley, R. E. and M. J. Ripley. "The innovative organization and behavioral technology for the 1990's." The SAM Advanced Management Journal 57 (1992): 30–36.
- Roberts, M. W. and K. J. Silvester. "Why ABC failed and how it may yet succeed." Journal of Cost Management 9 (1996): 23-35.
- Robles, J. "Evolution with changing mutation rates." *Journal of Economic Theory* 79 (1998): 207–23.
- Rojsek, I. "From red to green: Towards the environmental management in the country in transition." *Journal of Business Ethics*. 33 (2001): 37–50.
- Romanelli, E. "The evolution of organizational forms." Annual Review of Sociology 17 (1991): 79–103.

- Romanelli, E. and M. L. Tushman. "Organizational transformation as punctuated equilibrium: An empirical test." Academy of Management Journal 37 (1994): 1141-66.
- Romanelli, E. and M. L. Tushman. "Inertia, environments, and strategic choice: A quasiexperimental design for comparative-longitudinal research." *Management Science* 32 (1986): 608–21.
- Rosen, C. M. "Environmental strategy and competitive advantage: An introduction." *California Management Review* 43 (2001): 8–15.
- Rosenblatt, Z., K. S. Rogers, and W. R. Nord. "Toward a political framework for flexible management of decline." Organization Science 4 (1993): 76–91.
- Rowe, C. "The effect of accounting report structure and team structure on performance in cross-functional teams." *The Accounting Review* 79 (2004): 1153–80.
- Rudolph, H. R. and R. B. Welker. "The effects of organizational structure on communication within audit teams." Auditing: A Journal of Practice and Theory 17 (1998): 1-14.
- Ruef, M. "The emergence of organizational forms: A community ecology approach." American Journal of Sociology 106 (2000): 658-714.
- Ruef, M. and W. R. Scott. "A multidimensional model of organizational legitimacy: Hospital survival in changing institutional environments." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998): 877–904.
- Santos, A. and V. Ma. "The phenomenon of organizational evolution: a model for analysis." Leadership and Organization Development Journal 23 (2002): 215–27.
- Schroeder, D. M. "A dynamic perspective on the impact of process innovation upon competitive strategies." Strategic Management Journal 11 (1990): 25-41.
- Schulz, M. "The uncertain relevance of newness: Organizational learning and knowledge flows." Academy of Management Journal 44 (2001): 661–81.
- Schulz, M. "Limits to bureaucratic growth: The density dependence of organizational rule births." Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998): 845–76.
- Scott, T. W. and P. Tiessen. "Performance measurement and managerial teams." Accounting, Organizations and Society 24 (1999): 263-85.
- Scott, W. R. Organizations: Rational, Natural and Open Systems. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1987.
- Seal, W. B. "Deindustrialisation and business organisation: An Institutionalist critique of the natural selection analogy." *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 14 (1990): 267–75.
- Selznick, P. "Foundations of the theory of organizations," In A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 2nd ed., ed. A. Etzioni. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston. 1969, 19–32.
- Selznick, P. Leadership in Administration: A Sociological Interpretation. Evanston, Ill.: Row & Peterson, 1957.
- Seuring, S. "Industrial ecology, life cycles, supply chains: Differences and interrelations." Business Strategy and the Environment 13 (2004): 306–19.
- Sewell, G. "The discipline of teams: The control of team based industrial work through electronic and peer surveillance." Administrative Science Quarterly 43 (1998): 397–428.
- Sewell, W. H. Jr. "A theory of structure: Duality, agency, and transformation." American Journal of Sociology 98 (1992): 1-29.
- Shane, S. A. "Are champions different from non-champions?" Journal of Business Venturing 9 (1994): 397-421.
- Siggelkow, N. "Change in the presence of fit: The rise, the fall, and the renaissance of Liz Claiborne." *Academy of Management Journal* 44 (2001): 838–57.

- Singh, J. V. and C. J. Lundsen. "Theory and research in organizational ecology." Annual Review of Sociology 16 (1990): 161–195.
- Sisaye, S. "Teams and management control systems: A synthesis of three organizational development approaches." The Leadership & Organization Development Journal 26 (2005): 172–85.
- Sisaye, S. "Management control systems and organizational development: New directions for managing work teams." *The Leadership & Organization Development Journal* 26 (2005): 51–61.
- Sisaye, S. "Organizational adaptation change approaches on the development and effectiveness of environmental management accounting and reporting systems," in *Environmental Disclosure Practices and Financial Performance*, ed. K. E. Karim and R. W. Rutledge. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood, 2004, 75–101.
- Sisaye, S. "Process innovation and adaptive institutional change strategies in management control systems: Activity based costing as administrative innovation." Advances in Management Accounting 11 (2003): 251–85.
- Sisaye, S. Organizational Change and Development in Management Control Systems: Process Innovation for Internal Auditing and Management Accounting Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting Series 10. Amsterdam: Elsevier Sciences, JAI Press, 2001.
- Sisaye, S. A Power Control Exchange Framework of Accounting: Applications to Management Control Systems, Studies in Managerial and Financial Accounting 5. Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press, 1997.
- Sisaye, S. "Two approaches to internal auditing: A comparison of TQM and reengineering." Internal Auditing 11 (1996): 37–47.
- Sisaye, S. and G. Bodnar. "Reengineering as a process innovation approach to internal auditing." *Internal Auditing* 11 (1996): 16–25.
- Sisaye, S. and G. Bodnar. "TQM and internal auditing: A synthesis." Internal Auditing 10 (1995): 19-31.
- Sisaye, S., G. H. Bodnar, and P. Christofi. "Total quality management and sustainability reporting: Lessons from social soundness analysis." *Internal Auditing* 19 (2004): 32–39.
- Smirich, L. "Concepts of culture and organizational analysis." Administrative Science Quarterly 28 (1983): 339-58.
- Smith, K. G., K. A. Smith, J. D. Olian, H. P. Sims, Jr., D. P. O'Bannon, and J. A. Scully. "Top management team demography and process: The role of social integration and communication." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 39 (1994): 412–38.
- Smith, M. E. "The process of socio-cultural continuity." *Current Anthropology* 23 (1982): 127–35.
- Snakin, J.P.A. and J. Korhonen. "Industrial ecology in the North Karelia Region in Finland—Scenarios for heating energy supply." International Journal of Sustainable Development and World Ecology 9 (2002): 9–21.
- Snell, R. and A. M. K. Chek. "The learning organization: Learning and empowerment for whom." Management Learning 25 (1998): 337–64.
- Sniezek, J. A., D. R. May, and G. E. Sawyer. "Social uncertainty and interdependence: A study of resource allocation decisions in groups." Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 46 (1990): 155–80.
- Sommer, A. A. Jr. "Commentary: The challenge of the 1989 mergers." Accounting Horizons 3 (1989): 103--6.

- Sorenson, O. "The effect of population-level learning on market entry: The American automobile industry." Social Science Research 29 (2000): 307–26.
- Staber, U. H. "Organizational interdependence and organizational mortality in the cooperative sector: A community ecology perspective." *Human Relations* 45 (1992): 1191–1212.
- Stata, R. "Organizational learning-the key to management innovation." Sloan Management Review 30 (1989): 63-74.
- Stigler, G. J. The Organization of Industry. Homewood, Ill.: Irwin, 1968.
- Stinchcombe, A. L. "Social structure and organization," in *Handbook of Organizations*, ed. J. G. March. Chicago: Rand McNally, 1965, 142–93.
- Stone, G., M. Joseph, and J. Blodgett. "Toward the creation of an eco-oriented corporate culture: A proposed model of internal and external antecedents leading to industrial firm eco-orientation." *The Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing* 19 (2004): 68–84.
- Sutton, R. J. "The process of organizational death: Disbanding and reconnecting." Administrative Science Quarterly 32 (1987): 542-69.
- Swaminathan, A. "Resource partitioning and the evolution of specialist organizations: The role of location and identity in the U.S. wine industry." *Academy of Management Journal* 44 (2001): 1169–85.
- Teece, D. J. "Firm organization, industrial structure, and technological innovation." Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 31 (1996): 193-224.
- Thiele, L. P. "Evolutionary narratives and ecological ethics." *Political Theory* 27 (1999): 6–38.
- Thomas, R. J. "Organizational politics and technological change." Journal of Contemporary Ethnography 29 (1992): 442–77.
- Thompson, G. and W. J. McEwen. "Organizational goals and environment," in A Sociological Reader on Complex Organizations, 2nd ed., ed. A. Etzioni. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, 1969, 187–96.
- Thompson, J. D. Organizations in Action. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1967.
- Thye, S. R. "A status value theory of power in exchange relations." American Sociological Review 65 (2000): 407–32.
- Timura, C. T. "Environmental conflict' and the social life of environmental security discourse." *Anthropological Quarterly* 74 (2001): 104–13.
- Tracy, L. "Applications of living systems theory to the study of management and organizational behavior." *Behavioral Science* 38 (1993): 218-30.
- Trampe, J. "Thriving change: The internal auditor's role in mergers and acquisitions." *Journal of Accountancy* 185 (1998): 33–36.
- Tsay, B. and R. J. Steverson. "Post merger: Integrating the accounting system." Management Accounting 72 (1991): 20-23.
- Tushman, M. L. and P. Anderson. "Technological discontinuities and organizational environments." Administrative Science Quarterly 31 (1986): 439-65.
- Tushman, M. L. and R. R. Nelson. "Introduction: Technology organizations, and innovation." Administrative Science Quarterly 35 (1990): 1-8.
- Tushman, M. L. and C. A. O'Reilly III. "Ambidextrous organizations: Managing evolutionary and revolutionary change." *California Management Review* 38 (1996): 8–30.
- Tushman, M. L. and E. Romanelli. "Organizational evolution: A metamorphosis model of convergence and reorientation." *Research in Organizational Behavior* 7 (1985: 171–222.

- Van de Ven, A. H. "Central problems in the management of innovation." Management Science 32 (1986): 590-607.
- Van de Ven, A. H. and M. S. Poole. "Explaining development and change in organizations." Academy of Management Review 20 (1995): 510-40.
- Van Witteloostuijn, A. "Bridging behavioral and economic theories of decline: Organizational inertia, strategic competition, and chronic failure." *Management Science* 44 (1998): 501–19.
- Vasilash, G. S. "Reengineering: Your job may depend on it." *Production* 15 (1993): 10-13.
- Von Bertalanffy, L. Perspectives on General System Theory: Scientific Philosophical Studies. Translated by E. Taschdjian. New York: George Brazuller, 1975.
- Voyer, J. J. "Coercive organizational politics and organizational outcomes: An interpretive study." *Organization Science* 5 (1994): 72–85.
- Wallace, P. "Assurance on sustainability reporting: An auditor's view." Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory 19 Supplement (2000): 53-65.
- Watkins, J. P. "Towards a reconsideration of social evolution: Symbiosis and its implications for economics." *Journal of Economic Issues* 32 (1998): 87-105.
- Weber, M. The Theory of Social and Economic Organization. Glencoe, Ill.: The Free Press, 1947.
- Weitzel, W. and E. Jonsson. "Decline in organizations: A literature integration and extension." Administrative Science Quarterly 34 (1989): 91-109.
- Whetten, D. A. "Organizational growth and decline processes." Annual Review of Sociology 13 (1987): 335–58.
- White, M. C., D. B. Martin, D. V. Brazeal, and W. H. Friedman. "The evolution of organizations: Suggestions from complexity theory about the interplay between natural selection and adaptation." *Human Relations* 50 (1997): 1383–1401.
- Whiteman, G. and W. R. Cooper. "Ecological embeddedness." Academy of Management Journal 43 (2000): 1265-82.
- Wholey, D. R. and J. W. Brittan. "Organizational ecology: Findings and implications." Academy of Management Review 11 (1986): 513-33.
- Wiersema, M. F. and K. A. Bantel. "Top management team demography and corporate strategic change." Academy of Management Journal 38 (1992): 91-121.
- Wilensky, H. Organizational Intelligence. New York: Basic Books, 1967.
- Williamson, O. E. "The economics of organization: The transaction cost approach." American Journal of Sociology 87 (1987): 548-77.
- Wilson, F. D. "Urban ecology: Urbanization and systems of cities." Annual Review of Sociology 10 (1984): 283–307.
- Winter, S. G. "Satisficing, selection, and the innovating remnant." Quarterly Journal of Economics 85 (1971): 237-61.
- Windrum, P. "Late entrant strategies in technological ecologies: Microsoft's use of standards in the browser wars." *International Studies of Management and Organization* 31 (2001): 87–105.
- Witt, L. A. "Enhancing organizational goal congruence: A solution to organizational politics." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 83 (1998): 666–74.
- Witteloostuijn, A. V. "Editorial: Organizational ecology has a bright future." Organization Studies 21 (2000): V Xiii.
- Wolf, E. R. "Cognizing 'cognized models." American Anthropologist 10 (1999): 19-22.

REFERENCES

- Wolfgramm, S. J., K. B. Boal, and J. G. Hunt. "Organizational adaptation to institutional change: A comparative study of first-order change in prospector and defender banks." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 43 (1998): 87–126.
- Wong-MingJi, D. J. and W. R. Millette. "Dealing with the dynamic due of innovation and inertia: The 'in-' theory of organization change." Organization Development Journal 20 (2001): 36–51.
- Wood, W. W. "Environmental accounting: The new bottom line." Ground Water 38 (2000): 161.
- Wootton, C. W., S. D. Tonge, and C. M. Wolk. "Pre and post big 8 mergers: Comparison and auditor concentration." Accounting Horizons 8 (1994): 58–74.
- Young, R. C. "Is population ecology a useful paradigm for the study of organizations?" American Journal of Sociology 94 (1988): 1-24.
- Young, S. M. "Implementing management innovations successfully: Principles for lasting change." Journal of Cost Management 11 (1997): 16–20.
- Zamutto, R. F. and E. J. O'Connor. "Gaining advanced manufacturing technologies' benefits: The roles of organizational design and culture." Academy of Management Review 17 (1992): 701–28.
- Zetka, J. R. Jr. "The technological foundations of task-coordinating structures in new work organizations: Theoretical notes from the case of abdominal organizations." *Work and Occupations* 25 (1998): 356–79.
- Zimmer, K. S. "Human geography and the 'New Ecology': The prospect and promise of integration." Annals of the Association of American Geographers 84 (1994): 108-125.
- Zyglidopoulos, S. "Initial environmental conditions and technological change." Journal of Management Studies 36 (1999): 241-62.

This page intentionally left blank

Author Index

- Abbott, A.S., 171 n.73, 191
- Abrams, D., 140 n.87, 181
- Ackoff, R.L., 137 n.28, 181
- Agarwal, A.A., 83, 109 n.3, 181
- Agarwal, R., 16 n.11, 181
- Aldrich, H.E., 2, 16 n.5, 19 nn.46, 48, 54; 30, 32, 38 n.7, 39 n.38, 40 nn.42, 45; 41 nn.66, 67; 46, 49, 54, 73 n.1, 74 nn.3, 6, 8, 11, 15, 16; 75 n.32, 76 n.56, 78 n.101, 112 n.76, 175, 179 n.1, 181, 190, 192
- Alexander, J.A., 19 n.52, 78 n.104, 89, 110 n.30, 185, 187
- Alstyne, M.V., 134, 141 n.107, 184
- Alvesson, M., 140 n.92, 181
- Amburgey, T.L., 19 nn.52, 54; 20 nn.58, 61; 53, 54, 74 n.7, 75 n.43, 181
- Amenakis, A.A., 19 n.54, 181
- Anderson, P., 31, 40 n.49, 197
- Anderson, S.W., 152, 171 nn.58, 60; 171 n.60, 181, 182
- Ando, K., 40 n.87, 181
- Argyris, C., 95, 96, 111 nn.57, 58; 112 nn.61, 62, 64; 149, 151, 170 nn.42, 44, 57; 171 n.59, 182
- Arnold, P., 139 n.77, 173 n.127, 186

- Astley, W.G., 2, 12, 16 n.2, 19 nn.43, 47–49; 30, 31, 38 n.7, 40 nn.43, 47, 55; 182
- Baas, L., 75 n.43, 114 n.101, 184
- Bacharach, S.B., 139 n.68, 182
- Bailey, K.D., 9, 10, 16 n.8, 18 nn.34, 37; 137 n.31, 182
- Baker, W.E., 122, 138 nn.38, 50; 165, 174 n.136, 182
- Baldridge, J.V., 24, 38 nn.10, 14, 15, 18; 182
- Baligh, H.J., 139 n.78, 182
- Bamberger, P., 139 n.68, 182
- Banker, R.D., 168 n.3, 171 n.71, 182
- Bantel, K.A., 173 n.111, 198
- Baptista, R., 174 n.134, 182
- Barker, J., 118, 136 n.18, 145–48, 154, 157, 169 nn.9, 11–14, 18, 20, 25, 28; 170 n.37, 171 n.74, 172 n.90, 174 n.130, 182
- Barley, S.R., 40 n.54, 110 n.28, 182
- Barnett, W.P., 15, 16 n.9, 19 n.52, 20 nn.60, 62; 34, 39 nn.30, 38; 40 n.57, 41 n.70, 66, 78 n.105, 82, 90, 93, 97, 109 n.1, 110 n.32, 111 nn.47, 50; 112 n.72, 122, 129, 137 n.37, 139 n.69, 182, 184

- Barron, D., 19 n.43, 182
- Barsade, S.G., 133, 140 n.98, 183
- Bate, P., 39 n.31, 140 nn.86, 93; 183
- Baum, J.A., 29, 39 n.40, 57, 68, 75 n.24, 76 n.68, 77 n.95, 78 nn.102, 106; 79 nn.118, 126; 183
- Beard, D.W., 11, 16 n.3, 18 n.42, 183
- Bedeian, A.G., 19 n.54, 181
- Beer, M. 137 n.28, 138 n.54, 140 n.97, 183
- Beets, S.D., 113 n.93, 183
- Belasco, D.R., 173 n.114, 183
- Bell, C.H. Jr., 56, 138 n.55, 188
- Bell, M.A., 171 n.68, 183
- Benson, J.K., 38 n.9, 39 n.32, 183
- Besser, T.L., 161, 170 n.36,
 - 173 nn.118–19, 183
- Betton, J., 74 n.2, 75 n.33, 109 n.8, 183
- Biersack, A., 17 n. 25, 183
- Bies, R.J., 138 n.58, 194
- Bigelow, L.S., 69, 78 nn.97, 106; 79 nn.120, 129; 183
- Birnberg, J.G., 140 n.91, 155, 168 n.2, 169 n.7, 171 n.78, 183
- Blansch, K.L., 75 n.43, 114 n.101, 184
- Blodgett, J., 113 n.89, 197
- Boal, K.B., 25, 38 n.20, 79 n.139, 89, 110 nn.27, 33; 187, 199
- Bodnar, G., 18 n.27, 113 n.92, 139 nn.60, 73; 141 n.106, 173 n.117, 179 n.4, 196
- Boeker, W., 76 nn.49, 66; 97, 98, 100, 112 nn.67, 69–71, 74, 76, 80; 138 nn. 39, 48; 140 nn.85, 99; 160, 173 n.112, 174 n.138, 183, 187
- Boone, C., 51, 59, 61–62, 108, 114 nn.110–12, 184
- Boons, F., 75 n.43, 77 nn.75–76, 87; 105, 114 nn.101, 103–4; 184
- Boulding, K.L., 137 n.33, 184
- Bouma, J.J., 75 n.43, 114 n.101, 184
- Brazeal, D.V., 19–20 n.54, 37 n.5, 74 n.4, 111 n.44, 198
- Breckenridge, R.S., 67, 78 n.109, 86, 110 nn.17–18, 194
- Brittan, J.W., 19–20 n.54, 52, 75 n.45, 76 nn.49, 52; 76 n.66, 110 n.19, 198
- Brocheler, V., 114 n.110, 184

- Bruggeman, J., 109 n.9, 194
- Brynjolfsson, E., 134, 141 n.107, 184
- Buchowicz, B., 174 n.141, 184
- Buller, P.F., 127, 138 n.59, 140 n.80, 184
- Burell, G., 16 n.8, 136 n.3, 184
- Burgelman, R.A., 97, 112 n.72, 182
- Burgess, T.F., 173 n.121, 184
- Burke, I.C., 17 n.15, 190
- Burke, W.W., 133–34, 140 nn.82, 102; 184
- Burnham, R.A., 24–25, 38 nn.10, 14–15, 18; 182
- Burns, T.R., 17 n.25, 156, 171 n.80, 172 n.82, 184, 186
- Burritt, R., 104, 114 n.99, 184
- Butel, L., 111 n.49, 184
- Butler, J.E., 174 n.135, 184
- Calantine, R.J., 38 n.19, 193
- Campion, M.A., 161, 170 n.38, 173 nn.115–16, 184
- Carroll, B., 184
- Carroll, G.R., 19 nn.43, 46, 52; 20 n.58, 33, 38 n.8, 39 n.38, 40 n.64, 63, 68, 75 nn.37, 40; 76 n.48, 77 nn.72–73, 92, 95; 78 nn.97, 102; 79 nn.113, 115, 117; 82, 92, 109 n.1, 111 n.40, 114 n.110, 122, 129, 137 n.37, 139 n.69, 174 n.133, 175, 179 n.2, 182–86, 189 Catasus, B., 113 n.97, 114 n.103, 185 Champy, J., 139 n.72, 189 Chattopadhyay, P., 19 n.50, 185
- Chek, A.M.K., 111 n.59, 196
- Chenhall, R.H., 16 n.9, 185
- Chessel, D., 16 n.6, 186
- Child, J., 3, 16 n.9, 38 n.9, 98, 112 n.75, 185
- Christensen, C., 171 n.73, 191
- Christenson, M., 19 n.43, 185
- Christiansen, N., 112 n.83, 185
- Christmann, P., 113 n.94, 185
- Christofi, P., 18 n.27, 113 n.92, 173 n.117, 179 n.4, 196
- Churchman, C.W., 137 n.28, 185
- Clarke, C.J., 40 n.41, 188
- Clitheroe, H.C. Jr., 38 n.9, 185

- Cohen, L.E., 70, 79 n.132, 111 nn.41, 43: 189 Cohen-Rosenthal, E., 8-9, 18 nn.28, 30; 185 Collis, D.J., 56, 76 n.65, 193 Colquitt, J.A., 169 n.5, 171 n.72, 189 Connerley, M.L., 171 n.79, 193 Cooper, R., 170 nn.45, 47; 185 Cooper, W.R., 19-20 n.54, 198 Coopman, S., 146, 153, 169 nn.16-17, 19, 21; 170 n.36, 171 n.70, 185 Crenshaw, E.M., 19 n.43, 185 Curry, T.R., 133, 140 n.100, 188 D'Aunno, T., 78 n.104, 89, 110 n.30, 185 Daft, R.L., 128, 139 n.63, 170 n.50, 185 Damanpour, F., 26, 39 n.26, 127, 128, 139 nn.62, 64; 170 n.50, 185 Davenport, T.H., 173 n.121, 185 Davidson, C., 22, 37 n.2, 185 Davidson, W.H., 129, 139 n.74, 173 n.121, 186 Davison, D., 103, 113 n.96, 187 de Geus, A., 71, 80 nn.133-36, 186 DeLoo, I., 111 n.60, 186 Deluga, R.J., 173 n.126, 186 Denton, N.A., 17 n.18, 192 Desrochers, P., 18 n.29, 186 Dess, G.G., 11, 16 n.3, 18 n.42, 74 n.2, 75 n.33, 109 n.8, 183 Deutz, P., 16 n.11, 186 DiBenedetto, A., 38 n.19, 193 Dietz, T., 17 n.25, 186 DiMaggio, P.J., 74 n.10, 78 n.102, 186 Dipboye, R.L., 112 n.81, 193 Dixon, J.R., 139 n.77, 163, 173 n.127, 186 Dobrev, S.D., 38 n.8, 75 n.40, 77 n.72, 186, 190 Doledec, S., 16 n.6, 186 Drake, A.R., 135, 137 n.36, 141 n.110, 152-53, 168 n.2, 169 n.7, 171 nn.63-67, 77; 186 Drory, A., 19 n.52, 100, 112 n.81, 186 Drucker, P.E., 149, 170 n.43, 186
- Duncan, O.D., 16 n.6, 186

- Dundon, E.A., 78 nn.97, 102; 189
- Durand, R., 16 n.11, 19 n.43, 49, 74 n.14, 75 n.29, 77 n.83, 109 n.7, 186
- Ehrenfeld, J.R., 8, 18 nn.28–29, 186, 191
- Eisenhardt, K.M., 73, 80 n.147, 186
- Eldridge, N., 110 n.26, 188
- Emery, F.E., 137 nn.28, 33; 181, 190
- Epstein, M.J., 103, 113 n.95, 187
- Erickson, R.A., 40 n.54, 187
- Escobar, A., 17 n.19, 187
- Etzioni, A., 38 nn.9–10, 39 nn.24, 32; 115–19, 122–23, 132, 136 nn.1, 5–8, 10–13, 17; 137 nn.20–24, 26, 30, 34; 138 nn.40, 43, 46, 51; 140 n.90, 147, 153, 157–59, 162, 168 n.4, 169 nn.26, 32; 171 n.67, 172 nn.86, 89, 91, 95, 97, 103, 106–7; 173 nn.120, 123; 174
- n.140, 182–83, 187–88, 191, 195, 197
- Evan, W.M., 26, 39 n.26, 127, 139 n.62, 185
- Evans, J.H., 153, 168 n.2, 169 n.7, 171 nn.68–69, 187
- Everett, J.L., 20 n.62, 73, 80 n.146, 187

Ezzamel, M., 137 n.25, 145, 147, 157–58, 169 nn.10, 27, 29–31, 33; 170 n.40, 172 nn.85, 90, 94, 96; 187

- Farina, A., 16 n.11, 187
- Faulkner, R.R., 122, 138 n.38, 165, 174 n.36, 182
- Feldman, S., 17 n.25, 131, 140 nn.84–85, 187
- Fennell, M.L., 19 n.52, 187
- Ferrell, O.C., 113 n.94, 192
- Field, J.M., 168 n.3, 182
- Fisher, G.A., 122, 138 n.38, 165, 174 n.136, 182
- Fisher, J., 141 nn.108-9, 187
- Fletcher, D.S., 40 n.49, 187
- Fligstein, N., 138 nn.38, 50; 187
- Florida, R., 103, 113 n.96, 187
- Fox-Wolfgramm, S.J., 25–26, 38 n.20, 89, 110 nn.27, 33; 187
- Franz, T.M., 171 n.73, 191
- Fredrickson, J.W., 137 n.25, 189

- Freeman, J., 6, 11, 17 n.20, 18 nn.39, 41; 19 nn.44, 46; 20 nn.55, 61; 22–26, 37 n.3, 38 nn.8, 13, 15; 39 nn.24, 28, 30, 38; 44–45, 47–50, 56–57, 59–60, 64, 69, 71, 73, 74 nn.3, 5–6, 12–13, 19; 75 nn.25, 31, 34, 36, 44; 76 nn.66–67, 77 nn.69–70, 79, 81–83, 96; 78 nn.103, 106; 79 n.124, 80 nn.140, 142; 87, 91, 97, 109 n.4, 110 n.21, 111 n.39, 112 nn.67–68, 70, 74, 76; 139 n.69, 174 n.138, 187–89
- French, W.L., 138 n.55, 188
- Freudenburg, W.R., 37 n.4, 188
- Friedman, W.H., 20, 37 n.5, 74 n.4, 111 n.44, 198
- Frisbie, W.B., 29, 40 n.41, 188
- Fujiwara-Greve, T., 79 n.131, 109 n.12, 112 n.83, 188
- Füssel, L., 113 n.91, 114 nn.102-4, 188
- Galunic, D.C., 73, 80 n.147, 186 Georg, S., 113 n.91, 114 nn.102–4, 188 Gerwin, D., 174 n.132, 188 Gibbs, D., 16 n.11, 186 Giddens, G., 125, 138 n.53, 188
- Gimaret-Carpentier, C., 16 n.6, 186
- Glass, P., 110 n.27, 173 n.122, 188
- Goel, S., 171 n.79, 193
- Gort, M., 16 n.11, 174 n.135, 181, 188
- Gosselin, M., 150, 170 n.51, 188
- Gould, S.J., 110 n.26, 188
- Gramling, R., 37 n.4, 188
- Grant, R.M., 38 n.9, 188
- Grattet, R., 133, 140 n.100, 188
- Gray, S.J., 17 n.24, 188
- Greve, H.R., 15, 20 n.60, 66, 70, 78 n.105, 79 n.131, 90, 109 nn.12–13, 110 nn.31–32, 112 n.83, 182, 188 Groene, A.D., 75 n.43, 114 n.101, 184 Gulden, G.K., 139 n.76, 188
- Haenn, N., 17–18 n.25, 188
 Haka, S.F., 137 n.36, 152–53, 168 n.2, 186
 Hamarat, B., 75 n.40, 190
 Hammer, M., 139 n.72, 188–189
 Hannan, M.T., 11, 18 nn.39, 41; 19 nn.43–44, 46; 20 nn.55, 61; 23–26, 33,
- 38 nn.8, 13, 15; 39 nn.24, 28, 30, 38; 40 nn.64-65, 44, 47-51, 53, 56-57, 59-60, 69, 71, 73, 74 nn.3, 5, 19-23; 75 nn.25, 31, 34, 36, 38, 40-41, 44; 76 nn.50-51, 67; 77 nn.69, 72, 79, 81-83, 95; 78 nn.97, 102-3, 106, 108; 79 nn.113, 115, 122, 124; 80 nn.140, 142; 91, 97, 111 n.39, 112 nn.68, 76; 139 n.69, 183-84, 186, 188-89 Hansen, M.T., 16 n.9, 20 n.62, 34, 39 n.30, 40 n.57, 41 n.70, 93, 111 nn.47, 50; 182 Hare, A.P., 136 n.15, 189 Hargis, K.K., 138 n.58, 194 Harrison, J.R., 75 n.37, 79 n.117, 185 Hart, S.L., 16 n.11, 189 Hatch, M.J., 139 n.78, 189 Haveman, H.A., 15, 20 n.59, 35, 41 n.74, 70, 79 n.132, 111 nn.41, 43; 189 Hawley, A.H., 11, 16 n.1, 18 n.40, 189 Hedlund, J., 169 n.5, 171 n.72, 190 Heineke, J.L., 173 n.127, 186 Henderson, A.D., 137 n.25, 189 Hertenstein, J.H., 174 n.131, 189 Hesford, J.W., 171 n.60, 181 Higgs, A.C., 161, 170 n.38, 173 n.115, 184 Hinkle. S., 140 n.87, 181 Hitt, M.A., 19-20 n.54, 190 Hoffer, S.J., 126, 138 n.57, 194 Hollenbeck, J.R., 144, 169 n.5, 171 n.72, 189 Holmes, S., 114 n.109, 189 Hook, P.B., 17 n.15, 190 Hornstein, H., 190 Howes, R., 113 n.98, 193 Hrebiniak, L.G., 39 n.33, 190 Hult, G.T., 113 n.94, 192 Hunt, C.H., 2, 16 n.5, 30-31, 40 nn.42, 55; 54, 74 n.11, 76 n.56, 78 n.101, 190 Hunt, J.G., 25, 38 n.20, 79 n.139, 89, 110 nn.27, 33; 187, 199 Huo, Y.P., 76 n.48, 79 n.117, 92, 111 n.40, 185 Hurley, A.E., 169 nn.6, 23; 172 n.81, 191 Ilgen, D.R., 169 n.5, 171 n.72, 189
- Ingram, P., 6, 17 nn.22-23, 78 n.106, 190

AUTHOR INDEX

Isenmann, R., 18 n.29, 190 Iwai, K., 16-17 n.11, 190 Jackson, S.L., 112 n.81, 193 Jargowsky, P.A., 17 n.18, 190 Jennings, P.D., 16 n.6, 19-20 n.54, 190 Jenness, V., 133, 140 n.100, 188 Jensen, R., 112 n.63, 190 Jones, D.L., 67, 78 n.109, 86, 110 n.17, 194 Jonsson, E., 74--75 n.23, 76 n.68, 114 n.109, 198 Joseph, M., 113 n.89, 197 Joyce, W.G., 39 n.33, 190 Kanazawa, S., 55, 76 n.59, 190 Kanter, R.M., 132, 140 n.96, 190 Kaplan, R.S., 149, 151, 170 nn.42, 44-45, 47, 57; 171 n.59, 182, 185, 190 Kasimoglu, M., 75 n.40, 190 Katz, D., 137 n.33, 190 Katzenbach, J.R., 148, 170 n.35, 190 Kaufman, R.L., 40 n.41, 188 Keats, B.W., 19-20 n.54, 190 Khan, R.L., 137 n.33, 190 Khawaja, M., 6, 17 n.21, 69, 79 n.125, 192 Kilmann, R.H., 138 n.44, 140 n.81, 190 Kim, T.Y., 38 n.8, 75 n.40, 77 n.72, 186, 190 King, A., 16 n.6, 190 Kinn, J.S., 139 n.77, 173 n.127, 186 Kirkman, B.L., 169 n.8, 170 n.41, 191 Kokkelenberg, E.C., 104, 113 n.98, 114 n.99, 193 Korhonen, J., 18 n.29, 191, 196 Korn, H.J., 29, 39 n.40, 75 n.24, 183 Kotha, S., 29, 39 n.40, 75 n.24, 183 Kottack, C.P., 7, 17 n.25, 18 n.26, 111 n.48, 191 Kremen, C., 191 Krishnan, H.A., 160, 173 n.110, 191 Krivo, L.J., 40 n.41, 188 Krone, R.M., 191 Langton, J., 110 n.36, 191 Lant, T.K., 26–27, 39 nn.23, 28; 111 n.56,

112 n.66, 169 nn.6, 23; 172 n.81, 191

Larsen, E.R., 68, 70, 78 n.97, 79 nn.114, 127: 192 Larson, J.R. Jr., 171 n.73, 191 Laszlo, E., 40 n.54, 191 Lau, D.C., 19 n.50, 74 n.7, 191 Lawrence, P.R., 39 n.28, 191 Lawson, R.B., 140 n.86, 191 Lehman, E.W., 38 nn.9, 10; 39 nn.24, 32 Lenox, M.J., 136 n.5, 138 n.51, 182-83, 187-88, 191 LePine, J.A., 169 n.5, 171 n.72, 189 Lieberson, S., 138 n.51, 191 Linton, J.D., 18 n.31, 191 Lipietz, A., 17 n.16, 192 Litwak, E., 75 n.40, 192 Litwin, G.H., 133-134, 140 nn.82, 102; 184 Locander, W.B., 173 n.125, 192 Lomi, A., 4, 17 n.14, 37 n.6, 55, 62, 68, 70, 77 n.61, 77 nn.74, 91; 78 nn.97, 108; 79 nn.114, 126, 127; 192 Lorsch, J.W., 39 n.28, 191 Lounsbury, M., 101, 113 n.89, 192 Lukka, K., 170 n.48, 192 Lundsen, C.J., 75 nn.26, 28; 76 n.55, 77 nn.71, 78, 80; 114 n.106, 196 Ma, V., 19 n.52, 195 Maignan, I., 113 n.94, 192 Malmborg, F., 18 n.29, 191 Mark, N., 140 n.101, 192 Marple, D., 40 n.62, 192 Marsden, S., 114 n.109, 189 Martin, D.B., 19-20 n.54, 37 n.5, 74 n.4, 111 n.44, 198 Martin, J., 140 n.95, 192 Mason, R., 173 n.121, 192 Massey, D.S., 17 n.18, 192 Masuch, M., 109 n.9, 194 Maute, M.F., 173 n.125, 192 Maxfield, D.G., 138 n.58, 194 May, D.R., 169 n.24, 196 McEvoy, G.M., 127, 138 n.59, 140 n.80, 184 McEwen, W.J., 121, 137 n.34, 172 n.86, 197

McKelvey, B., 74 n.8, 74 n.16, 192

McLaughlin, P., 17 n.21, 69, 79 n.125, 192 Medsker, G.J., 161, 170 n.38, 173 n.115, 184 Merchant, K., 138 n.47, 192 Messallam, A.A., 52, 75 n.46, 76 n.57, 78 n.97, 192 Messeri, P., 75 n.40, 192 Meyer, J.W., 33, 40 n.63, 78 n.102, 192 Meyerson, D., 140 n.95, 192 Mezias, S.J., 26-27, 39 nn.23, 28; 79 n.126, 111 n.56, 112 n.66, 183, 191 Midgley, D.F., 174 n.137, 192 Mikulay, S., 112 n.83, 185 Miley, F., 192 Millette, W.R., 72, 80 n.141, 199 Miner, A.S., 111 n.42, 192 Mitroff, I.I., 173 n.121, 192 Molinsky, A.L., 19 n.46, 99, 111 n.60, 112 nn.77-79, 193 Moore, J.F., 34, 41 n.69, 193 Morel, B., 110 n.27, 193 Morgan, G., 3, 16 n.8, 136 n.3, 184 Morrill, C., 156, 172 n.83, 193 Morris, D., 16 n.9, 185 Morrison, P.D., 174 n.137, 192 Mulligan, P., 139 n.77, 173 n.127, 186 Murnighan, J.K., 19 n.50, 74 n.7, 191 Myers, D.E., 40 n.41, 188 Nadler, D.A., 120, 137 nn.29, 32; 193 Nash, J., 18 n.31, 191 National Research Council, 104, 114 n.100, 193 Naveh, Z., 16-17 n.11, 193 Neck, C. P., 171 n.79, 193 Nelson, R.R., 4, 16–17 n.11, 17 nn.12–13, 40 n.56, 193, 197 Nielsen, K., 113 n.84, 193 Noda, T., 56, 76 n.65, 193 Nooteboom, B., 61, 77 n.84, 194 Nord, W.R., 85, 109 n.11, 195 Nordhaus, W.D., 104, 113 n.98, 114 n.99, 193 Nuallain, B.O., 109 n.9, 194 O'Bannon, D.P., 196 O'Connor, E.J., 139 n.70, 173 n.109, 199

O'Connor, J.F., 138 n.51, 191 O'Reilly, C.A., III, 38 n.18, 140 n.91, 197 Oakey, D.R., 19 n.43, 185 Olian, J.D., 196 Olzak, S., 112 n.81, 193 Ouchi, W.G., 169 n.22, 193 Ozsomer, A., 38 n.19, 193 Park, D., 160, 173 n.110, 191 Park, D.Y., 15, 20 n.60, 66, 78 n.105, 90, 110 n.32, 182 Parker, C.P., 112 n.81, 193 Parker, W.S. Jr., 174 n.142, 194 Parsons, T., 137 n.31, 193 Patterson, J., 138 n.58, 194 Pearson, C.M., 173 n.121, 192 Perrow, C., 138 nn.45, 52; 172 nn.84, 86; 194 Perry, J.T., 173 n.126, 186 Peterson, A.T., 17 n.15, 194 Peukert, H., 17 n.12, 194 Peéli, G., 61, 194 Pfeffer, J., 19 nn.46, 51; 38 n.7, 39 n.33, 41 n.67, 46, 49, 73 n.1, 74 nn.3, 6, 15; 75 n.32, 76 n.67, 110 n.23, 112 n.76, 170 n.40, 181, 194 Pierce, B.D., 17 n.24, 194 Plat, M.B., 174 n.131, 189 Podolny, J.M., 30, 40 n.46, 194 Poole, M.S., 139 n.71, 198 Porras, J.I., 126, 129, 134, 138 nn.56-58, 139 n.67, 141 n.105, 194 Porter, B.L., 174 n.142, 194 Porter, M.E., 41 n.71, 174 n.135, 194 Powell, W.W., 74 n.10, 78 n.102, 183, 186 Ramanujam, R., 110 n.27, 193 Ranger-Moore, J., 39 n.35, 48, 51, 67, 75 nn.28, 42; 78 n.109, 86, 109 n.14, 110 n.17, 194 Rao, H., 19 nn.52, 54; 20 nn.58, 61; 44, 53, 54, 74 n.7, 75 n.43, 181 Ravenscroft, S.P., 137 n.36, 152-53, 168 n.2, 186 Reck, R.H., 139 n.76, 188 Reed, A., 192

- Renshaw, A.A., 134, 141 n.107, 184
- Ripley, M.J., 162, 173 n.121, 194
- Ripley, R.E., 162, 173 n.121, 194
- Roberts, J.H., 174 n.137, 192
- Roberts, M.W., 170 nn.46, 55; 171 n.58, 194
- Roberts, N., 138 n.58, 194
- Robles, J., 98, 112 n.73, 194
- Rogers, K.S., 85, 109 n.11, 195
- Rojsek, I., 113 n.96, 194
- Romanelli, E., 2, 16 n.4, 19 nn.46, 48; 24, 26, 38 nn.11, 18; 39 nn.22, 25, 27; 45, 72, 74 nn.9–10, 76 n.48, 79 n.138, 80 nn.143, 145; 110 nn.25, 28; 112 n.69, 194–95, 197
- Romm, T., 19 n.52, 100, 112 n.81, 186
- Rosen, B., 170 n.41, 191
- Rosen, C.M., 41 n.72, 195
- Rosenblatt, Z., 85, 109 n.11, 195
- Rowe, C., 171 n.71, 195
- Rowen, B., 78 n.102, 192
- Rudolph, H.R., 158, 172 n.93, 195
- Ruef, M., 16 n.10, 55, 64, 74 n.9, 76 n.58, 78 n.99, 195
- Salancik, G.R., 19 n.46, 39 n.33, 76 n.67,
- 110 n.23, 112 n.76, 194
- Santos, A., 19 n.52, 195
- Sawyer, G.E., 169 n.24, 196
- Schon, D.A., 111 n.57, 112 nn.62, 64; 182
- Schroeder, D.M., 174 n.135, 195
- Schroeder, R.G., 168 n.3, 183
- Schuette, H.L., 4, 17 n.13, 193
- Schulz, M., 91, 93–95, 106, 110 nn.35– 37, 111nn.38, 45–46, 51–53; 114 n.105, 195
- Scott, T.W., 171 n.67, 195
- Scott, W.R., 33, 40 n.63, 64, 78 n.99, 138 nn.45, 52; 192, 195
- Scully, J.A., 196
- Seal, W.B., 101, 113 n.88, 195
- Seidel, M.L., 78 n.97, 183
- Selznick, P., 76 n.48, 121, 123, 136 n.14, 137 n.30, 138 nn.41–42, 45; 139 n.79, 195
- Seuring, S., 18 nn.29, 31; 195

- Sewell, G., 118, 137 n.19, 158-59, 169
- n.15, 172 nn.99–102, 104–5, 108; 195
- Sewell, W.H. Jr., 138 n.44, 140 n.81, 195
- Shane, S.A., 173 n.124, 195
- Shapiro, D.L., 169 n.8, 191
- Siggelkow, N., 32, 40 nn.59–61, 79 n.138, 84, 109 n.5, 195
- Silvers, R.C., 126, 129, 134, 138 n.56, 139 n.67, 141 n.105, 194
- Silvester, K.J., 170 nn.46, 55; 171 n.58, 194
- Simons, T., 6, 17nn.22-23, 78 n.106, 190
- Sims, H.P. Jr., 196
- Singh, J.V., 13, 19 n.53, 20 n.56, 28, 39 nn.34, 36; 48, 57, 60, 68, 70, 75 nn.26, 28; 76 nn.55, 68; 77 nn.71, 78, 80, 95; 106, 114 n.106, 183, 196
- Sinka, K.K., 168 n.3, 182
- Sisaye, S., 18 n.27, 38 n.17, 39 nn.29, 37; 76 n.67, 80 n.144, 111 n.54, 113 nn.85, 90, 92; 136 nn.2, 4, 9; 138 nn.47, 49; 139 nn.60–61, 66, 73; 141 nn.106, 111; 168 nn.1, 4; 170 n.39, 171 nn.62, 76; 173 nn.113, 117; 174 nn.143–44, 179 nn.3–6, 196
- Smirich, L., 196
- Smith, K.A., 196
- Smith, K.G., 196
- Smith, M.E., 140 n.83, 196
- Snakin, J.P.A., 18 n.29, 196
- Snell, R., 111 n.59, 196
- Sniezek, J.A., 169 n.24, 196
- Snodgrass, C., 140 n.91, 183
- Sommer, A.A. Jr., 107–8, 114 nn.107, 109; 196
- Sonnenfeld, J.A., 133, 140 n.98, 183
- Sonnenstuhl, W.J., 139 n.68, 182
- Sorenson, O., 19 n.54, 46, 54, 63–64, 66, 68, 74 nn.17–18, 75 n.30, 76 nn.54, 60; 77 nn.74, 94; 78 nn.98, 103, 107; 79 n.119, 197
- Souther, C.C., 113 n.93, 183
- Staber, U.H., 78 n.106, 197
- Stalker, G.M., 156, 171 n.80, 172 n.82, 184
- Stata, R., 95, 111 n.55, 154, 171 n.75, 197
- Steverson, R.J., 114 n.108, 197

- Stigler, G.J., 41 n.71, 197
- Stinchcombe, A.L., 19 n.52, 76 nn.48–49, 197
- Stokols, D., 38 n.9, 185
- Stone, G., 113 n.89, 197
- Strachan, P.A., 18 n.29, 191
- Strannegard, L., 114 nn.103-4, 184
- Stuart, T.E., 30, 40 n.46, 194
- Succi, M., 78 n.104, 89, 110 n.30, 185
- Sutton, R.J., 114 n.109, 197
- Swaminathan, A., 62–63, 77 nn.72–73, 86, 89, 92–93; 185, 197
- Taplin, I.M., 40 n.49, 187
- Teece, D.J., 40 n.58, 131, 140 n.88, 197
- Thiele, L.P., 35, 41 n.73, 74 n.12, 197
- Thomas, R.J., 40 n.52, 197
- Thompson, G., 121, 137 n.34, 172 n.86, 197
- Thompson, J.D., 39 n.33, 172 n.86, 197
- Thye, S.R., 197
- Tiessen, P., 171 n.67, 195
- Timura, C.T., 37 n.1, 197
- Tonge, S.D., 114 n.107, 199
- Torres, J.C., 78 nn.97, 102; 183, 189
- Tracy, L., 137 n.28, 197
- Trampe, J., 114 n.108, 197
- Tsai, L., 78 n.97, 183
- Tsay, B., 114 n.108, 197
- Turner, J.D.F., 133, 140 n.98, 183
- Tushman, M.L., 24, 26, 30, 38 nn.11, 18; 39 nn.22, 25, 27; 40 n.49, 72, 79 n.138, 80 nn.143, 145; 110 nn.25, 28; 112 n.69, 140 n.91, 195, 197

Uhrig, S.C.N., 112 n.81, 193

Van de Ven, A.H., 112 n.65, 128, 139 nn.65, 71; 198
Van Witteloostuijn, A., 74 n.23, 76 n.68, 77 n.74, 198
Vasilash, G.S., 174 n.129, 198
Ventriss, C.L., 140 n.86, 191
Verstegen, B., 111 n.60, 186
Villanova, P., 112 n.83, 185
Von Bertalanffy, L., 137 n.28, 198
Voyer, J.J., 112 n.81, 198

- Wallace, P., 113 n.93, 198
- Ward, J.A., 133, 140 n.98, 183
- Watkins, A., 101, 111 n.49, 184
- Watkins, J.P., 18 n.38, 113 n.86, 198
- Weber, M., 90, 110 n.34, 198
- Weitzel, W., 74–75 n.23, 76 n.68, 114 n.109, 198
- Welker, R.B., 158, 172 n.93, 195
- Whetten, D.A., 87, 110 nn.22, 24; 198
- White, M.C., 19–20 n. 54, 37 n.5, 74 n.4, 111 n.44, 198
- White, R., 17 n.24, 194
- Whiteman, G., 19-20 n.54, 198
- Wholey, D.R., 19–20 n.54, 52, 75 n.45, 76 nn.49, 52, 66; 87, 110 n.19, 198
- Wiersema, M.F., 173 n.111, 198
- Wilensky, H., 158, 172 n.98, 198
- Will, R.A., 174 n.35, 188
- Williamson, O.E., 35–36, 41 n.75, 137 n.35, 169 n.22, 172 n.92, 198
- Wilmott, H., 137 n.25, 145, 147, 157, 158, 169 nn.10, 27, 29–31, 33; 170 n.40, 172 nn.85, 90, 94, 96; 187
- Wilson, F.D., 18 n.36, 198
- Windrum, P., 31, 40 n.50, 198
- Winter, S.G., 4, 16–17 n.11, 17 n.12, 40 n.56, 111 n.60, 193, 198
- Witt, L.A., 112 n.83, 198
- Witteloostuijn, A.V., 20 nn.57, 59; 74 n.23, 76 n.68, 77 n.74, 198
- Wolf, E.R., 87, 110 n.20, 174 n.139, 198
- Wolfgramm, S.J., 79 n.139, 199
- Wolk, C.M., 114 n.107, 199
- Wong-MingJi, D.J., 80 n.141, 199
- Wood, W.W., 114 n.99, 199
- Wootton, C.W., 114 n.107, 199
- Yeomans, J.S., 18 n.31, 191
- Yoogalingam, R., 18 n.31, 191
- Young, R.C., 12, 19 nn.45-46, 20 n.56, 38 n.9, 39 n.39, 199
- Young, S.D., 103, 113 n.95, 186
- Young, S.M., 171 nn.58, 60–61; 181–182, 199
- Zamutto, R.F., 139 n.70, 173 n.109, 199 Zandbergen, P.A., 16 n.6, 19–20 n.54, 190

Zetka, J.R. Jr., 156–157, 172 nn.84, 86–88, 90; 199 Zimmer, K.S., 5, 17 n.17, 199 Zmuidzinas, M., 38 n.9, 185 Zuniga, C.A., 171 n.79, 193 Zyglidopoulos, S., 19 n.52, 30–31, 38 n.16, 40 n.48, 52, 76 n.49, 199 This page intentionally left blank

Subject Index

- Accounting control, 90, 103, 109, 119, 125–26, 146, 149, 157, 161, 165–67, 178. See also Management control Accounting rules, 91, 106
- Activity based costing (ABC), 36, 135–36, 139, 148–53, 162, 164, 168, 177–78; activity drivers, 149–51; cost drivers, 149– 51. See also Volume-based costing (VBC)
- Adaptation, 3–5, 7–12, 14–15, 21–23, 25–29, 31–32, 34–37, 43, 48–49, 71–73, 81–83, 85, 88–90, 92–94, 96, 98, 101–2, 104, 109, 115–17, 121–22, 125, 143–44, 158, 167–68, 175, 177; adaptation change, 22, 23, 27–28, 37, 72–73, 81–82, 177; adaptive control system, 115–16, 168; adoption, 24–25, 28, 32, 96, 101, 127–28, 134–35, 150–52, 163–64, 177
- Agricultural credit unions, 55, 62, 70
- Anthropology, 1, 7–9, 22, 131; ecological anthropology, 1, 7–9
- Auditing, 34, 36, 51, 59, 82, 107–9, 158 Audit committees, 158
- Banking, 56, 59, 70; agricultural credit unions, 55, 62, 70; cooperative banks, 55–56

- Behavioral accounting, 124, 143-44
- Biodiversity, 4-5; topography, 4-5
- Biological diversity, 4–5; animal species, 4–5, 168, 176; plants, 4–5, 12, 67, 83, 149, 161
- Biology, 43-45
- Birth, 3–4, 12, 14, 22, 34, 53, 56, 62–63, 87, 91, 95, 97, 106, 175
- Blue collar, 117, 119, 147, 156

Bureaucratization, 48, 85, 88, 90–91, 94; rule birth, 91

- Business organizations, 71, 73, 106, 135, 145, 162; Arthur Anderson, 107–9; Enron, 108; General Motors, 152; Toyota Motor Manufacturing Company, 161–62
- Business process reengineering (BPR), 129–30, 135, 161–63, 167–168

Certified Public Accountant (CPA), 65

Chain of command, 136, 156

Closed accounting systems, 106

Cognized models, 87

Compliance systems, 115–20, 122, 124, 130, 132, 133, 144–45, 147–48, 154, 157, 159–60, 162, 165, 167, 178; alienation, 115–16, 118, 144;

- Compliance systems (continued)
- calculative, 115, 118–19, 123–24, 144, 154, 165; moral, 115, 117, 144, 157
- Community ecology, 1-2, 30
- Community evolution, 2–3
- Competition, 4–6, 8, 10–15, 22–23, 25, 27–29, 31–37, 45–47, 50, 54–59, 61–70, 73, 82–83, 86–87, 89–90, 94, 97, 106, 109, 115, 121–22, 135, 143, 148, 152, 158, 165, 178
- Conflict of interest, 85, 101, 108
- Conservation, 5–8, 21–22, 35, 102–3, 105–6, 176; natural resources, 2, 4–10, 21, 103–6
- Contingency theory, 27, 32, 135, 145
- Continuous improvement, 118, 127, 132, 134, 149, 159, 161, 163; process innovation, 27, 36, 103–4, 118, 127, 130, 135–36, 144–45, 158, 162, 167 *See also* Innovation, Organizational change, Process innovation
- Control, 1, 5-6, 21, 23, 28, 30-31, 37, 43-45, 49, 51, 56-58, 62, 65, 71-73, 81, 86-88, 90, 94, 100-102, 108-9, 115-36, 143-49, 151-63, 165-68, 175, 177-79; accounting, 90, 103, 109, 119, 126, 128, 146, 149, 158, 161, 165-67, 178; adaptive, 115, 168; administrative, 5, 91, 94, 106, 147, 149, 162, 167, 179; bureaucratic, 118-19, 136, 159, 162, 167, 179; ceremonial, 167; coercive, 118-20, 132, 147-48, 157-60, 166-68; concertive, 117-18, 145-148, 154, 157, 159, 162, 165-68, 178-79; cost, 136, 156; instrumental, 118, 132-33, 145, 147, 152, 154; loose, 155-56, 158, 163; normative, 65, 118, 131, 133, 148, 157-59, 162; procedural, 25, 127; remote, 119; reward, 100, 108, 116, 118-19, 121, 123, 125-27, 133-34, 146-48, 151, 153, 155, 157, 159-60, 166, 177; remunerative, 118-20, 123-24, 148-49, 152, 154, 162, 165, 168; surveillance, 118, 158-59, 166-67, 179; technical, 159; tight, 119, 155-56. See also Intelligent information systems; Power

- Cooperative banks, 55
- Cooptation, 33, 117, 121-22
- Cost factors, 81; transaction, 29, 35–37, 82–83, 103, 121–22, 130, 151, 157, 177
- Cost management, 152-53
- Culture, 1, 5, 7, 9, 26, 33, 46, 81, 87, 90, 91, 94, 96, 99, 106, 124, 126–27, 130–34, 146–48, 154, 161, 166–67, 175; cultural change, 1, 7, 9, 81, 126–27, 131–34, 160–63, 166–67, 179
- Death, 4, 12, 14–15, 23, 28, 34, 52–53, 56–57, 60, 62–63, 68, 71, 84, 86–87, 107, 175
- Decision making, 24, 116–118, 122, 124, 127, 129, 131–32, 135, 144, 146–48, 152–54, 156, 158, 160–61, 163; cognitive, 64–65, 89, 98, 101, 155, 167; normative, 65, 118, 131, 133, 148, 157–59, 162
- Decline, 6, 24, 26, 51, 55–57, 60, 63–64, 66, 68, 70, 85–87, 89, 91, 95, 98, 107, 164
- Demography, 13, 175; organizational demography, 13
- Diffusion, 7, 63, 70, 101-2, 151-52, 164
- Diversification, 27, 33, 59, 61, 70, 87, 107, 143; generalist, 23, 26–27, 56–63, 87; organizational diversity, 12–13; specialist, 4, 23, 26–27, 55–63, 70, 87, 91
- Diversity, 2, 4, 11–14, 27, 44, 57, 100, 117, 131, 133, 160, 167
- Ecological analysis, 10, 21, 44, 97, 176
- Ecological dynamics, 107
- Ecologically sustainable development (ESD), 104. See also Sustainable development
- Ecology, 1–2, 4, 6–16, 22, 27, 29–31, 37, 43–44, 47 51–52, 54–56, 58, 66, 68–69, 84, 93, 97, 168, 175–76; community ecology, 1–2, 30; ecological geography, 1, 4–5; ecological anthropology, 1, 7–9; evolutionary economics, 1, 3–4; human ecology, 1, 9–11; industrial ecology, 1,

- 8–9; natural ecology, 8; organizational ecology, 1, 13–16, 29, 46–47, 51–52, 54, 56, 58, 66, 68–69, 84, 93, 97; political ecology, 1, 5–7, 22; population
- ecology, 1, 11–13, 43–44, 55, 84–85; social ecology, 10; technological ecology, 31
- Economic value added (EVA), 103
- Economics, 1, 3–4, 21–22, 36, 49, 98, 107–8; environmental economics, 21; evolutionary economics, 1, 3–4, 98; political economy, 6, 22
- Economics of scale, 49, 107-8
- Ecosystem, 4–5, 29, 34–35, 73, 168, 176; sustainability, 7–8, 21, 35, 103, 176–77
- Environmental accounting, 27, 35–36, 82, 104–5, 176–77; environmental accounting systems, 104; green accounting, 104–5; green management, 103–4
- Environmental adaptation, 3–5. See also Adaptation
- Environmental change, 3-4, 10, 12, 15, 21-29, 31-32, 34-37, 45, 47-48, 50-51, 53, 56, 60-61, 71-73, 81-84, 87, 89-90, 92-94, 97-98, 106, 115, 121-22, 125, 129-30, 135, 143, 149, 164-65, 168, 177, 179; gradual, 3, 11-12, 15, 23, 30, 44, 83, 88, 94-96, 106, 109, 125, 127, 164, 168, 178-79; incremental, 3, 13, 25, 29-32, 45, 49, 82, 88-89, 94-96, 106, 109, 127, 150, 155, 167-68, 175, 178; minimal, 15, 28-29, 34, 59, 68, 73, 81, 92, 122, 151, 156; status quo, 72, 99; radical, 25-26, 29, 31-32, 89, 95-97, 109, 116, 129-30, 163, 167-68, 175; revolutionary, 30, 88; substantial, 29, 55, 65, 82, 116, 122, 129, 135, 144-45, 152, 154, 167; transformational, 3, 26, 88-89, 95-96, 168 Environmental condition, 2, 6, 12, 15-16, 24, 26, 31-32, 44, 47, 49, 52-53, 60,
 - 61, 73, 81, 84, 87, 90, 168, 178;
 - heterogeneous, 24, 62, 133;

- homogeneous, 24, 30, 60, 62, 160;
- stable, 2, 24, 28–29, 32, 48–49, 53,
- 60-61, 73, 86-87, 89, 121, 132, 168;
- unstable, 32, 33, 49, 60-61, 73, 87, 168
- Environmental conflict, 5, 22-23
- Environmental economics, 21
- Environmental information systems, 104. See also Environmental accounting
- Environmental management systems (EMS), 102–3, 105; emission, 104; pollution, 4, 21–22, 104; waste management, 34–35, 103–4
- Environmental reporting, 27, 35–36, 82, 105, 107
- Environmental sociology, 21
- Environmental variations, 5, 11, 23, 51, 56–57, 59–61; coarse grained, 60–61; fine grained, 59–61
- Evolution, 1-4, 9-16, 22-23, 27, 29-32, 34, 43-47, 54, 56, 62-64, 66, 69-70, 73, 84, 88-90, 93-94, 96-98, 101, 115, 125, 159, 166-67, 175, 178-79; Darwin's theory of evolution, 1, 10-11, 14, 43-44
- Founding, 6, 13–15, 29, 31, 43, 52–56, 58, 61–70, 92, 93, 98, 107, 122–23, 125, 131, 175
- Functional adaptations, 82, 143
- Functional analysis/approach, 2–3, 12, 28, 36, 46, 82–83, 88, 98, 116–17, 119–21, 123–26, 130–33, 143–44, 146, 151, 155–56, 159–61, 163–68, 178
- Geography, 1, 4–5, 11, 22, 63, 69–70; ecological geography, 1, 4–5; geographical ecosystems, 5; geographical information systems, 4; spatial arrangements, 4, 10; territories, 3–4, 27
 Global warming, 104
 Gross domestic product (GDP), 105
- Human ecology, 1, 9–11 Human welfare, 105

Imprinting, 52-53, 56

- Information technology, 7, 82, 107, 115, 118, 129, 130, 150, 158–59, 163, 165, 167
- Innovation, 2, 8–9, 13, 15, 23–27, 29–35, 46, 49–50, 54, 70–72, 82, 85, 87–89, 96–97, 103–4, 118, 121, 127–31, 134–36, 144–45, 147, 149–54, 158, 160–65, 167, 176–77. *See also* Organizational change; Process innovation
- Institutional development, 6, 8, 10, 15, 25, 33, 37, 45, 52–53, 56, 59, 65, 68–70, 86, 89–90, 92, 95, 101–2, 105–7, 120, 122–25, 127, 130–33, 146, 152, 154–56, 166
- Intelligent information systems, 158; electronic surveillance, 118, 158–59, 167; monitoring, 5, 37, 65, 98, 101, 116, 118, 133, 136, 146–47, 157–59, 163
- Intervention strategies, 5, 8, 95, 115, 120, 125–30, 134–36, 153–55, 160–63, 166–67,178; process, 5, 115, 120, 125–29, 134–36, 153–55, 160–63, 166–67, 178; structural, 8, 95, 115, 120, 125–26, 129–30, 160–62, 166–67, 178

Just in time (JIT), 36, 135

- Leadership, 24, 34, 37, 52–54, 72–73, 90, 96, 99–100, 115–16, 120, 123, 125, 127, 131–32, 162–63, 167, 178–79
- Legitimacy, 2, 6–7, 14, 33, 47, 54–55, 63–67, 69, 89, 102, 106–7, 146, 148, 151, 176
- Liability of newness, 14, 49-52
- Life insurance industry, 51, 67, 86
- Living companies, 71; long-term tenure, 71
- Malthus's population growth, 1
- Management accounting, 1, 7, 36–37, 81–82, 104, 115–16, 119, 124, 136, 143, 145, 149, 161, 164–67, 175–79; activity based costing (ABC), 36, 135–36, 139, 148–53, 162, 164, 168,

- 177-78; management control systems,
- 1, 30, 43, 88, 90, 101-2, 115-18, 120,
- 122–26, 128, 130–32, 134–36,
- 143-45, 147-48, 154-55, 157-62,
- 165–68, 175, 177–79; organizational control, 120, 163, 167; reporting systems, 27, 29, 36–37, 81–82, 104, 106, 123, 125, 127, 135, 149, 166, 177–78. See also Power
- Management consulting, 82, 108
- Mergers, 15, 33–34, 51, 66, 70, 82, 90, 92, 94, 97, 107, 125, 135, 176; absorption, 34, 51, 91, 95, 117; acquisitions, 15, 31, 33–34, 47, 51, 66, 70, 82, 90, 92, 94, 107, 135, 143, 176; diversification, 27, 33, 59, 61, 70, 87, 107, 143; downsizing, 125, 129, 143, 145, 160
- Mortality, 2, 13–15, 28–29, 43, 45, 48–55, 58, 64–71, 86–87, 106–8, 177; organizations, 14–15, 28–29, 43, 48–55, 58, 64–70, 86–87, 107–8, 177; organizational populations, 2, 13–14, 43, 45, 48–55, 58, 64, 66, 68–69, 71, 87, 106–7
- National Income and Product Accounts (NIPA), 105; near-market accounts, 105
- Natural Selection, 1, 6–7, 10, 12, 15, 22, 36, 43–46, 83–84, 88, 101; selection pressure, 14, 36, 49, 54, 56, 64, 84, 107; social evolution, 10–11; survival of the fittest (Darwin), 1, 10–11, 14, 43–44, 101. *See also* Selection
- Neo-Darwinian biology, 44
- Networks, 8, 27–28, 51, 116, 164–65; group networks, 8, 51, 116, 165; individual networks, 51, 165; organizational networks, 27–28, 51, 164–65
- Niche, 3, 10–14, 23, 30, 46, 56–59, 61–64, 97; niche size, 46, 56–57, 61; niche theory, 3, 10–13, 30, 56–58; niche width, 23, 46, 57, 61–62; organizational niche, 14, 46, 57, 59, 61–64, 97

- Nonrenewable resources, 5, 21, 104; energy, 8, 30, 102, 133, 176
- Organization niche, 14, 46, 57, 59, 61–64, 97; generalist, 23, 26–27, 56–63, 87; specialist, 4, 23–24, 26–27, 55–63, 70, 87, 91, 125
- Organizational adaptation, 3–4, 14, 25, 27–29, 31, 35, 73, 81–83, 90, 102, 144; physical, 7, 11, 25, 67, 69; psychological, 7, 133
- Organizational biography, 89
- Organizational change, 1-4, 10, 14-15, 22, 24-26, 28-29, 35-37, 43, 48-49, 70, 72-73, 81-83, 85, 88-89, 93, 97-99, 102, 109, 120, 122, 125-32, 134-35, 144, 155, 160; incremental, 3, 13, 25, 29-32, 45, 49, 82, 88-89, 94-96, 106, 109, 127, 150, 155, 167-68, 175, 178; gradual, 3, 11-12, 15, 23, 30, 44, 83, 88, 94-96, 106, 109, 125, 127, 164, 168, 178-79; radical, 25-26, 29, 31-32, 89, 95-97, 109, 116, 129-30, 163, 167-68, 175; revolutionary, 30, 88; technological, 2-3, 7-10, 13, 23, 25-27, 29-32, 34, 37, 46, 48-49, 53-54, 64, 70-71, 81, 87, 89-90, 93, 96-97, 106, 115, 118, 129, 134, 149, 154-57, 164, 177
- Organizational condition, 2–6, 11, 13, 24, 26–29, 32–33, 45, 48–49, 51, 53–54, 56, 59–61, 70, 73, 83–84, 86–87, 89, 94, 97, 106–7, 116, 121, 123–25, 129–30, 132, 163, 167–68, 175; dynamic, 2–6, 11, 13, 26–27, 33, 45, 54, 56, 59, 70, 83–84, 86–87, 89, 94, 97, 107, 168; stable, 2, 24, 28–29, 32–33, 48–49, 53, 60–61, 73, 86–87, 89, 97, 121, 123, 132, 168; turbulent, 26, 32, 49, 51, 86, 91, 106, 124–25; unstable, 32–33, 49, 60–61, 73, 168; volatile, 29, 48, 73, 86–87, 125
- Organizational culture, 26, 50, 65, 87, 89–92, 94, 96–97, 106, 116–17, 120–21, 123, 124, 130–32, 148, 165, 167; beliefs, 9, 65, 87, 89, 91–92, 105–6, 123, 127, 131–34; norms, 7, 26,

50, 89–92, 94, 96–97, 106, 116–17, 120–21, 123, 130–31, 146, 165–66; procedures, 25–26, 33, 46, 82, 88, 90,

- 96–98, 101, 119, 122, 124, 131, 146–47, 150, 155, 163, 167, 176, 179; rules, 3–4, 8, 13, 26, 33, 46, 49, 63, 65, 68, 88, 90–96, 101, 106, 118, 122–24, 130–31, 145–148, 159, 163, 167, 176; values, 7, 33, 35, 89, 94, 97, 103, 117–18, 121, 123, 127, 130–34, 146, 166. See also Rules
- Organizational density, 4, 6, 14, 23, 33, 46, 50, 52, 54–56, 63–69, 87, 91, 97, 106, 175; competition, 2, 4–6, 8, 10–16, 22–23, 25, 27–29, 31–37, 45–47, 50, 54–59, 61–70, 73, 82–83, 86–87, 89–90, 94, 97, 106, 109, 115, 121–22, 135, 143, 148, 152, 158, 165, 178; conflict, 5–6, 8, 13, 16, 21–24, 28–29, 72, 85, 99–101, 107–8, 116, 134, 148; cooperation, 5–6, 8, 10, 16, 34, 99, 104–5, 122, 126–27, 146, 148, 153–55, 161, 163; crowding, 46, 55, 62, 68; rivalry, 6, 66, 84, 90, 94
- Organizational development (OD), 8, 81, 116, 120-22, 126-30, 132-34, 144, 163, 165-66; birth, 3-4, 12, 14, 22, 34, 53, 56, 62-63, 87, 91, 95, 97, 106, 175; crisis, 29, 37, 52, 89, 102, 115, 122, 125, 157, 160, 165; death, 4, 12, 14-15, 23, 28, 34, 52-53, 56-57, 60, 62-63, 68, 71, 84, 86-87, 107, 175; decline, 6, 24, 26, 51, 55-57, 60, 63-64, 66, 68, 70, 85-87, 89, 91, 95, 98, 107, 164; emergence, 24, 61, 97, 115, 122, 143, 165; founding, 6, 13-15, 29, 31, 43, 52-56, 58, 61-70, 92, 93, 98, 107, 122-23, 125, 131, 175; growth, 1-2, 4-7, 9-11, 13-15, 21-24, 26, 29, 31-32, 35, 43, 49-52, 54-57, 59, 61, 63-64, 66-71, 82, 86-89, 91-92, 96, 102-8, 115, 122-23, 125, 130, 143, 157, 159, 165, 175-77; maturity, 2, 4, 24, 26, 87, 89; turbulence, 49, 51, 86, 91, 106. See also Organizational growth
- Organizational diversity, 12-13

- Organizational evolution, 1, 3, 32, 66, 69, 84, 90, 94 Organizational fitness, 46, 48 Organizational form, 52, 55, 58-59, 61, 63, 68, 92, 97, 166 Organizational founding, 6, 13-15, 29, 31, 43, 52-56, 58, 61-70, 92, 93, 98, 107, 122-23, 125, 131, 173; imprinting, 52-53, 56; trial-by-fire hypothesis, 53 Organizational growth, 1-2, 4-7, 9-11, 13-15, 21-24, 26, 29, 31-32, 35, 43, 49-52, 54-57, 59, 61, 63-64, 66-71, 82, 86-89, 91-92, 96, 102-8, 115, 122-23, 125, 130, 143, 157, 159, 165, 175-77; acquisition, 15, 30, 33-34, 47, 51, 66, 70, 82, 90, 92, 94, 107, 135, 143, 176; merger, 15, 33-34, 51, 66, 70, 82, 90, 92, 94, 97, 107, 125, 135, 176; innovation, 2, 8-9, 13, 15, 23-27, 29-36, 46, 49-50, 54, 70-72, 82, 85, 87-89, 96-97, 103-4, 118, 121, 127-31, 134-36, 144-45, 147, 149, 151-54, 158, 160-65, 167, 176-77; diversification, 27, 33, 59, 61, 70, 87, 107, 143; incremental, 3, 13, 25-26, 29-32, 45, 49, 82, 88-89, 94-96, 106,
 - 109, 127, 150, 155, 167–68, 175, 178; transformational, 3, 26, 88–89, 95–96, 168
- Organizational identity, 63, 89, 123, 130–31, 152
- Organizational inertia, 11–12, 14–15, 28, 32, 43, 47–51, 53, 67, 71–73, 83–86, 89, 91, 93, 96–99, 176–78; external, 11–12, 14–15, 32, 43, 47–49, 51, 53, 67, 71–73, 83–86, 93, 97–98, 176, 177–78; internal, 14–15, 28, 32, 43, 47–50, 53, 67, 71–73, 83–86, 89, 91, 93, 96–99, 176–78
- Organizational intelligence, 154, 162
- Organizational learning, 3–4, 8–9, 14–15, 24, 26–28, 32, 48, 50–51, 55, 66, 68, 71, 81, 86, 88–91, 93–96, 107, 122, 127, 129–30, 150, 155; double loop learning, 95–96, 129–30; gradual, 95–96; incremental, 95–96;

revolutionary, 95–97; single loop learning, 95–96, 127; transformational, 95–97

- Organizational life cycle, 13–14, 53, 56, 87–88, 164
- Organizational performance, 9, 14–15, 25–27, 32, 34–35, 37, 48–49, 52–53, 60, 65–66, 73, 81–83, 85–86, 89–90, 92–94, 98–100, 102–4, 107, 116–22, 124–30, 132–35, 143–53, 155–57, 159–67, 177–79
- Organizational policy, 24, 28, 88, 133
- Organizational politics, 6–7, 71, 85, 100–101, 117, 148
- Organizational population, 1–7, 9, 11–13, 15-16, 23, 29-33, 43-47, 49-52, 54-59, 61-70, 82-84, 90-91, 97, 107, 133, 175, 177; age, 13-14, 28, 32, 34, 48-54, 58-60, 67-70, 84-87, 89, 94, 133; birth, 3-4, 12, 14, 22, 34, 53, 56, 62-63, 87, 91, 95, 97, 106, 175; death, 4, 12, 14-15, 23, 28, 34, 52-53, 56-57, 60, 62-63, 68, 71, 84, 86-87, 107, 175; entry, 3, 13, 15, 23, 29, 34, 47, 49, 51, 54, 63-64, 67, 88; exit, 13, 15, 23, 29, 34, 46-47, 49, 51, 61, 88, 92; growth, 1-2, 4-7, 9-11, 13-15, 21-24, 26, 29, 31-32, 35, 43, 49-52, 54-57, 59, 61, 63-64, 66-71, 82, 86-89, 91-92, 96, 102-8, 115, 122-23, 125, 130, 143, 157, 159, 165, 175-77; maturity, 2, 4, 24, 26, 87, 89; retention, 12, 14, 46, 63-64, 68-69, 72, 109, 153, 175; size, 14-15, 23-24, 26-27, 34, 48, 51-52, 55, 57-59, 63-70, 72, 85-91, 100, 108, 120, 124, 133, 144, 164; survival, 2-3, 5, 7, 10, 12-15 23-24, 30, 35, 43-46, 48, 51-52, 56-57, 60, 63-64, 70, 72, 83, 87, 94, 101, 109, 120, 130, 177 Organizational sociology, 178-79 Organizational strategy, 9, 15, 25-29, 31, 34, 49, 56–57 60–61, 63, 67, 73,
 - 81-82, 85, 88, 90, 93-98, 100, 103, 105, 107, 115, 122, 125, 127-30,
 - 132, 134–35, 162–63, 168, 176–78
- Organizational structure, 3, 11–12, 21, 28, 31–32, 45–48, 50, 53, 55, 72,

83-84, 90-92, 94, 128-30, 135, 143, 146, 150-51, 153, 156-58, 160-62, 166; division of labor, 46, 52-53, 55, 70-71, 123, 126, 145, 149, 153, 155-56, 158-59, 165-66; formal, 45, 52, 88, 90-91, 100-101, 103, 106, 121, 124, 128, 130, 132, 134-35, 150-51, 155; informal, 90-91, 100-101, 121-22, 128, 131, 150; mechanistic, 88-89, 123, 150-52, 155-56, 158, 162, 165; organic, 89, 150, 152, 155-56, 162, 165; tasks, 23, 29, 37, 85, 90, 92-93, 120-21, 133, 135, 144, 148, 153, 155-57, 161-62, 164, 166. See also Structure Organizational survival, 43, 51, 72, 120,

- 177. See also Organizational population; Survival
- Organizational transformation (OT), 15, 96, 129–30, 163. *See also* Organizational learning; transformational; Organizational growth; transformation
- Political ecology, 1, 5–7, 22; political power, 5–7; societal conflict, 6. See also Organizational density; Power
- Population density, 46, 52, 54, 64, 66, 68, 97. See also Organizational density
- Population dynamics, 2, 4, 6, 54, 56, 59, 70, 94, 106–7
- Population logic, 45, 83
- Power, 5–7, 23, 28, 34, 36, 47, 61, 71–72, 88, 98–101, 115–23, 130–32, 144–45, 148, 156–59, 165–67, 178; competitive, 15, 24, 26–27, 31–32, 34–35, 37, 45–47, 50, 53, 57, 62–63, 66, 68–69, 73, 86, 88, 90, 93–95, 97, 101, 103–4, 107, 118–19, 149, 162–63, 176–77; coercive, 118–20, 132, 147–48, 157–60, 166–68; conflict, 5–6, 8, 13, 16, 22–24, 28–29, 72, 85, 100–101, 108, 116, 134; cooperative/ cooperation, 5–6, 8, 10, 16, 34, 55, 99, 101, 104–5, 119, 122, 126, 128, 146, 148, 152–55, 161, 163; dictatorial, 147–148; instrumental, 118, 132–33,

- 145, 147, 152, 154; normative, 65, 118,
- 131, 133, 148, 157, 159, 162;
- remunerative, 118-20, 123-24,
- 148-49, 152, 154, 162, 165, 168;
- utilitarian, 115, 119, 144, 159. See also Competition; Control
- Process change, 95, 129, 155, 162, 168. See also Innovation
- Process innovation, 2, 8-9, 13, 15, 23-27, 29-36, 46, 49-50, 54, 70-72, 82, 85, 87-89, 96-97, 103-4, 118, 121, 127-31, 134-36, 144-45, 147, 149, 151-54, 158, 160-65, 167, 176-77; activity based costing (ABC), 36-37, 135-36, 148-53, 162, 164, 168, 177-78; business process innovation, 130; business process reengineering (BPR), 129-30, 135, 161-63, 167-68; just-in-time technology (JIT), 36-37, 135; product design, 103, 129; product development, 160, 164, 176; technological innovation/change, 2-3, 7-10, 13, 23, 25-27, 29-32, 34, 37, 46, 48-49, 53-54, 64, 70-71, 81, 87, 89-90, 93, 96-97, 106, 115, 118, 129, 134, 149, 154-57, 164, 177; total quality management (TQM),
 - 127-28, 134-35, 161-62,

167-68, 178

- Process intervention, 5, 115, 120, 125–29, 134–36, 153–55, 160–63, 166–67, 178; communication, 7–9, 15–16, 88, 89, 104, 119, 121, 123, 126–30, 132, 134, 146, 150, 152, 155–61, 164; culture, 1, 5, 7, 9, 26, 33, 46, 81, 90, 94, 96, 99, 106, 124, 126–27, 130–34, 146–148, 154, 161, 166–67, 175; flow of information, 27–28, 51, 93, 103–4, 115, 117, 126, 130, 144, 146, 150, 152–55, 160, 163–65. See also Intervention strategies
- Public accounting firms/organizations, 59, 82, 107–8, 158; auditing services, 34, 51, 59, 82, 107–9, 158; Arthur Anderson, LLP, 107–8; management consulting, 82, 107–8; tax services, 65, 82, 107–8

- Quality management, 115, 127, 149, 153, 161, 178; quality circle, 127, 134. See also Process innovation
- Radio industry, 85
- Recycling, 101-2
- Regulations, 22–23, 52, 59, 65, 82, 86, 89, 92–93, 103–5, 107–9
- Regulatory agencies, 22–23, 65, 82, 86, 92–93, 103–5, 107; Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 102, 104; Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), 102–3
- Resource allocation, 6, 100, 124, 146, 148, 153-54, 160
- Resource endowments, 51, 53, 67; depletion, 50; replenishing, 50
- Resource partitioning theory, 57–59, 61–62
- Reward, 100, 108, 116, 118–19, 121, 123, 125–27, 133–34, 146–48, 151, 153, 155, 157, 159–60, 166, 177; economic, 108, 118–19, 120, 145, 153, 155; physical, 116, 118; material, 116, 118, 148, 154; symbolic, 116–17, 157
- Risk analysis, 6, 29, 34, 51, 56, 71, 84–85, 87–88, 98, 108, 146, 156, 163
- Rules, 3–4, 8, 13, 26, 33, 46, 49, 63, 65, 68, 88, 90–96, 101, 106, 118, 122–24, 130–31, 145–48, 159, 163, 167, 176; administrative, 91, 94, 106, 147, 149, 162, 167, 179; bureaucratic, 90–92, 106, 118–19, 124, 136, 147, 150, 152, 156, 159, 162–63, 166–67, 179; organizational, 120, 163, 167
- Scientific management, 159, 166, 179
 Selection, 1, 3–4, 6–7, 10–16, 21–22, 29, 32, 34–37, 43–50, 54, 56–58, 60, 63–64, 66, 68, 72–73, 83–84, 88, 93, 98, 101, 107, 117, 168, 175–77. *See also* Natural selection
 Shareholders, 71, 82, 85, 105, 108
 Social sciences, 1–2, 27, 43
 Social soundness analysis (SSA), 7, 176

- Social systems, 3, 9, 87, 123, 125,
- 135, 177
- Sociology, 1, 21–22, 123, 125, 178; environmental sociology, 21; organizational sociology, 178–79
- Stakeholders, 22-23, 85-86, 93, 104
- Statistical interpretation, 86-87, 108
- Status quo, 72, 99
- Strategic adaptation, 98-100
- Strategic change, 15, 73, 89, 93, 98–100, 102, 160
- Strategic planning, 100, 105, 158, 160
- Structural intervention, 8, 95, 115, 120, 125–26, 129–30, 160–62, 166–67; job design, 126–27; reward system, 100, 108, 116, 118–19, 121, 123, 125–27, 133–34, 146–48, 151, 153, 155, 157, 159–60, 166, 177. See also Control; Intervention strategies
- Structure, 3, 7, 11, 15, 25–27, 33, 36, 44, 46, 48–51, 53, 59, 63–64, 67, 70, 72–73, 84–85, 88, 90–91, 97, 120, 122, 128–29, 131–32, 134–35, 146, 148, 152, 156–58, 160, 162, 166; capital, 25, 36, 50, 52, 56, 70–71; class, 5, 7, 21, 116; gender, 116, 133; income, 5, 31, 85, 105; occupation, 85; race, 116, 133; social, 7, 33, 44, 51, 131; wealth, 31, 50, 55, 132
- Sustainable development, 7–10, 21–22, 104, 176; conflict, 5, 6, 8, 13, 16, 22–24, 28–29, 72, 85, 100–101, 108, 116, 134; cooperation, 5–6, 8, 10, 16, 34, 55, 99, 101, 104–5, 119, 122, 126, 128, 146, 148, 152–55, 161, 163; interdependence, 8, 35, 43, 89, 101, 156, 168. *See also* Ecologically sustainable development (ESD); Power
- Symbiotic relations, 2, 9, 101
- Systems analysis/theory, 120-30, 135. See also Functional analysis/approach

Taxonomy theory, 43

Teams, 8–9, 73, 116–17, 119–26, 128–34, 136, 143–68, 177–79; team characteristics, 8–9, 73, 116–33, 139, 146; autonomy, 119, 132, 145–47,

- 154–68; empowerment, 119, 145–47, 154, 159–68; self-managing, 132, 136, 145–68; teams' formation, 117, 121, 123–25, 143, 146, 155–56, 160, 167, 178; cross-functional teams, 124, 126, 133–34, 154–57, 160, 163–65; work teams, 120–24, 128, 131, 143, 147, 156, 160, 162, 166–68, 177–79; work groups, 120–24, 128, 131, 143, 147, 156, 160, 162, 166–68, 177–79
- Technology, 1–5, 7, 9, 15, 22, 25, 28–32, 35–36, 56–57, 64, 71, 82–83, 85, 104, 107–8, 115, 118, 120–22, 129–30, 135, 143, 150, 158–59, 163, 165, 167, 175–76; technological advantage, 64; technological change, 2–3, 7–10, 13, 23, 25–27, 29–32, 34, 37, 46, 48–49, 53–54, 64, 70–71, 81, 87, 89–90, 93, 96–97, 106, 115, 118, 129, 134, 149, 154–57, 164, 177; discontinuous, 30–31, 88, 96; imitation, 32, 44, 98.
- 105; incremental, 3, 13, 25, 29-32, 45, 49, 82, 88-89, 94-96, 106, 109, 127, 150, 155, 167-68, 175, 178; innovation, 2, 8-9, 13, 15, 23-27, 29-35, 46, 49-50, 54, 70-72, 82, 85, 87-89, 96-97, 103-4, 118, 121, 127-31, 134-36, 144-145, 147, 149-154, 158, 160-165, 167, 176-77; revolutionary, 30, 88. See also Innovation; Organizational change; Process innovation Topography, 4 Total quality management (TOM), 127-28, 134-35, 161-62, 167-68, 178. See also Process innovation Transaction cost, 35-37
- Volume-based costing (VBC), 152. See also Accounting-based costing (ABC)
- White collar, 119, 147, 158

This page intentionally left blank

About the Author

SELESHI SISAYE is professor of accounting at Duquesne University. His research and teaching interests are in behavioral managerial accounting, organizational sociology, and international development. He has presented papers at international, national, and regional conferences, and has published two scholarly books, more than twenty-five articles, and book reviews in both scholarly and professional journals. He is currently conducting research on sustainability development and reporting.